
Service Director – Legal, Governance and
Commissioning
Julie Muscroft

The Democracy Service

Civic Centre 3

High Street

Huddersfield

HD1 2TG

Tel: 01484 221000 

Please ask for: Andrea Woodside

Email: andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk

Monday 3 December 2018

Notice of Meeting
Dear Member

Cabinet

The Cabinet will meet in the Council Chamber - Town Hall, Huddersfield at 
4.00 pm on Tuesday 11 December 2018.

This meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the Council’s 
website at the time of the meeting and follow the instructions on the page.

The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details.

Julie Muscroft
Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning

Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



The Cabinet members are:-

Member Responsible For:
Councillor Shabir Pandor Leader of the Council
Councillor David Sheard Deputy Leader of the Council and holder of the 

Deputy Leaders Cabinet Portfolio
Councillor Masood Ahmed Cabinet Member - Learning and Aspiration
Councillor Viv Kendrick Cabinet Member - Children (Statutory 

responsibility for Children)
Councillor Musarrat Khan Cabinet Member - Health and Social Care
Councillor Naheed Mather Cabinet Member - Communities and Environment
Councillor Peter McBride Cabinet Member - Economy
Councillor Cathy Scott Cabinet Member - Housing and Democracy
Councillor Graham Turner Cabinet Member - Corporate



Agenda
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached

Pages

1:  Membership of the Committee

To receive apologies for absence of Members who are unable to 
attend this meeting.

2:  Minutes of previous meeting

To approve the Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 2 October 
2018, 16 October 2018 and 13 November 2018.

1 - 18

3:  Interests

The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the items 
or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other interests.

19 - 20

4:  Admission of the Public

Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private.

5:  Deputations/Petitions

The Committee will receive any petitions and hear any deputations 
from members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people 
can attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 
Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation.



6:  Public Question Time

The Committee will hear any questions from the general public.

7:  Member Question Time

To consider questions from Councillors.

8:  2018/19 to 2020/21 Council Capital Plan - Proposed 
allocation of capital funding from the Directorate for 
Children's Learning & Early Support baseline sections of 
the Capital Plan

This report will identify potential projects, for Member approval, to be 
funded from the 2018/19 to 2020/21 Learning and Early Support 
Special Provision grant, SEN Future Needs Review and the Healthy 
Pupils Capital Fund sections of the Capital Plan.

Contact: Martin Wilby, Acting Deputy Assistant Director, LA 
Statutory Duties Learning and Early Support and David Martin, Head 
of Capital Delivery and Facilities Management Economy & 
Infrastructure Tel: 01484 221000.

21 - 28

9:  Setting and approving Term Dates for Community, 
Voluntary Controlled and Community Special Schools

Kirklees Local Authority as the admission authority determines term 
dates for community, voluntary controlled and community special 
schools. 

This report is being presented in order to seek approval for Kirklees 
Council to change how it determines term dates for the academic 
year 2020/21 and thereafter.

Contact: Juliet Stott, Strategic Lead Pupil Admissions Service 
Manager Tel: 01484 221000

29 - 36



10:  Half Yearly Monitoring report on Treasury Management 
activities 2018-19.

The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. It is a requirement of the Code that regular reports be 
submitted to Members detailing treasury management operational 
activity. This report is the mid-year for 2018/19 covering the period 1 
April to 30 September 2018.

Contact: James Anderson Senior Finance Manager Tel: 01484 
221000.

37 - 90

11:  A Response to the Ombudsman Report - 13 September 
2018

To confirm the actions taken since publication of the report and to 
confirm actions still to be taken.

Contact: Mandy Cameron, Head of Service – Education 
Safeguarding and Inclusion Tel: 01484 221000.

91 - 330

12:  Facilitating the development fixed line broadband 
services

To seek authority for the Council to enter into agreements with 
individual telecommunication network providers of fixed line 
broadband services. 
 
Contact: Steve Moore, Business Group Leader, Tel:01484 221000.

331 - 
336

13:  Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan 
(2018-19)

To present to Cabinet the Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & 
Action Plan (2018-19); and to ask that Cabinet approve the Strategy 
operating from the date of Cabinet approval to the end of the 2019 
calendar year.

Contact: Steve Comb, Head of Corporate Parenting, and Stephen 
Bonnell Policy & Partnerships Officer
Tel: 01484 221000

337 - 
350



14:  Written Questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members 
(Reference from Council)

To receive written questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members 
that were not dealt with at the previous meeting of Council, held on 7 
November 2018, in accordance with Council Procedure
Rule 12(8).

Contact: Andrea Woodside, Principal Governance Officer, Tel: 
01484 221000.

351 - 
356

15:  Transport Services - 3 year Capital Investment Vehicle 
Replacement Programme 2018 - 2021

A report asking Cabinet to approve a three year Capital Investment 
Vehicle Replacement Programme, (VRP). This is to continue the 
previous replacement programme which was agreed by Cabinet on 
the 7 March 2017.

Contact: Mick Farmer, Integrated Transport Manager Tel: 01484 
221000

357 - 
366

16.  Exclusion of the Public 

To resolve that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following item of business, on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

17.  Transport Services - 3 year Capital Investment Vehicle 
Replacement Programme 2018 - 2021 

Private appendix in relation to agenda item 15

367 - 
368



1

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL

CABINET

Tuesday 2nd October 2018

Present: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair)
Councillor Viv Kendrick
Councillor Musarrat Khan
Councillor Naheed Mather
Councillor Peter McBride
Councillor Cathy Scott

Apologies: Councillor David Sheard
Councillor Masood Ahmed
Councillor Erin Hill
Councillor Graham Turner

79 Membership of the Committee
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Ahmed, Hill, Sheard 
and Turner.

80 Minutes of previous meeting
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 29 August 2018 be 
approved as a correct record.

81 Interests
No interests were declared.

82 Admission of the Public
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. The 
Leader announced that there would be a late/urgent item in respect of revisions to 
Cabinet Portfolios. (Minute No 89 refers). 

83 Deputations/Petitions
No deputations or petitions were received.

84 Public Question Time
No questions were asked.

85 Member Question Time
No questions were asked.

86 Council Budget Strategy Update Report 2019-22
Cabinet received a report which set out the approach to the annual update of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan, and set out a framework for the development of draft 
spending plans for future years. The provisional budget strategy provided a budget 
planning framework to consider a three year Medium Term Financial Plan for 2019-

Page 1

Agenda Item 2:



Cabinet -  2 October 2018

2

2022 and a five year Capital Plan for 2019-2024. The report advised that the 
existing budget plans had been reviewed, including a high level review of funding 
and spend assumptions, and that any resultant gap between funding and forecasts 
would inform target spending controls for draft budget proposals. The updated 
spend assumptions within the report continued the approach of existing budget 
plans in terms of acknowledging further re-shaping of spending and targeted 
investment aligned to the Council’s ambitions and plans. 

The report set out details of funding assumptions at paragraph 2, and explained that 
the updated funding forecast assumed a position that national funding reductions 
would continue from 2020-21, which would equate to a further reduction of £3.2m 
each year. 

The appendices to the report set out (i) a general fund summary 2019-2022 (ii) 
general fund reserves (iii) the housing revenue account summary (iv) the baseline 
capital plan and (v) the flexible use of the capital receipts strategy.

RESOLVED - 

(1) That the funding and spend assumptions informing the updated budget 
forecasts, as set out in section 2 of the report, be noted.

(2) That the joint Leeds City Region/North Yorkshire Business rates Pilot bid for 
2019-2020 be noted and endorsed.

(3) That the existing capital budget plans rolled forward as set out at Appendix D, 
incorporating a draft year 5, be noted.

(4) That approval be given to the budget planning framework, as set out within 
the report.

(5) That approval be given to the corporate budget timetable and approach as 
set out at Appendix G.

(6) That approval be given to the budget consultation approach and timetable, as 
set out within the report.

(7) That the report be submitted to Council on 10 October 2018 with a 
recommendation;
(i) That approval be given to the updated baseline general fund revenue 

and Housing Revenue Account budget forecasts over the 2019-2022 
period, as set out at Appendix A (general fund) and Appendix C (HRA) 
of the considered report.

(ii) That approval be given to the revisions to earmarked reserves and 
general balances, as set out at Appendix B.

(iii) That approval be given to the changes to the existing plan, as set out 
at Appendix D.

(iv) That approval be given to the flexible receipts strategy, as set out at 
Appendix E.

Page 2



Cabinet -  2 October 2018

3

87 Introduction of a Civil Penalty Policy for Housing Act offences
Cabinet received a report which sought approval for a policy which would allow the 
Council to implement new powers under in regards to civil penalties, following the 
introduction of new housing enforcement legislation which provides local authorities 
with powers to impose a civil penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to 
prosecution for specific housing offences. The policy, which was appended to the 
considered report, would be used to determine the appropriate level of civil penalty 
in each case, and reflected the level of penalty as agreed with other West Yorkshire 
Authorities. 

The report advised that the Housing and Planning Act 2016 provided the power to 
impose the penalties in regards to certain offences under the Housing Act 2004. The 
specific housing offences covered within the policy were (i) failure to comply with an 
Improvement Notice (ii) matters relating to the licensing of houses in multiple 
occupation (iii) matters relating to licensing of houses, under part 3 of the Act (iv) 
matters relating to the contravention of an overcrowding notice and (v) failure to 
comply with management relations of HMOs.  

Cabinet noted that the level of penalty would be determined on a case by case 
basis, up to the maximum amount of £30,000, dependent upon the levels of 
culpability and harm, and intended to act as a deterrent and remove any gains 
resulting from the offence. 

RESOLVED - 

(1) That approval be given to the introduction of civil penalties as an alternative 
to prosecution for offences under the Housing Act 2004.

(2) That approval be given to the Civil Penalty Policy (Housing and Planning Act 
2016).

88 Written Questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members (Reference from 
Council)
No questions were asked.

89 Revisions to Cabinet Portfolios (Late Item)
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 40 (1) the Leader announced that 
this item would be added to the agenda on the grounds of urgency).

The Leader announced that, in accordance with Article 7 of the Constitution, 
Councillor Erin Hill had submitted her resignation in respect of her appointment to 
Cabinet.  

The Leader gave notice that, with immediate effect, the Cabinet would comprise of 9 
Members and that the portfolio responsibilities of Councillors Khan and Scott would 
be revised as follows;

- Councillor Khan: Health and Social Care Portfolio
- Councillor Scott: Housing and Democracy Portfolio

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Contact Officer: Carol Tague 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL

CABINET

Tuesday 16th October 2018

Present: Councillor David Sheard (Chair)
Councillor Masood Ahmed
Councillor Viv Kendrick
Councillor Musarrat Khan
Councillor Peter McBride
Councillor Graham Turner

Observers: Councillor Martyn Bolt
Councillor Carole Pattison

Apologies: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair)
Councillor Naheed Mather
Councillor Cathy Scott

90 Membership of the Committee
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Pandor, Mather and 
Scott.

91 Interests
No interests were declared.

92 Admission of the Public
It was noted that Agenda Item 15 would be considered in private session.

93 Deputations/Petitions
No deputations or petitions were received.

94 Public Question Time
No questions were asked.

95 Member Question Time
Councillor Martyn Bolt referred to the hiring of council land for fairgrounds and the 
imposition of policy on restrictions before implementation. This was considered 
under discussion of Item 10 (Events Policy).

96 Corporate Performance Q1 18/19
Cabinet received a report which provided an overview of the Council’s corporate 
performance at the end of Quarter 1 2018/19.

The report focused on the key strategic issues faced by the Council, in relation to 
seven Kirklees Shared Outcomes and demonstrated progress, issues and risks in 
relation to the aims and aspirations of the 2018/19 Corporate Plan.

RESOLVED - That the Quarter 1 Corporate Performance Report be noted.

Page 5



Cabinet -  16 October 2018

2

97 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Update
Cabinet gave consideration to a report which set out the impact of the SEND 
Strategy within the context of the High Needs Review, sought approval of the 
Accessibility Strategy and provided an overview of the strands of work in relation to 
children and young people with SEND and the linkages therein.

Cabinet noted that the Accessibility Strategy had been developed in partnership with 
parents, children and young people and other partners, as part of the work 
undertaken through the High Needs Review Consultation in 2017 and set out the 
Council’s responsibilities and expectations of schools 

It was highlighted that both the SEND and Accessibility Strategies contained clear 
plans for the improvement of provision for children and young people with SEND in 
order to help them achieve the best possible outcomes.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That the Council’s ongoing commitment to deliver the outcomes in the SEND 
Strategy, in order to continue to drive forward improvements in support, provision 
and outcomes for children and young people with SEND was registered; and 

(2) The Accessibility Strategy was approved in order that this may support the work 
of the SEND Strategy and the High Needs Review in improving outcomes for 
children and young people with SEND. 

98 Huddersfield Town Centre Design Framework and Investment.
Cabinet received a report which sought approval for the adoption of a Huddersfield 
Town Centre Design Framework (HTCDF).

The report outlined that the aim of the Framework was to create a more consistent 
approach with quality, environment and future condition at the fore.  

Cabinet noted that the document was a starting point, which presented a framework 
for the thinking and planning of Huddersfield. It provided a benchmark and set out a 
criteria for improvement, which considered factors such as the retention and 
relationship of buildings, improvement of street furniture and interjection of trees and 
greenery, to ensure that being in the town was a pleasurable experience and that it 
was welcoming to visitors.  

An initial investment of £2.5m was required to ensure that that work could start as 
soon as possible and the standards set for future developments and public realm 
enhancements.

As the improvement strategy was rolled out, wider consultation would take with 
other stakeholders such as shop owners, colleges, the University and the business 
community.

RESOLVED – That approval be given to:

(1) The Huddersfield Town Centre Design Framework attached to the report;

Page 6



Cabinet -  16 October 2018

3

(2) £2.5m capital funding for the town centre public realm enhancements; 

(3) The formation of a steering group to oversee and ratify town centre public realm 
and infrastructure projects; and 

(4) The reinstatement of town centre mason teams.

99 Events Policy
Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 36(1) Cabinet received 
representations from Councillor Martyn Bolt.

Cabinet gave consideration to a report which sought approval of the Events Policy 
and associated charging framework for outdoor events.

In receiving the report, the important role that events played in the cultural life and 
vibrancy of the district was highlighted, as was the economic value and contribution 
to the wellbeing of residents. The Events Policy would provide a more coordinated 
and consistent approach to supporting event organisers to deliver events safely, 
with a clear understanding of their role and responsibilities.  

With regards to the restricted events outlined in paragraphs 2.3.1 of the report, it 
was noted that the reference to restriction on animals included the practice of 
goldfish being given as prizes at events.  

The Charging Framework was complimentary to the Events Policy and charges 
would be set each April as part of the council’s Fees and Charges process.

RESOLVED - That approval be given to:

(1) The adoption of the Events Policy, with implementation from 1 April 2019, to 
ensure future clarity around decisions and processes which better enabled event 
organisers to deliver their events and publish on the Council’s website; 

(2) The Events Charging Framework for outdoor events with implementation from 1 
April 2019 and publication on the Council’s website, so there was clarity around 
which event organisers the Council would charge to use its sites in the future 
and what it would charge for;

(3) Delegated authority to the Strategic Director of Economy and Infrastructure in 
consultation with the relevant portfolio holders to refuse permission for an event 
to go ahead if it contravenes the Events Policy, and/or is assessed to be unsafe 
and/or make minor amendments to the Policy; and

(4) Delegated authority to relevant heads of service to reduce or waive charges if a 
strong case was presented demonstrating that an outdoor event would 
contribute to the council’s outcomes.

100 WYTF A629 Halifax Road - Scheme Approval and Compulsory Purchase Order 
Resolution progression
(Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 37, Cabinet received 
representations from 3 residents from Edgerton Road).

Page 7



Cabinet -  16 October 2018

4

Cabinet received a report which sought approval from Cabinet for the WY+TF A629 
Halifax Road Phase 5 project, to progress to construction, subject to full Business 
Case approval and for the Council to progress preliminary preparation of a 
compulsory purchase order (CPO).

In receiving the report, it was noted that congestion, long journey times and poor air 
quality was currently experienced along the A629 between Huddersfield and Halifax 
town centres. The proposals outlined, would release capacity, reduce congestion 
and journey times, which in turn would bring long term wealth benefits.  Improving 
speed at peak times would also improve levels of pollution in the area.

Concerns in relation to the CPO were acknowledged, but Cabinet noted that difficult 
decisions had to be made and this had been handled equitably and fairly.  There 
had been a consultation process, with compensation available to those affected.  
The CPO would be submitted to the Secretary of State who could challenge if it did 
not meet requirements and there was a process for appeal.

RESOLVED – 

(1) That approval be given for the Council to enter into a Grant Agreement with the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority for additional funding of £4,116,295 for the 
purposes of enabling the West Yorkshire Transport Fund A629 Halifax Road 
Phase 5 project to move to the Full Business Case stage;

(2) Authority be delegated to the Strategic Director for the Economy and 
Infrastructure to negotiate and agree the terms of the Grant Agreement referred 
to in paragraph 6.1 of the report, with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority; 

(3) Authority be delegated to the Service Director Legal Governance & 
Commissioning to enter into and execute the Grant Agreement referred to in 
paragraph 6.1 of the report together with any documents and agreements that 
are ancillary to it; 

(4) Authority be given to serve formal requisitions for information for a CPO under 
Part XII Acquisition, Vesting and Transfer of Land etc., namely Sections 239, 
240 and 246 of the Highways Act 1980; and

(5) Authority be delegated to the Strategic Director for Economy and Infrastructure 
to implement the West Yorkshire Transport Fund A629 Halifax Road Phase 5 
project improvement works in the event that (i) either all third party land that is 
required for the project has been acquired or any  CPO has been confirmed; and 
(ii) the Full Business Case has been approved by the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (WYCA) and funding from the WYCA has been confirmed (iii) when the 
necessary Traffic Regulation Orders have been made. 

101 Community Plus Investment Scheme: Individuals and Community 
organisations (Do Something Now)
Cabinet considered a report which sought approval for the ’Do Something Now’ 
scheme which would fund grass root activities delivered by voluntary groups, 
individuals and the third sector.  

Page 8



Cabinet -  16 October 2018

5

The total fund was £0.5m per year, which would be available for set up rather than 
continual project running costs. The aim was to build capacity within the third sector, 
expand initiatives to help communities help themselves and support the early 
intervention and prevention agenda.

Whilst the delegated authority to agree the Funding Panel was agreed in principle, 
clarification was required as to the make-up of the Panel and elected Member 
involvement.

RESOLVED - That approval be given to:

(1) The investment scheme for delivery described within the report and Appendix 1 
was approved; 

(2) Delegation of authority to the Strategic Director for Adults or Children’s Social 
Care, in consultation with appropriate portfolio holders to agree the Funding 
Panel was agreed in principle, subject to clarification as to the make-up of the 
Panel; and

(3) Delegated authority to agree changes in criteria for funding projects be given to 
the Strategic Director for Adults or Children’s Social Care in consultation with 
appropriate portfolio holders.

102 Learning & Early Support Capital Plan: Proposals to allocate funding for New 
Pupil Places at Birkby Junior School
Cabinet considered a report which sought approval for capital investment of 
£1.852m to permanently expand the existing Birkby Junior School from 480 places 
(4 Form of Entry – 4FE) to 600 places (5FE) in order to meet a Basic Need for 
additional new junior school places in the Birkby area.

Cabinet noted that the remodelled and refurbished building would act as a 
permanent base for the school’s year 6 pupils.The newly expanded Birkby Junior 
School would provide 120 additional high quality places which would address the 
significant shortfall of places for primary school age children in the area.  The 
building would provide modern facilities and had been designed so that the small 
hall could be made available for hire to the community out of school hours.

The importance of the library service was acknowledged and work was ongoing with 
local ward members to implement an interim solution following the closure of the 
Birkby Library provision in its current location to develop a longer term proposal for 
library services in the area.

RESOLVED - That approval be given to:

(1) The capital allocation of £1.852m to enable the conversion of Birkby Fartown 
Community Centre building to school accommodation in order to provide 120 
additional school places at Birkby Junior School; and

(2) The interim arrangements being put in place in relation to Birkby Library, which 
will no longer operate from its existing site on Wasp Nest Road, Huddersfield 
from 2 November 2018.

Page 9



Cabinet -  16 October 2018

6

103 Exclusion of the Public
To resolve that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following item of 
business, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information, as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

104 Learning & Early Support Capital Plan: Proposals to allocate funding for New 
Pupil Places at Birkby Junior School
Wards: All Wards

The information was considered prior to the determination of Agenda item 13.

Page 10



1

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL

CABINET

Tuesday 13th November 2018

Present: Councillor Shabir Pandor (Chair)
Councillor David Sheard
Councillor Viv Kendrick
Councillor Naheed Mather
Councillor Peter McBride
Councillor Cathy Scott
Councillor Graham Turner

Observers: Councillor Martyn Bolt

Apologies: Councillor Masood Ahmed
Councillor Musarrat Khan

105 Membership of the Committee
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Ahmed and Khan.

106 Interests
Councillors Pandor and Scott declared an ‘other’ interest in Agenda Item 9 on the 
grounds that they have family members who reside within a KNH property.

107 Admission of the Public
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 

108 Deputations/Petitions
No deputations or petitions were received.

109 Public Question Time
No questions were asked.

110 Member Question Time
Councillor Bolt asked that Cabinet convey congratulations to Joanne Bartholomew, 
Service Director, upon being awarded a Royal Humane Society Award, and a Chief 
Constable’s Commendation, for lifesaving. 

The Cabinet conveyed congratulations and paid tribute to Joanne. 

Councillor Bolt also made reference to the ‘Pathways for Everyone’ document which 
had been presented in Parliament on 12 November 2018 by Sustrans and set out a 
review of the national cycling network. In particular, Councillor Bolt sought Cabinet’s 
response to two of the recommendations within the report which referred to (i) 

Page 11



Cabinet -  13 November 2018

2

removing barriers on pathways to improve network accessibility and (ii) the need to 
have a quality standard for path widths and surfacing.

A response was provided by Councillor Mather, Cabinet Member – Communities 
and Environment.

111 Arrangements for the Establishment of a West Yorkshire Urban Traffic 
Management Control Service
(Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 36(1), Cabinet received a 
representation from Councillor Bolt).

Cabinet received a report which set out a proposal for the establishment of a West 
Yorkshire Urban Traffic Management Control Service. The report set out the 
background to the development of the proposal and requested authority to progress 
arrangements for the establishment of the service, which would be hosted by Leeds 
City Council. 

The report advised that the establishment of the service would benefit all West 
Yorkshire Councils by delivering a more resilient and cost effective service using 
funding allocated from the West Yorkshire Transport Plus Fund, and that the service 
would take responsibility for the design of new traffic signal installations for all of 
West Yorkshire and their operation, co-ordination and maintenance. Cabinet were 
advised that local authorities would retain ownership of their traffic signal asset, 
together with responsibility for the payment of associated energy costs. 

The report set out the key benefits of the service which included improvements in air 
quality, economy of scale efficiencies and the provision of a consistent network 
across West Yorkshire.

In proposing the scheme, the Portfolio Holder outlined the benefits that it would 
deliver, but asked that consideration be given to the shared service being operated 
by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and staff being transferred to WYCA, 
rather than Leeds City Council, due to the system being implemented across the 
region. 

RESOLVED – 
(1) That the arrangements for the establishment of a joint West Yorkshire UTMC 
service, subject to the outcome of the consideration of full business cases by the 
WYCA which would deliver smarter working across the city region, leading to a 
more joined up approach to managing and investment in the traffic signals 
infrastructure, be noted.

(2) That, pursuant to (1) above, approval be given to a joint West Yorkshire UTMC 
Service and that Leeds City Council be the host authority. 

(3) That the creation of an organisational unit within Leeds City Council’s City 
Development Directorate for the West Yorkshire UTMC Service, to be located at 
West Yorkshire Joint Services, Morley, be noted. 

Page 12



Cabinet -  13 November 2018

3

(4) That the potential need to transfer staff via TUPE from Kirklees Council into the 
employment of Leeds City Council, to work within the West Yorkshire UTMC 
Service, be noted.

(5) That a further report be submitted to Cabinet for consideration upon completion 
of legal and financial matters, including business model and service level 
agreements, and operational implications, and that consideration also be given to 
the service being operated by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority.

112 West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund Scheme Update
(Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 36(1), Cabinet received a 
representation from Councillor Bolt).

Cabinet received a report which set out progress to date on the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund scheme, and information on the governance arrangements for the 
processing of grants and funding. 

The report provided an update on the following schemes; (i) Halifax-Huddersfield 
A629 corridor (phase 5) (ii) A62/A644 (Wakefield Road) Link Road (iii) A62 Leeds 
Road Mart Corridor Phase 1 (iv) Holmfirth Town Access Plan (Corridor Improvement 
Package) (v) Huddersfield Southern Gateways (Corridor Improvement) (vi) Mirfield 
to Dewsbury to Leeds (vii) North Kirklees Orbital Route (viii) and Huddersfield 
Station Gateway. 

Cabinet noted that there was an agreed Assurance Process for each scheme, 
administered by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, which was attached at 
Appendix 1 of the considered report and detailed the range of programme stages 
from project feasibility and development to delivery. Additionally it was noted that a 
Major Projects Board would oversee projects in order to ensure transparency and 
that a number of decisions would be delegated to the Strategic Director and Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder.   

RESOLVED -
(1) That the governance process in relation to grants, funding and future Cabinet 
approvals be noted.

(2) That the progress made on scheme development to date be noted.

113 HRA 5 Capital Plan
Cabinet received a report which sought approval for Kirklees Neighbourhood 
Housing to progress the delivery of the five year Housing Revenue Account Capital 
Plan. The report advised that the establishment of the five year plan would set 
precedence for the delivery of capital programmes, achieve significant savings and 
deliver significant improvements to council housing and housing estates, as well as 
providing an opportunity to develop and deploy resources and drive significant local 
social value through procurement of materials and specialist suppliers. 

Cabinet noted that the proposed plan would deliver more property improvements, 
hence delivering better quality homes for tenants, and environmental improvements 

Page 13



Cabinet -  13 November 2018

4

to the surrounding areas, and would support the development of social value and 
reduced costs.

Paragraph 3.9.4 of the report set out proposals to introduce a number of Key 
Performance Indicators based upon a number of relevant themes in order to 
measure performance and effectiveness. The recommended plan and associated 
capital expenditure was detailed at Paragraph 2.1.

RESOLVED - That approval be given for Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing to 
progress to the delivery of the 5 year Housing Revenue Account Capital Plan. 

114 Corporate Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 2 for 2018/19
Cabinet received a report which set out financial monitoring information for General 
Fund Revenue, Housing Revenue Account and Capital Plan as at Quarter 2 (Month 
6) 2018-2019.

The report provided an overview of the General Fund, General Fund Reserves, 
Collection Fund, Housing Revenue Account and Capital. It advised that the 
Council’s General Fund controllable (net) revenue budget for 2018/2019 was set at 
£291.2m and that the budget included planned (net) revenue savings of £16.2m. A 
further £3.7m of ‘temporary resources’ had been added to the in-year budget, 
reflecting planned drawdown from ‘one-off’ earmarked reserves to fund a number of 
‘one-off’ deferred expenditure commitments and other developments, including 
£1.6m from the revenue grants reserve, £1.5m from the revenue rollover reserve 
and £0.6m from the adverse weather reserve. 

Cabinet noted that there was a forecast overspend of £4.8m against the £290.8m 
revised budget at Quarter 2, equivalent to 1.7% variance against the revised budget. 
The report advised that the Council was making good progress with a forecast 
headline delivery of £12.6m against £16.2m of planned savings, equivalent to 78% 
forecast delivery.  

RESOLVED –
(1) That the Quarter 2 forecast £4.8m revenue monitoring overspend.

(2) That the expectation that Strategic Directors will identify opportunities for 
spending plans to be collectively brought back in line within the Council’s overall 
budget by the end of the year, be noted. 

(3) That approval be given to the planned use of the £1.86m winter pressures 
monies as detailed in paragraphs 1.15 to 1.17 of the considered report.

(4) That the forecast planned use general fund earmarked reserves in-year and the 
forecast year end position of £87.2m be noted.

(5) That the anticipated overall forecast year end surplus of £0.8m on the Collection 
Fund be noted.

(6) That the Quarter 2 forecast HRA surplus at £894k and forecast reserves position 
at year end of £53.7m be noted.

Page 14



Cabinet -  13 November 2018

5

115 Annual Inclusion & Diversity Report & Year 2 Action Plan
Cabinet received a report, prior to its submission to Council on 12 December 2018,  
which set out the Annual Inclusion and Diversity Report and Year 2 Action Plan, an 
update on progress during year one, and the priorities and activities for 2018-2019. 
The Annual Report and Year 2 Action Plan, which were appended to the considered 
report, highlighted the progress made in the last 18 months and the areas for 
improvement which would either form part of the Action Plan, or would be 
incorporated within a complementary programme of work to support the Action Plan 
delivery. 

Cabinet noted that the Year 2 priorities included expanding the Migration Welcome 
Mentor Programme to assist migrants in accessing key services, introducing 
comprehensive Diversity Training and increasing the number of supported 
internships for students with a learning disability.

RESOLVED -
(1) That the Annual inclusion and Diversity Report, and the progress made in Year 1 
of the 2017-2021 strategy be noted, and that the priorities as set out in the Year 2 
Action Plan be agreed.

(2) That it be noted that the report is scheduled for submission to the meeting of 
Council on 12 December 2018.

116 To decommission specialist provision at Headlands CE (VC) JI&N School and 
deliver the service in a different way – Outcome report
Cabinet gave consideration to a report which detailed the outcome of the non-
statutory consultation to deliver services in a different way and decommission 6 
transitional places at Headlands CE (VC) Junior and Infant School. 
The report advised that, following the approval of Cabinet on 10 July 2018, a non-
statutory consultation was undertaken from 4 September to 1 October 2018 and that 
a total of three responses had been received, as set out in Appendix C of the 
considered report. 

The report sought authority to publish statutory notices to decommission the 6 
transitional places and outreach for children with Autistic Spectrum Disorder, prior to 
the submission of a further report to Cabinet during January 2019 to enable 
implementation from 1 February 2019.

RESOLVED –
(1) That the responses to the non-statutory consultation proposal to decommission 
specialist provision at Headlands CE (VC) Junior, Infant and Nursery School, and 
deliver the service in a different way, be noted.

(2) That Officers be requested to carry out the next stage of the legal process and 
publish statutory notices to decommission six transitional places and outreach at 
Headlands CE (VC) Junior, Infant and Nursery School for children with Autistic 
Spectrum Disorder.

(3) That Officers be requested to report the outcomes of the representations 
received during the statutory publication period to Cabinet.

Page 15



Cabinet -  13 November 2018

6

117 West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership
Cabinet gave consideration to a report which incorporated a draft Memorandum of 
Understanding for the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership. 
It advised that its aim was to formalise working arrangements and support for the 
next stage of the Partnership’s development, and provide a basis for partners to 
collectively negotiate a refreshed relationship between local NHS organisations and 
national oversight bodies. Additionally, it provided the context for the partnership, 
including principles, mutual accountability, governance arrangements, and a new 
approach to assurance and regulation. 

Cabinet noted that al partners were being asked to sign-up to the agreements 
through their own governance structures, and that this process was anticipate to be 
completed by November 2018.

RESOLVED –
(1) That the revisions to the proposed West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and 
Care Partnership Agreement – Memorandum of Understanding, as described within 
the considered report, be noted.

(2) That consideration be given to the Council’s support for the proposed 
partnership arrangements.

(3) That support be given for greater emphasis to take place in the work of the 
Partnership on prevention and tackling equalities. 

(4) That the Partnership be urged to continue to build stronger relationships with 
Local Authorities and the wider range of stakeholders beyond the local NHS, 
including scrutiny, and give consideration to the issues raised through scrutiny and 
other engagement processes.

(5) That the Chief Executive be authorised to sign the final agreed Memorandum of 
Understanding on behalf of the Council in due course.

(6) That the Chief Executive be authorised, in consultation with the Service Director 
of Legal, Governance and Commissioning, to negotiate any ancillary documents to 
the Memorandum of Understanding and/or any subsequent variations, amendments 
or extensions to the Memorandum of Understanding and ancillary documents, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Portfolio Holders for 
Children’s Services and Health and Social Care.

118 Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan 2018-2023
(Under the provision of Council Procedure Rule 36(1), Cabinet received a 
representation from Councillor Bolt).

Cabinet received the Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan 2018-2023, which set out 
a strategic plan for the delivery of improvements to the health and wellbeing of the 
Kirklees population over the next five years. The report advised that the Plan also 
served as the Kirklees ‘place based plan’, which provided the Kirklees health and 
care system view into the West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care 

Page 16



Cabinet -  13 November 2018

7

Partnership. Cabinet noted that the Plan had been shaped and endorsed by the 
Integrated Commissioning Board, the Integrated Provider Board, the Health and 
Care Executive and the Health and Wellbeing Board, and built upon activity already 
being undertaken by individual organisations or across providers in order to deliver 
improvements to the health and wellbeing of the Kirklees population. 

The report advised of the priorities within the Plan, which included creating 
communities where people can live and age well, creating integrated person-centred 
support for most complex individuals and harnessing digital solutions to make the 
lives of people easier. 

RESOLVED -
(1) That approval be given to the Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan 2018-2023.

(2) That the importance of the plan and its implications be recognised in the 
development of other plans and strategies.

119 Adult Social Care Offer
Cabinet received a report which provided detail on the development of the Adult 
Social care Offer, following a period of public consultation which had taken place 
earlier in the year which had focussed upon helping people to live more 
independently, the use of direct payments and the resource allocation system.

Cabinet were asked to give approval (i) for elements of the Care Offer to be rolled 
out for use, with an intended launch date of 1 March 2019, and (ii) to the proposed 
implementation plan. Subject to approval, the report advised that progress would be 
made in proceeding with the delivery of the implementation plan and delivering Care 
Offer products for adult carers and service users. It advised that, following the 
launch, a communications and marketing campaign would be delivered in order to 
raise awareness of the products and to promote and encourage use. It was also 
noted that data evidencing the effectiveness of the Care Offer would be gathered 
initially through the Adult Social Care survey, to be undertaken in January 2019, and 
that follow up data would be gathered in partnership with carer networks. 

RESOLVED - That approval be given to the launch of the Adult Social Care Offer in 
March 2019, as detailed within the considered report.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3:



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 20



1 
 

 
 
 
Name:   Cabinet 
Date:    11 December 2018  
 
Title of Report       2018/19 to 2020/21 Council Capital Plan - Proposed   
                               allocation of capital funding from the Directorate for   
                               Children’s Learning & Early Support baseline sections  
                               of the Capital Plan 
      

Purpose of report: 
 
This report will identify potential projects, for Member approval, to be funded from the 
2018/19 to 2020/21 Learning and Early Support Special Provision grant, SEN Future Needs 
Review and the Healthy Pupils Capital Fund sections of the Capital Plan. 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards? 

Yes 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s 
Forward Plan (key decisions and private 
report? 
 

Yes 

The Decision - Is it eligible for “call in” by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Date signed off by the Service Director – 
Finance and Section 151 Officer 
  
Date signed off by the Service Director - 
Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 

Karl Battersby/Sal Tariq 19/11/2018 
 
 
Eamonn Croston 19/11/2018 
 
 
Julie Muscroft (John Chapman) 19/11/2018 

Cabinet member portfolio 
 

Learning & Inspiration - Cllr Masood Ahmed  
Children – Cllr Viv Kendrick 
Health – Cllr Musarrat Khan 
Corporate – Cllr Graham Turner 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All 
 
Ward councillors consulted:  Yes 
 
Public or private: Public 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8:

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/ForwardPlan/forwardplan.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/scrutiny/Scrutiny.asp
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/cabinet/cabinet.asp
http://www2.kirklees.gov.uk/you-kmc/kmc-howcouncilworks/councillors/yourcouncillors.asp


2 
 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report will give an update on the Learning & Early Support Special Provision 

grant baseline section of the Capital Plan following the allocation of further top-up 
funding announced in May 2018. 

 
1.2 In addition, Members will be asked to approve the allocation of the required capital to 

the relocation of Ethos College from the Learning & Early Support SEN High Level 
Review funding  

 
1.3 Members are also asked to consider and approve the delegation of decisions on the 

allocation of the Healthy Pupil Capital Fund (HPCF) to Local Authorities (LA) 
maintained schools to the Strategic Director - Corporate Strategy and Public Health. 

 
2. Information required to take a decision 
 

(a) Special Provision Grant 
 

2.1 The Department of Education (DfE) first announced the Special Provision fund 
allocations on 4 March 2017 to support LA’s to make capital investment in provision 
for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities. The £1.056M allocated to 
Kirklees Council was to be split equally over 3 years from 2018/19 at £352K per 
annum. 

 
2.2 On 29 May 2018, the DfE announced a £50M top-up across all LA’s resulting in an 

additional allocation of £246K to Kirklees bringing the total grant amount available to 
£1.302M. 

 
2.3 All Local Authorities were instructed by the DfE to carry out a high quality collaborative 

review of their high needs provision for children and young people in their local area 
with complex Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) by 31 March 2018. 
Planned use of the funding was required from the LA to be able to draw down on the 
Special Provision grant. 

  
2.4  On 20 March 2018 Cabinet approved the Special Provision grant allocation to three 

specific schemes that had been identified from the High Needs Review as the most 
efficient way of using the capital: Newsome High School, Honley High School and  
Ravenshall School. 

 
 
 

(b) Ethos College Re-location 
 

2.5 In May 2018 the former Knowles Hill School site was vacated due to the consolidation 
of primary school provision on one site by Westmoor Primary School. Ethos College 
has been based at the Netherhall Learning Campus for a number of years. As the 
provision has evolved the available space has become less than ideal with no access 
to outdoor facilities or to a hall/large group area. The Knowles Hill site was explored 
for the potential re-location of Ethos College to give them the opportunity to provide 
the College with greater flexibility to meet the needs of children in Kirklees. 

 
2.6 Ward Members were consulted about the proposed move. Local residents 

surrounding the Knowles Hill site were also engaged during June and July 2018. 

Page 22



3 
 

 
2.7 In order to ensure that the site is fit for purpose to deliver the full Key Stage 4 

curriculum following works are required: 
 
         Cost Estimate 
 Provision of a science lab    £ 79K 
 Adaptation of a kitchen for teaching  £ 18K 
 Replacement of some small toilets and  
 Wash basins      £ 21K 
 Minor door security adaptations   £   5K 
         £123K 
  
2.8 The maximum cost estimate of £145K has been established to include professional 

fees and contingencies. It is proposed to fund this capital investment from the SEN 
Future Needs Review 2018/19 baseline budget that was approved by Council on 11 
July 2018.  

 
2.9 £38K revenue funding was allocated over the school summer break to address some 

of the urgent work that could be delivered in a short time frame while the school was 
closed. It is proposed that this work be capitalised as part of the above maximum cost 
estimate.  

 
2.10 The new location will enable the College to accommodate more children. There is a 

sufficiency requirement identified in the High Needs Review for additional places. The 
commissioning of two additional places can offset the increased accommodation cost 
for the school, making this a viable option for them. 

      

(c) Healthy Pupils Capital Fund (HPCF) 
 
2.11 In March 2018 the DfE announced that £100M of revenue generated from the Soft 

Drinks Industry Levy would be provided in 2018-19 for the Healthy Pupils Capital 
Fund (HPCF). This fund is intended to improve children’s and young people’s 
physical and mental health by improving and increasing availability to facilities for 
physical activity, healthy eating, mental health and wellbeing and medical 
conditions. 

 
2.12 The local authority is the responsible body for allocating the £358K received in 

Kirklees to its maintained schools. As such, the local authority is required to report 
grant spending to the DfE. 

 
2.13 The DfE have published examples of projects which can be funded with the HPCF 

which can be found in Appendix A.  Methodology for the distribution of this funding 
is being explored with the Education and Learning Partnership Board. 

 
 
3. Implications for the Council  
 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP)  
 

The proposals will be part of a wider development programme to ensure that our 
specialist schools and settings are able to meet the needs of children and young 
people with SEND locally and in a timely fashion. 

  

Page 23



4 
 

3.2 Economic Resilience (ER)  
 

The proposals will afford more flexible accommodation to the identified schools and 
allow them to further personalise the curriculum offer for their pupils to ensure that 
they are able to make progress in all areas of the curriculum and transition 
successfully into adult life.  

 
3.3 Improving outcomes for Children  
 

The proposals’ aim is to improve the space available at each identified school which 
will facilitate a higher level of personalisation of the curriculum to meet all of the 
needs of the pupils who attend, leaving to improved outcomes. 
 

3.4 Reducing demand of services  
 

The aim of the proposals is to ensure that wherever possible, the majority of our 
children and young people with SEND can attend a local provision with the 
appropriate level of specialist support, thereby reducing the need for specialist 
provision outside of Kirklees, and enabling those pupils to remain within their local 
community. 

 
3.5 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

  
 The proposals will help us to increase capacity of appropriate specialist school 

places within Kirklees, thereby supporting the overall intention of reducing the need 
for out of Authority placements. It is anticipated that this while this will in time enable 
us to invest that money in our own provision, it has to be seen in context of being 
part of a much wider, current strategic review of high needs in the area. 

 
 The Council’s capital investment outlined in this report of £1.810M is funded from 

both DfE grant and corporate borrowing. £1.660M from the Special Provision & 
Healthy Pupils capital is funded through DfE grant and therefore it has no revenue 
cost implications. £145K from the SEN Future Needs Review 2018/19 baseline 
budget is prudential borrowing. The revenue cost of financing this level of borrowing 
is £9K per annum for 20 years. 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions  
 
 Engagement about the distribution of the Health Pupil Capital Fund has taken place 

with the Education and Learning Partnership Board on 12th September 2018 and 7th 
November 2018. There has also been engagement with Schools Forum on 14th 
September 2018. It is proposed that further engagement will follow. 

 
 Engagement about the Ethos College move was undertaken with local ward 

members, local residents, parents and pupils. There was general support for the 
proposals.  

 
5. Next Steps  
 

Officers from PRP and Learning and Early Help will ensure that the Special Provision 
projects concerned are developed, designed, procured and implemented.   
 

Page 24



5 
 

Subject to approval of the proposed schemes, officers from PRP and Learning and 
Early Help will ensure that the projects concerned are developed, designed, procured 
and implemented at Ethos College.  
 
Subject to approval of delegation and further consultation with portfolio holders and 
engagement with the Education and Learning Partnership Board the HPCF will be 
distributed as per the agreed principles. 

 
 
6. Officer Recommendation and reasons 
 

Members are requested to:  
 

a)  note the revised Special Provision grant allocation.  
 

b)  consider and approve the allocation of £145K required capital to the relocation 
of Ethos College from the Learning & Early Support SEN Future Needs Review 
2018/19 baseline funding.  

 
c)  consider and approve the delegation of the distribution of the Healthy Pupil 

Capital Fund (HPCF) to the Strategic Director - Corporate Strategy and Public 
Health, subject to consultation with portfolio holders and engagement with the 
Education and Learning Partnership Board. 

 
 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 

We note the revised Special Provision grant allocation and recommend cabinet 
approves: 
 
a) the allocation of £145K required capital to the relocation of Ethos College 

from the Learning & Early Support SEN Future Needs Review 2018/19 
baseline funding.  

 
b) the delegation of the distribution of the Healthy Pupil Capital Fund (HPCF) to 

the Strategic Director - Corporate Strategy and Public Health, subject to 
consultation with portfolio holders and engagement with the Education and 
Learning Partnership Board. 

 
 
8. Contact officers  
  

Martin Wilby – Acting Deputy Assistant Director – LA Statutory Duties 
Learning and Early Support 
Tel: 01484 221000   
Email: martin.wilby@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
David Martin - Head of Capital Delivery and Facilities Management 
Economy & Infrastructure 
Tel: 01484 221000  
Email: david.martin@kirklees.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 25

mailto:martin.wilby@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:david.martin@kirklees.gov.uk


6 
 

 
9. Background papers and history of decisions  
 

20 February 2018 Cabinet Report – Summary of findings from the Special 
Educational Needs and/or Disability (SEND) High Needs Strategic Review 

 
20 March 2018 Cabinet Report – Recommendations from the Special Education 
Needs and/or Disability (SEND) High Needs Strategic Review – Specialist Provision 
Capital Fund 
 
11 July 2018 Council: 5 Year Rollover Capital Plan 2018/19 to 2022/23 
 
 

10. Service Director Responsible 
  

Jo-Anne Sanders - Service Director - Learning and Early Support  
Tel: 01484 221000 
Email: jo-anne.sanders@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
Joanne Bartholomew 
Service Director - Commercial, Regulatory & Operational Services 
Email: joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk  
 
 

11. Attachments  
 

Appendix 1 –Examples of project which could be funded by the Healthy Pupils 
Capital Fund 

  

Page 26

mailto:jo-anne.sanders@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk


7 
 

Appendix 1  
 
Healthy Pupils Capital Funding 
 
Examples of projects which could be funded/supported by funding using HPCF 
 
Schools may wish to consider the following lists of project examples provided by the DfE. 
These lists are not exhaustive and intended to provide illustrative examples:  
 
Refurbishment or building of:  
• Changing rooms  
• Sports halls and gyms  
• Swimming pools  
• Teaching and catering kitchens  
• Dining spaces, to include seating and tables  
• Spaces for mental health support  
 
Creation or renovation of:  
• Garden spaces for growing produce  
• Playgrounds and active play spaces, such as resurfacing, climbing walls or multi-use 
sports panels  
• Sports pitches, hard courts and athletics tracks  
• Improvements to facilities, such as floodlighting, security fencing, pitch drainage  
 
Modification of facilities to improve accessibility for pupils with disabilities, such as:  
• Hoists to allow access to swimming pools  
• Adaptations to cooking facilities  
• Adaptations to changing room facilities  
• Wheelchair-accessible paths and planters in garden spaces  
• Sports wheelchairs  
• Hydrotherapy pools  
 
Provision of equipment, such as:  
• Permanent goalposts  
• Outdoor table tennis tables  
• Defibrillators  
• Gym equipment  
• Cookers, fridges and freezers  
• Bike stands  
 
Examples of smaller scale expenditure are included below, these may be of particular 
relevance to recipients of smaller grant amounts.  
• Water fountains  
• Playground markings to facilitate active play  
• Cooking equipment such as table-top hobs and food processors  
• Gardening planters and equipment  
• Fixed sports equipment, such as wall-mounted basketball boards  
 
 
 
Projects which are not consistent with the intended use of the HPCF  

Page 27



8 
 

 
• Operational costs, including hiring or leasing of facilities  
• Viewing stands  
• Car parks, roads or landscaping  
• Bars, sleeping accommodation, offices or other parts of a project that have little or no 
health and wellbeing content  
• Projects (or elements of projects) where work has already been completed.  
• The repayment of loans  
• The purchase of land or buildings  
 

Page 28



 
 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet  
Date: 11 December 2018  
Title of report:  Setting and approving Term Dates for Community, Voluntary 
Controlled and Community Special Schools. 
 
Purpose of report 
 
Kirklees Local Authority as the admission authority determines term dates for community, 
voluntary controlled and community special schools.  
 
This report is being presented in order to seek approval for Kirklees Council to change how it 
determines term dates for the academic year 2020/21 and thereafter.    
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes 
  

 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

Yes    
  

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
Finance and Section 151 Officer 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Governance and Commissioning 
Support 

Saleem Tariq    19/11/2018 
 
 
Eamonn Croston 19/11/2018  
 
 
Julie Muscroft (John Chapman) 19/11/2018  

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Masood Ahmed – Children 
Cllr Viv Kendrick – Children 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All Wards 
 
Ward councillors consulted: No  
 
Public or private: Public  
 
1. Summary  
 
There is a policy in Kirklees for setting term dates for Community, Voluntary Controlled and 
Community Special Schools which was approved by Education Committee 25 years ago on 
10 August 1993 (appendix 1).  
 
It is proposed that Kirklees Council switch from using the Kirklees policy to follow the Local 
Government Association (LGA) recommendation to use the LGA Guiding Principles for 
setting term dates in the Yorkshire and North East regions (appendix 2) and follow suit with 
the local authorities who also use these.  The following local authorities are aiming to co-
ordinate dates according to the LGA Guiding Principles  (apart from Leeds who have a set 
Easter break).   An annual meeting each September will take place to ensure that Page 29

Agenda Item 9:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


neighbouring local authorities shown below are making efforts to all work towards a school 
calendar which has significant similarities.   
 
Barnsley, Bradford, Calderdale, Doncaster, Kirklees, Leeds, North Yorkshire, Rotherham, 
Sheffield, Wakefield, York.  
                                             
It is proposed that the decision to approve Kirklees Term dates for community, controlled 
and community special schools also be delegated by Kirklees Cabinet to the Service 
Director, Learning and Early Support for the academic year 2020/21 and thereafter. This will 
follow engagement each year with the Education and Learning Partnership Board and/or the 
relevant sub-committee of this Board.  
 
It is expected that by having an agreed principle for setting term dates that aligns with our 
neighbouring local authorities will make the process of setting term dates a more co-
ordinated and routine process.  
 
2. Information required to take a decision  

 
Statutory regulation requires that 195 school days are identified in any academic year and 
pupils attend school for a statutory 190 days and then five additional days called pupil 
occasional holidays are determined by the governing body of the school. 
 
Kirklees officers liaise annually with neighbouring authorities to inform the consultation 
process in Kirklees and engage with Kirklees schools and partners via the Places, Access 
and Inclusion Committee who report to the Education and Learning Partnership Board. 
 
There is increasing pressure from the LGA for local authorities to try to achieve a 
coordinated approach and a common calendar across the region when determining term 
dates and they recommend that local authorities therefore use the LGA Guiding Principles 
for Yorkshire and North East Regions. (appendix 2).   
 
The current Kirklees policy differs slightly from the LGA Guiding Principles for Yorkshire and 
North East Regions and this has resulted in Kirklees being out of co-ordination with some of 
our neighbouring local authorities over past years and adaptations have had to be made to 
the Kirklees term dates to bring us more in line with our neighbouring local authorities who in 
the main follow the Guiding Principles set out by the LGA for the Yorkshire and North East 
Regions. 
 
The differences occur mainly around;  
 

 Kirklees Policy LGA Guiding Principles 

 
Start of the 
School 
Year 
 

 
first Weekday in September. 

 
first Monday in September 

Christmas 
Holiday 

start on the Friday which is on, or 
otherwise immediately prior to, 22 
December and include at least ten 
school days (three weekends) and 
any New Year’s Day holiday which 
is outside that period. 
 

at least 10 weekdays, start on the 
Friday which is on, or prior to, 22 
December and include the New 
Year’s day holiday which is outside 
that period, and the day after New 
Years Day, where this is a 
weekday. 

Easter 
Holiday 

If Easter Sunday falls on or before 
8 April the term shall end at the 
close of the afternoon session 
on Maundy Thursday (the day 

The Spring Term should end on the 
Friday before Good Friday. The 
holiday should be at least 10 
weekdays.  

Page 30



before Good Friday) and be 
closed for 11 school days.   

 

 
Our neighbouring local authorities will meet annually to confirm plans for the following year 
as well as drafting the next two years term dates to highlight any mismatched dates so that 
these can be aligned as far as is practicable.  It is know that there are still likely to be 
differences between some local authorities who have already adopted set dates for the 
easter break i.e; Leeds.   An attempt will be made by neighbouring local authorities to match 
all other dates using the LGA Guiding Principles so that there is consistency for dates for 
community, voluntary controlled and community special schools in the region.    
 
The governing bodies of voluntary aided schools and trust schools and the academy trusts 
of academies and free schools, are able to determine their own dates; In the interests of 
pupils and their families and staff the majority of own admission authority schools do 
coordinate with those dates set by the Council. 
 
When producing a proposed calendar local authorities take account of the following 
 

 Whether the proposed calendar supports appropriate educational provision. 

 The economic impact such as costs of home to school transport. 

 Where possible the potential impact on families e.g. child care, families with 
children/partners in more than one school or local authority area. 

 Relevant cultural needs. 

 Importance of cross border working.    
  
  

 

 
 

3. Implications for the Council 
 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

Reviewing how Kirklees determine Term Dates for the Academic Year 
September 2020/21 onwards for community, voluntary controlled and 
community special schools will support the local authority to achieve a 
coordinated approach.  There is increasing pressure for local authorities to try 
to agree a common calendar across the region and the LGA recommend that 
local authorities use their guiding principle for setting term dates. Publishing 
term dates as early as possible gives parents and carers opportunities to plan 
their annual calendars around school term dates.   
 

3.2 Economic Resilience (ER) 
We want Kirklees to be a place where local people have the chance to develop 
skills, and where communities have good employment opportunities and 
wages. In line with this, we are committed to making sure that there is a 
consistent approach for families who live and/or work across local authority 
borders can plan their annual calendars effectively.   
 

3.3 Improving Outcomes for Children  
Our aim is that all children in Kirklees have equal access to, and equal 
opportunities in education, regardless of where they were born or their start in 
life. We are committed to improve the quality of education in our schools to give 
every child the best possible start and provide opportunities for maximising 
learning and attendance. We are committed to ensuring better outcomes for all 
families who live and/or work across local authority borders so that they can 
ensure that their children attend school no matter which local authority they 
live/go to school in.   
 Page 31



3.4 Reducing demand of services 
Co-ordinating Term Dates for Community, Voluntary Controlled and Community 
Special Schools with neighbouring local authorities will allow the local authority 
to focus resources on those most in need of support.   
 

3.5 Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
This is a statutory requirement for the council. There are no financial or Human 
Resources implications for the council 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 

 
Consultation regarding proposed school term dates takes place annually with the main 
school Professional Associations and Trades Unions through the respective liaison groups 
and Headteacher group meetings. All Headteachers of all schools in Kirklees are consulted 
during the process as well as members of the Place, Access and Inclusion Committee which 
reports to the Education and Learning Partnership Board.     
 
5. Next steps 
 
When approved by the Service Director, Learning and Early Support, the term dates will 
continue to be communicated to the governing bodies of all schools as well as neighbouring 
local authorities and will appear on the Kirklees Council website and will include details of 
the bank holidays during the relevant school year. 
 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
Members are requested to;  
 
Approve the switch from using the Kirklees Policy (1993)  for setting term dates for Kirklees 
community, controlled and community special schools to using the LGA recommended 
Yorkshire and North East regions Guiding Principles for the 2020/21 academic year and 
thereafter.   
 
Approve the recommendation that approval for setting term dates each academic year will 
be delegated to the Service Director, Learning and Early Support following engagement with 
the Education and Learning Partnership Board.   
 
Note that the term dates when approved will continue to meet with the required number of 
school days as in statutory regulation.  
 
Note that consultation with neighbouring local authorities and liaison groups and 
headteachers will continue to take place before the dates for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled schools are approved for the year 2020/21 and thereafter. 
 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations  
  
Portfolio Holders support and recommend that Cabinet approve; 
 

 Adoption of the LGA recommended Yorkshire and North East regions Guiding 
Principles for the 2020/21 academic year and thereafter for setting term dates for 
Kirklees community, controlled and community special schools.   
 

 Delegation for setting term dates each academic year to the Service Director, 
Learning and Early Support following engagement with the Education and Learning 
Partnership Board and with neighbouring local authorities. 
 
 
 

Page 32



8. Contact officer  
 
Juliet Stott, Strategic Lead Pupil Admissions Service Manager 
Tel: 01484 221000 
Email: juliet.stott@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 
Appendix 1 - Kirklees Policy (1993) for setting Term Dates 
Appendix 2 – Local Government Association Guiding Principles for setting future term dates 
in the Yorkshire and North East regions 

 
10. Service Director responsible   
 
Jo-Anne Sanders, Service Director-Learning and Early Support 
Tel: 01484 221000 
Email: jo-anne.sanders@kirklees.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

mailto:juliet.stott@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:jo-anne.sanders@kirklees.gov.uk


KIRKLEES METROPOLITAN COUNCIL            Appendix 1 
EDUCATION SERVICE - POLICY FOR SCHOOL TERM DATES  
 
The policy for determining the 195 school days was approved by Education Committee on 10 August 
1993. 
 
The school year shall consist of 195 school days.  Pupils must attend on 190 of those days.  In 
nominating the five pupil occasional holidays, governing bodies must accommodate the use of the 
school as a polling station, where needed. 
 
1. Start of the School Year 
 

The school year shall start on the first week day in September. 
 
2. Autumn Half Term Holiday 
 

The Autumn half term holiday shall be the five days which are the last period Monday to Friday 
in October.  According to the year October half term can start as early as Monday 21 and as 
late as Monday 27 October. 

 
3. Christmas Holiday 
 

The Christmas holiday shall start on the Friday which is on, or otherwise immediately prior to, 
22 December and shall include at least 10 school days (three weekends) and any New Year’s 
day holiday which is outside that period. 

 
4. February Half Term Holiday 
 

The February half term holiday shall be five days Monday to Friday which divides the term as 
far as possible into two equal parts. 

 
5. Easter Holiday  

 
If Easter Sunday falls on or before 8 April the term shall end at the close of the afternoon session 
on Maundy Thursday (the day before Good Friday) and be closed for 11 school days.  If Easter 
Sunday falls after 8 April the term shall end at the close of the afternoon session on the Friday 
before Good Friday.  The holiday will be 10 school days. 

 
6. Spring Bank Half Term Holiday 
 

The Spring Bank half term holiday shall be five days Monday to Friday from the statutory holiday 
which falls as the last Monday in May. 

 
7. The Start of the Summer Holiday  

Taking into account the holidays given above, the start of the summer holiday shall be such 
that the school year consists of 195 school days of which five days shall be declared as pupil 
occasional holidays by the governing body of each community, controlled and special school. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Setting the School Calendar                                            Appendix 2 
Guiding Principles for Yorkshire and North East Regions 
 

1.0 The following Authorities listed will work together to establish common school holiday dates each year: 
 

 Yorkshire Authorities:  
 Barnsley 

Bradford 
Calderdale 
Doncaster 
East Yorkshire 
Kirklees 

Leeds 
North Yorkshire 
Rotherham 
Sheffield 
Wakefield 
York  
 

 North East Authorities: 
 Cumbria 

Darlington 
Durham 
Gateshead 
Hartlepool 
Middlesborough 
 

Northumberland 
Redcar/Cleveland 
Stockton 
Sunderland 
 

2.0 The school year will consist of 195 school days. Pupils must attend on 190 of those days. 
 

3.0 The starting point for consideration of each year’s holiday pattern will be the pattern recommended by the 
LGA for that school year modified as per these principles. 
 

4.0 Wherever possible, in any academic year, terms should be of equal length and split weeks avoided or 
kept to a minimum. Where there are an odd number of weeks the second half term should be the shorter 
of the two. 
 

5.0 Start of the School Year 
 

 The school year will normally start on the first Monday in September. 
 

6.0 Autumn Half Term  
 

 The Autumn half term break will be the five days which are the last period Monday to Friday in October. 
According to the year, October half term can start as early as Monday 21 and as late as Monday 27 
October.  
 

7.0 Christmas Break 
 

 The Christmas break will be at least 10 weekdays, and will normally start at the end of the school day on 
the Friday which is on, or otherwise immediately prior to, 22 December. It will include the New Year’s day 
holiday which is outside that period, and the day after New Years Day, where this is a weekday. 
 

8.0 February Half Term  
 

 The February half term holiday will be five days Monday to Friday, which divides the term as far as 
possible into two equal parts. Where there are an odd number of weeks the second half term will be the 
shorter of the two. 
 
 
 

9.0 Easter Break 
 

 The Spring Term will normally end at the end of the school day on the Friday before Good Friday. The 
holiday will be 10 weekdays. 
 
Where the LGA recommended patterns would result in a break between the Easter bank holidays and the 
school Easter holiday, consideration will be given to modifying Easter to incorporate the bank holidays in 
the school holiday. The Easter bank holidays could be at the start (with the Spring Term ending at the end Page 35



of the school day on the Thursday before Good Friday), middle, or end of the school Easter break, but 
never outside of the break itself. 
 

10.0 Spring Bank Half Term  
 

 The Spring Bank half term will be five days Monday to Friday from the statutory holiday which falls as the 
last Monday in May. 
 

11.0 End of the School Year 
 

 Taking into account the above pattern, term will end on the date which achieves 195 school days of which 
five days shall be declared as training days. The term will normally end on the third Friday in July. 
 
The summer break will not be less than five weeks and preferably not less than six weeks. 
 

12.0 Exceptions 
 

 Some LEAs (such as Bradford) have historically provided for a number of occasional (training) days within 
the schedule. These days allow schools to be responsive to their respective community needs. The 
schedule normally provides for between 3 – 5 occasional days which are found by reducing the half terms 
to three days in length. 
 

13.0 Polling Day 
 

 In nominating the five training days, governing bodies must accommodate the use of the school as a 
polling station, where needed. Where schools close on polling day governing bodies should use this as a 
training day. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 36



    
    
  

 
 
Name and date of meeting: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee  
 16 November 2018 
 
 Cabinet       

11 December 2018 
 

Council 
12 December 2018 

 
Title of report: Half Yearly Monitoring report on Treasury 

Management activities 2018/19 
 
Purpose of report 
 
The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management.  It is 
a requirement of the Code that regular reports be submitted to Members detailing 
treasury management operational activity.  This report is the mid-year for 2018/19 
covering the period 1 April to 30 September 2018. 
  
Key Decision - Is it likely to result 
in spending or saving £250k or 
more, or to have a significant 
effect on two or more electoral 
wards?  

No  

Key Decision - Is it in the 
Council’s Forward Plan (key 
decisions and private reports?)  

Key Decision: Yes 
Private Report/Private Appendix: 
N/A 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call 
in by Scrutiny? 

No  
 

Date signed off by Strategic 
Director and name  
 
Date signed off by Service 
Director  
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director Legal Governance and 
Monitoring? 

N/A 
 
 
Eamonn Croston – 8 November 
2018 
 
 
Julie Muscroft – 8 November 2018 

Cabinet member portfolio 
 

Corporate 
Graham Turner 

 
Electoral wards affected:  N/A 
Ward councillors consulted:  N/A 
Public or Private:    Public 
 
 
 
 Page 37

Agenda Item 10:



    
    
  
1 Summary 

 
1.1 The report gives assurance that the Council’s treasury management function is 

being managed prudently and pro-actively.  External investments averaged 
£43.1 million during the period at an average rate of 0.56%. Investments have 
ranged from a peak of £70.8m in August and a low of £15.8m in April. 

 
1.2  Balances were invested in line with the approved treasury management strategy 

(see Appendix 1), in instant access accounts or short-term deposits.   
 
1.3  The treasury management revenue budget is forecasted to underspend by 

£5.4m in 2018/19 against an annual budget provision of £22.9m due to the 
change in Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy which generated an 
underspend against baseline of £9.1m. Of this underspend, it is intended that 
£4.1m transfers to financial resilience reserves at year end, with the balance of 
£5.0m released in-year to support additional investment into high needs service 
in-year.  

 
1.4 In-year treasury management performance is in line with the treasury 

management prudential indicators set for the year (see appendix 4).   
 
1.5    the Financial Outturn and Rollover Report 2017-18 presented to Council on 11 

July 2018 included officer intentions to review current treasury management 
investment policy and consider options for future investment opportunities that 
could make additional returns for the Council. The report includes a 
recommendation to pursue a more diverse portfolio of investment in line with a 
significant amount of other Local Authorities through the Local Authorities 
Property Fund, subject to consideration of the potential risk and accounting 
treatment that is currently still being considered through a formal Government 
consultation. 

 
2 Information required to take a decision 

 
2.1 The treasury management strategy for 2018/19 was approved by Council on 14 

February 2018.  The over-riding policy continues to be one of ensuring the 
security of the Council’s balances.  The Council aims to invest externally 
balances of around £30 million, largely for the purpose of managing day-to-day 
cash flow requirements, with any remaining balances invested “internally”, 
offsetting borrowing requirements.   

 
2.2 The investment strategy is designed to minimise risk, with investments being 

made primarily in instant access accounts or short-term deposits, with the major 
British owned banks and building societies, or Money Market Funds.  
Diversification amongst counterparties is key.   

 
 Economic Context  
 
2.3 The following economic update has been provided via our external advisors 

Arlingclose (paragraphs 2.6 to 2.9 below in italics): 
 

2.4 The most recent labour market data for July 2018 showed the unemployment 
rate at 4%, its lowest since 1975. The 3-month average annual growth rate for 

Page 38



    
    
  

regular pay, i.e. excluding bonuses, was 2.9% providing some evidence that a 
shortage of workers is providing support to wages.  However real wages (i.e. 
adjusted for inflation) grew only by 0.2%, a marginal increase unlikely to have 
had much effect on households.  

  
2.5 The Bank of England made no change to monetary policy at its meetings in May 

and June, however hawkish minutes and a 6-3 vote to maintain rates was 
followed by a unanimous decision for a rate rise of 0.25% in August, taking Bank 
Rate to 0.75%. Having raised rates in March, the US Federal Reserve again 
increased its target range of official interest rates in each of June and September 
by 0.25% to the current 2%-2.25%. Markets now expect one further rise in 2018.  

 
2.6  The EU Withdrawal Bill, which repeals the European Communities Act 1972 that 

took the UK nto the EU and enables EU law to be transferred into UK law, 
narrowly made it through Parliament. With just six months to go when Article 50 
expires on 29th March 2019, neither the Withdrawal Agreement between the UK 
and the EU which will be legally binding on separation issues and the financial 
settlement, nor its annex which will outline the shape of their future relationship, 
have been finalised, extending the period of economic uncertainty. 

 
2.7 The ring-fencing of the big four UK banks - Barclays, Bank of Scotland/Lloyds, 

HSBC and RBS/Natwest Bank plc – is complete, the transfer of their business 
lines into retail (ring-fenced) and investment banking (non-ringfenced) is 
progressing and will need to be completed by the end of 2018. 

 
 Investment Performance 
 
2.8 The Council invested an average balance of £43.1 million externally during the 

period (£41.3 million in the first six months of 2017/18), generating £120k in 
investment income over the period. Appendix 7 shows a comparative average 
net monthly balances invested over the last 3 years.  

 
2.9 Balances were invested in instant access accounts or short term deposits.  

Appendix 1 shows where investments were held at the start of April, the end of 
June and September by counterparty, by sector and by country. 

 
2.10 The Council’s average investment rate for the period was 0.56%.  This is higher 

than the average in the same period in 2017/18 of 0.20%. This is mainly due to 
both the base rate increase to 0.75% in August 2017. 

 
2.11 As per Appendix 3, the Council performed well against other Local Authorities 

when comparing internal investments. In order to gain better rates of return, the 
majority of Local Authorities performing better have further external investments 
in specific commercial property portfolios or a more diverse portfolio such as the 
Local Authorities Property Fund. 

 
Borrowing Performance 
 

2.12 Long-term loans at the end September totalled £395.4 million (£400.4 million 31 
March 2018) and short-term loans £2.0 million (£0.9 million 31 March 2018).  
There has been no new long term borrowing so far this year. There isn’t an 
expectation of any new additional long term borrowing this year.  Page 39



    
    
  
 

2.13 Fixed rate loans account for 81.0% of total long-term debt giving the Council 
stability in its interest costs.  The maturity profile for fixed rate long-term loans is 
shown in Appendix 2 and shows that no more than 10% of fixed rate debt is due 
to be repaid in any one year.  This is good practice as it reduces the Council’s 
exposure to a substantial borrowing requirement in future years when interest 
rates might be at a relatively high level. 

 
2.14 Appendix 5 sets out in year repayments on long term borrowing and also further 

re-payments for the next 6 months. 
 
 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
 
2.15 The treasury management budget for 2018/19 currently stands at £22.9m.  The 

latest budget monitoring shows an under-spend of £5.4m. The under-spend is 
mainly due to the revised Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy to provide 
for MRP on the basis of the asset life to which external borrowing is incurred 
rather than the older version of a 4% reducing balance of the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR). The MRP calculation is used to determine the amount of 
revenue resources that need to be set aside annually by the Council to meet its 
debt obligations. The balance of £0.4m treasury management underspend is due 
to a reduction in the need for short term borrowing due to further slippage in the 
Capital Plan.   

  
 Prudential Indicators 
 
2.16 The Council is able to undertake borrowing without central government approval 

under a code of practice called the Prudential Code. Under this Code, certain 
indicators have to be set at the beginning of the financial year as part of the 
treasury management strategy.   

 
2.17 The purpose of the indicators is to contain the treasury function within certain 

limits, thereby reducing the risk or likelihood of an adverse movement in interest 
rates or borrowing decision impacting negatively on the Council’s overall 
financial position. Appendix 4 provides a schedule of the indicators set for 
treasury management and the latest position. 

 
Borrowing and Investment – General Strategy for 2018/19 
 

2.18 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s underlying 
need to finance capital expenditure by borrowing or other long-term liability 
arrangements.   

 
2.19 An authority can choose to finance its CFR through internal or external borrowing 

or a combination of the two.  
 

2.20 Forecast changes in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) and how these 
will be financed are shown in the balance sheet analysis at Table 1 below: 
 
 
 

 Page 40



    
    
  

Table 1: Balance Sheet Forecast 
 
 

 Actual 
 

2017/18
£m 

Strategy 
Estimate 
2018/19 

£m 

Revised
Forecast 
2018/19 

£m 
General Fund CFR - Non PFI 
                                  PFI          

420.3
52.3

458.9
49.3

429.8 
49.3 

HRA CFR               -  Non PFI 
                                  PFI 

182.8
54.9

175.3
52.9

183.2 
52.9 

Total CFR 710.3 736.4 715.2 

Less: PFI debt liabilities (1) 107.2 102.2 102.2 

Borrowing CFR 603.1 634.2 613.0 

Financed via;  

Deferred Liabilities (Non-PFI) (2) 4.0 3.9 3.9 

Internal Borrowing  185.9 136.6 208.7 

External Borrowing  413.2 493.7 400.4 

Total 603.1 634.2 613.0 

Investments 36.1 30.0 30.0 
(1) £107.2m PFI Liability (£5.0m falling due in 2018/19)  
(2) Deferred Liabilities = £1.0m Finance Lease (Civic Centre 1) & £3.0m Transferred Debt 

(Probation - Bradford, Waste Management - Wakefield & Magistrates Debt Charges) 
 

2.21   The revised forecast takes into account the following factors; 
 

a) General Fund CFR has reduced from £458.9m in the 2018/19 Strategy to 
£429.8m revised forecast due to further slippage and re-profiling within the 
Capital Plan. 
 

b) Internal borrowing in the 2018/19 Strategy was £136.6m, this has now been 
revised up to £208.7m due to lower than forecast use of reserves. 

  
2.22 The Council currently looks to maximise internal borrowing due to the relatively 

low rates of investment income available within the scope of the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  

 
 Future Treasury Management Strategy 
 
2.23 The Financial Outturn and Rollover Report 2017-18 reported to Council on 11 

July 2018 included officer intentions to review current treasury management 
investment policy and consider options for future investment opportunities that 
could make additional returns for the Council. 

  
2.24 One such opportunity would be to invest in the Local Authority Properties Fund. 

Any Local Authority in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland can invest 
and the asset allocation is distributed across a mixture of mainly property 
portfolios across the UK, but is supplemented with cash investments (Appendix 
8).  

 
Page 41



    
    
  
2.25 The Local Authorities Property Fund currently generates a gross yield of 4.47% 

(based on most recent quarter estimate) which is a far greater return than the 
current Council short-term investments due to the nature of the latter being more 
liquid and having greater security. However due to the diversification of the Local 
Authorities Property Fund portfolio, this still offers relatively more security than if 
the Council were to invest within individual commercial properties. 

 
2.26 Officers consider that an investment of between £5m and £10m could be 

considered, given   current average monthly balances available for investment 
of £43.1m, as noted earlier in the report at para 2.8,  and also noting recent year  
available average monthly balances for investment, as shown in Appendix 7. 
This highlights the increased investment level in 2018-19 compared with 2017-
18 and the potential for consideration of a £5m to £10m investment, with the 
majority of available balances still directed at short-term (liquid) investments, 
and some balances used for longer term investment.  

 
2.27 Based on current yields, the anticipated annual investment income from £5m – 

£10m investment could be in the range £225k - £450k onging, 
 
2.28 The Fund has previously offered both stable yields and capital gains over the 

last 10 years. However, it must be noted that this is heavily dependent on 
property prices and if there were to be a property crash the Council would incur 
a capital loss on any investment. 

 
2.29 The introduction of a new code of accounting practice for local government, from 

April 2018 relating to Financial Instruments, would ordinarily mean that any 
movement in the fair value of the overall capital asset portfolio from year to year 
(positive or negative) , would now have a real impact on the Council’s annual 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and therefore would impact 
on the Council Tax payer.  

 
2.30 However, Government is currently consulting on a statutory override to this 

requirement specifically in relation to the Local Authorities Pooled Investment 
Funds, albeit the override would be for 3 years only (to 1 April 2021). Councils 
are lobbying for the override to be made permanent. Therefore the potential for 
this change and the impact this could potentially have on the Council needs to 
be considered as part of an investment within such a fund.  The outcome of this 
consultation is expected to be announced by Government later in the year. 

 
2.31 The recently updated Prudential Code and Treasury Management Guidance 

which the Council will be formally adopting from 2019-20 onwards, notes that 
any investment in such funds (or individual commercial activity) should be 
proportionate to the requirements of the Council and should not be considered 
as a means to generate income without considering the potential impact if those 
investments were to generate a lower than expected return. It can be seen that 
some public sector bodies have pushed the boundaries in this area which may 
lead to a further revision in the updated CIPFA Code/Government Guidance in 
the future. 

 
2.32 An investment with the Local Authority Property Fund, which has a diversified 

commercial portfolio throughout the UK would be seen as “non-treasury 

Page 42



    
    
  

management activity” in that the purpose of holding such an investment is to 
generate a return rather than directly to service outcomes.  

 
2.33  A further new requirement of the updated Treasury Management Code of 

Practice (2017) is to ensure management practice is in place for non-treasury 
management activity in addition to the existing 12 Treasury Management 
Practices (TMPs). This is outlined at the end of this report (Appendix 6). 

 
2.34 The updated CIPFA Prudential and Treasury Management Codes also call for 

more robust management of commercial activity and capital borrowing, 
acknowledging the increasing trend over more recent years for Councils to 
investments in commercial properties, funded by borrowing, with the key driver 
of this activity appearing to be the generation of revenue. The prudential code 
takes the same position as the statutory guidance, and it is clear that authorities 
must not borrow more than or in advance of their needs purely to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. An investment in the CCLA Property 
Fund would not fall in to this category as it will not be funded by new borrowing, 
it would be utilising current day to day cash balances. 

 
Risk and Compliance issues  

 
2.35 In line with the investment strategy, the Council has not placed any direct 

investments with companies as defined by the Carbon Underground 200. 
 
 
3 Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 The treasury management underspend has been incorporated into the overall 

Quarter 2 financial monitoring report presented to Cabinet on 13 November 
2018.     

 
3.2 The outcome of the statutory override consultation on the Local Authority 

Property Fund will be reported back to members in due course. 
 
4 Consultees and their opinions 

Arlingclose, the treasury management advisors to the Council, have provided 
the economic context commentary contained in this report. 

 
5 Next steps 

Following consideration at Corporate Governance & Audit Committee, this report 
will be presented to Cabinet on 11 December 2018 and then full Council on 12 
December 2018. 
 

6 Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
Having read this report and the accompanying Appendices, Corporate 
Governance & Audit Committee are asked to: 
 

6.1 note the half-year treasury management performance in 2018-19 as set out in 
the report; 

 

Page 43



    
    
  
6.2 Approve officer proposals for an amendment in the Council’s current investment 

strategy to include the Local Authority Property Fund as a potential investment 
source; 
 

6.3 To consider proposals for officers to further explore an investment opportunity 
of between £5m and £10m in the Fund, and subject to further Government 
clarification on the statutory override, and other risk considerations, to formalise 
any such proposals into the forthcoming 2019/20 annual treasury management 
strategy and annual budget for further member consideration     

 
  
7 Contact officer  

James Anderson Senior Finance Manager 01484 221000 
 
 
 

8 Background Papers and History of Decisions 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services. 
The treasury management strategy report for 2017/18 - Council 15 February 
2017 
CIPFA 2017 consultation - Prudential and Treasury Management Codes 
Council Budget Strategy Update Report 2019-22 – Council 11 October 2018 
Annual Report on Treasury Management 2017-18 - Annual Financial Outturn 
and Rollover Report 2018-19; Council 11 July 2018. 

 
9 Service Director responsible   

Eamon Croston    01484 221000 
 

Page 44



          
Appendix 1   

 
 

 
 
 

 
*Fitch short/long term ratings, except Aviva MMF (Moody rating).  See next page for key. The use of Fitch ratings is illustrative – the Council assesses counterparty 
suitability using all 3 credit rating agencies, where applicable, and other information on credit quality. 
 
**MMF – Money Market Fund. These funds are domiciled in Ireland for tax reasons, but the funds are made up of numerous diverse investments with highly rated 
banks and other institutions.  The credit risk is therefore spread over numerous countries, including the UK.  The exception to this is the Aviva Government Liquidity 
Fund which invests directly in UK government securities and in short-term deposits secured on those securities. 

Kirklees Council Investments 2018‐19             

   

Approved 
Strategy 
Limit £m 

Approved 
Strategy 
Credit 
Rating 

Credit 
Rating 
Sept 
2018*  1 April 2018 (opening)  30 June 2018  30 September 2018   

Counterparty         £m  Interest   Type of  £m  Interest   Type of  £m  Interest   Type of   
           Rate  Investment     Rate  Investment     Rate  Investment   
Specified Investments                   
London Borough of Newham  10.0  ‐  ‐       8.0  0.55%  1 month     
Bank of Scotland  Bank  10.0  F1  F1/A+                  
Lloyds  Bank  10.0                  6.0  0.75%  32 Day Notice 
Santander  Bank  10.0            5.0  0.55%  35 Day Notice  7.0  0.85%  35 Day Notice  
Handelsbanken  Bank  10.0  F1  F1+/AA              6.7  0.77%  35 Day Notice 
Std Life (Ignis)  MMF**  10.0  AAA‐A  AAA  9.9  0.46%  MMF  10.0  0.53%  MMF  9.9  0.67%  MMF 
Aviva  MMF**  10.0  Aaa‐A2  Aaa  10.0  0.42%  MMF  9.8  0.51%  MMF  9.9  0.67%  MMF 
Deutsche  MMF**  10.0  AAA‐A  AAA  9.0  0.37%  MMF  6.5  0.45%  MMF  1.7  0.64%  MMF 
Goldman Sachs  MMF**  10.0  AAA‐A  AAA  7.2  0.37%  MMF  10.0  0.47%  MMF  9.9  0.64%  MMF 

     
   

36.1      49.3      51.1   
Sector analysis                      
Bank     10.0 each          5.0  10%    19.7  39%  
Building Society     10.0 each                   
MMF**     40.0    36.1  100%    36.3  74%    31.4  61%  
Local Authorities/Cent Govt  Unlimited          8.0  16%       
          36.1  100%    49.3  100%    51.1  100%   
Country analysis                          
UK               13.0  26%    13.0  25%  
Sweden                     6.7  13%  
MMF**      36.1  100%    36.3  74%    31.4  62%  
          36.1  100%    49.3  100%    51.1  100%   

P
age 45



 
Key – Fitch’s credit ratings:     Appendix 1 Continued 

 
  Long Short 

Investment 
Grade 

Extremely Strong AAA  
 

F1+ 
 AA+ 

Very Strong AA 
 AA- 
 A+   

Strong A F1 
 A-   
 BBB+ F2 

Adequate BBB   
 BBB- F3 

Speculative 
Grade 

 BB+  
 
 

B 

Speculative BB  
 BB-  
 

Very Speculative 
B+  
B  
B-  

 
 

Vulnerable 

CCC+  
 

C 

 
CCC  
CCC-  
CC  
C  

 Defaulting D D 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 46



 
Appendix 2 

 
 

 
 
 

£0

£5,000,000

£10,000,000

£15,000,000

£20,000,000

£25,000,000

£30,000,000

£35,000,000

£40,000,000

20
18

‐1
9

20
19

‐2
0

20
20

‐2
1

20
21

‐2
2

20
22

‐2
3

20
23

‐2
4

20
24

‐2
5

20
25

‐2
6

20
26

‐2
7

20
27

‐2
8

20
28

‐2
9

20
29

‐3
0

20
30

‐3
1

20
31

‐3
2

20
32

‐3
3

20
33

‐3
4

20
34

‐3
5

20
36

‐3
7

20
37

‐3
8

20
38

‐3
9

20
40

‐4
1

20
41

‐4
2

20
42

‐4
3

20
43

‐4
4

20
44

‐4
5

20
45

‐4
6

20
46

‐4
7

20
47

‐4
8

20
48

‐4
9

20
49

‐5
0

20
50

‐5
1

20
51

‐5
2

20
52

‐5
3

20
53

‐5
4

20
54

‐5
5

20
55

‐5
6

20
56

‐5
7

20
57

‐5
8

20
60

‐6
1

20
65

‐6
6

20
66

‐6
7

20
67

‐6
8

Debt Maturity ‐ By Year

P
age 47



 

 

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

Income Only Return on Total Investments (Internal plus External Funds)

Average income on internal investments Over‐performance of external funds Kirklees ‐ 30/09/2018

The rate of return has been calculated as:

External pooled funds: income only return for the past year, i.e. excluding capital
gains and losses.
Other investments: effective interest rate (EIR) of investments held at the quarter 
end date.

Since investment portfolios change over time, this will not equal your actual rate of 
return for the past year, but is a snapshot of current returns.

P
age 48



 
APPENDIX 4 

 
 
Treasury Management Prudential Indicators 
 

Interest Rate Exposures 
While fixed rate borrowing can contribute significantly to reducing the uncertainty 
surrounding future interest rate scenarios, the pursuit of optimum performance justifies 
retaining a degree of flexibility through the use of variable interest rates on at least part of 
the treasury management portfolio.  The Prudential Code requires the setting of upper 
limits for both variable rate and fixed interest rate exposure: 
 

 

  
Limit Set 
2018 - 19 

Estimated 
Actual* 

2018 - 19 
Interest at fixed rates as a percentage of net 
interest payments 

60% - 100% 81% 

Interest at variable rates as a percentage of 
net interest payments 

0% - 40% 19% 

 

 
*The estimated actual is within the limits set. 

 
Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
This indicator is designed to prevent the Council having large concentrations of fixed rate 
debt needing to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 
 
 

Amount of projected borrowing that is fixed 
rate maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing that 
is fixed rate 

 
Limit Set 

  2018 - 19 

 
Est’d Actual 
2018 - 19 

Under 12 months 0% - 20% 2% 
12 months to 2 years 0% - 20% 2%  
2 years to 5 years 0% - 60% 6% 
5 years to 10 years 0% - 80% 4%  
More than 10 years 20% - 100% 86% 

 

The limits on the proportion of fixed rate debt were adhered to. 
 
Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days 
The Council will not invest sums for periods longer than 364 days. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 49



 
APPENDIX 5 

 
Long-term loans repaid during the period 01/04/18 to 30/09/18 

 
 Amount 

£000s 
Rate % Date 

repaid   
PWLB (498438) - Maturity 4,613 4.10 17 Sept 18 
PWLB (496956) - Annuity 337 4.58 29 Sept 18 
Total 4,950   

 
 
Long-term loans to be repaid during the period 01/10/18 to 31/03/2019 
 

 Amount 
£000s 

Rate % Date to be 
repaid   

PWLB (476734) – Maturity 2,768 4.24 23 Dec 18 
PWLB (496956) - Annuity 344 4.58 29 Mar 19 
Total 3,112   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          

Page 50



 
Appendix 6 
 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 
 

The following Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) set out the manner in which the 
Council aims to achieve its treasury management policies and objectives, and how it will 
manage and control those activities. 

 
1. TMP 1 Risk management 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the 
identification, management and control of treasury management risk, will report at least 
annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of urgency, the 
circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s objectives in this 
respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 Reporting requirements and 
management information arrangements. In respect of each of the following risks, the 
arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set out in the 
schedule to this document. 

 
(i) Credit and counterparty risk management 

 
The Council regards a prime objective of its treasury management activities to be the security 
of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 
reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with which funds may be deposited, and will 
limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 
Approved Instruments, methods and techniques and listed in the schedule to this document. 
It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy 
in respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into 
other financing arrangements. 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk management 
 

The Council will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds 
available to which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives.  The 
Council will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so 
and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt maturities. 

 
(iii) Interest rate risk management 

 
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing 
its net interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts 
provided in its budgetary arrangements. 
 
It will achieve these objectives by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment 
instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and 
revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 
unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. The 
above are subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or 
budgetary implications. 
 

(iv) Exchange rate risk management 
 

Page 51



 
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. 
 

(v) Refinancing risk management  
 

The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements 
are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised 
are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which 
are competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the 
light of market conditions prevailing at the time.  
 
It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid over-reliance on any one source of funding 
if this might jeopardise achievement of the above. 

 
(vi) Legal and regulatory risk management 

 
The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory 
powers and regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do 
so, to all parties with whom it deals in such activities.  In framing its credit and counterparty 
policy under TMP1(i) Credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is 
evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in respect of the transactions 
they may effect with the Council. 

 
The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its 
treasury management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to 
minimise the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation.      

 
(vii) Fraud, error and corruption, and contingency management 

 
The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the 
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury management 
dealings.  Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain 
effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends. 

 
(viii) Market risk management   

 
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives 
will not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it 
invests, and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 

 
2. TMP2 Performance measurement 

 
 The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its treasury management 

activities, and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the 
framework set out in its Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

 
 Accordingly, the treasury management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the 

value it adds in support of the Council’s stated business or service objectives.  It will be the 
subject of regular examination of alternative methods of service delivery and of other potential 
improvements.  The performance of the treasury management function will be measured using 
the criteria set out in the schedule to this document.  

 
 Page 52



 
3. TMP3 Decision-making and analysis 

 
The Council will maintain full records of its treasury management decisions, and of the 
processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning 
from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues 
relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time.  The issues to be addressed 
and processes and practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are detailed in the schedule 
to this document. 

 
4. TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques 

 
The Council will undertake its treasury management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this document, and within 
the limits and parameters defined in TMP1 Risk management. 
 
Where the Council intends to use derivative instruments for the management of risks, these 
will be limited to those set out in its annual treasury strategy.  The Council will seek proper 
advice when entering into arrangements to use such products. 

 
5. TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing 

arrangements 
 
The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of 
its treasury management activities, and for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for 
the pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully 
integrated manner, and that there is at all times a clarity of treasury management 
responsibilities.  

 
The principles on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with 
setting treasury management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling 
these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the 
recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the audit and review of 
the treasury management function. 

  
If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to 
depart from these principles, the Chief Finance Officer will ensure that the reasons are 
properly reported in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and management 
information arrangements, and the implications properly considered and evaluated. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the 
responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the arrangement for 
absence cover.  The present arrangements are detailed in the schedule to this document. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will ensure there is proper documentation for all deals and 
transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.  The present 
arrangements are detailed in the schedule to this document. 

 
The delegation to the Chief Finance Officer in respect of treasury management is set out in 
the schedule to this document.  The Chief Finance Officer will fulfil all such responsibilities in 
accordance with the Council’s policy statement and TMPs and, as a CIPFA member, the 
Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 
 

 
Page 53



 
6. TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements 

 
The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; on the implications of changes, particularly 
budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury 
management activities; and on the performance of the treasury management function. 

 
As a minimum, the Council will receive: 
 an annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year 
 a mid-year review 
 an annual report on the performance of the treasury management function, on the effects 

of the decisions taken and the transactions executed in the past year, and on any 
circumstances of non-compliance with the organisation’s Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and TMPs. 
 

The present arrangements and the form of these reports are detailed in the schedule to this 
document. 

 
7. TMP7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will prepare, and the Council will approve and, if necessary, from 
time to time amend, an annual budget for treasury management, which will bring together all 
of the costs involved in running the treasury management function, together with associated 
income.  The matters to be included in the budget will at a minimum be those required by 
statute or regulation, together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with the 
TMPs.  Budgeting procedures are set out in the schedule to this document.  The Chief 
Finance Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget, and will report any major 
variations. 

The Council will account for its treasury management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, 
and with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being.  The present form 
of this function’s accounts is set out in the schedule to this document. 

 
The Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have 
access to all information and papers supporting the activities of the treasury management 
function as are necessary for the proper fulfilment of their roles, and that such information and 
papers demonstrate compliance with external and internal policies and approved practices. 
The information made available under present arrangements is detailed in the schedule to this 
document. 

 
8. TMP8 Cash and cash flow management 

 
Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of 
the Council will be under the control of the Chief Finance Officer and, with the exception of 
Secondary Schools’ bank accounts, will be aggregated for cash flow purposes.  Cash flow 
projections will be prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Chief Finance Officer will 
ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with TMP1(i) 
Liquidity risk management. The present arrangements for preparing cash flow projections 
are set out in the schedule to this document. 

 

Page 54



 
9. TMP9 Money laundering 

The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve 
it in a transaction involving the laundering of money.  Accordingly, it will ensure that staff 
involved in treasury management activities are fully aware of their responsibilities with 
regards this. The present safeguards, including the name of the officer to whom any 
suspicions should be reported, are detailed in the schedule to this document.  

 
10. TMP10 Training and qualifications 

 
The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the treasury 
management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities 
allocated to them.  It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both capable and 
experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an 
appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills.  The present arrangements are detailed 
in the schedule to this document. 

 

The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that Members of the committee providing a scrutiny 
function have access to regular training relevant to their responsibilities. 

 
11. TMP11 Use of external service providers 

 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organization at all times.  However, it also recognises the potential value of employing 
external providers of treasury management services, in order to acquire access to specialist 
skills and resources.   

When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which will have 
been submitted to full evaluation of the costs and benefits.  It will also ensure that the terms 
of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.  And it will ensure, where feasible 
and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid over-reliance on one or a 
small number of companies.   

Where services are subject to formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative 
requirements and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules will always be observed.  The 
monitoring of such arrangements rests with the Chief Finance Officer, and details of the 
current arrangements are set out in the schedule to this document.  

 
12. TMP12 Corporate governance 

   
The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can 
be achieved.  Accordingly, the treasury management function and its activities will be 
undertaken with openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability. 

The Council has adopted and has implemented the key principles of the Code.  This, 
together with the other arrangements detailed in the schedule to this document, are 
considered vital to the achievement of proper corporate governance in treasury 
management, and the Chief Finance Officer will monitor and, if necessary, report upon the 
effectiveness of these arrangements.  

Page 55



 
Management Practices for Non-Treasury Investments 

 

The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for 
financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment 
management. Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in 
subsidiaries, and investment property portfolios. 

The Council will ensure that all investments are covered in the Capital and Investment 
Strategies, and will set out where appropriate, the Councils risk appetite and specific policies 
and arrangements for non-treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk appetite 
for these activities may differ from that of treasury management. 

The Council will maintain a schedule setting out a summary of existing material investments, 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and the 
organisations risk exposure. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 56



 
Appendix 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

£0

£10,000,000

£20,000,000

£30,000,000

£40,000,000

£50,000,000

£60,000,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Average Net Investments (Per Month)

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Page 57



 
Appendix 8 

 

 

SEE ATTACHED 

Page 58



The Local Authorities’ Property Fund
Fund Fact Sheet – 30 June 2018

Investment objective
The Fund aims to provide investors with a high level of 
income and long-term capital appreciation.

Investment policy
The Fund is an actively managed, diversified portfolio of 
UK commercial property. It will principally invest in UK 
commercial properties, but may invest in other assets.

Suitability
The Fund is suitable for the long-term funds of any local 
authority seeking exposure to UK commercial property.

Independent Governance
The trustee is the Local Authorities' Mutual Investment 
Trust (LAMIT) a body controlled by members and 
officers appointed by the Local Government 
Association, the Convention of Scottish Local 
Authorities, the Northern Ireland Local Government 
Officers' Superannuation Committee and investors in 
the Fund.

Who can invest?
Any local authority in England, Wales, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland.

Income
Gross dividend yield 4.47%*
AREF/IPD™ Other Balanced Property Fund 
Index yield 3.59%
Official Bank Rate 0.50%

* Based upon the net asset value and historic gross annual 
dividend of 13.5691p. Distribution for the most recent quarter 
has been estimated.

Rolling 12 month distributions to 31st 
March:

11.48
13.42 13.96 13.19 13.70

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
0

5

10

15

20 Pence per Unit

Unique accounting advantages
Unlike other property fund investments or even direct 
property purchases, investment in the Fund does not 
count as capital expenditure for English or Scottish local 
authorities. Dividends are treated as revenue but the 
General Fund is protected from fluctuations in the unit 
price. The investment is treated as an available for sale 
financial asset.

Fund update
The prime focus of our investment strategy is on asset 
selection and management. We try to identify assets 
which, through active management, can make a 
significant contribution to total returns and to the 
income payment to investors. We also bias the sub-
sector weightings to reflect our view of their relative 
attractiveness. At present, this means a relatively high 
weighting to industrial and office assets and a relatively 
low weighting to retail, with no shopping centre or 
supermarket holdings.

Cash flows into the Fund remained at a high level, with 
subscriptions of £49m over the quarter. Two assets 
were added to the portfolio. An industrial warehouse on 
the M6 at Warrington, on a 4.9% yield and multi-
occupied offices in Leeds on an initial yield of 4.5%, but 
with reversionary potential. Total expenditure was 
£47m. In addition, six further investments are under 
offer, and when these are completed the Fund will be 
fully invested. There have been no sales. Lease 
management activity, including the important Kingsway/
Covent Garden asset in central London, saw the void 
rate decline to 8.5% from 9.1%. We expect further 
progress on this in the near future. A rent review on the 
Enfield industrial warehouse achieved a 40% 
improvement in income. This, together with lease 
extensions and new acquisitions have supported 
income.

Asset allocation at 30 June 2018

■ Industrial & W'houses 
33.33%

■ Offices 32.16%
■ Retail Warehouses 13.89%
■ Other 9.40%
■ Cash 5.99%
■ Shops 4.79%
■ Indirect 0.43%

The Fund has credit facilities which, at quarter end, 
were not utilised.

Page 59



Discrete year total return performance (net)
12 months to 30 June 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
The Local Authorities’ Property Fund† +9.33% +7.24% +5.85% +16.43% +17.78%
Benchmark +10.23% +5.67% +8.85% +15.89% +15.19%

Annualised total return performance (net)
Performance to 30 June 2018 1 year 3 years 5 years
The Local Authorities’ Property Fund† +9.33% +7.46% +11.22%
Benchmark +10.23% +8.24% +11.10%

Benchmark – AREF/IPD™ Other Balanced Property Fund Index *(estimated for the last quarter). Net performance shown after management fees 
and other expenses. Past performance is no guarantee of future returns.†Distribution for the most recent quarter has been estimated. Source: CCLA

Top ten property holdings – total 38.23%
London, Kingsway London, Beckton Retail Park
London, Goodman's Yard Bristol, Gallagher Retail Park
London, Stockley Park, Longwalk Bracknell, The Arena
Elstree, Centennial Park Coventry, Torrington Avenue
Leeds, Park Row Brighton, West Street

Key facts
Total fund size £1028m
Current borrowing £0m
Number of holdings 65

Income units
Offer (buying) price 324.10p (xd)
Net asset value 303.61p (xd)
Bid (selling) price 298.90p (xd)

Launch date 18 April 1972
Unit types Income
Minimum initial investment £25,000
Minimum subsequent investment £10,000
Dealing day Month end valuation day*
Sedol & ISIN numbers 0521664, GB0005216642
Dividend payment dates End January, April, July & October
Annual management charge (taken 100% from income) 0.65%

* Instructions for the issue or redemption of units must be received by CCLA no later than 5pm on the business day prior to the Valuation Date. If 
the valuation day is a bank holiday, the dealing day will be the previous working day. Units are only realisable on each monthly dealing date and 
redemptions may not be readily realisable; a period of notice not exceeding six months may be imposed for the redemption of units.

Tax reclaims should be addressed to: Glynis Free, Specialist Repayment Team 7 South, Ty - Glas, Cardiff, CF14 8HR.
Telephone 03000 580618, 9.30am - 1pm.

Risk Warning
This document is a financial promotion and is issued for information purposes only. It does not constitute the provision of financial, 
investment or other professional advice. CCLA have not considered the suitability of this investment against your individual needs 
and risk tolerance. To ensure you understand whether our product is suitable, please read the Fund Factsheet document and the 
Scheme Particulars. We strongly recommend you seek independent professional advice prior to investing. Investors should 
consider the following risk factors identified as specific to the Fund before investing: Counterparty/Tenant/Credit Risk (financial 
institution/tenants may not pay), Market Risk (investment value affected by market conditions), Operational Risk (general operational
risks), Expiry/Maturity Profile (timing of maturity of tenancies), Liquidity Risk (investment in non-readily realisable assets), Interest 
Rate risk (changes to interest rate affecting income), Concentration Risk (need for diversification and suitability of investment), 
Business Risk (possibility of lower than anticipated profits). Please see the Fund Scheme Particulars for further details.

Disclosure
Investment in the Fund is for Eligible Local Authorities only. Past performance is not an indicator of future performance. The value 
of investments and the income derived from them may fall as well as rise. Investors may not get back the amount originally 
invested and may lose money. Any forward-looking statements are based upon our current opinions, expectations and projections. 
We undertake no obligations to update or revise these. Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated. Investments in 
the Fund and the Fund itself are not covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS). However, the Manager may 
pay fair compensation on eligible claims arising from its negligence or error in the management and administration of the Fund. The 
Fund is an Alternative Investment Fund and an Unregulated Collective Investment Scheme established under a Scheme approved 
by H M Treasury under Section 11 of the Trustee Investments Act 1961 and is subject to provisions of a Trust Deed dated 6 April 
1972 and a supplemental Trust Deed dated 13 September 1978. The Fund operates as an open-ended Fund under Part IV of the 
schedule to the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Exemption) Order 2001. CCLA Fund Managers Limited (registered in 
England No. 8735639 at the office below) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and is the manager of the 
Local Authorities Property Fund.

Senator House | 85 Queen Victoria Street | London | EC4V 4ET | Freephone: 0800 022 3505 | www.ccla.co.uk
FMPYLF2018

Page 60



The Local Authorities'
Property Fund
Scheme Information

Page 61



Scheme Information
The Local Authorities’ Property Fund
Effective from May 2018
Issued by CCLA Fund Managers Limited

This Scheme Information summarises the terms and conditions on which the Fund 
operates. For full information as to the terms, reference should be made to the Fund’s 
Scheme. Copies are available on request from the Manager.

Contents Page

Definitions 4
The Fund 6
Investment Objectives 6
Investment Powers 6
Investment Restrictions 6
Performance Benchmark 6
Leverage (as defined by the AIFMD) 7
The Trustee 8
The Manager 9
Investment Manager 10
The Administrator 10
The Depositary 10
Depositary Conflicts of Interest 11
Title Documents to Fund Property 12
Registrar 12
Unitholders' Rights against Service Providers 12
Units of the Fund 12
Eligible Contributors 12
Issue and Redemption of Units 14
Minimum Investment 15
Registration of Units 15
Secondary Market Units 15
Exchanging Existing Property 15
Risk Factors 15
Risk Management Process and Liquidity Management 17
Responsible Property Investment 17
Valuations 17
Publication of Prices 18
Management Charges 18
Costs and Expenses 18

 2

Page 62



Taxation 19
Dividends 20
Regular Statements 20
Accounts of the Fund 20
Fair Treatment of Unitholders 20
Material Interests 21
Conflicts of Interest 21
Authority to Open and Operate an Account 22
Trustee Meetings 22
Winding Up 22
Data Protection 22
Complaints 23
Acceptance of Terms and Conditions 23
Amendments 23
Applicable Law 24
Scheme Information 24
APPENDIX 1 - Directory 25
APPENDIX 2 - Past Performance 27

 3

Page 63



Definitions
Administrator means CCLA Investment Management Limited or such other successor entity 
appointed as administrator by the Manager from time to time.

AIF means an alternative investment fund.

AIFM means an alternative investment fund manager and has the same meaning as in the 
glossary to the FCA Regulations.

AIFMD Legislation means the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive 2011/61 EU 
AIFMD, the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Regulations 2013 and the Commission 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 231/2013.

Annual Report means the annual report of the Fund prepared by the Trustee.

Council means the members of the Trustee that direct the activities of the Trustee.

Data Protection Legislation means Regulation (EU) 2016/679 on the protection of natural 
persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such 
data, or any successor legislations thereto, and any associated codes, regulation or 
guidance (as may be amended or replaced from time to time) and any related regulations 
and guidance and all other laws concerning the processing of data relating to living 
persons.

Depositary means HSBC Bank plc, or such other entity as may be appointed by the Trustee 
and the Manager from time to time.

Depositary Services Agreement means the agreement dated 22 July 2014, between the 
Depositary, the Trustee and the Manager appointing the Depositary and as amended, 
supplemented or replaced from time to time.

Deposited Property means any Fund Property in respect of which the Trustee has delegated 
custody to the Depositary in order to comply with the AIFMD Legislation, those assets being 
financial instruments under the AIFMD Legislation, which are required to be held in custody 
pursuant to the AIFMD Legislation.

Exemption Order means Part IV of the Schedule to the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (Exemption) Order 2001.

External Property Valuer means such valuer or valuers as the Manager shall select from 
time to time.

FCA means the Financial Conduct Authority of 25 The North Colonnade, Canary Wharf, 
London E14 5HS or any successor regulatory body.

FCA Regulations means the Handbook of Rules and Guidance issued by the FCA, as 
amended or replaced from time to time.

FSMA 2000 means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Fund means the Local Authorities' Property Fund, established under the Scheme and 
consisting of the Fund Property held on trust by the Trustee.

 4

Page 64



Fund Property means the assets, investments and property of the Fund from time to time.

Investment Management Agreement means the agreement dated 22 July 2014 between the 
Manager and the Investment Manager delegating the administration and portfolio 
management of the Fund Property to the Investment Manager and the Administrator and as 
amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time.

Investment Manager means CCLA Investment Management Limited.

Local Authority means Local authority, as defined in chapter 3 of the Local Government Act 
2003.

Manager means CCLA Fund Managers Limited or such successor body corporate appointed 
Manager pursuant to the Scheme.

MiFID II means Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 
May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and includes where applicable reference to 
any implementing or supporting Regulations, Directives, or other legislative measures.

Money Laundering Regulations means The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and 
Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 as may be amended, updated
or replaced from time to time.

PRA means the Prudential Regulation Authority of Threadneedle Street, London EC2R 8AH 
or any successor regulatory body.

Register means the register of Unitholders in the Fund maintained by the Registrar on 
behalf of the Trustee.

Registrar means CCLA Investment Management Limited appointed by the Trustee pursuant 
to a registrar agreement dated 1 October 1998 for the purpose of maintaining the Register.

Regulatory Rules means the AIFMD Legislation, FCA Regulations and MiFID II as may be 
applicable.

Scheme means the scheme approved by HM Treasury under Section 11 Trustee Investments 
Act 1961 together with the trust deed dated 6 April 1972 establishing the Fund, as amended 
by a supplemental trust deed dated 13 September 1978.

Scheme Information means these terms and conditions of the Fund as amended or replaced
from time to time.

Trustee means the Local Authorities' Mutual Investment Trust.

Unitholder means a Local Authority to which Units in the Fund have been, and continue to 
be, allocated.

Units means Units in the Fund, or where the context indicates, an investment which 
represents the rights or interests (howsoever decided) of the participants in a collective 
investment scheme.

Valuation Date means the end of each calendar month.

 5

Page 65



References to legislation, statutes or FCA Regulations in this Scheme Information are 
references to such legislation, statutes or FCA Regulations as amended, updated or replaced
from time to time.

The Fund
The Fund is an open-ended, unregulated collective investment scheme established under a 
Scheme. The Fund is an AIF and is managed by the Manager as an AIFM in accordance with 
the FCA Regulations and the AIFMD Legislation.

Investment Objectives
The Fund aims to provide investors with a high level of income and long-term capital 
appreciation.

Investment Policy
The Fund is an actively managed, diversified portfolio of UK commercial property. It will 
principally invest in UK commercial properties, but may invest in other assets.

Benchmark
IPD™ Other Balanced Property Fund Index.

Target Investors
The Fund is suitable for the long-term funds of any local authority seeking exposure to UK 
commercial property. The Fund is targeted at investors with an understanding or previous 
history of investing in similar types of fund, with appropriate levels of risk tolerance and 
ability to bear loss. Please note that the Manager is not required to assess the suitability of 
the Fund against each investor.

Our investors must be able to be categorised as professional clients.

Investment Powers
The Fund’s powers of investment are not restricted either to particular types of property, or 
subject to the consent of H M Treasury, to specific parts of the world, but it is the present 
policy to confine investment to freehold and leasehold commercial and industrial property 
in the United Kingdom.

The Fund is permitted to finance developments of, or improvements to, both freehold and 
leasehold property or purchase a right or interest in, or over, freehold or leasehold land, or 
borrow for the purpose of gearing against the Fund Property, provided that the aggregate 
borrowing does not exceed 25% of the value of the Fund Property on any quarterly 
valuation date. With the prior written approval of the Trustee, the Manager may borrow for 
any purpose set out above up to the limit of 50% of the net asset value of the Fund.

The total amount of borrowing and any change to the level of the maximum borrowing 
permitted by the Manager will be disclosed to the Unitholders in the Annual Report.

 6

Page 66



Investment Restrictions
The Fund will maintain a suitable spread between different types of property and 
geographical location. Importance will be attached to location, standard of construction and 
quality of covenant with lease terms preferably embodying upwards only rent reviews at 
intervals of not more than five years.

An amendment to the investment objective or policy of the Fund must be approved by HM 
Treasury and sanctioned by a special resolution of the Trustee.

Performance Benchmark
The performance benchmark for the Fund is the Balanced Property Unit Trust Index 
compiled and calculated by Investment Property Databank (IPD) and published by HSBC and
the Association of Real Estate Funds (AREF), calculated on a net asset value basis; or such 
other performance benchmark as the Manager may agree.

Leverage (as defined by the AIFMD Legislation)
This section explains in what circumstances and how the Manager may use leverage as 
defined by AIFMD Legislation in respect of the Fund and the maximum level of leverage 
permitted.

Leverage means any method by which the Fund increases its exposure whether through 
borrowing cash or securities or any other means. The sources of leverage which can be used
when managing the Fund include:
● cash borrowing.

Leverage will be used to purchase direct property and may also be used to meet 
redemption requests when appropriate.

The Manager is required to calculate and monitor the level of leverage of the Fund. 
Leverage is expressed as a ratio between the exposure of the Fund and the Fund's net asset 
value (Exposure/NAV). The exposure of the Fund shall be calculated in accordance with the 
commitment method (Commitment Method) and the gross method (Gross Method), as set 
out below.
Under the Gross Method, the exposure of Fund is calculated as follows:
1 include the sum of all assets purchased, plus the absolute value of all liabilities;
2 exclude the value of cash and cash equivalents which are highly liquid investments held 

in the base currency of the Fund, that are:
● readily convertible to a known amount of cash;
● are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value; and
● provide a return no greater than the rate of a three month high quality government bond;
3 derivative instruments are converted into the equivalent position in their underlying 

assets;
4 exclude cash borrowings that remain in cash or cash equivalents and where the 

amounts payable are known;
5 include exposure resulting from the reinvestment of cash borrowings, expressed as the 

higher of the market value of the investment realised or the total amount of the cash 
borrowed;

 7

Page 67



6 include positions within repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements and securities 
lending or borrowing or other similar arrangements.

Under the Commitment Method, the exposure of a Fund is calculated in the same way as 
under the Gross Method; however, the exposure of derivative or security positions 
employed in hedging and netting arrangements are not included in this calculation, 
provided certain conditions are met.

The maximum level of leverage permitted in respect of the Fund is the same regardless of 
which calculation method is used as no derivative instruments are used in the fund;
Gross Method: 2.00.

Commitment Method: 2.00.

Further information regarding these different Leverage calculation methods can be found in 
AIFMD Legislation and the Risk Management Process Document, which is available upon 
request from the Manager. The total amount of Leverage employed by the Fund will be 
disclosed in the Fund’s Annual Report.

It is not intended that the Depositary or any sub-custodian shall be entitled to re-use for its 
own benefit and of the Fund's Property it has been entrusted with.

Risks associated with Leverage
The risks associated with Leverage are that a failure by the Fund to perform its obligations 
under the terms of any loan would permit the lenders to demand early repayment of the 
finance and to realise any security they have over the Fund's assets.

The Trustee
The Trustee is the trustee of the Fund under the Scheme. The Trustee is a company 
incorporated under the Companies Act 1948, limited by guarantee and not having a share 
capital. The Trustee is managed through a Council, the current members of which are 
detailed in Appendix 1.

The Exemption Order provides that the Trustee of the Fund is exempt from the general 
prohibition in respect of operating a collective investment scheme. In consequence, the 
Trustee and its members are not required to be authorised by the FCA or the PRA.

The Trustee is controlled by members and officers appointed by the Local Government 
Association, the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities, the Northern Ireland Local 
Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee and by the Trustee to represent 
Unitholders.

The Trustee is responsible, for among other things, the custody and control of the Fund 
Property.

 8

Page 68



The Manager
CCLA Fund Managers Limited is the appointed AIFM of the Fund. The Manager is a limited 
liability company incorporated in England and Wales, whose address and details are shown 
in Appendix 1 of this document.

The Manager is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the conduct 
of investment business in the United Kingdom and is entered on the FCA's register under 
number 611707. The Manager has permission from the FCA to act as a full scope AIFM. The 
only business activity of the Manager is the management of alternative investment funds as 
an AIFM. The ultimate holding company of the Manager is CCLA Investment Management 
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales.

The Manager is appointed by the Trustee as the AIFM of the Fund and is responsible for the 
investment management of the Fund, which includes portfolio management and risk 
management, and the administration and marketing of the Fund. The Manager's 
appointment may be terminated by the Trustees serving written notice on the Manager.

Subject to the FCA Regulations and AIFMD Legislation the Manager may delegate (and 
authorise its delegate to sub-delegate) its duties as AIFM. Under such authority the Manager 
has delegated the portfolio management of the Fund Property and the administration of the 
Fund to the Investment Manager and the Administrator under the Investment Management 
Agreement.

Duties of the Manager
The Manager is responsible for all the investment management and administration services 
in relation to the Fund. These are:
● the day-to-day management of the Fund including power to buy and sell investments and

to operate bank accounts and to borrow;
● the preparation of any valuations or other calculations set out in this Scheme 

Information;
● the receipt of contributions and the satisfaction of withdrawals;
● the decision as to whether any particular asset is to be accepted as a contribution;
● the keeping of such accounts as the Trustee may require;
● company secretarial services to the Trustee; and
● any matters incidental to the above matters.

The Manager is also responsible for the risk management of the Fund.

No warranty is given by the Manager as to the performance or profitability of the Fund (or 
any part of it) or that the investment objectives of the Fund will be successfully 
accomplished.

 9

Page 69



Investment Manager
The Investment Manager is CCLA Investment Management Limited, a limited liability 
company registered in England, company No. 2183088. The Investment Manager is 
authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the conduct of its 
investment business and has permission that covers the provision of investment advice to a 
local authority about Units in the Fund. The management of the properties held by the Fund 
itself is outside the scope of FSMA.

The Investment Manager has been appointed by the Manager under the Investment 
Management Agreement to manage the Fund Property.

The Administrator
The Manager has appointed the Administrator to carry out certain administrative tasks 
including the preparation of valuation and other reports together with marketing activities 
on behalf of the Fund. The Administrator has been appointed under the Investment 
Management Agreement with the Manager and the Manager meets the fees of the 
Administrator from the Annual Management Charge.

The Administrator provides the Manager with all administrative services necessary for the 
management of the Fund. These include:

● the valuation of the Fund Property in conjunction with an appointed External Property 
Valuer;

● the issue and redemption of Units in the Funds; and
● the payment of dividends and the maintenance of the accounts of the Fund.

The Fund operates on a financial year to 31 March.

The Depositary
The Trustee and the Manager have appointed HSBC Bank plc as the depositary of the Fund 
under the Depositary Services Agreement.

The Depositary is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales with 
company registration number 00014259 with its registered office at 8 Canada Square, 
London E14 5HQ.

The Depositary is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and is regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority in the conduct of its 
investment business in the United Kingdom.

Terms of appointment of the Depositary
The Depositary has certain duties under the AIFMD Legislation which are to provide 
safekeeping, oversight, cash monitoring and asset verification services in respect of the 
Fund Property in accordance with the provisions of the applicable FCA Regulations, the 
AIFMD Legislation and the Scheme.

 10

Page 70



In accordance with the FCA Regulations and the AIFMD Legislation, the Depositary may, 
pursuant to the Depositary Services Agreement, delegate the provision of custody services 
in relation to the Fund. Safekeeping functions may be delegated to one or more sub-
custodians on the terms set out in the Depositary Services Agreement and the Depositary 
will act with reasonable skill, care and diligence in the discharge of its duties. The liability of 
the Depositary as depositary under the Depositary Services Agreement shall not be affected 
by the fact that it has entrusted to a third party some or all of the assets in its safekeeping.

The Depositary has not currently delegated the provision of custody services and therefore 
the Depositary acts as custodian of any Deposited Property.

The fees to which the Depositary is entitled are set out in this Scheme Information.

Under the Depositary Services Agreement, the Depositary's appointment may be 
terminated on 90 days written notice, subject to a replacement Depositary being appointed.

Liability of the Depositary under the Depositary Services Agreement
Subject to the paragraph below, pursuant to the Depositary Services Agreement, the 
Depositary will be liable for loss of Deposited Property or Deposited Property in the custody 
of any sub-custodian (should such sub-custodian be appointed) unless that loss has arisen 
as a result of an external event beyond its control, the consequences of which would have 
been unavoidable despite all reasonable efforts to the contrary, or where the asset which is 
lost was held by a sub-custodian appointed in accordance with the Depositary Services 
Agreement and the transfer of liability from the Depositary to the sub-custodian has been 
expressly agreed.

The Manager will disclose to potential Unitholders before they invest in the Fund any 
arrangement made by the Depositary to contractually discharge itself of liability in 
accordance with the AIFMD Legislation. Currently, it is not envisaged that the Depositary 
will seek to contractually discharge itself of liability under any circumstances, and so it is 
not expected that this requirement under the AIFMD Legislation will be applicable to the 
Fund. In the event that there are any changes to the Depositary's liability under the AIFMD 
Legislation, the Manager will inform Unitholders of such changes without delay.

However, the Depositary shall not be liable for any indirect, special or consequential losses.

Depositary Conflicts of Interest
Potential conflicts of interest may arise from time to time from the provision by the Trustee 
and/or its affiliates of other services to the Fund, the Manager, the Investment Manager and/
or other parties. Where a conflict or potential conflict of interest arises, the Depositary will 
have regard to its obligations to the Fund and/or the Manager and will treat fairly the Fund, 
the Manager and the other funds for which it acts, so far as is practicable. Such potential 
conflicts of interest are identified, managed and monitored in various other ways including, 
the hierarchical and functional separation of HSBC’s depositary functions from its other 
potentially conflicting roles and by the Depositary adhering to its “Conflicts of Interest 
Policy” (a copy of which can be obtained on request from the Head of Compliance for the 
Depositary).

 11

Page 71



Title Documents to Fund Property
The Trustee has appointed Hogan Lovells International LLP and DLA Piper (for Scottish 
Properties) to hold in safe custody the deeds, leases and other documents relating to the 
Fund Property. The Trustee may review these arrangements form time to time.

Registrar
The Registrar has been appointed to provide registrar services for the Fund and to operate 
the Fund's Register.

Unitholders' Rights against Service Providers
It should be noted that Unitholders will only be able to exercise their rights directly against 
the Fund and the Manager and that Unitholders will not have any direct contractual rights 
against the service providers of the Fund appointed from time to time.

This is without prejudice to any right a Unitholder may have to bring a claim against an FCA 
authorised service provider, the Manager, the Investment Manager or the Depositary under 
Section 138D of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as a result of a breach of the 
FCA Regulations by such service provider, the Manager, the Investment manager or the 
Depositary), or any tortious or contractual cause of action.

Units of the Fund
The Fund issues Units which pay dividends quarterly.

Eligible Contributors
Units of the Fund can only be issued to and owned by Local Authorities in England, Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland which are entitled to receive distributions from the Fund 
gross of tax.

Any Local Authority applying to participate in the Fund is required to give a declaration of 
eligibility to participate in the Fund and an indemnity to the Fund for any liabilities arising 
from such Local Authority's ineligibility to participate in the Fund. The Trustee will require 
evidence of the Local Authority's eligibility to invest in the Fund and may defer the issue of 
Units in the Fund until such time as the eligibility of the Local Authority has been confirmed.

Under the Scheme the Trustee has the discretion to refuse to accept any contribution or to 
refuse to accept any particular asset by way of contribution.

Inducements
It is the Manager's policy not to enter into any soft commission arrangements with its 
brokers for the supply of goods and services, in return for an agreed volume of business.

In accordance with the Regulatory Rules, the Manager when executing orders or placing 
orders with other entities in relation to financial instruments for execution on behalf of the 
Fund must not accept and retain any fees, commission or monetary benefits from a third 
party (Third Party Payments). If the Manager receives any Third Party Payments, the 
Manager will return the Third Party Payments to the Fund as soon as reasonably possible 
and will inform Unitholders of the amount received which will be set out in the annual 

 12

Page 72



reports.

The Manager must not accept any non-monetary benefits when executing orders or placing 
orders with other entities for execution in relation to financial instruments on behalf of the 
Fund, except those which are capable of enhancing the quality of the service provided to the
Fund, and which are of a scale and nature such that they could not be judged to impair the 
Manager's compliance with its duty to act honestly, fairly and professionally in the best 
interests of the Fund.

Research
Certain brokers provide research services to the Investment Manager, which the Investment 
Manager pays for out of its own resources. This research is used by the Investment Manager
in its fund management process.

Anti-Money Laundering
The Manager is required by law to maintain procedures to combat money laundering. In 
order to implement these procedures, proof of identity may sometimes be required either 
when buying or when selling Units from time to time, even of existing Unitholders. We may 
freeze or return your investments and/or subscription amounts unless or until the necessary 
evidence of identity can be obtained. In the case where Units are being sold, the remittance 
of proceeds may be delayed until proof of identity has been obtained. Electronic identity 
checks may be undertaken on the persons named within the application form.

Telephone and electronic communications
The Manager, in accordance with the Regulatory Rules, must take all reasonable steps to 
record telephone conversations and keep a copy of electronic communications where such 
conversations and communications relate to activities in financial instruments as required 
by the FCA Regulations.

Ceasing to Satisfy Unitholder Eligibility Requirements
If, at any time, a Unitholder ceases to qualify as eligible to be an investor in the Fund:

● the Unitholder must inform the Manager of this fact promptly;
● at the time the Manager becomes aware that the Unitholder has ceased to qualify as 

eligible to invest in the Fund, the Unitholder will be deemed to have submitted an 
application for the redemption of all of the Units held by the Unitholder;

● the Unitholder undertakes to indemnify the Fund (on the written demand of the Manager) 
against all losses suffered by the Fund (including, without limitation, any assessment for 
tax on capital gains tax or income tax or any other tax to which the Fund would not have 
been assessed had the Unitholder remained eligible, and all costs and expenses 
including professional fees incurred in connection with such assessment) as a 
consequence of the ineligibility of the Unitholder;

● the Unitholder agrees that any redemption monies in relation to the redemption of Units 
set out above may be retained by the Manager in order to satisfy any losses suffered by 
the Fund (including, without limitation, any assessment for tax on capital gains tax or 
income tax or any other tax to which the Fund would not have been assessed had the 
Unitholder remained eligible, and all costs and expenses including professional fees 

 13

Page 73



incurred in connection with such assessment) as a result of the Unitholder ceasing to 
qualify as eligible to invest in the Fund; and

● the Unitholder irrevocably appoints one or more of the directors of the Manager as its 
true and lawful attorney to execute all instruments and other documentation required to 
effect redemption of the Units of the Unitholder. The Unitholder agrees to ratify all and 
any acts of the attorney.

Issue and Redemption of Units
Instructions for the issue or redemption of Units must be made in writing to the Manager at 
Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4ET.

Purchases or sales of the Fund's Units can be made on any Valuation Date, subject to a 
period of notice or delay (or successive periods of notice or delay) of such period (or 
periods) as the Trustee or Manager may impose to permit properties to be sold to meet 
withdrawals or to protect the interest of Unitholders in the Fund.

In the event of the suspension of redemption requests in full or part (i) those applications 
for the redemption of Units first made in respect of an earlier month end Valuation Date will 
be dealt with in priority to those first made in respect of a later month end Valuation Date (ii)
without prejudice to (i) all applications for the redemption of Units made in respect of 
particular month end Valuation Date shall be treated pari passu, irrespective of the time 
such applications for the redemption of Units were actually received in respect of that 
month end Valuation Date and (iii) the Manager can accept in part an application for the 
redemption of Units and, in the event that it does so, such application for redemption of 
Units (and any other applications for redemption of Units which are to be treated pari passu 
with it) shall be redeemed in part pro rata.

Application monies paid by cheque should be drawn on an EEA (European Economic Area) 
banking institution and made payable to The Local Authorities’ Property Fund. They must be 
received by the Manager not later than 5.00pm on the business day prior to the Valuation 
Date. Application monies so received will not earn interest and will be paid into a Fund bank 
account. Cheques made payable to CCLA Investment Management Limited or CCLA Fund 
Managers Limited will be returned.

Contract notes will normally be dispatched by close of business on the next business day 
after the issue of the Units. The contract note will show inter alia, the number of Units and 
the issue or redemption price. Units will be issued to the nearest round number.

Redemption instructions must be received by 5.00pm on the business day preceding a 
Valuation Date and may be subject to a period of notice. Cheques in respect of redemption 
of Units are issued within four business days after the Valuation Date on which the Units are 
redeemed.

If a delay is imposed, proceeds of Units redeemed (or the cost of Units issued) will be 
calculated on the Valuation Date when the Units can be redeemed (or issued) by the Fund 
and not on the Valuation Date when notice is received.

 14

Page 74



Minimum Investment
The minimum sum that can be invested initially is £25,000. Thereafter additions to 
unitholdings can be made of £10,000 or above.

Registration of Units
Units are registered in the name of the Local Authority or in recognised bank nominee 
names under a designated account. No certificates are issued and the Register is the 
definitive evidence of title. The Units have no par value and entitle the Unitholder to a 
proportionate interest in the Fund. Units cannot be assigned or transferred except from one 
Local Authority to another subject to the payment of Stamp Duty Reserve Tax payable by the 
Trustee and recharged to the purchaser. The number of Units held will be certified on written 
request for audit or other purposes.

Secondary Market Units
From time to time the Manager may become aware of opportunities for Unitholders to trade 
Units other than via the Manager (the Secondary Market). In which case and at its discretion 
the Manager may, but is not obliged to, inform other Unitholders and or other Local 
Authorities.

This can enable investors to transfer holdings on terms set between themselves. The 
investors should instruct the Registrar to amend the Register to record the transfer of the 
Units to the new Unitholder.

Local Authorities should note that the Manager does not make a market and, therefore, may 
not be aware of every opportunity that exists to trade on the secondary market.

Exchanging Existing Property
The Fund may consider accepting existing properties in exchange for Units of the Fund. 
However, the Trustee may do so but only if it is judged to be in the best interests of existing 
Unitholders of the Fund and on the basis of an independent professional valuation. If 
accepted, the exchange would be made at the open market value of the property at the net 
asset value of the Units issued. The Trustee has absolute discretion as to which properties it 
will accept.

Risk Factors

General risks
Past performance is not necessarily a guide to the future. The price of Units and income 
from them may fall as well as rise and a Unitholder may not recover the full amount 
invested. There can be no assurance that the Fund will achieve its investment objective or 
that a Unitholder will recover the full amount invested in the Fund. The capital return and 
income of the Fund is based on the capital appreciation and income on the Fund Property it 
holds, less expenses incurred. Therefore, the Fund’s return may be expected to fluctuate in 
response to changes in such capital appreciation or income.

The Fund is permitted to borrow up to 50% of the value of the Fund in order to purchase 
direct properties. A failure by the Fund to perform its obligations under the terms of any 

 15

Page 75



such loan would permit the lenders to demand early repayment of the finance and to realise 
any security they have over the Fund's Property. Borrowing also increases risk by 
magnifying capital and income performance, gains and losses.

Diversification risk
The Fund is invested in direct property and assumes the property related risks outlined 
under ‘Direct Property Risks’. The Fund invests in UK properties only and as such is not as 
diversified as if it were invested across several asset classes and/or several geographical 
locations. Any change in legal, tax or regulatory requirements affecting the Fund or its 
investments may be amplified by this lack of diversification.

Liquidity risk
Direct property is an illiquid investment relative to other asset classes. The Units are 
intended only for long-term investment and are not suitable for money to be spent in the 
near future. Investments are realisable on each monthly Valuation Date but, due to the 
illiquid nature of the underlying assets, a period of notice may be imposed for the 
redemption of Units.

Risk associated with investment in other collective investment schemes
The Fund may invest in one or more collective investment schemes including schemes that 
are managed by the manager or affiliated companies. In some cases these collective 
investment schemes may be unregulated. Other collective investment schemes may be 
illiquid and will likely be exposed to the same risks as the Fund and as described elsewhere 
in this document.

Direct Property Risks
Property and property related assets are inherently difficult to value because of the 
individual nature of each property. As a result, valuations are open to substantial 
subjectivity. There is no assurance that the valuations of the properties will reflect the sale 
price achieved even where such sale occurs shortly after a valuation point.

The value of property could adversely be affected by a downturn in the property market in 
terms of capital value or a weakening of rental yields. The income received is dependent to 
a large extent upon the occupancy levels of any property and the rents paid by the tenants.

Rental revenues and property values are affected by changes in the general economic 
climate and local conditions. Property values are dependent in particular on current rental 
values, prospective rental growth, lease lengths, tenant creditworthiness and the valuation 
yield (which is itself related to interest rates, the market appetite for property investments in 
general and with reference to the specific property in question) together with the nature, 
location and physical condition of the property concerned.

The value of properties can also be negatively impacted by changes in planning laws.

Additional risks may arise in the event that there is a failure by a counterparty to perform its 

 16

Page 76



obligations under a contract or other agreement (including failure arising from the 
insolvency of a tenant of a property).

Property ownership assumes associated risks including, without limitation, environmental 
and third party liability risk the value of which may exceed the value of the property itself.

Risk Management Process and Liquidity Management
The Manager employs a risk management process, including the use of appropriate stress-
testing procedures, which enables it to identify measure, manage and monitor at any time 
the relevant risks of the positions to which the Fund is or may be exposed and their 
contribution to the overall risk profile of the Fund.

The Manager maintains a liquidity management process to monitor the liquidity risk of the 
Fund, which includes, among other tools and methods of measurement, the use of stress 
tests under both normal and exceptional liquidity conditions.

The liquidity management systems and procedures allow the Manager to apply various 
tools and arrangements necessary to ensure that the Fund is sufficiently liquid to respond 
appropriately to redemption requests. In normal circumstances, redemption requests will 
be processed as set out in this Scheme Information.

Other arrangements may also be used in response to redemption requests, including, in 
extreme cases, temporary suspension which, if activated, will restrict the redemption rights 
investors benefit from in normal circumstances as set out in this Scheme Information.

Responsible Property Investment
The Fund is managed in line with the Manager’s Responsible Property Investment Policy. 
This integrates material environmental, social and governance issues into the investment 
process including pre-purchase due diligence and the ongoing management of properties in 
the Fund. Copies of the policy are available on request.

The manager is a signatory to the United Nations backed Principles of Responsible 
Investment (PRI). The annual PRI assessment is available on the Manager’s website.

Valuations
The Fund is valued monthly on the Valuation Date for the issue and redemption of Units and 
the value of the Fund shall be the value of its assets, including capital cash, less the value of 
its liabilities. The valuation of Fund property is determined as follows;
● Units in a collective investment scheme – if the scheme is singled priced then that price 

will be used. If the scheme is dual priced the mid-market price will be used.
● Direct Property – an External Property Valuer is responsible for providing property values 

for the Fund. All properties are valued at every month end at Open Market Valuation in 
accordance with the Red Book of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. Additions to 
the portfolio are valued externally after acquisition.

To calculate the issue and redemption price (offer and bid prices) of the Units the net capital 
asset value of the Fund shall be divided by the number of Units in issue. The Trustee may 
increase the issue price by such a surcharge and reduce the redemption price by such a 

 17

Page 77



deduction as in either case it may think fit with a view to protecting the Unitholders of 
subsisting Units from being adversely affected in respect of the values of the Units by the 
effects of contributions and/or withdrawals. The Trustee may vary the amount of the 
surcharge or deduction at any time.

Publication of Prices
The Fund’s Unit price is published on the CCLA website.

Management Charges

Fees
The Manager is entitled to its pro rata fees and expenses as detailed in this Scheme 
Information to the date of termination of its appointment as Manager of the Fund and any 
additional expenses necessarily incurred in settling or realising any outstanding obligations. 
The Manager shall be responsible for paying the fees of the Investment Manager and the 
Administrator. These fees will be met from the Annual Management Charge.

Annual Management Charge
The Manager makes an annual charge on the assets of the Fund at a fixed rate of 0.65% per 
annum (plus VAT if applicable and if any). The Annual Management Charge is based on the 
valuation of the Fund on the last day of the preceding month. The charge accrues daily and 
is deducted from the income of the Fund on the last business day of each month. The 
Manager makes no charge in respect of transactions carried out by the Fund.

Preliminary Charge
The Manager makes no preliminary charge on the issue of Units.

Depositary Fees, Charges and Expenses
The Depositary is entitled to a periodic fee which is agreed between the Manager, the 
Depositary and the Trustee. The Depositary is paid an annual fee of £15,000. This is charged 
to the Fund and paid on a monthly basis.

Costs and Expenses
The following expenses incurred for the Fund shall be paid either directly by the Fund or by 
the Trustees and recharged to the Fund:
● legal and other costs associated with obtaining and maintaining any authorisation or 

registration of the Fund;
● any governmental duties payable in respect of the issue of the Fund’s Units;
● cost of property transactions including, but not limited to, stamp duty, agents and survey 

fees
● External Property Valuer’s fees;
● legal fees;
● professional and agency fees;
● audit fees;
● bank charges;

 18

Page 78



● any rates, taxes, insurance premiums, costs of security, maintenance and repairs and 
other costs and service charges related to specific properties which cannot be recovered;

● the fee of any external property adviser;
● cost of liability insurance for the Trustee;
● costs incurred in respect of Unitholder meetings or in modifying the constitution of the 

Fund; and
● such other fees or expenses as may from time to time be agreed with the Trustee.

Taxation
The Fund is not subject to capital gains tax or income tax. Dividends are paid gross.

This is our understanding of the tax position as at the date of this Scheme Information. The 
tax position may change in the future. Investors should obtain their own tax advice in 
respect of their own position.

FATCA
The UK International Tax Compliance (United States of America) Regulations 2014 (the UK 
Regulations) came into force on 30 June 2014 and implement the "Agreement between the 
Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the 
Government of the United States of America to improve International Tax Compliance and to
implement FATCA" (commonly known as FATCA). Under UK Regulations, Financial 
Institutions must identify all reportable accounts and establish the tax residency of all 
account holders not just in respect of US persons. More background on how FATCA has 
been implemented in the UK can be found in HMRC's Guidance Notes at https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-us-automatic-exchange-of-information-agreement/
uk-us-automatic-exchange-of-information-agreement.

In order to comply with the UK Regulations, the Manager may be required to collect certain 
information about each Unitholder's tax residence(s), and determine whether it is obliged to 
submit certain account information to UK tax authorities, who may pass it on to other tax 
authorities.

Unitholders may also be asked to provide additional information to the Manager to enable 
the Fund to satisfy its obligations. Institutional Unitholders may be required to provide a 
Global Intermediary Identifications Number (GIIN). Failure to provide requested information 
may subject a Unitholder to liability for any resulting US withholding taxes, US tax 
information reporting and/or mandatory redemption, transfer or other termination of the 
Unitholder's interest in its Units. The GIIN for the Fund is available on request.

By signing the application form to subscribe for Units, each Unitholder agrees and 
acknowledges that, in certain circumstances, the Manager will be obliged to share this 
information with UK tax authorities, who may pass it on to other tax authorities. 
Unitholders are encouraged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible 
implications of FATCA on their interest in the Fund.

 19

Page 79



Dividends
Dividends are paid quarterly to a nominated bank account in respect of the three months to 
the end of June, September, December and March. They are paid one month after each 
quarter end. Income is calculated as income receivable by the Fund whether already 
received or not, less any costs and expenses accrued to date. Income is allocated to 
Unitholders monthly but is not included in the Unit price.

Regular Statements
Statements of Units, management expenses and dividends paid are provided as at 30 
September and 31 March.

The Manager reserves the right to charge reasonable expenses in relation to printing and 
postage of any additional documentation required by a Unitholder.

Accounts of the Fund
The report and accounts of the Fund are prepared at 30 September and 31 March, being the 
half year and year ends respectively.

The Annual Report, in addition to the regular statements detailed above includes, amongst 
other things, information on the Fund’s;
● assets and liabilities (including the percentage of the Fund Property that is subject to 

special arrangements arising from its illiquid nature);
● income and expenditure;
● total amount of leverage employed;
● activities of the financial year; and
● risk profile.

The Annual Report will also include details of:
● the Manager's risk management systems;
● details of any changes to the Fund’s liquidity management;
● the remuneration paid by the Manager to its staff;
● any material changes to the information in the Scheme Information;
● any change to the Fund’s use of leverage, including the maximum level of Leverage the 

Fund may employ; and
● any further disclosures required by AIFMD.

All accounts are audited. The Manager will make available, free of charge on its website 
(www.ccla.co.uk) the Fund's Annual Report and Accounts for the period to 31 March (the 
accounting reference date) and half year report and accounts for the period to 30 September
(the interim accounting date).

Fair Treatment of Unitholders
The Manager has established policies and procedures and made arrangements to ensure 
the fair treatment of Unitholders. Such arrangements include, but are not limited to, 
ensuring that no one or more Unitholders are given preferential treatment over any rights 
and obligations in relation to their investment in the Fund. All rights and obligations to 

 20

Page 80



Unitholders, including those related to subscription and redemption requests, are set out in 
this Scheme Information.

The Manager has established fair and transparent pricing models and valuation systems 
and procedures for the Fund Property and endeavours to ensure that there are no undue 
costs being charged to the Fund and the Unitholders.

The Manager has also established procedures to identify, manage and monitor conflicts of 
interest and, where applicable, disclose those conflicts of interest to prevent them from 
adversely affecting the interests of the Unitholders. The Manager has established a process 
for recognising and dealing with complaints fairly.

Material Interests
The Investment Manager operates a client relationship management service.

The Trustee owns approximately 14% of the share capital of the Investment Manager.

The Manager is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Investment Manager.

Conflicts of Interest
The Manager, the Depositary, the Investment Manager and the Administrator are or may be 
involved in other financial, investment and professional activities which may, on occasion, 
cause conflicts of interest in the management of the Fund. In addition, the Fund may enter 
into transactions at arm's length with companies in the same group as the Manager.

The Depositary may, from time to time, act as depositary of other funds.

Each of the parties will, to the extent of their ability and in compliance with the FCA 
Regulations and AIFMD Legislation, ensure that the performance of their respective duties 
will not be impaired by any such involvement.

The Manager and the Investment Manager operate a Conflicts of Interest Policy (Policy) to 
ensure that their clients are fairly treated. The Policy seeks to avoid circumstances which 
they consider may give rise to potential conflicts of interest and materially disadvantage 
their clients. The Policy describes the controls and arrangements for preventing the 
Manager, the Investment Manager and their staff from:
● favouring one client over another;
● making a financial gain, or avoiding a financial loss, at the expense of the client;
● a member of staff being favoured over a client;
● providing to (or receiving from) a person other than the client, an inducement in relation 

to a service provided to the client, in the form of a financial interest; and
● favouring the Manager's or the Investment Manager's shareholders over a client.

Full details of the Policy are available on request.

 21

Page 81



Authority to Open and Operate an Account
The Manager is entitled to assume that the person(s) signing an Application Form to 
purchase the Fund’s Units in a Local Authority’s name are duly authorised. In the case of 
sales, money is only remitted to the Local Authority or its bank but not to third parties. 
Where instructions are received in respect of Units held in a nominee name, the written 
confirmation from the Local Authority may be required by the Manager.

Trustee Meetings
The Trustee and the Manager meet at least half yearly and the Trustee receives quarterly 
written reports from the Manager. The Trustee’s property sub-committee meets each quarter 
with the Manager and Investment Manager.

Winding Up
The Trustee has the power to wind up the Fund in accordance with the Scheme.

Data Protection
The Manager is a data controller in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation and will 
hold personal data about each Unitholder's representatives (referred to below as 
"representatives") that has been supplied to the Manager (whether by the representative, a 
Unitholder or otherwise) as set out in CCLA's Privacy Notice. Each Unitholder agrees to 
ensure that the contact details and other personal data provided for it and its 
representatives to the Manager remains up to date at all times.

The Unitholder acknowledges that the Fund may invest in investment schemes operated 
and managed by the Manager and/or by third parties (referred to below as "investment 
schemes") and that the Manager may need to pass data, including personal data regarding 
the representatives, to those investment schemes. The Manager will not pass on any 
personal data to any other third party or permit the investment schemes to pass the 
personal data to third parties except: (i) where, in relation to the performance of its services 
to the Unitholder, the Manager (or the investment scheme) sub-contracts part of the 
services or any support services; (ii) as agreed by the Unitholder; or (iii) where required to 
do so for legal or regulatory purposes as set out in CCLA's Privacy Notice.

The Manager (and the investment schemes) may keep records of all business transactions 
for at least five years. Unitholders have a right to inspect copies of contract notes and 
entries in the Manager’s books or computerised records relating to their transactions. Their 
representatives also have certain rights under applicable data protection legislation, 
including the right to access copies of their personal data and change the permissions given 
in respect of the processing of it. The Manager will treat all Unitholders' records as 
confidential and so reserves the right to provide copies of the Unitholder/representative's 
particular record, rather than allow access to files which may contain information about 
other Unitholders. Requests to access the above records/personal data or to exercise any 
other rights under applicable data protection legislation should be directed to The Data 
Protection Adviser at the Manager’s office, Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 
London, EC4V 4ET.

 22

Page 82



Complaints
Complaints concerning the operation or marketing of the Fund should be referred in writing 
to:
● the Manager at; The Head of Client Services, CCLA Fund Managers Limited, 85 Queen 

Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET; or
● the Investment Manager at; The Head of Client Services, CCLA Investment Management 

Limited, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET; or
● the Trustee at; The Secretary, Local Authorities’ Mutual Investment Trust, Senator House, 

85 Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET.

Compensation
As the Fund is not an Authorised Unit Trust within the meaning of the FSMA 2000, 
investments in the Fund are not covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme. 
The Manager will pay fair compensation on eligible claims arising from its negligence or 
error in the management and administration of the Fund.

Further information is available from the Manager on request or via www.fscs.org.uk or at 
their address below;

Financial Services Compensation Scheme,
10th Floor,
Beaufort House,
15 St Botolph Street,
London, EC3A 7QU.

The Manager covers its potential liability risks arising from professional liability by holding 
appropriate professional indemnity insurance.

Acceptance of Terms and Conditions
By completing the Application Form, the Unitholder acknowledges and accepts the terms 
and conditions and agrees to be bound by the provisions of this Scheme Information and of 
the Scheme.

Amendments
The Trustee and the Manager reserve the right to amend the Scheme Information at any 
time. Subject, where applicable, to the approval of the Treasury where necessary as set out 
in the Scheme and this Scheme Information, and in relation to any changes to the 
investment objective and policy only in accordance with the provisions dealing with such 
changes as set out in this Scheme Information. Unitholders will be notified of any 
amendment material to them.

The Manager will endeavour to give Unitholders 90 days' notice of significant changes to 
the Scheme Information. When changes are required for regulatory or other reasons it may 
not always be possible to give 90 days' notice.

In certain limited circumstances the Trustee and/or the Manager (as appropriate) may decide 
that very minor changes to the investment policy and/or objective of the Fund (for example, 

 23

Page 83



those aimed at clarification of the investment objective and/or policy) would be considered 
a "notifiable change" within the meaning in the FCA Regulations. Such alterations may be 
made by providing Unitholders with access to an updated copy of these Scheme Particulars.
All current schemes are available on www.ccla.co.uk or by request please contact our Client 
Services department on 0800 022 3505.

Applicable Law
Any agreement to invest in the Fund is governed by English law and subject to all 
applicable laws, regulations and rules. In the event of a conflict between such agreement 
and any such laws, regulations and rules, the latter shall prevail.

Scheme Information
Any person relying on the information contained in this document which was current at the 
date shown, should check with the Manager that the document is the most current version 
and that no revisions or corrections have been made to the information contained herein. 
Copies of this document are available free of charge.

 24

Page 84



APPENDIX 1 - Directory

The Council of the Trustee
The Trustee, The Local Authorities' Mutual Investment Trust, is a company limited by 
guarantee and not having a share capital. The Trustee operates through a Council.

The members of the Council are:
T. Salmon OBE (Chairman)
T. Beattie
P. Clokie OBE
E. Eyre
P. Findlow
R. Kemp CBE
A. Naylor
S. Pickup OBE
S. Timoney

The Manager
The Manager, CCLA Fund Managers Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Investment 
Manager, is a limited liability company, registered in England and Wales with Company 
Number 08735369 and with its registered office at Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, 
London EC4V 4ET.

Incorporated on 16 October 2013. The directors of the Manager are:
R. Horlick (Chairman)*
J. Bevan
A. McMillan
R. Norris*
M. Quicke
A. Robinson
T. Salmon*
J. Tattersall*
R. Williams*
(* indicates a Non-Executive Director)

CCLA Fund Managers Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct 
Authority, 25 The North Colonnade, Canary Wharf, London, E14 5HS.

 25

Page 85



The Investment Manager
The Investment Manager, CCLA Investment Management Limited, is a limited liability 
company registered in England and Wales with Company Number 2183088 and with its 
registered office at Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET.

Incorporated on 26 October 1987. The directors of the Investment Manager are:
R. Horlick (Chairman)*
J. Bevan
A. McMillan
R. Norris*
M. Quicke
A. Robinson
T. Salmon*
J. Tattersall*
R. Williams*
*Non-Executive Director

CCLA Investment Management Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority, 25 The North Colonnade, Canary Wharf, London, E14 5HS.

The Customer Telephone Helpline Number is 0800 022 3505. Please note telephone calls 
may be recorded.

The Depositary
The Depositary of the Fund is HSBC Bank plc, a public limited company registered in 
England and Wales with its registered address at 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ. The 
Depositary is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority.

The Custodian
The Custodian of the Fund is HSBC Bank plc, a public limited company registered in 
England and Wales with its registered address at 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ. The 
Custodian is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority.

The Registrar
The Registrar of the Fund is CCLA Investment Management Limited. The Register of 
Unitholders may be inspected at the registered office of CCLA Investment Management 
Limited, at Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET.

The Administrator
The Administrator of the Fund is CCLA Investment Management Limited, Senator House, 85 
Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET.

The Auditor
The Auditor of the Fund is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, a limited liability partnership with 
an office at 7 More London Riverside, London SE1 2RT.

 26

Page 86



APPENDIX 2 - Past Net Performance

Net performance shown after management fees and other expenses.

-2.40

-29.81

-0.67

17.30

6.29
3.89

8.92

19.50

14.09

2.12

9.68

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
-30%
-25%
-20%
-15%
-10%
-5%
0%
5%
10%
15%
20%
25%
30%

The Fund started on April 1972. Past performance is no guarantee of future returns.

 27

Page 87



 28

Page 88



CCLA Client Services:
Freephone: 0800 022 3505
or visit www.ccla.co.uk

CCLA Investment Management Limited (Registered in England No. 2183088) and CCLA Fund 
Managers Limited (Registered in England No. 8735639) whose registered address is Senator 
House, 85 Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4ET are authorised and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority.

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting:  Cabinet  
Date:  11th December 2018  
Title of report:  A Response to the Ombudsman Report - 13 September 2018

  
Purpose of report:  To confirm the actions taken since publication of the report 
                                  To confirm actions still to be taken 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

not applicable 
 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

not applicable 
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support 

Sal Tariq  30/10/18 
 
 
Eamonn Croston (James Anderson) 28/11/18 
 
 
Julie Muscroft  30/10/18 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Masood Ahmed 
Cllr Viv Kendrick 

 
Electoral wards affected: all  
 
Ward councillors consulted: none  
 
Public or private: Public   
  

Page 91

Agenda Item 11:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
1. Summary 

 
On October 2nd 2018, the Ombudsman (attached at Appendix 1) published a formal 
report describing the difficulties faced by the family of X (a child with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities – SEND) and made a series of recommendations. 
One of these is that the Council must consider the Ombudsman Report and confirm 
within three months the action it has taken or proposes to take. This report describes 
the actions that have taken place, the further actions that are planned, and the 
learning that the Service has taken to improve future practise.   
 
 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
i) The recommendations in the Ombudsman report are set out below: 

 
The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it has 
taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full Council, 
Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members and we will 
require evidence of this 
 
In addition to the requirements set out above, the Council has agreed to make the 
following payments to Mrs X within three months of our final decision: £200 for the 
unnecessary distress and time and trouble caused in having to bring a third complaint 
to us; £400 for the term and a half of Assistive Behaviour Application (ABA) missed 
from September 2017 to February 2018; £400 to acknowledge the cumulative effect 
on X of the extended period the Council failed to provide the complete package of 
support specified in his Statement. 
 
The Council has also agreed that within three months of our final decision it will review 
the procedures it uses to monitor and ensure delivery of special educational provision. 
It should report its findings to us and the action taken. 
 
ii) The action taken 

 
A funding gap had been identified by the Council as part of reviewing the capacity of 
the SEND Assessment and Commissioning Team (SENDACT) and in May 2018 
additional investment of £500,000 was implemented to increase the team’s function, 
capacity, quality and size. A programme of professional development and training is 
being planned with the team, underpinned by the Restorative Practice approach. 
          
Appendix 2: Cabinet Report 16.10.18 
 
In order to work with our parents and ensure that we are able to learn from the 
experiences of families, a series of meetings and discussions were, and continue to 
be held with some parents and carers of children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities, who expressed their own concerns about the quality of service provided 
by SENDACT and the impact that this had had on their child’s provision and progress, 
and on their family as a whole. The discussions have involved the parent Mrs. X, who 
has been generous in sharing her experiences which in turn has been instrumental in 
shaping the improvement process. The Council is appreciative of the commitment of 
our parents who are involved in this ongoing engagement. 
 
The Council has been keen to be open and transparent in working with our families 
and plans for the review of SENDACT were shared with parents as part of our 
ongoing discussions, and feedback encouraged. The feedback we received was 
included in the team’s action plan. It was agreed to hold a series of future meetings so Page 92



that parents could monitor the progress of the review and the action plan. The first of 
these meetings was held on October 24th 2018.  
 
 It is helpful to set some wider context to the situation. Legislation required councils to 
improve its offer to children with special educational needs by assessing new 
Education Health and Care (EHC) plans and transferring any existing young people 
who had a Statement of Educational Need to an Education Health and Care Plan. It is 
clear councils across the country have had difficulty in ensuring that its services 
achieved the timescales of these new provisions. In a press release from October 
2017, the Local Government Ombudsman identified that nationally fewer than 60% of 
EHC plans were issued within the 20 week timescale in 2016. At that point the 
Ombudsman were upholding 80% of the complaints they were receiving nationally on 
the subject and had identified an increasing number of complaints being received.  
 
In this backdrop, Kirklees Council formulated plans to improve its offer for Children 
with Special Educational needs but it recognises unfortunately it did not fulfil the 
identified needs of this child before the improvement plans had been fully formulated 
and introduced. However, the work undertaken, and the plans in place to monitor and 
quality assure the improvement, gives some confidence that changes to the service 
can now be introduced very quickly.       

 
           Actions focus on key issues raised by parents, and those addressed through the 
           Ombudsman Report and include: 
 

1. The need for more timely communication between services, schools and parents             
in order to reduce delay. Rigorous supervision and training, and a new electronic             
system to aid monitoring of progress and communication are now in place. 
 

2. The principles of a child and family centred approached enshrined in the Children and 
Families Act 2014 should be embedded through a workforce development strategy to 
ensure that parents and their child were fully involved in the decision making process. 
The Council has adopted a Restorative Approach and this complements the core 
principles of the Act. A bespoke programme is being designed for SENDACT. 
 
The SENDACT review is almost complete and the new, larger structure will be fully in              
place by January 2019. Parents were present at all interviews during the process              
and contributed to the questions set in the interviews and tasks themselves.             
There is an extensive workforce development programme in place and this will 
include input on the Restorative Approach.  
There are additional posts in the structure that are responsible for quality assurance 
and compliance, and key performance indicators to meet relating to timeliness of 
response to parents. 
 
In addition to this, the Council is committed and is undertaking a focussed approach 
to a High Needs Strategic Review, and a strategic action plan is in place to deliver 
system change. This is based on the outcome of extensive consultation with parents 
and carers, schools and settings, and other agencies. The SENDACT review is 
included in the action plan along with other developments noted by parents, e.g. 
closer multi-agency working, workforce development, the importance of transition. 
 
Appendix 3: Cabinet Report 20.2.18 
 
In addition, Children’s Scrutiny have oversight of the High Needs Review action plan, 
which is a further opportunity to ensure improvement and accountability. 
 

3. Implications for the Council 
 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

Page 93



Earlier, child and family centred conversations with parents will lead to a more 
considered view of a child and family’s aspirations, and the provision needed to 
achieve this. This is fundamental as part of the High Needs Action Plan. 
 

3.2 Economic Resilience (ER) 
Early discussions about aspirations include a consideration and planning for 
the transition to adulthood to ensure that each young person is able to achieve 
an appropriate degree of independence and to contribute to their community. 

 
3.3      Improving Outcomes for Children  

The overall aim of the High Needs Review and the action plan that is in place is 
that children and young people  should have the opportunity and be able to 
access appropriate provision within or as near to their community as possible to 
enable them to engage fully in the area where they live, with support where 
needed. 

 
3.4 Reducing demand of services 

Our aim is to ensure access to local provision wherever appropriate and to 
reduce the need for more specialist provision while ensuring that this is 
available for those children and young people with more complex needs. 

 
3.5      Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

As part of the High Needs action plan, there is a focus on the available funding 
for Kirklees children and young people as part of the High Needs Block as this 
continues to overspend. 
 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 

There was an extensive period of engagement, consultation and dialogue through the 
High Needs Review followed by specific consultation with local groups for parents of 
children and young people with SEND, specifically; Parents of Children with Additional 
Needs (PCAN), Whole Autism Family, and the Down Syndrome and Friends Group. 
This engagement and dialogue is critical to ensure further development and 
improvement in service if we are to be responsive, and will continue through our 
parent monitoring group, and parents will be involved in our workforce development 
planning.  

 
5. Next steps 
 

The SENDACT action plan and training plan is now in place and progress will       
continue to be monitored through the Parent Group, the High Needs Review Project 
Board, and the SEND Strategy Group, with regular updates to the Service Directors 
and Elected Members.  
The council will confirm with the Local Government Ombudsman when its 
improvement plans have been fully introduced, and a further update on the complaint 
will be shared and discussed with Corporate Governance and Audit Committee in 
January 2019.  

       
 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
To take note of the formal Ombudsman report that has been received, and to consider 
the actions completed to date, those planned and the monitoring arrangements in 
place. We will also confirm with the Local Government Ombudsman that they believe 
the actions taken appear to form an appropriate response to their findings.  

               
 
 

Page 94



 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 

 
     I believe that the SENDACT review, the High Needs Strategic Review and the co- 

production with families means that we have clearer and stronger service delivery with 
better outcomes for children and their families.  Additionally the oversight and 
involvement of parents and carers of children with special needs and the Children & 
Young People’s Scrutiny panel will continue to help and support the development of 
improved services. 

 
8. Contact officer  
            

Mandy Cameron, Head of Service: Education Inclusion and Safeguarding 
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
          

Appendix 1: Ombudsman Report    
 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/oct/ombudsman-urges-kirklees-council-

to-learn-from-complaints 
 
 
          Appendix 2: Cabinet Report 16.10.18                                                       

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s24889/8%20-%20SEND%20Update.pdf 

 

          Appendix 3: Cabinet Report 20.2.18 

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21928/2018%2002%2020%20HNR%20redact

ed%20version%20of%20report.pdf 
 

 

10. Service Director responsible   
           Jo-Anne Sanders 
 

 

Page 95

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/oct/ombudsman-urges-kirklees-council-to-learn-from-complaints
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/oct/ombudsman-urges-kirklees-council-to-learn-from-complaints
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s24889/8%20-%20SEND%20Update.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21928/2018%2002%2020%20HNR%20redacted%20version%20of%20report.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21928/2018%2002%2020%20HNR%20redacted%20version%20of%20report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman  

www.lgo.org.uk 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Investigation into a complaint against  

Kirklees Metropolitan Borough Council 

(reference number: 17 019 805) 

 

 13 September 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman 

Page 97

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


        

 

 Final report         2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key to names used 

 

Mrs X   The complainant 

Z        The complainant’s son 

The Ombudsman’s role 

For 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated complaints. 
We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our jurisdiction by 
recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable based on all 
the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge. 

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault.  

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost 
always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are: 

 apologise 

 pay a financial remedy 

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again. 

3. Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally 
name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a 
letter or job role. 

4.  

5.  

Page 98



        

 

 Final report         3 

 

Report summary 

Provision within the Statement of Special Educational Need  
Mrs X complains the Council failed to provide all the support specified in her son’s 
Statement of Educational Need.  

Finding 

Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made.  

Recommendations 

To remedy the injustice caused, within three months of our final decision the 
Council should pay Mrs X: 

• £200 for the unnecessary distress and time and trouble caused in having to 
bring a third complaint to us; 

• £400 for the term and a half of applied behavioural analysis Z missed from 
September 2017 to February 2018; and 

• £400 to acknowledge the cumulative effect on Z of the extended period the 
Council failed to provide the complete package of support specified in his 
Statement. 

Within three months of our final decision, the Council should also review the 
procedures it uses to monitor and ensure delivery of special educational 
provision. It should report to the Ombudsman on its findings and action taken. 

The Council has accepted these recommendations. 

Page 99



        

 

 Final report         4 

 

The complaint 

1. Mrs X complained the Council failed to provide elements of the support outlined in 
her son, Z’s, Statement of Special Educational Need (Statement). She says this 
has caused him a significant disadvantage. It has also caused her additional 
frustration because she has complained to us twice before about the educational 
support provided by the Council and we upheld most of these complaints. 

Legal and administrative background 

The Ombudsman’s role 

2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 
report, we have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 

whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused 
an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 

26A(1), as amended) 

3. We investigate complaints about councils and certain other bodies. We cannot 
investigate the actions of schools. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 25 and 34A, as 

amended). 

The Law 

4. A child with special educational needs may have a Statement. Since 
September 2014 some children have an Education, Health and Care Plan instead 
of a Statement. In this case, Z has a Statement. The Statement sets out the 
child’s needs and what arrangements should be made to meet them. We cannot 
change a Statement if a parent disagrees with a council’s decision; only the 
Special Educational Needs and Disability First Tier Tribunal (the Tribunal) can do 
that. 

5. The law states that where a council maintains a Statement, unless the child’s 
parent has made suitable arrangements, that council must ensure the special 
educational provision specified in the Statement is provided to the child. (Education 

Act 1996, section 324(5)(a)(i)) 

6. The Special Educational Needs Code of Practice 2001 provides practical advice 
to councils, schools and others in carrying out their statutory duties under the 
Education Act 1996 to identify, assess and make provision for children’s special 

educational needs. The 2001 Code remains in force for those children who still 
have a Statement and have not yet been transferred to an Education, Health and 
Care Plan.  

7. Part 3 of the Statement describes the special educational provision a child will 
receive. The council has a duty to ensure the child is provided with the 
educational provision specified in Part 3. (Special Educational Needs Code of Practice 2001)  

8. The Courts have held that councils have a binding legal duty to ensure special 
educational provision in a Statement is provided. In R v London Borough of 
Harrow ex parte M [1997] ELR 62 the judge ruled it is the council’s duty to 
arrange provision in the child’s Statement. 

9. Where a council has been ordered by the Tribunal to amend the special 
educational provision, it must issue the amended Statement within five weeks of 
the order being made. 

Page 100



        

 

 Final report         5 

 

10. We can consider complaints about where support set out in a Statement has not 
been provided or where there have been delays in the process. 

Terminology 

Applied behavioural analysis (ABA) 

11. ABA refers to interventions that are based on the causes and the consequences 
of behaviour.  

12. ABA can be effective for children with autism because it helps to build skills based 
on the child’s strengths with an emphasis on communication, social interaction 
and play skills.  

Augmentative and alternative communication systems (AAC)  

13. AAC is the term used to describe various methods of communication that can 

‘add-on’ to speech and are used to get around problems with ordinary speech.  

14. AAC includes simple systems such as pictures, gestures and pointing, as well as 
more complex techniques involving powerful computer technology. 

How we considered this complaint 

15. We spoke to Mrs X and considered the information she provided in her complaint. 

16. We considered the relevant legislation and guidance which included the Special 
Educational Needs Code of Practice 2001 and the Education Act 1996. 

17. We produced this report after examining relevant documents and interviewing the 
complainant. 

18. We gave the complainant and the Council a confidential draft of this report and 
invited their comments. We took the comments received into account before the 
report was finalised.  

What we found 

Background 

19. Mrs X’s son, Z, has autism with moderate to severe learning difficulties. He has 
had a Statement since he started school in September 2011 at the age of four. 

Previous complaints to us  

Complaint to us - 2016 

20. At the beginning of 2016, Mrs X complained to us. Z’s Statement said he needed 
ABA, speech and language therapy and occupational therapy. However, the 
Council did not place details about the specific provision of these therapies in Z’s 
Statement, as required by the 2001 Code. Instead, it placed the details in a 
different document called a ‘delegated funding agreement’.  

21. In Z’s delegated funding agreement, the Council said it would provide: 

• full-time ABA on a one to one basis; 

• contact for Z from a speech and language therapist on a half-termly basis; and 

• advice from occupational therapy as appropriate. 

Page 101



        

 

 Final report         6 

 

22. Our investigation found Z had not received any speech and language therapy 
since December 2015, and had also not received advice from an occupational 
therapist. However, we could not say the Council failed to provide what was 
required by Z’s Statement, because the details were included in the delegated 
funding agreement and not in Z’s Statement. We were critical of the Council for 
not acting in line with the Code when it used a delegated funding agreement and 
failing to include specific details of therapy provision in Z’s Statement. 

23. In addition, we also found that the Council had failed to ensure Z had the support 
he needed to meet two of his eligible needs relating to his social development for 
the winter and spring terms of the 2015/16 school year. 

24. As a result of our investigation, we made a number of recommendations. 
However, we were not able to make a recommendation about the speech and 
language therapy and occupational therapy Z missed out on because these were 

not included in Part 3 of his Statement. 

Appeal to the Tribunal - 2016 

25. Around the same time that she brought her complaint to us, Mrs X lodged an 
appeal with the Tribunal about the needs and educational provision set out in Z’s 
Statement. One of her appeal arguments was the provision in Part 3 of Z’s 
Statement did not meet his special educational needs. This is because the 
Council had included the details of provision in the delegated funding agreement. 

26. The Tribunal heard Mrs X’s appeal on 11 November 2016. It was critical of the 
Council’s actions in using a delegated funding agreement and directed the 
Council to reissue Z’s Statement so it specified details of the therapies Z required.  

27. Following the Tribunal hearing, the Council amended Z’s Statement to say Z 
required: 

• a programme of full-time one to one ABA with a view to reducing this provision 
once Z was able to maintain the advances he had already made; 

• half-termly speech and language therapy totalling a minimum of 12 hours each 
school year. The Tribunal said “We agree the [speech and language therapist] 
will need to be familiar with … augmentative communication systems and this 

is included in the Statement”; and 

• 12 weeks of 30 minute weekly sessions of occupational therapy to provide 
specialist sensory integration therapy. 

28. The Council had until 16 December 2016 to carry out the Tribunal’s order and 
amend the Statement to ensure it was providing the revised therapies in Part 3.  

Complaint to us - 2017 

29. Mrs X complained to us again in 2017. Two of her complaints were that following 
the Tribunal hearing in November 2016, the Council:  

• failed to provide the occupational therapy set out in Part 3 of Z’s amended 
Statement; and 

• only partly provided the speech and language therapy specified in Part 3 of Z’s 
amended Statement because it did not provide the AAC element. 

Page 102



        

 

 Final report         7 

 

30. We found that Z experienced: 

• a delay of two terms in receiving speech and language therapy in line with the 
provision outlined in his Statement because although some therapy began in 
February 2017 it did not contain the AAC element; and 

• a delay of two terms for his occupational therapy to start.  

31. At the time we investigated these complaints, Z continued to wait to receive both 
the AAC element of his speech and language therapy and his occupational 
therapy. 

32. We considered these were significant injustices to a child with considerable 
additional and special educational needs. As a result, the Council agreed to pay 
Mrs X: 

• £300 for the time and trouble of bringing the complaint to us again when she 

could reasonably have expected the matters to have been resolved by her 
previous complaint to us; 

• £700 for her to use for Z’s benefit for the two terms of occupational therapy Z 
missed from January 2017; 

• £200 for her to use for Z’s benefit for every month from September 2017 that 
the Council failed to provide Z with the occupational therapy detailed in his 
Statement; 

• £350 for her to use for Z’s benefit for the lack of AAC in his speech and 
language therapy for two terms; and 

• £100 for her to use for Z’s benefit for every month from September 2017 that 
the Council failed to provide Z with the AAC element of his speech and 
language therapy. 

Recent events 

33. In January 2018, Mrs X contacted us for the third time. She said the Council: 

• continued not to provide the AAC element of Z’s speech and language therapy. 
This meant Z had not received any AAC from January 2017, when ordered by 
the Tribunal; and 

• had not provided any ABA from September 2017.  

34. During our investigation, the Council put both the ABA and the AAC element of 
Z’s speech and language therapy into place. His ABA began following the 

February half term 2018 and his AAC began in May 2018. 

35. This meant in total Z missed out on the AAC element of his speech and language 
therapy for four and a half terms and his ABA for one and a half terms.  

36. The Council informed us during our investigation that in relation to the AAC 
element of the speech and language therapy, it was unaware Z had not been 
assessed in line with the Tribunal’s findings until Autumn 2017. It said that once it 
became aware, it took steps to assess Z in October 2017. By this time, Z had 
reached the top of the service provider’s waiting list.  

37. The Council and Mrs X decided it was better to wait for this service provider’s 
assessment as there was a wider range of AAC equipment available from the 
provider. Due to delays by the provider in carrying out the assessment, this did 
not take place until 21 March 2018. 

Page 103



        

 

 Final report         8 

 

38. The Council says as a result of Mrs X’s experiences, it will make service changes 
to tighten liaison and monitor schools to ensure that agreed services are provided 
as quickly as possible. 

39. The Council also explained that Z missed out on his ABA because his support 
worker left at the end of July 2017 and a new worker had to be employed and 
trained. 

Conclusions 

40. In total, Z missed out on the AAC element of his speech and language therapy for 
four and a half terms.  

41. In our investigation in July 2017, we recommended the Council made a payment 
for the AAC that Z had already missed and to pay Mrs X £100 a month from 
September 2017 for any continued failure to provide AAC. The Council has done 
this.  

42. However, the Council failed to effectively monitor whether Z received the AAC 
element in line with the Tribunal’s order and our recommendation. This caused an 
unnecessary delay. 

43. As a result, the Council failed in its duty to meet the Tribunal’s order or meet our 
recommendation in a timely manner. This led Z to be without AAC for four and a 
half terms. Although we recommended a payment for future unmet provision of 
the AAC element and the Council met this requirement, it was reasonable to 
expect the Council to put the AAC element into place earlier than it did. As a 
result, we consider an additional payment is appropriate to remedy the cumulative 
effects of such a long and unreasonable delay on Z’s development. The Council 
should also provide evidence that it has carried out service changes to tighten 
liaison and monitor schools to ensure that agreed services are provided as 
quickly as possible.  

44. Mrs X also complained in January 2018 that the Council had not provided Z with 
any ABA from September 2017 to February 2018, a period of a term and a half.  

45. Both AAC and ABA are required by Z’s Statement. The Council was therefore at 
fault for failing to provide them. 

46. In addition, this is the third time Mrs X has had to complain to us about the 
repeated failure of the Council to ensure Z received the special educational 
provision in his Statement.  

47. These faults have led to further significant injustice to a child with considerable 
additional needs and special educational needs.  

Cumulative effect of missed support 

48. The Council had identified the support in Z’s Statement as an educational need; 
therefore, we are satisfied that without this support his educational and 
behavioural needs were not fully met. 

49. Where a council repeats the same fault, we may issue a public report. In this case 
it is the third time the Council has failed to provide the support required by Z’s 
Statement. 

50. In total, since September 2015, the Council failed to ensure Z received: 

• the support he needed to meet two of his eligible needs relating to his social 
development for the winter and spring terms of the 2015/16 school year; 

Page 104



        

 

 Final report         9 

 

• speech and language therapy for the winter and spring terms of the 2015/16 
school year; 

• the AAC element of speech and language therapy for four and a half terms 
from the spring term of the 2016/17 school year to the second half of the 
summer term of the 2017/18 school year; and 

• ABA for the winter term of the 2017/18 school year.  

51. Therefore, at no time since 2015 has the Council provided Z with all the support 
required in Part 3 of his Statement. We have already found fault with the Council’s 
actions and made recommendations in 2016 and 2017 which the Council has 
accepted and actioned. However, this additional delay in delivering the provision 
Z needs from September 2017 has led us to decide to issue this report as the 
Council does not appear to be learning from previous failures.  

52. Although we cannot say for certain what the cumulative effect of this lack of 
support will have had on Z, it is likely to be significant. In addition, Mrs X has the 
uncertainty of not knowing the extent to which her son’s development has 
suffered or the distress and anxiety caused to him due to the lack of this support.  

53. The nature of Z’s condition means that he will need the support of the Council 
throughout his school life. The past failings by the Council have left Mrs X with a 
fear that the promised support will not be forthcoming. 

54. When Mrs X complained to us for the second time in 2017, the Council agreed to 
make an ongoing payment for each month Z missed support and a payment to 
acknowledge the distress and time and trouble its actions caused Mrs X. It has 
done so. However, similar faults have reoccurred three times in the last three 
years. As a result, we have taken this into account when determining our 
recommendations in this case. 

55. This continual failure to ensure delivery of special educational provision and lack 
of corrective action following our past two decisions is additional cause for 
concern. 

Recommendations 

56. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members 
and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended) 

57. In addition to the requirements set out above, the Council has agreed to make the 
following payments to Mrs X within three months of our final decision: 

• £200 for the unnecessary distress and time and trouble caused in having to 
bring a third complaint to us; 

• £400 for the term and a half of ABA Z missed from September 2017 to 
February 2018; and 

• £400 to acknowledge the cumulative effect on Z of the extended period the 
Council failed to provide the complete package of support specified in his 
Statement. 

58. The Council has also agreed that within three months of our final decision it will 
review the procedures it uses to monitor and ensure delivery of special 
educational provision. It should report its findings to us and the action taken. 

Page 105



        

 

 Final report         10 

 

Decision 

59. We have completed our investigation into this complaint. We have found evidence 
of fault causing injustice. We have recommended action to remedy the injustice 
caused. 

Page 106



 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet  
Date: 16.10.18  
Title of report:  Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND): an update on 

the SEND Strategy, the Accessibility Strategy, the High Needs 
Review, and preparations for the SEND inspection  

 
Purpose of report:  
 

1. To assess the impact of the SEND Strategy within the context of the High Needs 
Review and to approve the Council’s continuing commitment to deliver its 
outcomes 

2. To approve the Accessibility Strategy. 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

 not applicable 
 
 
. 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

not applicable 
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

Sal Tariq – 3rd October 2018 
 
 
Eamonn Croston – 3rd October 2018 
 
 
Julie Muscroft (John Chapman) 5th October 
2018 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Kendrick, Cllr Ahmed 

 
Electoral wards affected: all  
 
Ward councillors consulted:  
 
Public or private: public   
  

Page 107

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
1. Summary  

 
While it is important to address these priorities separately, there are clear links and 
inter-dependencies between them, and it is helpful to consider them together. 
 
 
The SEND Strategy 
 
Our SEND Strategy enables key partners to focus on our priorities for children and 
young people with SEND, and to ensure that we work together to achieve positive 
outcomes. 
 
The strategy was co-produced by all partners, including children and young people, 
our parent-carer forum Parents of Children with Additional Needs (PCAN), officers 
from Social Care, Learning, and Health, and colleagues from the Third Sector. The 
strategy is monitored by the SEND Strategy Group which has representation from 
these partners. 
Appendix 1: Terms of Reference of SEND Strategy Group 

 
It’s underpinning action plan sets out 6 priorities to support children and young people 
with SEND. These are: 

 To strengthen our joint commissioning arrangements 

 To ensure high quality specialist education provision where it is needed 

 To work with partners to ensure effective support for young people with SEND 
as they prepare for adulthood 

 To ensure that all services who work with children and young people with 
SEND work together with the child and family at the centre 

 To identify a child or young person’s SEND as early as possible and plan the 
best way to support them 

 To narrow the attainment and progress gap for children and young people with 
SEND. 

  
Appendix 2: SEND Strategy 
 

In October 2017 the DfE tasked all Local Authorities to conduct a High Needs 
Review and consultation to identify where additional specialist educational provision 
may be required. Kirklees used this opportunity to review all aspects of SEND 
provision and a series of priorities were identified to ensure that in future more 
children with SEND could have their needs met within Kirklees and closer to their 
community. We continue to work with all partners to address the main issues 
identified through this review: 

 The need for a revision of funding into schools and settings to reflect the more 
complex needs of children and young people 

 A consideration of workforce development requirements so that schools and 
settings are able to meet the more complex needs of some of our children 

 A closer look at the transition arrangements for children when they move from 
one phase or setting to another 

 A refresh of the Graduated Approach – a guidance document that sets out our 
expectations of what a child should receive in relation to their particular level 
and type of SEND 

 Schools and families identified the need for more support for family-based 
issues where a child has SEND: an alignment with the Early Support Service to 
ensure early intervention where needed. 

 Consideration of the Thriving Kirklees, our contract with Health Providers 
through the Healthy Child Programme, to offer to ensure timely support from Page 108



health services (Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service, Speech and 
Language Therapy) through the work of the Integrated Commissioning Group 

 A number of capital projects to further enhance our current provision: 
- additional work at Woodley School to offer further specialist space;  
- an enhancement of the facilities at the Specialist Provision at Newsome High  
School for students with physical impairments;  
- an enhancement of the facilities the Specialist Provision at Honley High  
School for students with Complex Communication and Interaction Needs; 
-  a review of space at Ravenshall School to enable them to meet the  needs of 
more complex children 

 Central to these issues has been the review of the SEND Assessment and 
Commissioning Team (SENDACT). A significant investment from September 
1st 2018 has enabled the team to grow in order to meet increasing levels of 
need. There is an accompanying action plan to ensure that the team operates 
in an efficient and timely way and works restoratively with families. This has 
been necessary due to the rise in parental complaints about the timeliness of 
approach, and there has been considerable parental involvement in developing 
the new team. One parental complaint has resulted in an Ombudsman Report 
that was published in early October. 
 

            Appendix 3: High Needs Review Summary 
            Appendix 4: Cabinet Report February 2018 
            Appendix 5: Cabinet Report March 2018 
            Appendix 6: Example of Graduated Approach guidance 
 
 

Following the introduction of the Children and Families Act 2014, a new OFSTED 
framework will focus on an Area Inspection of SEND within a five year period. 
Inspectors will meet with the children and young people themselves, alongside 
parents and carers. They will also talk with colleagues from Social Care, Education 
and Health in order to inform their judgements.  Preparation for this is overseen by the 
SEND Strategy Group. Effective leadership and management will be judged on the 
basis of our knowledge of: 
 

 How well the local area identifies children and young people with SEND      

 How well the local area makes appropriate provision for children and young 
people with SEND 

 The outcomes for children and young people with SEND. 
 

Our preparations for this have included a consideration of the structure of a potential 
inspection to ensure that colleagues are aware of their responsibilities at this time. 
There is a continual update with our partners of our self-assessment, and all of the 
work from the SEND Strategy Group and the High Needs Review informs this. 
 
Appendix 7: OFSTED framework for SEND inspections 

           Appendix 8: Fact Sheet – local area OFSTED inspection of SEND 
           Appendix 9: Briefing paper – area inspection. 
 

Accessibility Strategy 
 
 All Local Authorities are required to publish their Accessibility Strategy and to 
establish their duties under the Equality Act 2010. An Accessibility Strategy sets out 
the Local Authority’s support for children and young people who are disabled to 
enable them to enjoy a good education and not be disadvantaged.  
 
The Strategy outlines the key duties of the Equality Act: 

 To eliminate discrimination and other conduct prohibited by the Act Page 109



 To advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it 

 Foster good relations across all characteristics – between people who share a 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 
The strategy addresses the three objectives outlined in the Act: 
 
Increasing participation in the school curriculum 
Improving the environment of schools 
Improving the delivery of information. 

 
 The findings from the Strategic High Needs Review have informed the strategy, and 
actions to address our priorities are held within the action plans for this review and 
through the SEND Strategy. Our Accessibility Strategy sets out both our support to 
schools and settings, but also our expectations of them in meeting the needs of 
children and young people with SEND. The Accessibility Strategy 2018-2021 also 
reviews the progress made in the 2015-2018 Strategy. 
 

          Appendix 10: draft Accessibility Strategy 
    

2. Information required to take a decision 
 
A Review of Progress of the SEND Strategy. 
 
Review of Each Objective: 

a. To strengthen our integrated commissioning arrangements: we have developed a 
more comprehensive data set to  help provide us with information about the needs of 
our children and young people with SEND to allow us to plan and provide services 
based on projected need. We will be using the needs analysis to inform a number of 
priorities including the future sufficiency of specialist educational places and 
multiagency service provision. We are now in the process of developing an Integrated 
SEND Commissioning Strategy to ensure we articulate our shared commissioning 
priorities and associated actions required to meet these priorities, this will also inform 
how we need to integrate across health education and social care to better meet need 
including the use of things such as pooled budgets. 
 
 In addition, we have refreshed our work on the Additional Needs Register, a Local 
Authority Statutory Duty that enables parents and young people to self-identify their 
needs. This data will not be used as a means of identification of need, but rather as 
an additional means to inform our commissioning priorities. In order to encourage 
parents and carers to sign up, they are offered vouchers and discounts from local 
businesses, and a quarterly newsletter is in development. 

 
b. To ensure high quality specialist provision where it is needed: we have completed the 

first phase of capital work at Woodley School and this has increased ability to offer a 
more specialised curriculum. We have doubled the number of places for children with 
Complex Needs through the development of Southgate School in Almondbury. We 
have opened a 12 place Specialist Provision at Windmill Primary School for children 
with Complex Communication and Interaction Needs.  

 
c. To ensure effective support as children with SEND prepare for adulthood: the 

Preparing for Adulthood multi-agency protocol and pathway is in place. There is a 
Preparing for Adulthood guide for young people which was developed in partnership 
with students from Ravenshall School. Preparing for Adulthood parent factsheets 
have been developed in partnership with PCAN. The Local Offer Live event, 
established in 2016 and organised in partnership with our special schools, brings 
together education, health and social care services alongside mainstream services to 
help and support young people and parents understand what is available, and to help 

Page 110



them plan their journey into adulthood. These are very well attended. We continue to 
develop the Local Offer and have included short films to inspire young people to see 
what can be achieved in adulthood. Our commitment to the All Age Disability 
approach has focused on the transition for children and young people from Children’s 
to Adults’ Social Care. We are seeking to develop work experience opportunities 
through Project Search in partnership with our local hospitals, Kirklees College and 
the Council. 
 

d. To develop a child and family centred approach: we continue to work closely with 
PCAN, our local Parent Carer Forum, who are represented on all major working 
parties and groups. We are developing a Children’s Voice Network (in conjunction 
with the Kirklees Democracy Commission) so that we can routinely work with our 
young people in the development of practice and provision relating to children and 
young people with SEND. We have a Person Centred Champions Group, with 
representation from different teams and services, as well as parents, to work with 
wider teams in order to embed a person-centred culture and approach through our 
training plan. 
 

e. To identify SEND as early as possible: our Graduated Approach guidance for schools 
and settings includes expectations around practice and provision for children and 
young people with SEND. Early identification is embedded in the Thriving Kirklees 
contract and this is monitored through the compliance clinic. A consultation about the 
future of the Early Years SEN Team and the Access Fund that supports children with 
SEND in Early Years settings, carried out in 2017, has led to a review of this function 
and a recognition that further investment is needed within the team to ensure early 
intervention. 
 
Appendix 11: Approval to consult on Early Years SEN provision 
Appendix 12: Findings from Early Years SEND consultation. 
 

f. To narrow the attainment and progress gap for children and young people with SEND:  
generally children enter the Early Years and Foundation Stage at below average 
attainment as compared with national data. This gap does not narrow until post 16 
where attainment and progress of young people with SEND is good. Further analysis 
is being undertaken to identify specific work that will address this, and the way in 
which SEND is recorded on the school census can have a significant impact. 
Improving outcomes for children and young people with SEND is a school 
improvement priority in 2018. Work undertaken to date includes: reviewing the 
Kirklees Learning Partner (KLP) autumn term visit to challenge schools about 
outcomes (including attendance and exclusions) and effectiveness of provision, and 
to ensure that the statutory SEN Report has been updated on the school website; 
training for KLPs to raise awareness of school accountability for SEND outcomes; 
Head Teacher briefing input about Kirklees outcomes to raise awareness; a funded 
intervention project to target pupils in schools where outcomes for children with SEND 
are below the national average, to include raising attainment in mathematics and 
phonics. 
 
The Accessibility Strategy 
 
The Accessibility Strategy links the work of the SEND Strategy and the High Needs  
 Review.  It sets out the responsibilities of our schools and settings in ensuring that 
disabled children and young people have full access to school life, and also details 
how the Council will support this. 

 
It makes explicit the clear connections to the other work streams outlined in this report 
and details the legislation on which it is based. 

 Page 111



The strategy is required to contain the following elements: our vision for children and 
young people with SEND, and how these link to the Council’s priorities, the Legal 
Framework (The Equality Act), our methods for implementation and review, and 
information about the three priorities set out in the Act, with reference to 
responsibilities of the Local Authority, and schools and settings. 

 
Information from the High Needs Review consultation was used to inform the strategy 
and the actions required, and there has been further co-production through the SEND 
Strategy Group. 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out to support the development of 
the draft Strategy 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
a. Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

The SEND Strategy and the action plan following the High Needs Review have a clear 
priority to address practice and ensure that SEND are identified in as timely a way as 
possible, to ensure that the appropriate level of support is offered quickly. 
 

b. Economic Resilience (ER) 
There are objectives in both the SEND Strategy and the action plan following the High 
Needs Review to improve the support and provision offered to young people with 
SEND through supported internships and our post 16 educational offer. 
We are reviewing our pilot supported internship programme with Kirklees College and 
exploring the development of a Project Search Internship programme in Kirklees, 
using a partnership approach with the college, Real Employment and Kirklees 
Hospital Trusts and the council leading the programme. 
 

c. Improving Outcomes for Children  
Our data evidences the need for greater focus on educational outcomes for our 
children and young people with SEND, through greater analysis of the reasons for the 
educational gaps, and our ongoing work with schools and settings to address these. 
The High Needs Review will incorporate the role of early support in achieving better 
life chances. 

 
d. Reducing demand of services 

Work is ongoing to develop a Preparing for Adulthood best practice checklist that sets 
out key areas for discussion, key information that needs to be provided at the start of 
the Preparing for Adulthood process from Year 9 onwards, and the responsibilities of 
each agency in this. Our aim has been to raise young people’s aspirations, increase 
opportunities for employment and ensuring the maximum independence 
possible.   Accessing mainstream services and wider community support is central 
alongside developing more specialist services like, travel training, enablement 
services, supported living provision that develop young people’s skills and confidence 
as they become young adults. 

       
           Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

The overriding objective of the High Needs Review action plan is to meet the needs of 
our children and young people with SEND at local provision, where they can remain 
close to family and community, wherever possible. The Council’s budget strategy 
update report 2019-22 presented to Cabinet on 2 October and full Council on 10 
October sets out current service  pressures arising from  SEND demand and costs, 
significantly in excess of the High Needs element of Schools funding we receive 
annually from Government. The excess of spend over funding is about £8m currently 
and is having a significant financial impact on the Council’s medium term financial 
position. Government has acknowledged that we are an underfunded Council, and 
has determined to increase our current funding allocation by a further £7m, but only 

Page 112



gradually, over a 7 year period. This is clearly insufficient to meet current and forecast 
increased future year pressures. Longer term, we know that the scale of this current 
and growing pressure is unsustainable for the Council and requires a more strategic 
and whole systems review working collaboratively across the education system, 
alongside potentially significant capital investment to increase SEND 
sufficiency/capacity requirements in the District over the medium term.  
 
This will also require a more fundamental review of how SEND funding is deployed 
going forward. Our analysis of the needs of our children evidence an increase in 
complexity of need, which has led to an increase in expectations of our special 
schools. The  costs of an out of Local Authority independent school placement are 
significantly higher than our own settings, and it is anticipated that the work of the 
High Needs Review will reduce the numbers of these expensive placements over 
time, in conjunction with the sufficiency review above. In addition, there are higher 
expectations of our schools and settings staff to meet these more complex needs, and 
it is recognised that workforce development must be prioritised. 

 
 
4.      Consultees and their opinions 

A broad consultation was undertaken for the High Needs Review, and this has 
informed the subsequent action plan, and the development of the Accessibility 
Strategy. The priorities in the SEND Strategy were developed in partnership with 
parents and carers, and through a specific piece of work undertaken by the Involving 
Young Citizens Equally (IYCE) team. The Strategy itself was then written by 
representatives from the SEND Strategy Group. 

 
 
5.      Next steps 

To continue to work with parents/carers, children and young people, and partners to 
address the priorities of the SEND Strategy and the High Needs action plan, and to 
report on actions regularly to Portfolio Holders, the Education and Learning 
Partnership Board, the SEND Strategy Group, the Integrated Commissioning Group, 
the Improvement Board, and Head Teacher forums in order to ensure rapid progress. 
 
 

6.      Officer recommendations and reasons 
To register the Council’s ongoing commitment to deliver the outcomes in the SEND 
Strategy in order to continue to drive forward improvements in support, provision and 
outcomes for children and young people with SEND. 
 
To approve the Accessibility Strategy in order that this may support the work of the 
SEND Strategy and the High Needs Review in improving outcomes for children and 
young people with SEND. 

 
 
7.  Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 

Portfolio Holders are supportive of the aims & objectives within the Accessibility 
Strategy and SEND Strategy, and the overarching strategy to build capacity in our 
local provision so that our children and young people with SEND can remain within 
their community. 
 
 

8.       Contact officer  
      Mandy Cameron: Head of Service, Education Inclusion and Safeguarding 

 
 
 
 

Page 113



9.       Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 

       Appendix 1: Terms of Reference SEND Strategy Group - attached 
        

            Appendix 2: SEND Strategy 
            http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-strategy.pdf 

 

           Appendix 3: High Needs Review summary  
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/special-education-documents.aspx  

 
            Appendix 4: Cabinet Report (February 2018) 
 https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21928/2018%2002%2020%20HNR%20redacted%20ver
 sion%20of%20report.pdf 

 
            Appendix 5: Cabinet Report (March 2018)  

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21941/8.%20March%202018%20High%20Needs%20St
rategy%20Review% 20Cabinet%20report%20with%20proposals%20FINAL.pdf 

 

           Appendix 6: Graduated Approach example 
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/graduated-approach-communication.pdf 

 

      Appendix 7: OFSTED framework for area SEND inspections 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspection-framework 

 
           Appendix 8: Fact sheet – local area OFSTED inspection of SEND 

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-fact-sheet.pdf 

 
            Appendix 9: Briefing paper – area inspection 

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-briefing-paper.pdf 

 
      Appendix 10: Accessibility Strategy - attached 

 
Appendix 11: Approval to consult on the Early Years SEND provision 
http://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4480 

 
Appendix 12: findings from Early Years SEND consultation 
http://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=5272&Ver=4 

 

 
10. Service Director responsible 
            Jo-Anne Sanders, Service Director – Learning & Early Support 
            Elaine McShane, Service Director – Family Support & Child Protection 

Page 114

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-strategy.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/special-education-documents.aspx
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21928/2018%2002%2020%20HNR%20redacted%20version%20of%20report.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21928/2018%2002%2020%20HNR%20redacted%20version%20of%20report.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21941/8.%20March%202018%20High%20Needs%20Strategy%20Review%20Cabinet%20report%20with%20proposals%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/s21941/8.%20March%202018%20High%20Needs%20Strategy%20Review%20Cabinet%20report%20with%20proposals%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/graduated-approach-communication.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspection-framework
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-fact-sheet.pdf
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/special-education/pdf/send-briefing-paper.pdf
http://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=4480
http://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=5272&Ver=4


 

 

 
 
Name of meeting:  Cabinet  
Date:  20 February 2018  
 
Title of report: Summary of Findings from the Special Educational Needs and/or 

Disability (SEND) High Needs Strategic Review   
 
1. Purpose of report 
 
The report sets out findings from data collection and analysis and the non-statutory 
consultation to inform strategic planning for provision for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disability (SEND) and to demonstrate how we will invest the 
additional allocation from the DfE capital fund.  
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes 

 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

Yes 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 

 

Yes  

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

9th February – Saleem Tariq 
 
 
9th February -  Debbie Hogg (James Anderson) 
 
 
9th February - Julie Muscroft (John Chapman) 
 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Viv Kendrick 
Cllr Masood Ahmed 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All wards  
 
Ward councillors consulted: Yes (included in the public consultation)   
 
Public or private: Public    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         
 Page 115

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 2 
 

2. Summary 
All Local Authorities have been required to carry out a high quality collaborative review of their 
high needs provision for children and young people in their local area with complex Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND). The review focussed on these main areas: 

 The range of SEND data, including recent trends and likely changes in the future e.g. 
due to demographic change 

 The effectiveness of the current pattern of provision in meeting needs using feedback 
from parents and young people, providers and partners, with a view to identifying any 
gaps in provision and future opportunities 

 

3. Introduction 
The overarching aim of the review is to consider the effectiveness of local provision with a 
view to ensuring sufficient quality of local provision which is in the right place at the right time 
and effectively meets the needs of children and young people with SEND.   As a consequence 
this will enable children and young people to access learning in their local area and will reduce 
the need for children and young people to travel out of area to have their needs met.   
 
Current legislation has been taken into account and any changes to government policy during 
this review, including: 
The Children and Families Act 2014: Part 3 places duties on local authorities and other 
services in relation to both disabled children and young people and those with SEND, giving 
parents greater choice and extending the age range from 0-25, increasing the pressure on 
limited resources. 
The Lenihan Review (November 2017) a review of the experiences and outcomes of 
children and young people in residential special schools and colleges provides evidence to 
suggest that outcomes for children and young people in these settings are poorer. 
 
The High Needs Review should also be used to determine the most efficient way of using the 
£1m Special Provision capital funding allocated by the Department of Education. 
 

4. Background: the current context in Kirklees  
4.1   Provision  
In Kirklees we currently have a wide range of mainstream and specialist provision for children 
and young people with SEND, primarily focussed on children and young people up to the age 
of 16 with some provision extending to 19 in the special school sector:  

Mainstream schools  
with specialist provision 

Type of need 

Dalton JI & N Sensory Impairment 

Headlands CE JI & N Autistic Spectrum Disorders 

Honley High School Autistic Spectrum Disorders 

Lowerhouses CE (VC) JI & EY School Sensory Impairment 

Moor End Academy Sensory Impairment 

Netherhall St James I&N School Physical Impairment 

Netherhall Junior School Physical Impairment 

Newsome High School (2 provisions) Sensory Impairment and Physical Impairment 

Royds Hall Community School Speech  & Language 

Thornhill Community Academy  Autistic Spectrum Disorders 
Special schools Type of need 

Castle Hill Severe Learning Difficulties 

Fairfields Severe Learning Difficulties 

Joseph Norton Academy Complex Social, Emotional and Mental Health 

Ravenshall Complex Learning Difficulties 

Southgate Complex Learning Difficulties 

Woodley Autistic Spectrum Disorders Page 116



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 3 
 

4.2 Funding SEND in educational settings 
Funding mechanisms, including the High Needs Block, support children and young people 
with SEND in educational settings and provides the additionality required to allow these young 
people to access the curriculum (Reference Appendix A) 
 

4.2.1 Early years: In addition to High Needs funding for early years, private, voluntary and 
independent (PVI) settings can apply for Access funding. This budget is currently under 
review, in consultation with the All Age Disability programme.  
 
4.2.2 Mainstream schools: There is an established funding system to allocate High 
Needs funding to  mainstream schools in Kirklees based on 4 levels of need which is used 
to ‘top up’ the schools delegated budget to enable schools to make the appropriate 
educational provision identified in Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP). Within the 
schools delegated budget, schools have a ‘Notional SEN Budget’ from which they are 
required to fund up to £6,000 (in line with government legislation) for special educational 
provision for a pupil with SEN. This funding system has been in place since 2012 and the 
Children & Families Act 2014 has been introduced since this time.  
 
The increase in numbers and complexity of children and young people with SEND has 
placed additional pressures on these budgets.  
 
4.2.3 Special Schools: In accordance with the 2012 funding legislation, special schools 
are allocated £10k per planned place. Kirklees allocates high needs funding or ‘top-up’ 
over and above the £10k, through an established funding system based on 4 levels of 
need.   
 
The special school funding system has been in place since 2012, developed at the same 
time as the mainstream school high needs funding system and again prior to the Children 
& Families Act 2014. Since 2012 the local authority has worked very closely with special 
schools to agree appropriate ‘top up’ levels for individual pupils, to ensure schools feel 
confident to meet identified needs whilst at the same time ensuring that the local authority 
can commission appropriate provision as well as manage a finite budget.   
 
It is proving increasingly difficult for the current funding system to accommodate emerging 
challenges that have been evident for some time in Kirklees e.g. changes in population, 
increasing demand for special school places, increased prevalence of specific needs etc.  
There is evidence of disparity in complexity across same designation schools (indicated 
through the funding levels) and these schools are also describing their offer as different.    
 
In response to these challenges, a review of special school funding arrangements has 
already commenced.  To support this ongoing work and as part of this review a report has 
been commissioned from an external consultant (Reference Appendix B) which provides a 
helpful analysis of current arrangements and a series of recommendations which are 
reflected in the recommendations of this report.   
 
4.2.4 Specialist provision: This includes specialist support delivered mainly through 
additionally resourced mainstream schools catering for children and young people with 
sensory, physical impairment and communication and interaction needs and the Pupil 
Referral Service for children and young people with social, emotional and mental health 
(SEMH) needs. 
 
The specialist provisions are allocated £10k per planned place from the High Needs 
budget plus top up funding. The structure and funding of the specialist provisions includes 
staffing levels to support outreach as well as in provision support.   
 Page 117



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 4 
 

Aspects of the specialist provision budget, whilst not being inflated itself, have funded a 
backdated inflation factor to all specialist provision staffing costs and has committed to 
funding the salary rise each year. This has diluted the budget which in turn has had a 
direct impact on outreach support available to mainstream schools.  
 
4.2.5 Post 16: The Children & Families Act 2014 extended the legislative framework to 0-
25 which has had a significant impact on the council’s Post 16 duties and responsibilities.   
 
Post 16 providers are funded directly by the Education Funding Agency for declared 
places and by the Local Authority for the SEND High Needs top ups. The current top up 
system is under review with an aim to create a more transparent system.  
 
4.2.6 Out of area independent and other LA special schools: We are currently funding 

113 children and young people in independent schools and 24 in other LA special schools, 
creating a current projected £2.7m overspend, a 30% increase on previous years. These 
placements are often made at a high cost and are paid for from the High Needs Block. 
The current cost of these placements (December 2017) is £5,018,000.   
 
Steps have been taken to reduce these numbers over a period time so that more Kirklees 
children and young people access learning in the local area. The drive has been to finance 
resources in Kirklees provision.   

 
4.3   Overarching High Needs Assessment data  
Appendix C gives a full analysis of the High Needs Assessment data, including the SEN 
Support profile. The data pack gives an overview of children and young people with SEND 
with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) in Kirklees and analyses this cohort to show 
numbers by gender, age group and primary category of need. It also shows potential future 
trends of the high needs cohort to inform and develop provision.  

 
Summary of key points: 

 an increase in complexity and prevalence of need 

 an increase in EHC Plans (25% since 2014 and 19% since 2016), largely as a    
consequence of the extended age range (0-25)  

 an increase in SEMH needs 

 an increase in Communication and Interaction needs 
 
4.4   Premises and buildings 
In order to ensure effectiveness of provision, consideration has been given to premises and 
buildings. Asset Management are working with special schools and specialist provision 
schools to understand the key issues in relation to the impact of schools facilities in 
responding to the increasing levels of complexity and volumes of need in order to ensure that 
parents are confident about local provision thus improving choice.   
 
5.    Non-statutory public consultation  
The review has included consultation with children and young people with SEND, their 
parent/carers, providers and partners across early years, schools and Post 16 settings to 
inform the strategic plan. This included: 

 distributing briefing papers explaining the review, written specifically for parents, 
providers and partners; presenting information at leadership and network meetings; 
holding briefings with key leaders across school settings and the council (Reference 
Appendix D) 

    undertaking an 11 week non–statutory consultation (10 Oct - 23 Dec 2017) to gather 
views about the effectiveness of existing SEND provision in Kirklees. This involved four 
drop in sessions and attending meetings held by PCAN (Parents of Children with Page 118



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 5 
 

Additional Needs), a parent/carer forum, to consult direct with parents/carers and 
young people (Reference Appendix E) 

 consulting with a wide audience via questionnaire on paper and on-line via Involve 

 gaining the views of children and young people with SEND by the Involving Young 
Citizens Equally (IYCE) team  

 
Drop in sessions were promoted by a mail shot to all schools and through the local press and 
media. Trustees of PCAN have promoted the High Needs Review through visits to schools 
and distributing response forms with pre-paid envelopes for returns.  
 
Overall response rate  

Groups consulted with Total responses received 

Parents and carers 114 

Early Years settings  56 

Headteachers of mainstream schools 18 

SEN Co-ordinators (Sencos) in mainstream schools 82 

Leaders of specialist provision 10 

Headteachers of special schools 1 

Governors  21 

Post 16 provision – colleges and sixth forms 5 

 
5.1 Verbatim report of responses from all groups (Reference Appendix F)  
 
5.2 Summary analysis of questionnaires from each group (Reference Appendix G) 
 
5.3 Officer analysis of responses 

 
5.3.1 Summary of responses from parents/carers:  
Positive aspects indicated by parents include a nurturing school environment and adapted 
curriculum, access to staff who are trained, caring and can offer 1-1 support, and good 
home-school contact. They also mentioned the importance of out of school activities, input 
from specialist outreach support teams, promoting peer understanding and a good 
transition as important factors in contributing to progress. 
 
Parent/carers identified barriers such as school not listening to concerns, lack of 1-1 
support, social isolation, variabilities in inclusion, poor multiagency working, delay to access 
specialist support, barriers within the school environment (adaptations, noise, etc), lack of 
funding and lack of choice in Post 16 provision. 
 
5.3.2 Summary of responses from Early Years providers: 
In terms of the support provided for young children with SEND, three key themes emerged: 

 support for parents/carers, including strategies to use in the home, signposting to  
    other services, emotional support and reassurance 

 enabling children to make good progress in all aspects of their development 

 the impact of effective transition into school 
 
Whilst the majority of early years providers said that they always accepted children with 
SEND regardless of level of need, and many cited additional funding from the Access Fund 
enabled them to do this, around a fifth commented that there had been times when they 
had felt unable to offer a place. Reasons for this related to lack of funding, lack of staff 
availability to provide support or needs being too complex. Where the latter was mentioned, 
this specifically related to young children with very complex health/physical needs. 
 
5.3.3 Summary of responses from Headteachers of mainstream schools: Page 119



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 6 
 

Funding was cited by head teachers as the biggest key challenge in meeting SEND. This 
relates mostly to levels of top up funding, coupled with the impact on school budgets of 
designating a notional SEND allocation of £6k for each child or young person with SEND.  
 
Reference was made to the pressures on access to specialist support when numbers were 
increasing and the impact that long waiting times have on their ability to meet the needs of 
their SEND cohorts. Early identification of need on transition to primary and, to a lesser 
degree, transition to secondary schools was also noted as a significant challenge.  
 
A small number of head teachers made reference to the challenges created by 
inappropriate curriculum demands (national expectations) on children and young people 
with SEND, the time taken to get an EHCP and delays in accessing special school places. 
 
5.3.4 Summary of responses from SEN Co-ordinators (Sencos): 
Sencos indicated that around all or most children had their needs identified prior to 
transition.  Around half said that early identification was inconsistent and largely dependent 
upon the feeder provider across all phases. The Early Years SEN team was reported as 
being instrumental in identifying children’s needs early. This, coupled with good 
relationships with feeder providers generally, has a direct effect on the quality of transition.  
 
Cognition and Learning was generally cited as an area that Sencos felt more able to 
support, with SEMH and complex Communication and Interaction needs (including autism) 
being more of a challenge, particularly given the increase in numbers. 
 
SENCOs reported access to specialist SEND services (educational psychology, specialist 
provision team, pupil referral service) was the most significant factor in supporting schools 
to make a difference to effectively meet need, along with support from health (speech and 
language therapy, occupational therapy, physiotherapy). Funding and early identification 
were also significant factors in helping schools to better meet need.  
 
Reference was made to having access to appropriate spaces for interventions, staff training 
and expertise, working collaboratively with parents/carers and other agencies are important 
factors in being able to make a difference. Attending Additional Needs Partnerships with an 
educational psychologist and other Sencos is a key element of training and development, 
along with general advice, support and training from Kirklees Learning SEND services and 
external providers. 
 
5.3.5 Summary of responses from leaders of specialist provision: 
Responses received indicated that all children and young people taking up a place in 
provision were making academic progress from their starting point, through an adapted and 
often personalised curriculum (exceeding age related expectations in some cases) as well 
as achieving broader outcomes such as independent living skills, social skills, etc. and 
developing skills in  relation to their specific areas of need, for example, learning Braille, use 
of low vision aids, mobility training,  managing hearing aids, BSL, etc. The vast majority of 
children and young people accessing fixed places last year were cited as remaining in the 
mainstream specialist provision setting and all those moving into post 16 provision were 
successfully placed in college. 
 
Of those children and young people accessing a short term specialist placement such as in 
a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU), responses indicated that all made academic progress from 
their starting points and just over half successfully returned to mainstream schools. Other 
children and young people in Primary and KS3 provision were allocated places in special 
schools as a consequence of their needs assessment whilst youngsters in KS4 provision 
remained at Ethos College with 85-90% of last year’s cohort progressing successfully into 
post 16 education, training and employment.  Page 120



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 7 
 

 
5.3.6 Summary of responses from Headteacher of special schools: 
In the return received, the head teacher noted that the vast majority of children and young 
people in the school had needs which reflected the current provision; exceptions relate to 
exceptionally complex needs. Attainment and progress was cited as good to outstanding 
although high levels of anxiety experienced by a minority of children and young people can 
impact academic progress. Success was linked to the school’s nurturing approach and 
emphasis on life skills.  Providing a range of activities supports the preparation of young 
people for adulthood.  
 
5.3.7 Summary of responses from Governors: 
Governors cited funding as a key challenge in meeting SEND, in the context of current 
whole school and top up funding against increasing numbers and complexity of need. 
Governors reported that more timely support, an approach to funding which is more 
reflective of costs, early identification, training for school staff, clarity around thresholds for 
assessment and access to services are aspects they would like to see changed in order to 
improve outcomes. 
 
5.3.8 Summary of responses from Post 16 providers   
Post 16 providers identified a need for improved joined up working, particularly with the 
increasing demand for specialist advice from external agencies to support SEMH, with 
reference to the issue of safeguarding other students. This is further impacted by a more 
complex range of needs presenting. 
 
Transition between services and settings is also a key factor. Planned ‘handovers’ between 
settings taking place over a matter of days enables a smoother and more robust transition, 
resulting in a better outcome for the young person.  
 
Positively, students are reported to be achieving and following a range of routes of 
progression such as HE, FE, apprenticeships, employment and internship. Independence 
and progress towards EHCP outcomes appear to be largely achieved. 
 
5.3.9 Additional information received during the consultation period 
A report is included outlining the views of children and young people, gathered and 
collated from previous consultations held by the IYCE team (Reference Appendix H). The 
majority of feedback is positive concerning the learning environment, inclusivity and the 
level of support and understanding received.  
 
Less positive is opportunity to access out of school activities and socialise with peers, in 
some part due to the amount of time travelling to and from school/college; relationships with 
peers where disability is ‘hidden’; barriers to communications with parents and their 
understanding of SEND where English is not the first language. 
 
Children and young people made these suggestions for improvement to provision: 

 greater use of technology to promote learning and coping mechanisms through 
music 

 adapting the curriculum 

 increasing peer awareness of SEND 
 
The Trustees of PCAN submitted information relating to parent/carer views (Reference 
Appendix J). This included positive feedback about most schools, the level of support and 
inclusion afforded to children with SEND, largely attributed to the ethos promoted by senior 
and key staff within these schools. 
Key issues raised by parent/carers with PCAN are: Page 121



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 8 
 

 responding to SEMH needs in schools and communication with parent/carers, 
particularly with children and young people who go on to be diagnosed with autism 

 concerns around a delay in placements due to a lack of provision 

 transition into secondary schools 

 how achievements for children and young people with SEND are measured 

 lengthy assessment and review processes for EHCPs 

 limited choice of provision at post 16 and post 19 

 a lack of support and provision from health agencies 
 

Special school Headteachers submitted a collective report (Reference Appendix K) in 
which they offered suggestions for a more joined up system with special and mainstream 
school providers by: 

 sharing expertise  

 improving access for special schools to specialist support services in relation to 
sensory and mental health needs 

 ensuring health and social care are represented in EHCPs 

 reviewing special school space and the impact upon provision 

 improving systems and processes 

 reviewing transport arrangements for children and young people attending special 
schools  

 
6. Conclusions from the High Needs Review  
Responses from the non-statutory consultation reflect a number of key issues. Schools, 
partners and providers have all highlighted the challenges they are experiencing in relation to 
the growing numbers of children and young people with SEND and increasing levels of 
complexity of need, particularly around social, emotional and mental health needs and 
complex communication and interaction needs. This is reflected in the data. From a school 
and provider perspective, this is presenting significant challenges in meeting the wide range of 
SEND at a time when budgets have been reduced and as a direct consequence, lack of 
funding is a consistent theme throughout the consultation responses.   
 
The stretched capacity of specialist support services further exacerbates the pressures faced 
by schools and providers as there is reduced expertise within the system to ensure that 
children and young people’s needs are identified early, clearly understood and appropriate 
provision is made in order to ensure they achieve their potential. 
 
The local authority also needs to be clear about its commissioning role i.e. ensuring a clear 
description of what it is intending to commission from a special school when determining an 
appropriate ‘top-up’ level.     
 
Whilst the population of children and young people with SEND in Kirklees is growing, the 
SEND funding system predates key legislative changes which have placed additional duties 
on local authorities and other services in relation to children and young people with SEND at 
the same time as volumes and levels of complexity are rising. As highlighted earlier, the 
current funding system is not sufficiently responsive to the most individual and complex needs, 
and so can potentially be a barrier to enabling children and young people to remain in the 
mainstream setting where appropriate. As a consequence, this creates additional demand for 
special school places which in turn creates additional demand of independent school places 
where local provision is full. We need to develop more robust arrangements to monitor out of 
area placements and ensure outcomes for children and young people are sufficiently 
challenging and aspirational.   
The additional pressures created by the legislative changes in relation to new responsibilities 
around post 16 and ensuring appropriate provision up to the age of 25 further add to an 
increasingly complex picture. Page 122



 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 9 
 

 
6.1 Priorities for improvement emerging from the High Needs Review: 

 strengthen early identification of need, particularly  across early years settings and 
support effective transition into school 

 take steps to increase the ability of mainstream schools to meet growing complexity 
of need and volumes  

 review specialist support and outreach services to enable them to respond in an 
effective and timely manner as a result of increased demand 

 increase the ability of special schools to support those children with the most 
complex needs and increasing volumes 

 reduce our reliance on costly out of area independent special school placements  

 develop the range of post 16 provision to provide greater choice  
These themes are wide ranging and collaboration with schools, partners and providers is 
needed in order to develop a collective response. With this aim in mind an event in being held 
on 1 March 2018 with schools, key partners and providers after which a proposal will be 
drafted which outlines our response to the themes above. There is also a requirement to 
include proposals for the capital funding spending as an outcome of this review. 
 
6.2   Recommendations for specialist provision capital funding  
The DfE have instructed Local Authorities to publish a short plan for how they will use their 
specialist provision capital fund by 14 March 2018 in order to draw down the funding. The 
Kirklees allocation of £1m will then be allocated in 3 tranches between 2018 and 2021.  
 
The High Needs Review shows pressures on specific areas of SEMH and Communication and 
Interaction, specifically ASD. The capital funding available through this allocation is not 
sufficient to address all the improvements needed. Further work is required to ensure the 
maximum benefit is extracted from the specialist provision capital funding alongside other 
funding streams and opportunities.  
   
7     Next steps 
The findings from both the data and the non-statutory consultations will inform the SEND High 
Needs Strategic Plan, underpinned by an action plan, to demonstrate how proposals will be 
implemented.  
 
8   Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 
9  Contact officers 
Mandy Cameron, Head of Service, Education Safeguarding and Inclusion, Learning and Early 
Support 
 
10   Appendices 
App A: Funding SEND in educational settings: disproportionate SEN 
App B: Core and core plus funding arrangements 
App B(i): Special schools core functions 
App C: High Needs Assessment data – an overview of pupils with SEND with an EHCP 
App C(i): SEN Support profile 
App D: Briefing papers for parents/carers and providers/partners 
App E: Promoting the consultation events 
App F: Verbatim report of consultation responses 
App G: Summary analysis of questionnaires 
App H: IYCE response to the High Needs Review (Involving Young Citizens Equally) 
App J: PCAN response to the High Needs Review (Parents of Children with Additional Needs) 

 
 
 Page 123

http://intranet.kirklees.gov.uk/peopleFinder/collection.aspx?id=7420&type=jobtitle&name=Head+of+Service+-+Education+Safeguarding+and+Inclusion
http://intranet.kirklees.gov.uk/peopleFinder/collection.aspx?id=506&type=service&name=Learning+and+Skills
http://intranet.kirklees.gov.uk/peopleFinder/collection.aspx?id=506&type=service&name=Learning+and+Skills


 

SEND High Needs Strategic Review March 2018 Page 10 
 

 

Page 124



                                                                                                                                APPENDIX A 
Disproportionate SEN: issues 
 
The current criteria used for allocating additional funding have never fully been met. The current 
criteria are  
 
(i) The HNP should not be more than 2% of the total NOR 
This is occasionally met, but the 2nd element is never exceeded. The only HNP that are included in 
this calculation are the EHCP pupils and not the pupils on My Support Plans            (MSP would be 
the process before a final plan). 
 
(ii)The notional SEN budget should provide 80% of the £6ks for the HNP.(i.e number of HNP x 
£6000). This element has never been met! 
 
Background 
Whilst it would be ideal that all schools are able to react in the same positive way with the 
admission of a pupil with SEN issues, in reality, every school is in a different situation. Some 
schools are “used” to dealing with the added support needed for some pupils and as such may 
have trained and/or experienced staff that can readily adapt to the provision that is needed. This is 
not necessarily that they have had large numbers of pupils with EHC plans historically, but just that 
the circumstances have presented themselves and staff have been able to adapt to the needs.  
Primary schools, particular KS1 schools regularly complain that the pupils may be “going through 
the process” of getting a plan whilst with them and they have moved on to the next school before 
they are approved. The new school therefore benefitting from the input of the KS1 School. If pupils 
have significant needs at a very early age this should be picked up by either health professionals 
or private day care staff. In this way the needs can already be highlighted before the pupil begins 
at KS1. The process of the EHC plan is now timetabled to take no more than 20 weeks from 
request to assess and so this concern is no longer valid. 
 
It is an issue that some schools become “victims of their own success” as a result of them 
succeeding with certain categories of need. This is a very difficult fact to surmount but there is a 
point when the inclusion of excessive numbers of pupils with a specific need in a mainstream 
school becomes a disadvantage for all the pupils. Professionals are aware of this and where ever 
possible work to avoid over saturation of placements considering the parental choice factor in the 
process. 
 
There are no additional resources to be able to allocate to schools with these issues, however, if 
identifying funding for a small number of pupils enables pupils to remain in mainstream and within 
the LA the relatively small amount of funding that we will be considering could almost be a suitable 
“spend to save” option. 
 
Considerations 
Short term personalised packages for individual students on a time limited basis 
This could be an administrative nightmare, taking lots of time and requiring criteria setting 
Collaborative Working: Utilising resources within a pyramid/group/hub 
High needs funding ( or part of ) allocated to a “host” school and managed across the group. 
 
 Schools in Financial Difficulty 
If a school with an existing recognised financial difficulty admits a high needs pupil that results in 
the budget plan being further more difficult to meet, then a short term allocation of an AWPU value 
could be allocated for a prescribed period of time. This funding would not be linked to the need of 
the pupil. It should be used to assist with the school developing skills in house to better cope with 
the needs of all the pupils and be able to further their capabilities of supporting the needs of the 
pupils. This should not be an assistance that can be allocated several times (perhaps a maximum 
of twice). As a school would need to be in a   recognisably difficult budget position (perhaps this 
would need clarifying further) they would not choose to go down this path for what would be a 
small amount of further funding. 
The definition of financial difficulty would be if  the school had gone through the process of 
restructure/staff reductions/ consistently falling surpluses. The school (LMS) Finance Officers 
should be able to advice on the schools that this affects. 
 
 

Page 125



The notional SEN Budget 
This seems to be the issue as this is the criteria that are never met. Whilst recognising that the 
need for these additional resources should be in the minority perhaps it should be expected that 
some schools would exceed the criteria. 
The notional SEN budget is calculated, broadly speaking, on guidance from the DfE i.e. 75% of 
LPA has a  link to SEN and 25% of deprivation spend is connected to SEN. Along with the” rule of 
thumb” that roughly 10% of children have some form of SEN difficulty. 
 
To ensure that all schools had a notional SEN budget of 10% of their overall schools block funding, 
in line with the “rule of thumb” as stated above, would not be financially feasible. An exercise has 
been carried out top show this affect 
 
Comment: 
 
Available Funding 
 Whilst the proportions can be re calculated and adjusted it should not take away from the fact that 
ALL the money that was previously held at the centre ( New Approaches) is now delegated to 
schools. It is not suggested, nor wanted, that a reversal of that delegation takes place. That would 
be against the theory of the fair funding practice and would, in its self result in further issues. 
The element relating to the school having 80% of the required £6ks “could” be adjusted to ensure 
they have 100%. However, there are no  schools that this would benefit as all schools have in 
excess of 100% of the £6ks needed for the pupils on EHCPs. 
 
High Needs ( no top up) 
This leads us to the element that in common opinion is the issue behind the SEN disproportionality. 
The pupils who are not on an EHC but may be on a ( My Support Plan) MSP and require up to £6k 
of the school block budget ( notional SEN). However, these are not officially registered .The 
mainstream support level E, which has no finance allocated to it is no longer awarded and as such 
the pupils with “needs” but no top up requirement are not registered in the same way as a pupil 
with an EHCP. They cannot be counted in the disproportionate calculation.  
 
School Responsibility 
At no point should any change in the system reduce the responsibility of the schools to deliver the 
correct support to al pupils in line with the graduated approach. By simply allocating funding to a 
MSP or any other element it creates a perverse incentive for schools to go down that path to 
secure increased funding. As previously mentioned the LA does not have this funding to provide 
such an arbitrary way of funding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



1 
 

                                                                                             Appendix B 
REPORT RE CORE AND CORE PLUS FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS 

Introduction 
In 2012, new legislation resulted in funding changes for all providers of education to support children 
and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). The impact of this change 
was, perhaps, most keenly felt in the special school sector.  Prior to 2012, funding was allocated on the 
basis of the numbers of pupil places available in the school.  The special schools, therefore, knew the 
allocated budget for their provision and could plan accordingly.  After 2012, special schools were 
allocated £10k per place, plus top-up according to the varied needs of the pupils allocated places at 
the school.  The result of these changes has resulted in LAs and special schools needing to work ever 
more closely together to ensure that overall budgets have not been negatively impacted upon by the 
changes such that the schools are no longer able to provide the appropriate support to meet the needs 
of their pupils.  At the same time, the LAs have had to ensure that the commissioned provision can 
meet the identified needs from the provision of variable top-up funding amounts and within a finite 
budgetary envelope, the High Needs Block.  
 
There have been no substantial changes to SEND funding since 2012 and, over time, it has become 
clear in many LAs that further work needs to be undertaken to align the emerging challenges through a 
review of the funding arrangements between the LA and the special schools.  Although this is a 
necessary part of the 2014 SEND legislation, “All Local Authorities must carry out a highly collaborative 
review of their high needs provision to evaluate current provision for children and young people”, it is 
also necessary to ensure transparency and clarity and accountability for parents, schools, the LA and 
others re the funding arrangements being made.   
 
Special schools have a vital role within any LA, as the schools offer specialist knowledge, skills, curricula 
and provision to meet the needs of children with the highest levels of SEND.  It is taken as given within 
this report that this review is not concerned with making budget savings, rather it is to ensure that the 
current budgetary arrangements are effective and are based on clear information.  The LA, as a 
commissioner of specialist provision, must be clear that the support being offered is appropriate to 
meet the full range of needs according to the designation of the school and from within the available 
funding.  
    
High Needs Strategic Review Description of Work to be Undertaken 
The work package brief gave 4 objectives: 
 

1. To be able to identify the core function of the special school 
2. To be able to identify the core plus function of the special school 
3. To enable the majority of places to support the core funding function and reduce the possibility 

of children being placed out of area 
4. To ensure resources are allocated appropriately across the SEND population of children and 

young people in Kirklees to ensure needs are met effectively within local provision 
 
In order to consider the 4 objectives, I have read documentation relating to the existing arrangements; 
I have discussed current arrangements with Senior Casework Officers in SENACT, Senior Finance 
Managers and with Senior Educational Psychologists. I have also considered financial information re 
the costs and categories of out of district placements. 
 
It is not possible to complete definitive work at this stage as any actions must include work with the 
special schools directly, both to explain how the descriptions provided have been derived as well as to 
engage them in the more detailed descriptions of the possible funding levels document and any 

Page 127



2 
 

changes which might arise as a result of the report.  It is essential that any work arising and undertaken 
with the special schools is collaborative and purposeful towards a shared end.  
 
For the purposes of this report, it is taken as given that the LA is the commissioner of provision from 
the special (and mainstream) schools to meet the identified needs of the children being placed and in 
line with the outcomes in the EHCP. The schools are the provider under the commissioning 
arrangements.  
 
What follows is a summary of work completed re each of the 4 objectives above, including 
recommendations (where appropriate). The report concludes with suggested actions which could be 
undertaken subsequently.  
 
 
1 and 2  To be able to identify the core function of the special school 
I have considered the information on the Kirklees Local Offer re the schools own descriptions of the 
needs met in the schools, have discussed these designations with officers, and have produced a 
summary document (Appendix B(i)) which provides an initial suggested summary of the levels of needs 
met by the provision in the school using a graduated approach. Implicit within this is a suggestion that 
funding arrangements are such that there are 4 levels of funding made available to the schools to meet 
the range of needs in the school; low, medium, high and exceptional level top-up funding amounts.   
 
The 4th level of top-up would be deemed “exceptional”.  Exceptional funding would only apply when 
the LA assesses that, with exceptional funding being made to the special school through discussion 
about what would be needed for the school to be able to meet needs, the child’s needs could be met 
in the school as a viable alternative to the child being placed out of area.  There will be very small 
numbers of such pupils in a school, if any at all.   
 
Appendix B(i) also uses the DfE/Code of Practice descriptors of SEND: SLD, ASD etc. and includes 
suggested definitions of these categories of needs.  Although there is sometimes opposition to use 
such categories, they remain valid because the LA continues to need to report numbers of children 
assessed as having needs within them.  Use of such descriptors is also a relatively straightforward way 
of enabling clarity re the designation of the school.  This does not prevent the schools from using 
other, “softer” descriptions of the categories of needs being met in the school if this is considered 
more appropriate for marketing purposes. Nor does it prevent professionals and others from 
describing needs, rather than providing such definitions within reports. Therefore, for example, 
describing the needs of the pupils as being “complex” may be helpful when meeting with parents, but 
as this is not a reporting DfE category of need, it is not helpful for the LA if DfE descriptors are not used 
somewhere in the language between the LA and the schools.  However, this does result in there 
needing to be clarity re the needs of the children which fall into these DfE categories.  Suggestions re 
this are included in the subsequent section.  
 
The suggestion for 3 levels of non-exceptional funding has several purposes: 

 It clarifies the funding level (low) which covers the pupils whose needs could be met in 
mainstream but who are placed in special schools.  Reasons for this are various but include, for 
example: children whose parents make a preference for special school placement even though 
needs could be met in mainstream school and whose SENs are such that they could reasonably 
be met in special provision (ie the child would not be totally out of place), children whose 
feeder school feels unable to meet needs, even though there is a strong case that with 
appropriate support and differentiation, they should be able to. SENDIST decisions also 

Page 128



3 
 

occasionally impact upon such children needing to be educated in specialist provision, even 
though the LA is of the view that needs could continue to be met in mainstream provision.   

 The low level of funding is intended to discourage the special schools from agreeing to take 
these children as to admit a majority of children at this funding level would lead to the school 
having issues re possible underfunding to the school budget overall.  It is also intended to 
enable the mainstream schools to understand this position and therefore to work hard to 
continue to include the children on the mainstream school roll.  Mainstream schools value 
special school provision too but must understand that if they encourage parents and others to 
seek places for children whose needs they could continue to meet, they are putting the special 
schools into a possible funding deficit. Children in this category are often described as being 
“too vulnerable” to manage in a mainstream school (particularly on transition from primary to 
secondary).  However, “vulnerable” is not an SEN descriptor.  Therefore an additional 
document (Appendix B(ii)) has been prepared to provide additional guidance re when there 
might be sufficient evidence to support the decision for a child to transfer from mainstream 
school to special, albeit with a low level of funding. Such guidance could also be used by 
SENACT officers and others specifically in their ongoing discussions with mainstream schools 
about such children as well as to support the decision making at SEN Panel and beyond. 

 Unless there has been a substantial change in the needs of the child transferring from 
mainstream to special, there should be no (or very minimal) change in the level of top-up 
funding being allocated.  

 There should be relatively low numbers of children in this funding bracket – and this provides 
some additional clarity for the special schools because admitting a larger number of such 
children will lead them to be in receipt of much lower top-up levels and this has significant 
consequences for the overall budget. The inclusion of a “low level funding” bracket is further 
intended to encourage a collegiate approach between the schools and the LA re pupils with 
lower level needs potentially taking the places of those children with more complex needs. 

 The further 2 levels of funding (Medium and High) provides additional funding for children 
whose needs require increasingly high support in school.  The more complex a child’s needs, 
the more staff intensive the work with them will be, the greater the range of interventions 
required will be and the more it will cost the LA to commission the place.  

 The updated Funding Guidance (December 2016) states that one of the factors that could 
impact on the way LAs determine the top-up funding for individual pupils is: “the extent to 
which LAs and institutions agree on standardised rates, local banding arrangements and 
streamlined admin to reduce the need for detailed negotiation of the different top-up funding 
amounts for each pupil/student”.  In other words, it is in everyone’s interests to be able to 
agree on the top-up funding amounts for the bands described as to enter into detailed 
discussions re highly bespoke top-up funding amounts for each pupil is not tenable.  

 Medium and High Top-ups broadly equate to “core” and “core plus” descriptions in the work 
undertaken to date by the LA, therefore the majority of pupils in the school should be children 
in receipt of medium and high level top-up funding amounts, with the former providing the 
“core” of the school intake.  

 
 
3.  To enable the majority of places to support the core funding function and reduce the possibility of 
children being placed out of area 
Work undertaken in liaison with the special schools should enable clarity re the provision available 
within the school and which the LA can then commission to meet the needs assessed through the 
statutory assessment and then subsequently detailed in the EHCP. Therefore, for example, if the LA 
decision is to provide a high level of top-up funding to meet needs, both the LA and the special school 

Page 129



4 
 

can be clear what provision is expected to be delivered for that child. If the overall budget of the 
school is affected by the school taking the majority of pupils at medium and high levels of top-up 
funding, this should have a direct impact on how the schools describe (market) their offer to parents 
and others. In other words, the description of their work produced for the Local Offer, the schools own 
website etc, should focus heavily on the needs of the children funded at medium (core) and high (core 
plus) levels of funding support.  
 
Further, providing “exceptional funding” for children whose educational needs cannot be met locally 
without substantial adjustment to the usual school offer, should also facilitate some children’s needs 
being met locally rather than needing to be placed out of area for support.  
 
To support the schools in meeting the needs of these exceptional cases, discussion should focus on 
what the school would need in order to provide support to meet the described need so that there is 
some flexibility both to funding and support offered.  Sometimes, even very high funding provided for 
an individual child can represent value for money for the LA versus placement out of area.  It is also 
often better for the family and the child to be educated as close to home as possible. This band of 
funding would not apply to children with highly complex needs and where there is a necessity to 
consider funding splits across education, health and social care, for example, to provide out of area 
funding for 52 week residential placement.  
 
4.   To ensure resources are allocated appropriately across the SEND population of children and 
young people in Kirklees to ensure needs are met effectively within local provision 
The High Needs Block, which provides funding support for all children with SEND, both in mainstream 
and special, is a finite budget.  It is therefore potentially heavily impacted upon by the number of 
children being placed in high cost external placements resulting in less money in the High Needs pot 
for the rest of the LA children and young people with SEND. It is therefore in everyone’s interests to 
endeavour to reduce the numbers of children placed out of district and for local provision to be 
developed to ensure needs can be met in maintained provision.  This provides further reasons for 
there to be clarity re the range of needs which should be able to be met within the local special school 
provision and which maintained special schools could share more clearly with parents to encourage 
placement locally. 
 
Analysis of the total costs of Out of District placements (£4,934,938) indicates the following: 
 

Category of SEND Cost of 
Placements 

Percentage of 
total costs 

Age Range of 
placed 
Children 

SEMH £2,847,231 58% 8 - 17 

ASD £1,253,098 25% 9 – 18 

LD £516,952 10% 4 – 17 

PD £283,675 6% 8 – 18 

SLCN £34,000 1% 14 

 £4,934,938 100%  

 
The most significant numbers of children placed out of district (58%) are those with needs relating to 
SEMH.  The ranges of the children placed, from 9 – 18 indicates that, although there will be some 
reductions in costs imminently when the pupils leave, there will be ongoing very significant costs if the 
younger children remain in the setting for the duration of their education. The table below gives the 
numbers of children of each age in the setting, therefore giving an indication of the projected ongoing 

Page 130



5 
 

costs of placement.  However, placement post 11 is also more likely, given that many children manage 
at primary, struggle more at secondary and need placement between the ages of 11 and 16. The very 
significant majority of children placed out of area are boys which may warrant further investigation in 
itself.  
 
The next highest category of needs placed out of district is those relating to ASD (25%) and, again, the 
age range is broad suggesting significant ongoing placement costs. 
 
The placement costs for PD, LD and SLCN, whilst not insignificant, do not represent such high costs to 
the LA and, more importantly, indicate that the LA provision is largely able to meet the needs of most 
of the children in these categories from within their own resources. 
 
Table showing the numbers of children placed out of district by age 
 

 SEMH ASD LD PD SLCN 

4   1   

5   2   

6      

7      

8 2   1  

9 2 2    

10 1 3    

11 4     

12 7 1 1 1  

13 7 1    

14 10 4 1  1 

15 13 4  1  

16 8 1    

17 2 2  2  

18 0 4  2  

 
In summary, the above (albeit very brief analysis) would suggest that needs relating to learning and 
physical disabilities are largely met within the LA, but there is a high demand, and cost, for out of 
district placements for children with ASD and SEMH.  This likely relates to the LA having only one 
school specifically in place to meet the needs of children with complex  ASD and SEMH needs but may 
also relate to the wider offer and capacity across other special schools in these areas of need in terms 
of ensuring the most efficient use of resources. 
 
Adopting an “invest to save” model, developing and increasing provision for children and young people 
with such needs would appear to be appropriate.  Further discussion would clarify this further, but it is 
highly likely that neighbouring LAs have similar issues relating to these categories of needs and the 
development of shared provision could share the costs. 
 
There is evidence from maintained provision to meet the learning and physical needs of pupils being 
full, both in Kirklees and neighbouring LAs, that there is an increase in demand for places in schools 
meeting such needs.  This report does not have the scope to analyse this further. However, any 
planned expansion to local schools to meet such needs must take into account data re projected 
needs, which is likely undertaken by the data team within the LA.  This relates back directly to 
suggestions already within this report re schools being clear about the needs of the children being 

Page 131



6 
 

placed there and the funding implications of admitting children whose needs are at a lower level and 
which do not support the budget of the school at a sufficient level to make expansion financially 
sustainable.  It is not prudent to fund extensions to existing schools if such places are subsequently 
taken by children whose needs are not sufficiently severe to warrant their placement in the school.  
 
What is to be achieved through the above? 
1. Build on the current review of funding arrangements to establish the core and core plus 

requirements. 
The LA has encouraged the special schools to provide descriptions of the work they do so that some of 
the above can be achieved.  The schools have thus been asked to provide descriptions of what they 
provide at core and core plus (or medium and high) funding levels.  The outcomes of this work are 
inconsistent and do not provide sufficient clarity for the LA to develop the commissioning model re 
what will be provided for the different funding levels and to meet the increasing complexity of the 
needs of the placed children.  
 
A template (Appendix B(iii)) has therefore been produced as part of this work package. This aims to 
provide some clarity re information that the LA needs in order to be confident that the correct funding 
is being provided to meet the child’s needs and also to be able to audit what is provided for the 
funding. A fictional example of a completed template has also been prepared (Appendix B(iv)) 
 
The completed template has many uses: 

 For SENACT decision makers to match the described needs in the advice received as part of 
the statutory assessment to placement and funding 

 For those writing advice to be clear about possible provision within a setting in order to be 
able to enhance descriptions of how children’s needs could be met 

 For the schools to provide increased clarity in their description of provision and needs met 
through it, so that parents can see the differences between the range of special schools and 
what they offer and so that they are able to make more informed choices about their visits 
and subsequent preferences. 

 For the schools to be able to positively “market” their offer in the face of increasing requests 
for needs to be met in independent special schools 

 For the LA to be able to provide robust defence in the face of possible SEN Tribunal when 
parents are requesting out of area placements. 

 
2. Propose criteria for the allocation of core and core plus funding (or medium and high top-up 

funding) 
Special School based criteria 
It is essential to this ongoing work that the above is produced so that the special schools themselves 
are clear about what they offer for children at low, medium and high levels of support. Therefore, 
when the LA consults with them for a place for a child, there is increased clarity about whether the 
needs can be met within the suggested funding offer.  The development of the special school criteria 
(or offer) would likely be better done through face to face engagement with the special schools as part 
of the High Needs Review and where the schools are able to see very clear reasons for the work being 
undertaken (funding sharpens the discussions well).  
 
Mainstream Schools 
In order for mainstream schools to understand the special school criteria and subsequent funding 
implications of recommending placements for children on low level top-up funding, work is also likely 
to be necessary with them so that their responsibilities to the inclusive education of these children is 

Page 132



7 
 

reiterated. There are several references to this in the Kirklees document: “Identifying, assessing and 
meeting the SEN of Children and Young People in Kirklees Mainstream Schools”.  For example: 
 
Pg7 Underpinning principles: Inclusive Practice and Removal of barriers – the leaders of EY settings, 
school and colleges should establish and maintain a culture of high expectations that expects those 
working with C and YP with SEND to include them in all the opportunities available to other C and YP so 
they achieve well.  They must do what is necessary to enable C and YP to develop, learn, participate 
and achieve the best possible outcomes irrespective of whether that is through reasonable 
adjustments for a disabled C or YP or special educational provision for a child or YP….. 
 
Pg. 18 Understanding, Knowledge and Training: as part of the core offer, schools should secure SEN 
expertise at different levels: 

 ALL staff within school require basic awareness of SEN and disability as well as specific 
awareness and understanding relating to particular types of SEN for all staff who will come into 
contact with a child or YP with a specific need 

 All teachers should develop an enhanced level of knowledge to support them in how to adapt 
teaching and learning to meet a particular type of SEN as part of their delivery of differentiation 
as part of high quality teaching 

 All staff should have a basic awareness and understanding of child development 
 
There is also very useful information in the documents re appropriate curricula, differentiation , 
access to aids and equipment etc.  
 
LA Criteria 
Clear decision making is dependent on those making the decisions being clear about both the child’s 
needs and the available provision to meet them 
 
As discussed above the schools funding documents should provide clarity re the provision in a special 
school which the LA can commission to meet needs. Therefore SENACT Officers should be able to be 
clear about what support is required from the EP advice reports as well as the additional 
advice/reports gathered as part of the assessment process. If this is not the case, work needs to be 
undertaken to ensure that the advice is communicated in a form which enables SENACT officers to 
have the necessary information on which to base their decision making.  Having clarity about the 
available provision also supports those making recommendations to be clear about what support is 
possible in the range of LA provisions.  
 
Further documentation is available to support the decision making; Special Schools: Support Levels 
Document, the Kirklees top-up funding document (Exceptional, Profound, Severe etc).  However, as a 
visitor to the LA looking at the documents and never having seen them before, I found them to be 
confusing and lacking the necessary clarity to enable clear and effective decision making.  It would 
therefore seem appropriate to review this documentation to provide the necessary clarity on which to 
base funding decisions as well as the appropriate levels of funding to meet the full range of needs. 
These documents should be available for all, and including parents (and on the Local Offer), so there is 
transparency re the decisions being made.  (This would not include the actual top-up funding amounts 
as this information is the prerogative of the LA). Further, it is unclear why there are 2 documents and 
the suggestion would be that one document should cover all the SEN funding and provision with the 
different allocations within the special school being described as “Low, Medium and High” and 
additional clarity being provided in the schools own documentation re provision.  
 
 

Page 133



8 
 

3. Identify any issues that may impact on placements 
Decisions re special school placement are currently supported through a Special Schools Admissions 
Panel, which makes the decisions re placement at phase transfer as well as new placements.  It is 
unclear why such a panel is necessary and why the special schools should be different to mainstream 
schools in terms of the LA commissioning places from them and consulting re whether or not the 
school can meet needs, in just the same way as would be done with mainstream schools. The Code of 
Practice states that the LA undertakes a statutory assessment, prepares the EHCP, determines top-up 
funding levels and consults with appropriate schools to meet needs.  This is the remit of the LA.  It is 
therefore not the remit of the special schools to determine which children go where and whether or 
not the child is “suitable” to be offered a place at that school. This potentially undermines the 
commissioning role as well as the purposes and legality of the consultation. Further, the LA is 
ultimately accountable for placement and funding decisions made.  The LA accountability is 
undermined by the special schools current role in placement decisions.  
 
Whilst the admissions panel might have a role in phase transfers, it is difficult to see a role for the 
panel in making decisions about admission.  This would more appropriately be made through an LA 
panel, involving officers,  representative (and rotating) Headteachers from mainstream (primary and 
secondary) and special, as well as social care and health representation (at a level of representative 
able to make financial decisions). Further, if the decision making is facilitated through clearer 
documentation and the special schools own descriptions of what they are able to provide, the Special 
School Admissions Panel becomes redundant. There may well be a case then, for the current SEN 
(Education, Health and Care Panel?) Panel to expand to have a role in making decisions about 
appropriate school placements (mainstream or special) and top-up funding decisions.  Inclusion of 
Officers from health and Social Care could also lead to appropriate Education, Health and Social care 
provision and funding being made at the same panel. This would likely provide a more robust model 
for SENDIST as well as sharing the responsibility for decision making across a team rather than being 
the remit of one person. Such delegated decision making also makes for a collegiate responsibility 
about the LA’s available funding and its distribution. The SEND Ofsted, when it takes place, would also 
likely view a SEN decision making panel with increased remit and membership more robust in terms of 
funding and placement decisions than the current model.  
 
For children placed in special schools to have their top-up funding changed, Annual Review 
documentation should be available to provide clarity re why needs have changed and why therefore 
the support level should also change.  This may have implications for the Annual Reviews held in 
Special Schools, particularly those for children for whom a change of funding is being requested.  
 
There is also likely a case for greater flexibility, development and use of available LA resources.  For 
example, if a child is transferring into a special school with a specific impairment for which the LA has a 
team of advisory teachers, the child’s placement should be supported during transition by members of 
the specialist team who has undertaken work to date.  It is untenable for that support to be withdrawn 
until the receiving placement has developed the necessary skills to meet the child’s needs. 
 
In a similar vein, special schools sometimes request “exceptional” funding for children who are 
assessed as being high (core plus) top-up level children. The reasons for this relate to skills, curriculum, 
resources etc.  These are not reasons to fund outside the high top-up banding level; rather these are 
reasons to support developments in special schools to enable them to provide wider ranges of support 
packages.  Therefore there are likely training and development issues for special school staff in order 
to provide the necessary support to meet the needs of the high funding level children’s individual and 
specific needs.  The LA will need to work with the schools to identify and support training 
developments.  

Page 134



9 
 

 
 
Summary list of suggested actions to be undertaken 

1. Ensure that the descriptions of needs met in each school (Appendix A) are correct through 
discussion with the special schools.  

2. Hold discussions with Finance Officers re whether the “low level” funding band is 
equivalent to the highest level of mainstream school funding or whether there would be a 
slight increase to reflect the evidence which has been provided that transfer is appropriate.   

3. Hold meetings with the special school heads to discuss the purposes of completing the 
template describing their provision across the different funding bands. This may be better 
done with the heads as a group, before asking them to complete it individually for their 
own school.  

4. Provide further detailed analysis re projections to support a possible “invest to save” model 
of developing local provision.  

5. Engage with the mainstream schools re the funding implications of the review for special 
schools and to reiterate LA expectations re their inclusive practice.  This could be done as 
part of a roll out of the very comprehensive and clear information presented in the Kirklees 
LA document “Identifying, assessing and meeting the SEN of Children and Young People in 
Kirklees Mainstream Schools”.   

6. If the suggestions within this report are accepted, to undertake work with professional 
advice givers and SENACT to ensure that the advice is provided in a way which enables 
SENACT (and others) to be clear about the needs being described so that subsequent 
decisions making is clear to all.  

7. Review the documentation matching needs to provision and top-up funding amounts to 
ensure that it is clear to all and becomes a transparent document which can go on the Local 
Offer etc.   

8. Review the function of the Special Schools Admissions Panel with the special schools heads 
and provide a suggested alternative which they would find appropriate to their needs.  

9. Review the role and remit of the current SEN (EHCP?) Panel with a view to extending both 
decision making purposes and membership, leading to clear Terms of Reference which are 
available for all. 

10. If the above is implemented to develop training support so that all those attending are able 
to make shared decisions, thus developing a collaborative approach which all share.  

11. Undertake a skills audit with the special schools to identify the current professional skills of 
staff employed and provide an analysis of future training needs.  

 
Fiona Law  
December 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



10 
 

 

Page 136



 

 

APPENDIX B - SPECIAL SCHOOLS FUNDING LEVELS COMPLETED EXAMPLE 

The following is a suggested example of a completed template.  It takes account of increasing levels of adult support because of increasing levels of 

complexity of need.  However, all schools will have different approaches and levels of support etc.  This should therefore be taken as a guide to completion 

of the template – it is neither definitive nor prescriptive.  

Name of school: Treetops Primary School for Children with Complex Needs  

 

 

 Low Level Top-up  Support  
(mainstream/special) 

Medium Level Top-up Support  
(Core) 

High Level Top-up Support 
(Core Plus) 

Exceptional Top-up support 

Descriptor Pupils have severe learning 
difficulties and are working within 
low P Levels.  Speech, language 
and communication is within 
expectations for this level of 
functioning and, because of the 
level of learning need,  the pupils 
are in need of support to address 
personal/social and emotional 
wellbeing, self-help and safety.  

Pupils have profound and 
multiple learning difficulties as 
they have an additional level 
of need, such as: 

 Moderate VI/HI needs 

 Moderate physical 
needs 

 Social emotional and 
mental health needs 
of low intensity, 
frequency and 
duration.  

 Communication 
needs 

 Medical needs, for 
example, epilepsy etc 

Pupils have profound and 
multiple learning difficulties 
because of a combination of: 

 The severity  learning 
difficulties – working at 
very low P Levels over 
time 

 Severe physical 
difficulties 

 Severe VI/HI 

 Severe communication 
difficulties 

 Significant social, 
emotional and mental 
health needs of high 
intensity, frequency and 
duration and because of 
which the pupil can be a 
danger to themselves or 
others 

Pupils with PMLD who have such 
complex needs that their support levels 
are highly individualised and requiring 
access to individual support at all times, 
for example, because of medical needs 
which require constant management. 
The pupil may have a life limiting 
condition.   
On occasion, the pupil requires access 
to more than one adult for support and 
safety.  The programme of support is so 
bespoke that out of district provision 
may be considered but, with 
exceptional funding, the school could 
provide a bespoke package to meet the 
highly individual needs.  
 
Because of the highly individual needs 
of these pupils a completely bespoke 
package of support if required.  P

age 137



 

 

 Adult dependent to 
meet all needs 

 

Staffing 1 teacher to 10 pupils + 3 ETAs per 
class as well as 3 LTSs.  

1 teacher + 4 ETAs + 4 LTSs to 
7 pupils 
Additional individual ETA 
support at planned times 
throughout the day, for 
example, to monitor and 
manage medical needs such as 
epilepsy management, 
personal care needs and to 
promote independence 
(feeding, dressing, mobility 
etc). 
 

1 teacher + 4 ETAs + 4 LTSs to 7 
pupils + additional staffing 
throughout the day from 
specifically trained members of 
staff : 
For example: 

 The TA is an intervenor, 
for example, or has 
been in receipt of 
advice and support 
from a MSI qualified 
teacher 

  A high level of medical 
intervention is needed 
to manage a 
tracheostomy  

 The child is gastrostomy 
fed  

 Individual support to 
develop the ability to 
use a communication 
aid 

 Individual support to 
enable the use of 
VOCAs and 
communication through 
eye pointing, eye gaze 
technology, gesture, 
expression etc 

All staff are Team Teach trained 

Constant and individual support 

P
age 138



 

 

Curriculum Each pupil has access to a 
personalised, modified and 
differentiated curriculum 

Each pupil has access to a 
developmental, personalised, 
modified and differentiated 
curriculum with specific 
interventions identified to 
meet the additional 
(VI/HI/SLCN/SEMH) needs. 
Pupil has an Individual 
Learning Plan to address the 
additional learning need 
Where medical needs provide 
the additional complexity, the 
pupil will have a Health Care 
Plan 

Each pupil has access to a 
developmental, highly 
personalised and differentiated 
curriculum with specific and 
adult dependent support to 
meet the additional needs.  
 Where medical needs provide 
the additional complexity, the 
pupil will have a Health Care 
Plan 
The pupil will have a high need 
for ongoing sensory provision to 
support learning 
The pupil will have access to 
constant monitoring and 
supervision to enable the pupil 
to be as independent as 
possible whilst accessing all 
areas of the school and 
activities.  

 

Teaching Approaches Multi-sensory teaching approaches 
adopted across the curriculum 

Multisensory highly structured 
approaches delivered through 
a highly individualised 
approach and which takes 
account of the combination of 
needs.  
Teaching approaches which 
enable access to augmented 
communication systems (for 
example, Makaton) 

Constant multisensory 
approaches delivered through a 
highly individualised approach 
and which takes account of the 
combination of needs.  
Teaching approaches which are 
supported through constant 
access to augmented 
communication systems 

 

Facilities Pupils access swimming and the 
sensory room weekly 

Access to swimming, multi-
sensory room, music therapy 
session, inclusive sports 

Individual sensory room 
programmes daily 
Access to medical room 

 

P
age 139



 

 

personalised learning group  
Medical room for the 
administration of treatment 
Provision to meet the low 
level pupil specific needs, for 
example, adapted teaching 
resources for VI pupils, sound 
field technology in classrooms 
for HI pupils 

facilities 
Group music therapy 
2:1 support for hydrotherapy 
Daily access to programmes of 
support to address physical 
skills eg physiotherapy exercises 
There is a likely need for 
hoisting to support medical and 
personal care issues. 
 

Teaching and 
Learning 
Environment 

Pupils are supported in an 
environment which provides high 
stimulus as well as visually clear 
information 

Pupils are supported in an 
environment which is highly 
structured, with clear visual 
information, structures and 
routines  

Pupils are supported in an 
environment which is highly 
structured, with clear visual 
information, structures and 
routines.   

 

Use of outside 
agency support  

SALT has bi-annual overview  
EP reviews through consultation 
with school annually. 

SALT/OT/Physio/HI/VI 
Advisory Teacher (as 
appropriate to needs) has 
termly involvement and 
makes specific 
recommendation re 
programmes to be delivered in 
a small group and individually 

SALT/OT/Physio/Community 
Nurse/HI/VI Advisory teacher 
has a key role in recommending 
the support approaches to 
meeting needs and therefore 
has a key role in regularly 
monitoring progress.  

 

Interventions Small group interventions are 
delivered on a daily basis to 
support the literacy and numeracy 
skills development of this group of 
children. The teachers delivering 
these programmes have received 
specific training to enable them to 
provide appropriate teaching to 
this cohort of pupils. 

The pupil has regular 
opportunities for 1:2 support 
on modified teaching tasks. 
The teachers delivering these 
programmes have received 
specific training to enable 
them to provide appropriate 
teaching to this cohort of 
pupils. 

The pupil has access to constant 
individual support from 
teachers and ancillary staff who 
have received specific training 
to enable them to provide such 
support to this cohort of pupils. 

 

Community links The school has links with the local The school has links with the The school supports the child  

P
age 140



 

 

primary school and there is a 
programme of visits between this 
school and Treetops. The children 
attend activities at the local 
church.  

local primary school and there 
is a programme of visits 
between this school and 
Treetops. The children attend 
activities at the local church. 

with individual support to 
access wider provision where 
appropriate, for example, 
school trips to appropriate 
venues able to meet the needs 
of the pupil.  
Individual support when out sue 
to safety issues 

Communications 
skills development 

The advice from SALT is 
incorporated in curriculum 
planning.  

The advice from SALT is 
incorporated in curriculum 
planning. Augmented 
communication systems are in 
place where necessary. 

The child may have access to 
augmented communication 
systems constantly and 
therefore staff are able to 
provide this support constantly.  

 

Social skills 
development 

All the children access a social 
skills programme 

Access to a social skills 
programme and additional 
support at unstructured times 
to support peer interaction 
opportunities 

The staff enable to pupil to 
access as wide a range of social 
activities as possible and taking 
account of the health and other 
needs of the pupils. 

 

Self-help skills 
development 
(including toileting) 

All children access a self-help 
programme to support them to 
develop basic skills to enable 
growing independence in the 
home – preparation of 
sandwiches, for example.  
All children are supervised when 
using the toilet and specific 
guidance is proved where 
necessary.  

Access to individual support to 
meet all personal care needs 
and to promote independence 
re these through the delivery 
of a planned programme of 
support and intervention.  

Access to individual support to 
meet all personal healthcare 
needs., frequently requiring 
staff to have been trained in 
moving and handling and able 
to use hoists etc.  

 

Additional 
information 

    

     

     

 

P
age 141



 

 

 

P
age 142



 

 

APPENDIX B 

Provision Funding Template 

Name of school:  

 

 

    Low level Top-up Medium Level Top-up 
(Core) 

High level Top-up 
(Core Plus) 

Exceptional 

Descriptor Description of pupils 
needs to be met 
through core provision 
at the school, including 
NC levels where 
possible 

  
 

 

  

Staffing Clarity re the staffing 
required to meet the 
needs of the above 
(including support staff 
levels, lunchtime 
supervisors and any 
additional support to 
access specific provision 
eg swimming) 

    

Curriculum How is the curriculum 
differentiated to meet 
the needs of this cohort 
of pupils? 

    

Teaching 
Approaches 

What teaching and 
learning opportunities 
are provided which are 
different to those 

    

P
age 143



 

 

provided in a 
mainstream school and 
in place to meet the 
needs of this group of 
pupils? 

Facilities Does the school have 
any specific facilities 
appropriate to the 
needs of this cohort of 
students, for example, 
therapy rooms, 
swimming pool etc and 
how frequently will this 
be provided? 

    

Teaching and 
Learning 
Environment 

How does the school 
plan the environment 
to promote effective 
teaching and learning in 
this group of pupils? 

    

Use of outside 
agency 
support  

Who is involved to 
support the teacher in 
meeting the needs of 
this group of pupils – 
frequency? 

    

Interventions How are these planned 
and delivered? 

    

Community 
links 

What is the programme 
of educational visits and 
engagement within the 
community? 
 

    

Social skills 
development 

What opportunities are 
provided for social 

    P
age 144



 

 

communication 
development identified 
across the curriculum? 

Self-help skills 
development 
(including 
toileting) 
(as 
appropriate) 

What adult support is 
provided to develop 
self-help skills  and to 
support toileting where 
required? 

    

Any additional 
provision 
appropriate to 
the needs 

     

      

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 145



 

 

 

 

P
age 146



                                                                                                                                         APPENDIX B(i) 
 
Special Schools Core Functions (designation)/ pupils whose needs will be met there  
 
 
*Ravenshall 
Low level top-up – MLD 
Medium level top-up – SLD 
High Level top-up – SLD + additional needs (VI/HI/PD/SLCN)  
Exceptional – children with complex needs who require a highly individualised and bespoke 
provision – likely to be placed OOD but LA to consider making exceptional funding available 
to the school to maintain in LA. 
 
*Southgate 
Low level top-up – MLD/SLD 
Medium level top-up – MLD/SLD + one from the following: SLCN, self-care and 
independence, SEMH 
High level top-up – MLD/SLD + three from the following: SLCN, self-care and independence, 
SEMH and high levels of anxiety 
Exceptional - children with complex needs who require a highly individualised and bespoke 
provision – likely to be placed OOD but LA to consider making exceptional funding available 
to the school to maintain in LA. 
 
*Whilst I understand that Ravenshall and Southgate have the same designation of ‘complex needs’ schools, I 
have based the above on the information on the Kirklees Local Offer re the schools own descriptions of the 
needs met in the schools, hence the discrepancy in descriptors noted across top up levels. This is an area which 
needs consideration by the LA in order to ensure that there is an agreed and consistent offer across the two 
schools on which to base commissioning decisions.  

 
Fairfield 
Low level top-up – SLD 
Medium level top-up – PMLD 
High Level top-up – PMLD + severe additional needs (medical/PD/VI/HI/SEMH) 
Exceptional - children with complex needs who require a highly individualised and bespoke 
provision – likely to be placed OOD but LA to consider making exceptional funding available 
to the school to maintain in LA. 
 
Castle Hill 
Low level top-up – SLD 
Medium level top-up – PMLD 
High level top-up – PMLD + additional needs (medical/PD/VI/HI/SEMH) 
Exceptional - children with complex needs who require a highly individualised and bespoke 
provision – likely to be placed OOD but LA to consider making exceptional funding available 
to the school to maintain in LA. 
 
Woodley 
Low level top-up – ASD  
Medium level top-up – ASD + Significant/Severe Learning Needs 
High Level top-up – ASD + SLD + additional needs (eg. SEMH) 
Exceptional - children with complex needs who require a highly individualised and bespoke 
provision – likely to be placed OOD but LA to consider making exceptional funding available 
to the school to maintain in LA. 

Page 147



 
Joseph Norton 
Low level top-up – SEMH – behaviour of high intensity but medium/low frequency and 
duration, occasional danger to self and others 
Medium level top-up – SEMH – behaviour of high intensity/frequency and duration, 
frequent danger to self and others + additional needs Multi-agency advice 
High level top-up SEMH – behaviour of high intensity/frequency and duration, constant 
danger to self and others + additional needs Multi-agency involvement  
Exceptional - children with complex needs who require a highly individualised and bespoke 
provision – likely to be placed OOD but LA to consider making exceptional funding available 
to the school to maintain in LA. 
 
 
Working Definitions 
MLD – Pupils attainments are significantly below expected levels in most areas of the 
curriculum despite appropriate interventions.  They have greater difficulty than their peers 
in acquiring basic literacy and numeracy skills and in understanding concepts.  Likely to be 
working at P Level 3 and beyond, dependent on age and will need to a high level of adult 
support to access the curriculum. 
 
SLD – Pupils will have significant cognitive difficulties which have a major impact on their 
ability to access the curriculum without support.  They may also have difficulties with 
mobility and co-ordination, communication and the acquisition of self-help skills. Likely to 
be working at lower P levels or slightly higher, dependent on age. 
 
PMLD – Pupils will have more than one severe disability with the most significant being 
severe learning needs.  They will also likely have a sensory or physical disability.  
 
ASD – Autism Spectrum Disorder – pupil’s needs being on a continuum from low support to 
access the curriculum (dependent on learning needs and social adaptation) to needing a 
high level of support to access the curriculum.  Pupils may also have a range of additional 
needs including sensory, social emotional and mental health.  
 
SEMH – An overarching term, but pupils will demonstrate difficulties with emotional 
regulation and/or social interaction and/or are experiencing mental health problems.  
 
 
 

Page 148



 

 

 
APPENDIX B(i) 
 

CONSIDERATION OF A CHILD’S NEEDS WHICH MAY RESULT IN A REQUEST TO TRANSFER 
FROM MAINSTREAM TO SPECIAL EDUCATION 

 
This document should be used to support placement decisions when a school/parent is 
requesting a change from mainstream to special provision.   
 
Generally, the school will provide evidence that all attempts at inclusion have been 
exhausted. Therefore the school will be able to demonstrate that they have done everything 
necessary to enable to child to develop, learn and participate in the mainstream school.  
Such evidence will include: 

 The school will be able to demonstrate that the staff working with the child have 
been supported to understand the child’s SEN and/or disability 

 The school being able to demonstrate that staff have been supported to have an 
enhanced knowledge how to adapt teaching and learning to meet the child’s level of 
learning and development, therefore, for example, how the advice from outside 
agencies (EP, Advisory Teachers etc) has been implemented.  This would also include 
any specific training which has been provided to support staff working with the child.  

  Records that appropriate planning to meet needs has taken place and that a 
differentiated and modified curriculum has been delivered and monitored.  This may 
include IEPs, individual pupil profiles etc.  

 Records of how Quality First teaching has taken account of the child’s needs, as well 
as planned small group and individual interventions also having taken place.   

 There will be very clear evidence of programmes of support in place, monitored over 
time and with clear descriptions of progress.  

 
Consideration should also be given to the funding arrangements involved in such decisions.  
The child will have a statement/EHCP which has allocated a level of top-up funding.  Unless 
reassessment has taken place indicating that the child’s needs have changed, this level of 
funding will likely remain the same.  Ongoing assessment or a reassessment may have 
indicated some changes in the child’s needs relating to the curriculum access demands  
detailed below, nevertheless not a substantial change in overall needs.  In the latter case a 
small increase in top-up funding would be indicated. Therefore consideration must be given 
to the possible adverse impacts on a special school placement of a child transferring from 
mainstream to special with a similar level of top-up funding. In such cases, ongoing 
discussion with the mainstream school about what would be needed to enable the school to 
continue to meet needs may indicate where further LA support could  be provided. 
Discussion might also focus on what the mainstream school would be able to provide with 
the small increase in top-up funding which would be provided through a change to special 
school.  
 
Below are examples of more specific examples which may indicate a necessity to transfer 
from mainstream to special school.  
 

Page 149



 

 

All categories should provide evidence gathered over time, either through the EHCP or MSP 
evaluations of progress, including towards the agreed outcomes 
 

 The child’s learning is only possible through access to smaller teaching groups 
Evidence provided will include the school’s ongoing assessment of progress in a small 
intervention groups against the child’s progress in the whole class group.  This analysis 
may include additional factors such as concentration (the child is unable to concentrate 
independently when in the whole class group), behaviour (the child is more likely to 
demonstrate inappropriate behaviour in a larger class group) and social relationships 
(the child is generally working alone when in a large class group because of disparities 
between the child and the rest of the class).  These examples are not exhaustive and 
schools may provide evidence re other aspects of the child’s functioning. 
 
 

 The child demonstrates emotional distress when in a large class group 
Some children are unable to express anxieties and stress through language, and careful 
analysis will demonstrate that difficult emotional responses occur when the child is in a 
large group and under stress through being is such a group.   
 
Evidence will include actions which have been taken to mitigate stress when the child Is 
in the full class group as well as evidence that the child’s emotional stability is positively 
impacted upon when in a small group.  
 

 There is an increasing need for the child to access to the expertise and knowledge 
of teachers/support staff working in special schools 

This may, for example, include children who are dependent on augmented 
communication or children whose complex medical needs impact on their access to the 
curriculum.  
 
In both suggested examples, evidence will be that the teaching staff at the mainstream 
school have exhausted their ability to ensure the child’s progress, for example, the 
teacher’s skill at providing augmented communication has been exhausted, the teachers 
ability to differentiate the curriculum to take account of the impact of medical needs 
requires a level of skill only available in special school provision. 
 

 Inappropriate peer group 
Most children learn effectively through accessing a normally functioning peer group.  
However, for some children, as the social skills gap between them and their peers 
widens, so too does their ability to learn.  Instead the gap causes stress and discomfort 
such that the child becomes increasingly socially isolated.   
 
Evidence will include analysis of the impact of strategies which have been put in place to 
address the development of social skills.   
 

 Increasingly immature and potentially unsafe social skills 
Examples may include children who continue to demonstrate significantly immature 
social behaviour, particularly during unstructured and less supervised time in school.  

Page 150



 

 

Such behaviour may include inappropriate undressing, inappropriate conversations or 
verbal interjections. However, it may also include difficulties in resisting other children’s 
attempts to “use” the child for inappropriate purposes.  
 
Evidence will include an analysis of the child’s immature social skills, the impact of these 
and the strategies which have been put in place. These will indicate that constant 
supervision is required, as well as a more appropriate peer group and the opportunity 
for ongoing curriculum opportunities to address the behaviours.  
 

 The necessity to access a curriculum which provides support to develop life skills 
The child’s level of learning and development indicates that, over time, support will be 
necessary for the development of life skills (cooking, independent transport, budgeting 
and shopping, personal care etc) with opportunities to access such support through 
curriculum delivery.   
 
Evidence will demonstrate that, in spite of attempts to address this through 
differentiation, the mainstream school does not have the facilities to deliver such 
support through a differentiated curriculum and with appropriate facilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



 

 

 
 

Page 152



                                       APPENDIX C

    

 

High Needs Assessment 

 

An overview of pupils and 

students with Special 

Educational Needs and 

Disability (SEND) with an 

Education, Health and Care 

Plan (EHCP) 

 

November 2017 

  

Page 153



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 2 DRAFT 

Contents 

1. Headlines ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

2. Introduction & Purpose ........................................................................................................................... 5 

3. The high needs cohort – who are they? ............................................................................................. 6 

3.1 Overview .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.2 Prevalence by Age ................................................................................................................................. 6 

3.3 Trends in broad age groups .............................................................................................................. 7 

3.4 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................... 7 

3.5 Prevalence by Ethnicity ........................................................................................................................ 8 

3.6 Understanding the numbers in context ........................................................................................ 9 

3.7 How does Kirklees compare to other areas? ............................................................................ 10 

4. The high needs cohort – where are they? ...................................................................................... 13 

5. EHCPs supported outside Kirklees .................................................................................................... 15 

5.1 Children & Young People from other areas coming into Kirklees ................................... 16 

6. The high needs cohort – Primary Condition Overview ............................................................. 17 

6.1 Categories of need in numbers ..................................................................................................... 17 

7. Categories of need in detail ................................................................................................................ 19 

8. Communication & Interaction                                                                           19 

8.1 Description of the condition ........................................................................................................... 19 

8.2 Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) ............................................................................................... 19 

8.3 Prevalence by Age .............................................................................................................................. 20 

8.4 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................ 20 

8.5 Prevalence by Place ............................................................................................................................ 20 

9. Cognition & Learning............................................................................................................................. 22 

9.1 Description of the condition ........................................................................................................... 22 

9.2 Prevalence by Age .............................................................................................................................. 22 

9.3 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................ 23 

9.4 Prevalence by Place ............................................................................................................................ 23 

10. SEMH (Social, Emotional & Mental Health) ................................................................................... 24 

10.1 Description of the condition ........................................................................................................... 24 

10.2 Prevalence by Age .............................................................................................................................. 24 

10.3 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................ 24 

10.4 Prevalence by Place ............................................................................................................................ 25 

11. Physical & Medical Condition ............................................................................................................. 26 

11.1 Description of the condition ........................................................................................................... 26 

11.2 Prevalence by Age .............................................................................................................................. 26 

11.3 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................ 26 

11.4 Prevalence by Place ............................................................................................................................ 27 

12. Sensory - Visual Impairment ............................................................................................................... 28 

12.1 Description of the condition ........................................................................................................... 28 

12.2 Prevalence by Age .............................................................................................................................. 28 

12.3 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................ 28 

Page 154



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 3 DRAFT 

12.4 Prevalence by Place ............................................................................................................................ 29 

13. Sensory - Hearing Impairment ........................................................................................................... 30 

13.1 Prevalence by Age .............................................................................................................................. 30 

13.2 Prevalence by Gender........................................................................................................................ 30 

13.3 Prevalence by Place ............................................................................................................................ 31 

14. The high needs cohort – what might future trends look like? ............................................... 32 

14.1 Predicting future numbers ............................................................................................................... 32 

14.2 What does this mean for the EHCP cohort? ............................................................................. 34 

15. What other significant factors affect the EHCP cohort? ........................................................... 35 

15.1 Infant mortality and disability ........................................................................................................ 35 

15.2 Continuing Health Care interventions ......................................................................................... 35 

15.3 Continence ............................................................................................................................................. 36 

15.4 Feeding and dental hygiene ........................................................................................................... 36 

15.5 Free school meal eligibility .............................................................................................................. 36 

15.6 Housing ................................................................................................................................................... 36 

 

  

Page 155



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 4 DRAFT 

1. Headlines 

The EHCP cohort is very much like the general 0-25 population in many areas of life. Although this 

assessment is data driven, it is important to remember that this is a diverse and complex cohort with 

a wide range of needs and abilities. They also face many of the same issues that everyone else in the 

0-25 age group faces growing up. 

 There are 2,317 children and young people aged 0-25 with an ECHP or Statement of Special 

Educational Needs (SEN) funded through Kirklees Council. This represents 16 EHCP per 1000 

of the 0-25 general population. 

 

 The gender mix of the EHCP cohort is dominated by males, with 2 in 3 of those with an EHCP 

being male and 1 in 3 being female.  

 

 The number of children and young people with EHCP or Statement of SEN has grown by 11% 

over the past 3 years. 

 

 Over the past three years we have seen increases in the 0-4 age group. There have also been 

increases of 54% in the 5-9 age group and the 10-14 age group has grown by 11% over the 3 

year period. Interestingly, the 15-19 group decreased by 15%. We also saw growth of 24% in 

the 20-25 groups. 

 

 When we compare the EHCP cohort with the general population we see they are over 

represented in the worst 10%, 20% and 30% deciles of deprivation. 

 

 There are around 900 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of 

communication and interaction, representing 2 in 5 (40%) of the EHCP cohort. 

 

 There are around 583 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of 

cognition and learning, representing 1 in 4 (26%) of the EHCP cohort. 

 

 There are around 422 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of  

social, emotional & mental health (SEMH), representing 1 in 5 (18.8%) of the EHCP cohort. 

 

 There are around 191 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need 

relating to physical and medical issues, representing 1 in 12 (8.5%) of the EHCP cohort. 

 

 There are around 49 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of 

visual impairment, representing 2.2% of the entire EHCP cohort. 

 

 There are around 63 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of 

hearing impairment, representing 2.8% of the entire EHCP cohort. 

  

Page 156



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 5 DRAFT 

2. Introduction & Purpose 

There are growing numbers of children and young people with a disability, complex needs and/or 

life-limiting conditions in the UK. These children and their families need support from services in 

education, health and social care.  The challenge is that local authorities and providers do not have 

the robust intelligence that allows them to adequately plan and commission services for this cohort 

of children and young people.  

Children and their families living with SEND face distinct and often challenging issues that can 

require a range of dedicated and often specialist responses from services. The needs of disabled 

children, young people and their families are unique to them, are sometimes complex, and will 

change over time.  

The challenge is to understand these needs and develop a system around them that is flexible 

enough to meet the needs of the person and their families. The numbers of children with SEND is 

increasing due to improvements in medical technology and interventions and earlier identification.  

To reach their potential and make a positive contribution to society, children and young people with 

SEND and their families need coordinated and effective support from education, health, social care 

and voluntary services. Integrated, joined up approaches need to be further enhanced to ensure the 

most effective and efficient commissioning and targeting of resources for this population. 

This assessment forms part of the intelligence to better understand and develop support for this 

cohort. 

 

  

Page 157



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 6 DRAFT 

3. The high needs cohort – who are they? 

3.1 Overview 

There are 2,317 children and young people aged 0-25 with an ECHP or Statement of SEN funded 

through Kirklees Council. Some of these children are resident and educated in Kirklees, others travel 

to neighbouring authorities or further afield to access provision that meets their needs. This 

represents 16 EHCP per 1000 of the 0-25 general population. 

The number of children and young people with EHCP or Statement of SEN has grown by 11% over 

the past 3 years. This is partly due to legislative changes (which extends SEND support to aged 25) 

but has also been influenced by changes in the young population locally. 

3.2 Prevalence by Age 

The age at which SEND is identified and the child or young person receives an EHCP is not always a 

useful description of need. There are likely to be a number of children being supported who may be 

eligible for an EHCP but are yet to receive a formal diagnosis or begin the EHCP assessment process.  

Chart 1 shows the EHCP cohort by single age year and year of recording. There have been increases 

in the number of very young children with an EHCP, rising from 1 in 2015 to 44 in 2017. This could 

indicate two things; that diagnosis rates in very young children are improving because of 

professional awareness or that children with complex needs are being identified at a much younger 

age than previously. 

Chart 1 also shows that in 2017 EHCP numbers were higher than other years up to the age of 15 

when numbers reduce. Chart 1 also shows increases in number of young people over 20 with an 

EHCP. This reflects changes in legislation and that numbers tend to reduce as young people leave 

education. 

CHART 1 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26

2015-2017 EHCP Age Year Profile

2015 2016 2017

Page 158



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 7 DRAFT 

3.3 Trends in broad age groups  

Over the past three years we have seen increases in the 0-4 age group and increases of 54% in the 

5-9 age group. The 10-14 age groups have grown by 11% over the 3 year period, the   15-19 group 

decreased by 15%. We also saw growth of 24% in the 20-25 groups.  

CHART 2 

 

Additional information about the predicted long term changes in the EHCP cohort is explored later 

in this assessment. 

3.4 Prevalence by Gender 

The gender mix of the EHCP cohort is dominated by males, with 2 in 3 EHCP recipients being male 

and 1 in 3 being female. This matches the national pattern of gender in the EHCP cohort, but it 

should be remembered that females in the general 0-25 population are, on average, 49% of the 

population.  

CHART 3 

 

 

Chart 4 shows the gender gap in the local EHCP cohort across the age spectrum, this highlights a 

wide gap across all ages until 21 when numbers in general begin to fall. Further analysis of condition 

by gender and age is later in this paper.  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2015 2016 2017

2015-2017 EHCP Age Group Profile

0-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-25

29% 71%

2017 EHCP Gender Profile

Female Male

Page 159



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 8 DRAFT 

CHART 4 

 

 

3.5 Prevalence by Ethnicity 

Similarly to gender, the EHCP cohort and the ethnicity of the general 0-25 population has been 

compared. Unlike gender, ethnicity tends to match the general population with two exceptions; 

those in the Pakistani ethnic group are slightly over-represented in the EHCP cohort, there are 2% 

more children and young people from Pakistani ethnic group in the EHCP cohort. Those in the Indian 

ethnic group are slightly under-represented in the EHCP cohort.  

CHART 5 

 

Although the ECHP cohort matches the general 0-25 population, there are variances when 

categories of need are split by ethnicity. The table below highlights some of these variances. It shows 

for instance that white and white British groups have higher than average SEMH & complex SEMH 

0

50

100

150

200

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2017 EHCP Gender Age Profile

Female Male

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

White White

British

Asian Pakistani Indian Mixed Black Other

2017 EHCP Ethnicity Profile

General Population EHCP Cohort

Page 160



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 9 DRAFT 

and conversely, Asian and Pakistani appear to have higher than average Visual and Hearing 

Impairments along with high levels of complex cognition and learning EHCPs. 

The table highlights over or under-representation when compared to the ethnicity makeup of the 

entire EHCP cohort. 

  

Category of Need White 
White 

British 
Asian Pakistani Indian Black 

Complex Communication & 

Interaction 
-3% -1% -6% -8% 3% 5% 

Communication & 

Interaction 
-1% -1% 0% -3% 2% 0% 

Complex Cognition & 

Learning 
-26% -24% 28% 26% 4% -2% 

Cognition & Learning -4% -4% 4% 5% -2% 0% 

Complex SEMH 20% 20% -25% -20% -4% 2% 

SEMH 14% 15% -15% -14% 0% -1% 

Complex Physical & 

Medical 
-10% -12% 10% 9% 0% -1% 

Physical & Medical 7% 8% -1% 1% -2% -1% 

Complex Sensory (VI) -38% -39% 29% 29% 2% 0% 

Sensory (VI) -25% -22% 34% 40% -4% -3% 

Complex Sensory (HI) -28% -26% 32% 34% -4% -3% 

Sensory (HI) -4% -5% 2% 1% 3% -3% 

(Green under-representation, red over-representation) 

 

A special note on: Families of children with education, health and care plans  

Disability cuts across gender, ethnicity, geography and socio-economic class. The families of 

disabled children are extremely varied in terms of demographics. Families, carers and young carers 

are central to providing care and support to children. This can be demanding and place a huge 

amount of stress on families and carers, who should be supported, have their needs met and help 

shape services. Low income and material deprived families are particularly vulnerable as a lack of 

resources affects parents’ aspirations, beliefs, stress, relationships and ability to support their 

children. It can also lead to relationship, financial, physical and psychological strains.  

A particular group of families with additional needs are those where one or both of the parents are 

disabled. There is little information on the number of such families. What is known is that children in 

families with both a disabled adult and a disabled child are particularly at risk of poverty.  

3.6 Understanding the numbers in context 

Rates and ratios are useful in understanding the health and morbidity of populations. Plain numbers 

of events, such as deaths, births, or prevalence of a condition can have little meaning in themselves, 

lacking a context in which they can be interpreted.  

Page 161



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 10 DRAFT 

In order to give a clear picture of prevalence, it is useful to look at the EHCP cohort as a ratio per 

1000 children so, for instance, 16 children and young people in every 1000 have an EHCP and this 

allows us to compare populations more accurately. 

When the EHCP cohort is looked at by place, as mentioned above, we see there are 16 EHCPs for 

every 1000 children and young people living in Kirklees. The table below also shows that at a 

population level there are very slightly more EHCPs in North Kirklees than South. Later in this 

assessment, we see some conditions are higher in frequency in South Kirklees than North but at a 

whole population level they are slightly different. 

EHCP by Place Per 1000 Rate 

Kirklees 16 

North Kirklees 16 

South Kirklees 15 

 

Looking at EHCPs by gender, we see the variance described later in this assessment i.e. for every 

1000 males aged 0-25, 22 have an EHCP. In females this reduced by around 60% to 9 in every 1000 

females in the 0-25 population.  

EHCP by Gender Per 1000 Rate 

Male 22 

Female 9 

 

If category of need is looked at in the same way, we see overall there are 6 EHCP relating to 

Communication and Interaction per 1000 children and young people aged 0-25. As case incidence 

reduces such as in the visual impairment group, using per 1000 rates has less value. 

EHCP by Category of Need Per 1000 Rate 

Communication & Interaction 6 

Cognition & Learning 4 

SEMH (Social, Emotional & Mental Health) 3 

Physical & Medical 1 

 

3.7 How does Kirklees compare to other areas? 

There are no national data sets that capture the entire EHCP cohort. It is believed that authorities are 

still adapting to collecting the 0-4 and 18-25 age groups data in a robust manner. We are however 

able to compare the Kirklees cohort at a school age level which covers 5-16 age groups. 

The following table shows that in the Kirklees school age EHCP cohort we are ahead of region and 

sub-region authorities in the number of EHCPs in every 1000 school age children. We are however 

below the England average which was 28 per 1000 school age children in 2017. 

Page 162



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 11 DRAFT 

EHCP by 

Comparator 
1(School Age) 

Kirklees 

Per 1000 Rate 

West 

Yorkshire Per 

1000 Rate 

Yorkshire & 

Humber Per 

1000 Rate 

England Per 

1000 Rate 

EHCPs in every 1000 

pupils aged 5-16 
26 23 24 28 

 

Data at gender level in the school age EHCP cohort is only available at England level; here we very 

closely match numbers of males with EHCP in every 1000 male pupils. We match exactly with the 

England per 1000 females with an EHCP in every 1000 pupils. 

EHCP by Gender2 

(School Age) 

Kirklees 

Per 1000 Rate 

England 

Per 1000 Rate 

Male 19 18 

Female 7 7 

 

A special note on: Vulnerable children with disabilities 

As with the general child population, typically a series of complex factors lead to disabled children 

and young people becoming looked after, which may combine around family stress, the capacity of 

families to meet the care needs of their disabled child, neglect or abuse and in some instances 

parental illness and disability. 

Children in Need - There are around 2900 Children in Need in Kirklees. Of these 1 in 2 (48%) have 

an identified SEND. These range across all areas of need, however 1 in 4 of the CIN SEND group have 

SLCN identified as their primary need. 

Children with Protection Plan - There are around 500 CYP in Kirklees with a Child Protection Plan, 

of these 1 in 7 (14%) have an identified SEN or SEND and 1 in 16 (6%) have a SEMHD. 

Looked after Children - Locally, we know there are around 700 looked after children of school age, 

of which 1 in 5 (18%) have a SEND.  

This means that of the overall SEND population 1200 (16%) are in some part of the care system. This 

does include those with EHCP and SEN Support categories. As young people with SEND leave care 

and move into their young adult lives, we need to learn more about their experiences during the 

transition from child to adult services or the potential multiple disadvantage they may experience on 

the grounds of both disability and care leaver status.  

                                                 
1 SFR 37/2017 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/special-educational-needs-in-england-january-2017 

2 SFR 22/2017 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/statements-of-sen-and-ehc-plans-england-2017 

Page 163



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 12 DRAFT 

Understanding the high needs cohort and deprivation 

The most widely adopted measure of deprivation in England is the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 

(IMD). The IMD combines a number of indicators into a single deprivation score for geographic 

areas. 

Poverty and deprivation are complex issues with no single cause but rather a multitude of 

contributory factors. Deprivation can affect life chances, the ability to find and maintain employment, 

the quality of housing which is affordable and the ability to ensure that it is heated to a comfortable 

level.  Living in poverty also has a significant impact on physical and emotional health. 

Nationally, in the general population the gap in life expectancy between people living in the lowest 

and highest income neighbourhoods is six years. In Kirklees, people in Dewsbury can expect to live 

3.6 to 4.9 years fewer than people in the Holme Valley.   

When we compare the EHCP cohort with the general population we see they are over represented in 

the worst 10%, 20% and 30% deciles. The imbalance reverses in all other deciles; this trend has been 

stable for the last few years.  

CHART 6 

 

When IMD is analysed at category of need level, there are some minor variances in each need 

category. However, there are large variances in the Complex Communication and Interaction cohort 

who are under-represented in more deprived areas and over-represented in more affluent part of 

Kirklees. 

For further information please see: KJSA Poverty Section  

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

Worst 10%

Worst 10%-20%

Worst 20%-30%

Worst 20%-40%

Worst 40%-50%

Least deprived 50%-60%

Least deprived 60%-70%

Least deprived 70%-80%

Least deprived 80%-90%

Least deprived 90%-100%

2017 EHCP Deprivation Profile

General Population EHCP Cohort

Page 164

http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/health-and-wellbeing/economic-factors/poverty


  

SEND High Needs Assessment 13 DRAFT 

4. The high needs cohort – where are they? 

There are children and young people in the EHCP cohort across Kirklees. It is important to note that 

although EHCP numbers are higher in South Kirklees than North Kirklees, this very closely matches 

the general 0-25 population. Chart 7 shows the actual numbers of those in the EHCP cohort and 

where they live or are educated.  

CHART 7 

 

There was a slight shift in the proportion of the EHCP cohort from North Kirklees in 2016 when 

compared to 2015, but this appears to have rebalanced in the latest set of data. Although the reason 

for this is not clear, it could be something like increased proactivity to obtain diagnosis, or better 

identification of issues within education settings.  

 

CHART 8 

 

979

1022

1073

1043

1026

1173

67

66

71

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 EHCP Location Profile

North Kirklees South Kirklees Outside Kirklees

46.8%

48.1%

46.0%

49.8%

48.3%

50.3%

3%

3%

3%

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 EHCP Location Rates

North Kirklees South Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 165



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 14 DRAFT 

If ward level EHCP data is compared to the general population, we see that no areas have large over-

representation of EHCP, which may go against common understanding. In fact there are areas that 

have fewer children in the EHCP cohort than we would expect; they are at the bottom of this table. 

The one anomaly to be aware of is in the Newsome ward – because many university students reside 

in this ward, we would expect to see a higher proportion of 0-25 year olds in the general population 

than those with an EHCP. 

 

Ward Area 
EHCP 

Population 

General 0-25 

Population 

Variance between 

EHCP & General 

Population  
(Green under-

representation, red 

over-representation) 

Dewsbury West 8.1% 7.8% -0.2% 

Greenhead 5.9% 6.6% 0.7% 

Batley West 5.8% 6.3% 0.5% 

Dewsbury South 5.6% 6.3% 0.8% 

Ashbrow 5.3% 6.0% 0.6% 

Dewsbury East 5.0% 5.3% 0.3% 

Heckmondwike 5.0% 5.2% 0.1% 

Liversedge and Gomersal 4.9% 5.2% 0.3% 

Almondbury 4.7% 4.3% -0.4% 

Crosland Moor and Netherton 4.6% 4.4% -0.2% 

Dalton 4.4% 5.0% 0.6% 

Golcar 4.4% 4.9% 0.5% 

Holme Valley South 4.3% 4.6% 0.3% 

Batley East 4.1% 6.2% 2.1% 

Lindley 3.8% 4.9% 1.1% 

Newsome 3.5% 8.5% 5.1% 

Holme Valley North 3.2% 4.0% 0.8% 

Mirfield 3.2% 4.6% 1.4% 

Cleckheaton 3.1% 4.4% 1.3% 

Birstall and Birkenshaw 3.0% 4.3% 1.3% 

Colne Valley 3.0% 4.1% 1.1% 

Denby Dale 2.8% 3.9% 1.1% 

Kirkburton 2.4% 3.9% 1.5% 

 

  

Page 166



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 15 DRAFT 

5. EHCPs supported outside Kirklees 

Around 50 children from Kirklees are in education settings in other local authority areas. 80% of 

these are accessing an education setting in a neighbouring authority, either in West Yorkshire or our 

borders to the West into Greater Manchester and south to South Yorkshire. This includes a number 

of children that are looked after and supported outside Kirklees for child protection reasons. 

The remaining 10 children (20%) are accessing support in settings across the country. There is no set 

trend for this and placements in this small part of the cohort are likely to be highly specialised 

provision. Chart 9 shows the detail of where those outside Kirklees are educated.  

CHART 9 

 

 

The special educational needs of the children and young people supported outside Kirklees vary. As 

described above, there is a group that are supported outside Kirklees for child protection reasons. 

Chart 10 shows the primary needs of children and young people being supported in provision 

outside Kirklees. The most common category of need with 2 in 5 (40%) is SEMH, followed by 

cognition and learning with 1 in 5 (19%). It should be remembered that some of these children are 

likely to be accessing highly specialist support.  

 

 

 

 

 

0%
5%

10%
15%
20%
25%
30%
35%
40%
45%
50%

2015-17 EHCP's Outside Kirklees

2015 2016 2017

Page 167



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 16 DRAFT 

CHART 10 

 

5.1 Children & Young People from other areas coming into Kirklees 

A number of children and young people from other areas access specialist provision in Kirklees. This 

number, although small, has increased over the past 3 years. In 2015 there were 5 children and 

young people accessing Kirklees provision. This grew to 11 in 2016 and 16 in 2017. 

There has been growth at mainstream school, particularly Whitcliffe Mount which sits close to the 

border with Bradford. There has also been growth at Woodley School & College which suggests 

children and young people are accessing specialist autism provision. They are all from neighbouring 

authorities rather than further afield.  

40% 19% 19% 13% 6% 2%

2017 ECHP Outside Kirklees by Condition Type

SEMH Cognition & Learning

Looked after child Communication & Interaction

Physical & Medical

Page 168



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 17 DRAFT 

6. The high needs cohort – Primary Condition Overview 

As described above, there are 2,317 children and young people with an EHCP who are supported by 

Kirklees Council.  

In order to understand each part of this cohort they have been grouped by a range of categories of 

need. Each category of need will then be looked at using a mixture of geodemographic groupings. 

Each of these categories will also be looked at in terms of severity or complexity where appropriate.  

The categories of need that will be looked at in more detail are: 

 Communication & Interaction 

 Cognition & Learning 

 SEMH (Social, Emotional & Mental Health) 

 Physical & Medical 

 Sensory - Visual Impairment 

 Sensory - Hearing Impairment 

 

6.1 Categories of Need in numbers 

The data below only features a child or young person’s primary need. It is important to remember 

that a child or young person may have secondary or tertiary needs that also affect their daily lives 

such as a physical health condition or visual impairment but it is, for instance, their communication 

and interaction need that has the greatest impact on them. 

The current EHCP cohort is dominated by children and young people with either communication and 

interaction or cognition and learning needs. These two groups account for 2 in 3 of all those with an 

ECHP. 

 

Category of Need 
Number in 2017 EHCP 

Cohort * 
Rate 

Communication & Interaction 900 40.2% 

Cognition & Learning 583 26.0% 

SEMH (Social, Emotional & Mental Health) 422 18.8% 

Physical & Medical 191 8.5% 

Sensory - Visual Impairment 49 2.2% 

Sensory - Hearing Impairment 63 2.8% 

Sensory (Multi-Sensory Impairment) 2 0.1% 

General Learning Difficulties 12 0.5% 

Other need categories inc Looked after 13 0.6% 

*Some children are awaiting assessment or do not have a category of need recorded 

 

There have been increases in both communication and interaction which would include those with 

autistic spectrum condition (ASC). There have also been increases in in the overall social, emotional 

and mental health (SEMH) EHCPs.  

Page 169



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 18 DRAFT 

The number of children and young people with general learning difficulties are decreasing and many 

in this part of the cohort are in the 17-25 age group. This is an old category of need and all but a few 

children and young people are now in the cognition and learning category.  

CHART 11 

 

*SEMH in 2015 includes children and young people with behavioural, emotional and social difficulties which 

were reclassified under the Children & Families Act 2014. 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2015-17 EHCP Condition Trends

2015 2016 2017

Page 170



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 19 DRAFT 

7. Categories of need in detail3 

 

8. Communication & Interaction 

There are around 900 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of 

communication and interaction. This group represents 2 in 5 (40%) of the entire EHCP cohort. These 

children and young people in the complex need category are very likely to be supported at Woodley 

School or out of area as described above. 

8.1 Description of the condition 

Children and young people with communication and interaction needs have difficulty in 

communicating with others. This may be because they have difficulty saying what they want to, 

understanding what is being said to them or they do not understand or use social rules of 

communication. The profile for every child with communication and interaction needs is different 

and their needs may change over time. They may have difficulty with one, some or all of the different 

aspects of speech, language or social communication at different times of their lives.  

8.2 Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) 

Children and young people with ASC, including Asperger’s Syndrome and Autism, are likely to have 

particular difficulties with social interaction. They may also experience difficulties with language, 

communication and imagination, which can impact how they relate to others. 

Autistic spectrum condition (ASC) is a lifelong condition characterised by impairments in three main 

areas: social interaction, communication and the presence of repetitive behaviours (known as the 

triad of impairments). The term spectrum is used due to the significant variations between 

individuals, including severity and presentation of the triad of impairments, differing IQ levels and 

general functional abilities. Autistic Disorder, Asperger Syndrome and High Functioning Autism are 

all types of Autistic Spectrum Condition. There is a group of children who are likely to have a 

condition which has yet to be diagnosed. These children are likely to have a combination of 

difficulties interacting with other children or adults. We are seeing increased presentations 

requesting a diagnosis locally. 

                                                 
3 Definitions taken from: Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years. Department of Education. 

2015. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ 

attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf  

 

 

 

Page 171



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 20 DRAFT 

8.3 Prevalence by Age 

Chart 12 shows the increase in communication and interaction needs, which currently peaks in the 

15 year old age group with the 10 year olds groups closely behind. There is a wide gap between 

complex and non-complex groups in the SEMH cohort.  

CHART 12 

 

8.4 Prevalence by Gender 

Males dominate the EHCP communication and interaction group with 3 in 4 cases being male. This 

has been the trend in previous years.  

CHART 13 

 

8.5 Prevalence by Place 

There have been subtle movements where those with communication and interaction needs live in 

Kirklees. South Kirklees has historically had a slightly higher share of the cohort than North Kirklees 

but variations are very small. The proportion of the cohort supported by Kirklees but educated out of 

area has remained at 2%.  

 

0

20

40

60

80

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2017 Communication & Interaction 

Age Trends

Complex Communication & Interaction

Communication & Interaction

26% 74%

2017 Communication & Interaction  

Gender Rates

Female Male

Page 172



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 21 DRAFT 

CHART 14 

 

 

  

51%

49%

53%

47%

49%

45%

2%

2%

2%

2015

2016

2017

2017 Communication & Interaction

Location Rates

South Kirklees North Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 173



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 22 DRAFT 

9. Cognition & Learning 

There are around 583 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of 

cognition and learning. This group represents 1 in 4 (26%) of the entire EHCP cohort. The children 

and young people in the complex need category are very likely to be supported at Ravenshall or 

Southgate schools or out of area as described above. 

9.1 Description of the condition 

Support for cognition and learning difficulties may be required when children and young people 

learn at a slower pace than their peers, even with appropriate differentiation. Cognition and learning 

covers a wide range of needs, including moderate learning difficulties (MLD) and severe learning 

difficulties (SLD) where children are likely to need support in all areas of the curriculum and 

associated difficulties with mobility and communication, through to profound and multiple learning 

difficulties (PMLD) where children are likely to have severe and complex learning difficulties as well 

as a physical disability or sensory impairment. Specific learning difficulties (SpLD) affect one or more 

specific aspects of learning. This encompasses a range of conditions such as dyslexia, dyscalculia and 

dyspraxia. 

9.2 Prevalence by Age 

There are peaks in the complex part of the group at ages 10 and 18 with no clear picture as to why 

this is, but ages of 11 and 18 do typically represent a change in educational setting, such as high 

school or university where different learning style may bring to the fore peaks in learning disabilities 

being detected. The non-complex cognition & learning group grow at a faster rate and peaks in the 

high school years, then again at 18.  

CHART 15 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2017 Cognition & Learning 

Age Trends

Complex Cognition & Learning Cognition & Learning

Page 174



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 23 DRAFT 

9.3 Prevalence by Gender 

As with elsewhere in the EHCP cohort, we see increased numbers of males who represent 2 in 3 

(63%) of the cognition and learning cohort.  

CHART 16 

 

9.4 Prevalence by Place 

North Kirklees has, and continues to have, slightly more in the cognition and learning cohort than 

South Kirklees.  

CHART 17 

 

  

37% 63%

2017 Cognition & Learning 

Gender Rates

Female Male

45%

45%

47%

52%

53%

51%

2%

3%

3%

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 Cognition & Learning 

Location Rates

South Kirklees North Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 175



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 24 DRAFT 

10. SEMH (Social, Emotional & Mental Health) 

There are around 422 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of social, 

emotional & mental health. This group represents 1 in 5 (18.8%) of the entire EHCP cohort. The 

children and young people in the complex need category are very likely to be supported at Joseph 

Norton Academy, ETHOS College, in the independent sector or out of area as described above. 

10.1 Description of the condition 

Children and young people may experience a wide range of social and emotional difficulties which 

manifest themselves in many ways. These may include becoming withdrawn or isolated, as well as 

displaying challenging, disruptive or disturbing behaviour. These behaviours may reflect underlying 

mental health difficulties such as anxiety or depression, self-harming, substance misuse, eating 

disorders or physical symptoms. Other children and young people may have disorders such as 

attention deficit disorder, attention deficit hyperactive disorder or attachment disorder. 

10.2 Prevalence by Age 

Social, emotional & mental health is dominated by complex cases which peak in the 14 year old age 

group. The non-complex cases are fewer and although there are subtle changes they don’t peak 

until the age of 18 in the current cohort.  

CHART 18 

 

 

 

10.3 Prevalence by Gender 

Males dominate social, emotional & mental health cases representing almost 9 in 10 of all SEMH 

EHCPs.  

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2015-17 SEMH 

Age Trends

Complex SEMH SEMH

Page 176



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 25 DRAFT 

CHART 19 

 

10.4 Prevalence by Place 

The location of SEMH cases has been static over the past couple of years. Prior to that there were 

changes in terminology which means 2015 should be viewed as a transition year in data collection 

rather than a reliable trend. There are small proportions of SEMH cases that are supported outside 

Kirklees.  

CHART 20 

 

 

  

12% 88%

2017 SEMH 

Gender Rates

Female Male

69%

53%

53%

31%

41%

41%

0%

6%

6%

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 SEMH 

Location Rates

South Kirklees North Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 177



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 26 DRAFT 

11. Physical & Medical Condition 

There are around 191 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need relating to 

physical and medical issues. This group represents 1 in 12 (8.5%) of the entire EHCP cohort. The 

children and young people in the complex need category are very likely to be supported at Castle 

Hill, Fairfields or Newsome schools or out of area as described above. 

11.1 Description of the condition 

There are many physical disabilities that can affect children, such as delayed walking, hearing or 

visual impairment. There are other conditions that may not be traditionally seen as disabilities but 

are chronic in nature and therefore can have an impact on the child's development in more subtle 

ways (e.g. through days lost at school, inability to partake fully in physical activities, the need to take 

medication regularly). These include asthma or diabetes for example.  

11.2 Prevalence by Age 

There are increased proportions of complex physical and medical cases particularly in the 5-7 and 14 

year old groups. The non-complex group tend to be fewer in number and a relatively stable trend 

with only minor peaks at 17 and 21 years. 

CHART 21 

 

 

11.3 Prevalence by Gender 

In the physical and medical need group we start to see a closer gender balance than in other 

conditions. The group has 2 in 5 female and 3 in 5 male with EHCPs.  

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2015-17 Condition 

Age Trends

Complex Physical & Medical Physical & Medical

Page 178



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 27 DRAFT 

CHART 22 

 

 

11.4 Prevalence by Place 

We see a slightly higher proportion of the physical and medical need group living in South Kirklees. 

This has been the trend over the past three years.  

CHART 23 

 

 

  

41% 59%

2017 Physical & Medical Condition 

Gender Rates

Female Male

54%

57%

54%

46%

43%

45% 1%

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 Physical & Medical Condition

Location Rates

South Kirklees North Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 179



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 28 DRAFT 

12. Sensory - Visual Impairment 

There are around 49 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of visual 

impairment. This group represents 2.2% of the entire EHCP cohort. 

12.1 Description of the condition 

Some children and young people require special educational provision because they have a disability 

which prevents or hinders them from making use of the educational facilities generally provided. 

These difficulties can be age related and may fluctuate over time. Many children and young people 

with vision impairment (VI) or hearing impairment (HI) will require specialist support and/or 

equipment to access their learning or rehabilitation support. 

12.2 Prevalence by Age 

The low volume of the visually impaired group means that caution should be exercised in drawing 

conclusions about age related and other trends.  

CHART 24 

 

12.3 Prevalence by Gender 

We see a closer match with the general population gender split for the first time in the EHCP cohort 

in the visually impaired group with females representing 1 in 2 (53%) of the group.  

CHART 25 

                           

0

2

4

6

8

10

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2017 Visual Impairment 

Age Trends

Sensory (VI)

53% 47%

2017 Visual Impairment 

Gender Rates

Female Male

Page 180



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 29 DRAFT 

12.4 Prevalence by Place 

Interestingly, although gender closely matches the general population the location of those with 

visual impairment does not. North Kirklees dominates the chart with a consistent 2 in 3 (70%) of 

cases. Again, a very small proportion of Kirklees Council funded children and young people are 

educated outside the local authority.  

CHART 26 

 

 

  

28%

31%

27%

70%

67%

71%

2%

2%

2%

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 Visual Impairment 

Location Rates

South Kirklees North Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 181



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 30 DRAFT 

13. Sensory - Hearing Impairment 

There are around 63 children and young people in the EHCP cohort with a primary need of hearing 

impairment. This group represents 2.8% of the entire EHCP cohort. 

13.1 Prevalence by Age 

The low volume of the hearing impaired group means that caution should be exercised in drawing 

conclusions about age related and other trends.  

CHART 27 

 

 

13.2 Prevalence by Gender 

We see a closer match with the general population gender split in the EHCP cohort in the hearing 

impaired group with females representing 1 in 2 (49%) of the group.  

CHART 28 

 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

2017 Hearing Impairment 

Age Trends

Sensory (HI)

49% 51%

2017 Hearing Impairment 

Gender Rates

Female Male

Page 182



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 31 DRAFT 

13.3 Prevalence by Place 

Unlike visual impairment, the proportions of those with a hearing impairment in terms of location 

are more balanced although we do see slightly more in South Kirklees.  

CHART 29 

 

  

55%

52%

54%

41%

43%

41%

4%

5%

5%

2015

2016

2017

2015-17 Hearing Impairment 

Location Rates

South Kirklees North Kirklees Outside Kirklees

Page 183



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 32 DRAFT 

14. The high needs cohort – what might future trends look like? 

There are two important factors that will influence the future shape of the local EHCP population. 

Firstly, we expect the general population to increase and the proportion of children and young 

people with an EHCP is likely to grow at least at the same rate. 

The second factor affecting future projections is the advances in medical interventions. We are 

already seeing increases in the numbers of profoundly disabled children who previously would have 

not survived beyond the first few years of life. There is nothing to suggest that this trend will reduce.  

When both of these factors are viewed together, we could see an increase in the general numbers of 

children and young people with an EHCP and an increase in the number with the most complex or 

profound needs.  

14.1 Predicting future numbers 

It is almost impossible to predict accurately what the future EHCP cohort will look like. The table 

below shows the variance between years in each category of need. For instance, it shows that over 

the past two years there has been a 26% increase in those with a complex communication and 

interaction need. There are also wide differences year to year. For instance, those with complex 

cognition & learning needs grow by 5% between 2015 and 2016 then reduce to a 0% growth 

between 2016 and 2017. 

Condition Group 

Change 

between 

2015 and 

2016 

Change 

between 

2016 and 

2017 

Change 

between 

2015 and 

2017 

Complex Communication & Interaction -23% 64% 26% 

Communication & Interaction 4% 14% 18% 

Complex Cognition & Learning -2% 3% 2% 

Cognition & Learning 5% 0% 4% 

Complex SEMH No Data 12% No Data 

SEMH No Data 9% No Data 

Complex Physical & Medical 9% 11% 21% 

Physical & Medical -8% 27% 16% 

Physical & Medical 5% 11% 17% 

Sensory (VI) -6% -2% -9% 

Sensory (HI) 10% -4% 6% 

 

There have also been reductions year on year in cognition and learning and those with visual 

impairment. This suggests that neither growth nor decline can be accurately predicted at a condition 

level in the EHCP cohort. 

There are some trends we can use to attempt to forecast potential future demand. Over the past 3 

years there have been between 15 and 16 EHCPs per 1000 of the general 0-25 population. This 

means in every 1000 children and young people in Kirklees, 16 of them have an EHCP. 

Page 184



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 33 DRAFT 

The Office of National Statistics4 future population estimates use the 16 per 1000 figure to suggest 

possible future demand.  Chart 30 shows the predicted 0-25 population in Kirklees rising by around 

0.5% per year from 145,900 now to around 152,200 in 2028 which is an increase of 6,800.  

CHART 30 

 

Chart 31 shows changes in population by broad age band rather than the entire 0-25 cohort. Over 

the next decade we can see a slight dip in the 20-25 groups and then an increase towards 2028. 

There is a slight growth in the 10-14 age groups, but the largest increase is expected in 15-19 age 

groups which grow from around 26,000 now to around 29,000 in 2028.  

CHART 31 

 

                                                 
4 ONS Population Projections 2016: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections 

142,000

144,000

146,000

148,000

150,000

152,000

154,000

2017-2028 0-25 General Population Estimate

24,000

26,000

28,000

30,000

32,000

34,000

36,000

38,000

2017-2028 0-25 Population Estimate by age band

0 to 4 5 to 9 10 to 14 15 to 19 20 to 25

Page 185



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 34 DRAFT 

14.2 What does this mean for the EHCP Cohort? 

It is important to note that EHCP presentations in the past three years have fluctuated enormously, 

rising by 31 between 2015 and 2016 and 192 between 2016 and 2017. It is this vast difference in 

presentation trends that means any estimates are only a potential, based on nothing but the rate of 

general population growth. 

However, using the 16 per 1000 ratio, we can suggest what trends over the next decade may 

potentially look like. Chart 32 is one possible option for the shape of the EHCP population moving 

forward.  

CHART 32 

 

 

As described above we cannot say exactly what the likely shape of the EHCP cohort will be. The 

number of factors outside general population growth makes it extremely difficult to say what year 

on year numbers may be and forecasting into the future would be risky.  

2317

2437

2250

2300

2350

2400

2450

2017-2027 Potential EHCP Population Change

Page 186



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 35 DRAFT 

15. What other significant factors affect the EHCP Cohort? 

15.1 Infant mortality and disability5 

The main reasons for infant deaths locally were prematurity and congenital abnormalities accounting 

for 73% of deaths. Given the level of prematurity in white babies, it is not surprising that this was 

their main cause (43%) then congenital abnormality (25%). Conversely, congenital abnormalities 

were the main cause of death for Pakistani babies (52%) followed by prematurity (25%). 

Consanguinity remains an issue within the Pakistani population locally. Clinical advances have meant 

a greater number of these babies are living beyond their first year, however a proportion of children 

are growing up with disabilities and conditions relating to prematurity and congenital abnormalities. 

A Special note on: Children with life-limiting conditions  

Life-limiting conditions are those for which there is no reasonable hope of cure and from which 

children will die, either during childhood or in early adulthood. Having such a condition brings with it 

medical and emotional complications which add to the burden of disability and ill health. Many life-

limited children are also disabled. Life-limited children and their families have additional needs.    

The biggest ‘killers’ (but each accounting for less than 25% of deaths) are cancer, perinatal 

conditions and congenital abnormalities, conditions relating to the nervous and muscular-skeletal 

systems and organ failure.  

15.2 Continuing Health Care Interventions 

There are around 30 children and young people supported by Continuing Health Care provision. 

They are equally split between North and South Kirklees, although there have been small variances 

between the areas in previous years.  

Half of these children require either mechanical or non-invasive ventilation support, which tends to 

be in educational settings from health professionals. 

A recent review of the local special school population highlighted that around 1 in 10 (69 children) of 

the special school population require a wheelchair. Of these children, a third of them required 

specialist moulded wheelchairs. 

Percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) is an endoscopic medical procedure in which a tube 

(PEG tube) is passed into a person’s stomach through the abdominal wall, most commonly to 

provide a means of feeding when oral intake is not adequate. Around 4% of the local special school 

population are PEG fed. 

There is a developing range of assistive technology that is available and designed for the particular 

needs of the EHCP population. Technology will play an increasingly important role in providing care 

and support. While technologies that assist in health and social care could be significant contributors 

to the growth in expenditures in the short term, they could potentially reduce costs significantly in 

                                                 
5 Kirklees JSNA Children dying before their first birthday 

Page 187



  

SEND High Needs Assessment 36 DRAFT 

the medium and long term. Over recent years we have seen the costs of previously expensive 

technology coming down in price. We expect this to be a growth area, particularly for people who 

have grown up with technology.  

15.3 Continence 

Issues around continence affect a number of children. Disabled children are much more likely than 

others to have continence problems, affecting around 1 in 5 disabled children. This was more likely 

for those with more profound needs where double incontinence was an issue for 1 in 4 children.  

15.4 Feeding and dental hygiene  

Children with neuromuscular conditions can find it difficult to chew and swallow food. Children with 

learning disability or autism spectrum conditions (ASCs) can have difficulties that may relate to 

overeating, undereating or being very selective about what they will eat.  

Children with learning disabilities or ASC can find dental check-ups frightening and some struggle to 

tolerate treatment. Children with a physical disability can find it difficult to brush their teeth or access 

a dental surgery. Children with certain genetic conditions are more prone to misaligned or differently 

positioned teeth and are also likely to have additional dental hygiene needs. 

15.5 Free school meal eligibility 

Nationally, pupils with Social, Emotional and Mental Health as their primary type of need are more 

likely to be eligible for free school meals than pupils with other primary type of need. 2 in 5 (42%) of 

pupils with an EHCP with this type of need were eligible for free school meals.6 

15.6 Housing 

The housing needs of disabled children affect the whole family. Issues around difficult stairs, lack of 

space or downstairs facilities and cold or damp are most common.7 Locally, 2 in 5 (44%) of carers tell 

us that their home is too small for them, 1 in 3 (39%) felt their home was in need of repair and 1 in 4 

(22%) felt their home was unsuitable for their mobility needs or the needs of people in the 

household.8 As children grow up, particularly those with mobility problems, there are additional 

requirements such as movement and handling equipment and it is not uncommon for hoists and 

other specialist equipment being required for older children who are not ambulant. 

For more information please see the KJSA section - Children with Special Educational Needs or 

Disabilities (SEND) 

 

                                                 
6 Department of Education. Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2016 [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2016 Sep 30]. 

Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2016 
7 Beresford B. The needs of disabled children and their families. [Internet]. Social Care Research. 1996. Available from: 

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23122443 
8 Kirklees Council, NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG, NHS North Kirklees CCG. Current Living in Kirklees Survey. 2016. 

 

 

 

Page 188

http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/specific-groups-life-events/children-SEND
http://observatory.kirklees.gov.uk/jsna/specific-groups-life-events/children-SEND


1 
 

                                                         APPENDIX C(i)  

High Level SEN Support Profile supported by 

specialist learning services (Early Years SEN, 

Access Fund, Pupil Referral Service and 

Specialist Provision).  

High level SEN Support refers to that cohort of children and young people with complex 

needs who do not have an EHC Plan but who are either at a level just below the EHCP 

threshold, in the process of an EHC needs assessment being requested or are likely to enter 

the assessment process for EHCP at some point during their education journey in the 

absence of intensive support. 

There has been an increase in demand for support for very young children with SEND as well 

as those with social, emotional and mental health needs (SEMH) and communication and 

interaction needs (C&I) at the higher level of complex of the SEN Support stage of the SEND 

Code of Practice 2014. The following information therefore covers the following areas 

particularly affected by these increased demands: 

1. Early Years SEN team – pre-school 

2. Access Fund – pre-school 

3. Pupil Referral Service (SEMH) – school aged 

4. Specialist provision (Communication & Interaction) – school aged 

 

1. Early Years SEN 

The Early Years SEN team provide specialist support to young children attending early years 

settings (private, voluntary, independent and maintained) as well as to very young children 

with complex needs who are not yet in a setting (Portage). Referrals to this team are rising 

with a 40% increase seen over the last term in comparison to the previous year. A growing 

number of referrals are for young children with complex communication and interaction 

needs (C&I).  

2. Access Fund 

Access Fund is available to private, voluntary and independent early years settings and 

provides additionality for those young children identified with the most complex needs. This 

typically takes the form of additional adult support. Demand on this fund has increased 

significantly over the past 4 years affected by an increase in levels of complexity of needs, an 

increase in children taking up places and more recently, the extension of free childcare from 

Page 189



2 
 

15-30 hours for working parents.  From April 2017, the government increased the 

expectation of local authorities to ensure additional funding for 3&4 year olds in the 

maintained sector. The additional budget required for this sis expected to be agreed as an 

outcome from the High Needs Review.   

AGE  

 

 

 

GENDER 

 

 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

2 3 4

Age (Years)

SEND Support Cohort - Age Profile

25% 75%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Total

Access Fund Support Cohort - Gender

Female Male

Page 190



3 
 

 

HOME LOCATION 

 

3. Pupil Referral Service 

The Pupil Referral Service provides support via outreach to mainstream schools as well as 

providing placements through Pupil Referral Units (PRUs). A PRU is a centre commissioned 

by a local authority which is specifically organised to provide education for children who are 

excluded, sick, or otherwise unable to attend a mainstream or special maintained school. The 

LA has a duty under section 19 of the Education Act 1996 to provide suitable education for 

children of compulsory school age who cannot attend school. Placing pupils in PRUs is just 

one of the ways in which local authorities can ensure that they can comply with this duty. 

The majority of children and young people accessing support have complex SEMH needs. 

Whilst a small number of children and young people with an EHCP access this support, it is 

predominantly targeted towards those at the higher level of SEN Support stage and the 

figures below reflect this population. 

AGE 

51% 49%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Total

Access Fund Support Cohort - Home 
Location

South North

Page 191



4 
 

 

ETHNICITY 

 

GENDER 

 

HOME LOCATION 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

PRS SEN Support Cohort - Age Profile

78%

15%

3% 3% 3%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

White British Mixed White Other Asian Other

PRS SEN Support Cohort - Ethnicity 

10% 90%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Total

PRS SEN Support Cohort - Gender

Female Male

Page 192



5 
 

 

  

59% 41%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Total

PRS SEN Support Cohort - Home    
Location

South North

Page 193



6 
 

4. Specialist Provision 

There are a number of mainstreams schools in Kirklees which have additional capacity and 

expertise which provide support to children and young people with complex SEND. Such 

schools provide placements for children and young people with an EHCP, as well as outreach 

support at both the EHCP and higher level SEN Support. For those with communication and 

interaction needs (C&I), the school based support is enhanced further through additional 

outreach capacity from a central team. The data below relates specifically to those high level 

SEN Support C&I cases where outreach support is being delivered. 

AGE 

 

 

ETHNICITY 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

SEND Support Cohort - Age Profile

75%

8% 8%
3% 2% 1% 1% 1%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

White
British

Mixed Asian -
Pakistani

Asian -
Indian

Asian Unknown White
Other

Black

SEND Support Cohort - Ethnicity 

Page 194



7 
 

GENDER 

 

 

HOME LOCATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23% 77%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Total

SEND Support Cohort - Gender

Female Male

52% 48%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Total

SEND Support Cohort - Home Location

North South OOA

Page 195



8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 196



          APPENDIX D                                                                                                                

 
 

Support for children and young people  
with Special Educational Needs (SEN) 

 
WE WANT TO HEAR YOUR VIEWS! 

 

All councils have to look at and review the ways they support children and young people with special 
educational needs (SEN) in early years’ settings, schools and colleges. This will help them plan how 
they will do this in the future.  
In Kirklees we have a clear vision for our children and young people with special educational needs: 
 

 
 

We want our review to help us with achieving our vision. We want to make sure that children and 
young people get the support they require to meet their special educational needs. In order to help 
us with this, we are asking a range of people including parents and carers, children and young 
people, head teachers, school governors, heads of colleges and early years providers for their views 
about the support we currently provide in early years settings, schools and colleges for children and 
young people with SEN.  
 
As well as gathering everyone’s views, we are also looking at our data to help us with our planning 
for the future, for example, looking at where we may have increases in special educational needs, 
what differences there are across different areas in Kirklees or within different age groups etc. 
 
The information we get will help us write a plan to show how we will support learning and 
development for children and young people with SEN in the future. The plan will cover special 
educational provision from early years to post 16. It will show how we will make sure that our SEN 
provision is suitable to meet changing needs and how we will address any gaps in provision that we 
find in the review. The plan will be published by 31 March 2018. 

 
Public consultation events 

 

Please see dates and venues below and come and have your say! There will professionals from the 
council to talk to and a questionnaire available that you can fill in to give us your views. You will also 
be able to complete the questionnaire on-line if you prefer at http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/highneeds 
 

The Methodist Mission, 3-13 Lord Street, Huddersfield HD1 1QA 
Friday 24 November from 10 – 12noon 

 
Northorpe Hall, 53 Northorpe Lane, Mirfield WF14 0QL 

Thursday 30 November from 12.30 – 2.30pm 
 

Textile Centre, Red Doles Lane, Huddersfield HD2 1YF 
Wednesday 6 December from 7 – 9pm 

 
Al-Hikmah Centre, 28 Track Road, Batley WF17 7AA 

Tuesday 12 December from 7 – 9pm 

Our vision for children and young people with special educational needs and 

disabilities (SEND) is the same for all children and young people – that they achieve 

well in their early years, at school and in college and lead happy and fulfilled lives. 
 

Page 197

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/highneeds
https://stock.adobe.com/uk/stock-photo/group-of-children/86127065


 

Page 198



         APPENDIX D 
 

High Needs Strategic Review 2017-18 - Briefing Paper 
 

All Local Authorities must carry out a high quality collaborative review of their high needs provision 
to evaluate current provision for children and young people in Kirklees with complex Special 
Educational Needs and/or Disability (SEND). 
 
Information gathered during the review will lead to development of a strategic plan which will identify 
gaps in current provision and determine how potential future funding could best be used to improve 
the sustainable specialist provision on offer in Kirklees. 
 

 
 
The review will involve collaborative work with neighbouring authorities and consultation with 
children and young people with SEND, their parent/carers, providers and partners across early 
years, schools and Post 16 settings to co-produce the plan. 
 
We will work with key partners including leaders and governing bodies of LA maintained schools, 
academies, Free Schools, non-maintained and independent special schools and special post 16 
providers, FE Colleges and sixth form colleges in the area, and those attended by young people 
from the area. We will also include providers of relevant early education and any other agency that 
makes special educational provision for children or young people for whom the LA is responsible. 
 
We will take into account current legislation and any changes to government policy when planning 
for this review e.g. Early Years National Funding Formula, The Children and Families Act and the 
ensuing increase in requests for statutory assessment for an EHCP; proposed changes to the 
delivery of home to school transport; the differences in funding pre and post 16, and the guidance to 
fund 650 hours for all at post 16. 

 

The Scope of the Review 
The review will focus on these main areas: 

 The range of SEND data, including recent trends and likely changes in the future e.g. due to 
demographic change 

 The effectiveness of the current pattern of specialist provision in meeting needs, including 
feedback from parents and young people 

 Evidence of the effectiveness of current specialist provision in preparing children and young 
people for adult life, particularly employment and/or higher education, independent living, 
participation in society, being as healthy as possible 

 Involvement of other agencies in specialist provision and how they contribute to its overall 
quality 

 The range of SEND that would generally be met by mainstream providers and the way in 
which these institutions access the specialist training and workforce development they need 

 The range of SEND that would generally be met by specialist providers 

 The range of SEND that would generally be met by highly specialised providers. 
 

Our Vision 
Our ambition for children and young people with  

special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) is the same 

for all children and young people – 

that they achieve well in their early years, 

at school and in college and lead happy and fulfilled lives. 
 

Page 199



 
 
High Needs Strategic Plan 
Our strategic plan must be published by March 31st 2018 and must cover all special education 
provision from Early Years to post 16, including mainstream and special schools.  
 
The plan must show how we will ensure that our SEND provision is suitable to meet changing needs 
and how we will address any gaps in provision identified by the review. It will outline how we will 
allocate resources to deliver this provision and ensure sustainability within future high needs funding 
allocations. 
 
We will show how provision will be made in a way that works for parents and young people and that 
we demonstrate transparency and accountability. 
 

Outcomes 
Information gathered during this review will inform many aspects of service provision and delivery.  
Firstly, it will identify gaps in our current provision for children and young people with complex SEND 
so that we know how well our provision is improving outcomes for children and young people. This 
will help us determine where specialist provision is best needed and how it should be delivered.  
 
The review will result in an effective use of resource in special schools and other specialist settings 
and will encourage more effective collaboration between LAs in delivering SEND services and 
provision.  Partnership working may provide opportunity for pooling resources to develop provision 
which can support a wider area and may be across borders if that is deemed appropriate and better 
value for money. 
 
The High Needs review team has developed an action plan to define tasks and monitor progress, 
with further supporting evidence trails, and will report regularly to the SEND Children’s Strategy 
Group and the Place Planning and Admissions Group.  
 
There will be a series of briefings and consultations between now and December 2017. Updates for 
schools and settings will be delivered through various meetings and networks. Information for 
parent/carers and the public will be promoted through the council’s communication channels and 
specific events.  

 
 
 
 
Mandy Cameron/Martin Wilby 
September 2017 

Page 200



APPENDIX E 
 

 

SUNDAY  MONDAY TUESDAY WEDNESDAY THURSDAY FRIDAY SATURDAY 

SEPT 2017 4 ICG 5 6 7 8 Elected Members 9 

10 11 12 DMT  13 Extended LSLT 14 15 HT packs 16 

17 18 School Re-org 
     Board 

19 SEND CSG 20 21 22 23 

24 25 26 KSSHL / DMT  27 28 29 30 

 

OCT 2017 2 3 Learning &    
   Prog. Board 
   EY SencoNet 

4 5 6 7 

8 9 10 Post 16  
     Special schools 
     PRUs  

11 12 13 14 

15 16 Governors      
     Briefing 

17 SencoNet 18 Specialist    
     provision 
Childminders /  Out 
of school clubs 

19 20 21 

Governors SEN Govs  
School Sencos 

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 

29 30 31                    

 

NOV 2017   1 2 3 4 

5 6 7 8 9 KPH 10 NEXUS 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17 Schools Forum 18 

19 20 KHSH 21 KIAS 22 BJ House / 
Pivot/ 
Employability Sol 

23 24 PUBLIC CONS 25 

26 27 28 KSSH  
     PCAN CONS  

29 30 PUBLIC CONS 1 DEC PCAN CONS 6 DEC PUBLIC CONS 

Parents Parents 12 DEC PUBLIC CONS 

P
age 201



 

P
age 202



APPENDIX E 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consultations promoted through local press and media 

 
BBC Leeds 
BBC Online 
Brighouse Echo 
The Business Desk 
Calendar News 
Dewsbury Press 
Dewsbury Reporter 
Huddersfield Examiner 
Guzelian Photographic Agency 
Holme Valley Review 
Urban Echo 
Inrix Media North 
Telegraph and Argus 
Kirklees Local TV 
LGC news @emap.com 
Little Feet Magazine 
Look North 
Radio Leeds 
Media Office @local.gov.uk 
Yorkshire Post 
Paigaam 
Peak Features  
PI Magazine (Asian Muslim monthly) 
Pulse FM 
Radio Aire 
Real Radio 
S5Observer 
Times Ed 
West Yorkshire PCC 
YEP 
Yorkshire Standard 
YP political reporter 
Kirklees Together Online 
Kirklees Facebook Account 
Kirklees Twitter Account 

Page 203



 
 

Page 204



Come and 
have your say

We want to 
hear from you

We want to 
hear from you

Kirklees Council is looking at the ways we support 
children and young people with special educational 
needs.

Does your child go to a special school? Or have 
specialist support?

We want to hear what you think about these services.

Come and 
have your say

Page 205



How to get involved
1. Complete the online questionnaire

Complete the questionnaire quickly and easily on your computer,  
mobile or tablet at:

www.kirklees.gov.uk/highneeds
The questionnaire is confidential and should take no more  

than 10 minutes to complete. 

2. Come along to a drop-in session
Methodist Mission, Huddersfield HD1 1QA

Friday 24 November   10am - noon 

Northorpe Hall, Mirfield WF14 0QL
Thursday 30 November   12.30pm - 2.30pm 

Textile Centre, Huddersfield HD2 1YF
Wednesday 6 December    7pm - 9pm 

Al Hikmah Centre, Batley WF17 7AA
Tuesday 12 December    7pm - 9pm 

No decisions will be made until the consultation has ended and all 
comments have been considered by councillors.

Page 206



1 
 

APPENDIX F 
Verbatim report of consultation responses 
 
Responses from Kirklees Primary Heads / Kirklees High School Heads 
 

As leaders of your schools, what are the challenges of meeting the needs of all your 
pupils? 

 Resources and staffing; top up funding does not cover the provisions outlined in the 
EHCs; different paperwork and expectations from different authorities; also admission 
numbers of students with EHCs from different authorities to be taken into account when 
places are allocated. 

 INFANTS PHASE: Ongoing issues with children entering reception with significant 
SEND with no consideration from other professionals as to how the child will cope with 
the demands of full time education. Children come into the setting with no support plans 
or involvement from external agencies. School then have to start the process of gaining 
the right support for the children which takes a great deal of time. This often leads to 
situations where children with quite complex needs, who have come through the normal 
schools admissions policies from the LA, are not able to access the right amount of 
support. This leads to a very negative start to their education and school experience and 
can often impact on the smooth transition of a child into their cohort. These children can 
be in a school setting for a considerable period of time before the correct assessments 
can take place and assessments of need are carried out. This time can often impact on 
their progress, achievement and social and emotional development. Ongoing issues on 
the length of time and the difficulties in gaining children EHCP assessments – waiting 
times for referrals for support and guidance. Many children in school with complex 
needs without the support they need to be successful and this then having a negative 
impact on other children’s learning as well as their own. 
JUNIOR PHASE: Responded separately 
SECONDARY PHASE: Ongoing issues with young people starting school in Year 7 with 
clearly complex needs and little in place from the junior school settings; a lack of a 
consistent approach in schools across the LA. Young people arrive with little information 
and no formal assessment routes identified, inclusive of outreach, My Support Plans, 
EHCP assessments, EP support; whilst this is not in all cases, it is very much the norm.  
Students arrive in Year 7 with no identified support and find the already challenging 
transition to secondary school even more difficult. This can, and has led to students 
becoming disengaged and unable to then access the demands of the school 
environment. We then have to start the processes of the documenting issues and 
concerns alongside implementing all relevant support plans to start to track a young 
person’s challenges, further delaying the assessment period. There has been some 
delay in response from SENACT with regards to updated documents (such EHCP / 
students transition to another school / setting) which has caused not only school 
significant challenges in supporting the young person, but equally leads to period of 
instability for the young person.  
Moving students to alternative provision through SENACT has become beyond 
challenging. Whilst as a school we can appreciate that settings may be full, thus not able 
to take any more students, it is no longer manageable from a school perspective when it 
has been made clear through EHCP reviewed that a school can no longer meet a young 
person’s needs. The movement for a young person, with identified complex needs has 
surely to be managed in a prompt and timely fashion, even more so when these cases 
tend to only arise when all other strategies and support plans have severely broken 
down in a school. We have had an ongoing issue with a young person for over 9 months 

Page 207



2 
 

who continues to not be in a suitable provision, but also further disengaging with 
education and causing further distress to the young person and the wider family.  
On a more positive note, from a secondary perspective, we have benefited from a lot of 
support from the outreach teams who have been excellent and worked tirelessly with us 
to support a range of complex additional needs. We have worked with a range of staff 
from the outreach provisions, mainly ASD, HI and SALT services. 

 Funding – less money in our base budget; amount of paperwork and time required for 
inclusion leaders; amount of time to get support – paperwork / panels; ICAFs for SEMH 
without support and as a way to ‘get around’ exclusions / behaviour needs; dealing with 
increased needs, more diverse needs within a mainstream. 

 Very high levels of pupils with SEND (double national) - finding the funding and suitable 
personnel to provide the necessary levels of support; high mobility – parents of pupils 
with SEND actively choosing to send pupils to Hillside putting further pressure on a very 
overstretched system; support available for pupils with SEND (and SEND with 
behaviour) is very limited – sometimes non-existent; outreach support very limited; 
MSPs very onerous and time consuming; EHC requests turned down (or lost) on very 
unreasonable grounds e.g. request a SPR for a pupil with no behaviour issues – this 
really delays support that a child and school deserves. 

 Extensive – far too lengthy paperwork; funding; specialist provision; expertise and 
resources of PVI sector – not addressing significant needs of SEND children; impact of 
children with significant needs on education of other children. 

 The main challenge is the lack of resources and expertise of staff. Admitting children 
with significant needs to a mainstream school without EHC or funding puts a 
tremendous strain on resources and there are not enough ETAs top support 1:1 without 
disadvantaging the other 29 children in class. 
Outreach support is valuable, but often they only see a snap shot of the behaviours that 
school have to deal with on a daily (sometimes hourly) basis. 
Sometimes the advice given by EPs or other agencies is not possible or realistic in a 
mainstream school which is very short of space (separate work stations, break out 
space, chill out or sensory rooms). 
Another challenge is the expectations of the curriculum, children with SEN in 
mainstream provision need a highly personalised curriculum which is often based more 
on life skills than the year group curriculum. However, they are still counted on the data 
which the school is judged against. 
As a school we are complimented on the provision for SEN pupils and as such we are 
becoming the school of choice for families of children with significant needs. This 
obviously impacts on our budget as we have to provide element one expenditure before 
we can apply for funding, which even at Band A does not cover the salary of an ETA. 

 The volume of resources/specialist skills to meet the needs of individual children is too 
great and the amount of specialist support for advice is severely limited.  We have used 
significant portions of the school budget to supplement the SEND budget allocation 
which is simply not reflective of needs presented and provision expected by the LA and 
parents. 

 The funding does not always match the level of support needed by the child.  I don’t 
always feel satisfied that the child is getting enough support – because of funding for 
adults. 

 Not got adequate resources/space for the wide needs of all the pupils.  Funding not 
enough to support the pupils and their needs.  Staff not got the relevant expertise.  
MASSIVE increase in school being named on EHCP. 

 Children with increasing significant needs without adequate funding and the length of 
time it takes to get to EHCP in order to provide support required.  Staff unable to meet 

Page 208



3 
 

the needs of all children in their class due to disruptive nature of some pupils with 
SEND.  Increasing number of pupils with SEMH difficulties. 

 Extreme needs children in mainstream take resources from the provision for other 
children.  Child’s needs v’s safety/wellbeing for staff.  Practical – space/time to provide 
what is needed.  Specialist help available when needed.  However, problems with 
contradicting advice cause’s loss of confidence. 

 Poor/slow access to external service, particularly to access support for children with 
behaviour, social and emotional concerns.  Limited funding – high cost of providing full 
time support required for some children with EHCPs compared to top up funding 
received. 

 Finance – never enough money to provide for all needs without taking away from non-
SEN children.  Access to timely, appropriate support for children. 

 We are a RP school with 5 places – apparently only 2 places taken by RP children but 
there are several children we have that should be RP and require some RP provision but 
they are not in a RP place – staffing. 

 There are a growing number of children with complex and significant needs entering 
school without the support they need.  We are constantly juggling resources, particularly 
staffing to try and support these children.  This means that the rest of the children, who 
need lower level support miss out. 

 The challenge is being able to support all pupils with SEND with ever decreasing 
budgets. The notional SEN budget is just that ‘notional’ and means that resources are 
very thinly spread. Very often staff are finding that the ever-increasing demands of the 
curriculum are making it even more challenging to support pupils with high needs. It 
becomes a difficult balancing act of trying to support the cognitive and learning needs of 
pupils (improving accessing to the curriculum) and meet additional crucial needs; social, 
emotional and physical. Often a high proportion of a SENDCOs time is spent on 
paperwork in order to achieve appropriate outcomes and there is little time to spend 
practically supporting colleagues within the classroom or to release staff to up-skill them 
or to support pupils with particular needs. An additional challenge is ensuring that all 
staff have access to high quality, effective training specific to pupils with high needs. 

 It is very difficult to plan budgets using the notional £6000 when you do not know how 
many children will be arriving in your setting with SEND in September. Also, some needs 
arise mid-way through the year when budgets have already been set. 

 High nos of pupils with significant SEB difficulties that require intensive level of adult 
support to keep them safe and ensure they make academic progress. The strain on 
resources is so severe that not all pupil needs can be met with current funding; lack of 
additional time / support / funding to allocate to specific interventions; number of different 
needs across academy and within each class. 

What would you like to see changed to improve outcomes for children with SEND?  

 The administration and ownership of provisions to be taken on by social care and health. 
It seems that education often does the vast majority of it. 

 As above, a clearer picture of needs when students enter education or transition through 
to the next phase; a more consistent approach with school. A faster service for young 
people who are not managing and coping with the demands of mainstream education to 
a more suitable and appropriate setting. Faster responses with amended EHCPs and 
documentation. 

 Greater consistency across sectors (especially EHCPs written by PVIs); an 
understanding that sometimes SEND needs appear very quickly and by requiring certain 
number of reviews we are actually ‘harming’ the child, the family and the school. 

 Attainment of SEND not to be compared to all children nationally. It is an unfair 
comparator and has a very negative affect on school figures with high levels of SEND; 

Page 209



4 
 

more available support / more quickly available for pupils with SEND and social and 
emotional needs resulting in behaviour issues – Do we have the correct provision??; 
Provision for pupils with social and emotional needs; Long term suitable primary / 
secondary provision for children with severe behaviour problems (social and emotional 
needs) – this is causing a backlog in the system so PPRS is overstretched and therefore 
children with lower level / escalating needs are left for schools to manage without the 
necessary support; pupils with SEND for learning / cognition only (not behavioural) 
appear to have lower priority for EHC / top up funding which is an unfair reflection of 
their learning needs. Their needs are less likely to be met – potentially becoming 
behaviour needs in the future. 

 Training for PVI sector – more children in PVI than school nurseries. Number of children 
(SEND) entering reception classes without any significant early help / intervention rising; 
funding issues as schools having to provide 1:1 support (including lunch times) with only 
notional £6000 – schools tighter budgets; need for specialist places has to be addressed 
– frustrated parents and infant schools ‘holding’ children until place available. 

 The constantly changing paperwork of MSPs and EHCP is often repetitive (cut and 
pasted on to 3 documents is onerous and time consuming). The process of awarding 
EHC plans is complex and there does not seem to be set criteria. School’s opinions are 
not always taken in to account. A snap shot observation by an EP appears to hold more 
value than that of a class teacher or ETA who works with the child daily and knows his / 
her needs. 

 Better targeted funding.  Increase in specialist advice/provision.  A more realistic 
expectation of what can be met in a mainstream school without compromising meeting 
the needs of pupils who do not have SEND.  More realistic measures of celebrating 
pupil success not restricted to academic subjects. 

 Funding better matched to schools whole budget.  When budgets are tight the funding 
needed to meet the needs of SEND pupil’s impacts on the education on non-SEND 
pupils. 

 Parents to visit the school before naming on EHCP to see if suitable.  LA to visit school 
to look at numbers to see if got capacity before signposting parents our way. 

 More support for pre-school providers to begin ‘My Support Plans’ and have them in 
place for when children with additional needs begin school.  Funding from the 
outset/support for children with SEND if they have had it in pre-school provision.  Above 
would help if in place as schools would not have to start all over again from scratch 
collecting evidence etc. 

 More help from LA with child and their needs.  More support from LA for Head Teachers 
trying their best to keep children in mainstream school e.g. guidelines/rules around legal 
requirements are often contradictory (exclusion, reduced timetable).  Advice tends to be 
‘woolly’ lots of Head Teachers discretion.  We need a system that helps us use that 
discretion when we are well-informed to do so please! 

 Swift access to support – particularly CHEWS, CAMHS and PRU.  Longer timeframe for 
support – 6 – 8 weeks not long enough.  Pro-active support – being directly involved 
with supporting children rather than distance advice.  Increased funding to enable needs 
to be met without impacting on needs of other children.  Recognition of the impact on 
the Head Teacher whilst balancing meeting high SEN needs with meeting needs of 
whole school and ensuring staff well-being is being monitored. 

 Increase funding to support notional budgets.  We have the skills to make a difference 
but our skilled staff are spread too thinly. 

 1:1 or 2:1 pupils with significant physical needs is a drain when number of pupils with an 
EHCP band it is high but budgets can’t stretch any further.  A reasonable review of the 
realistic staffing and budget implications. 

Page 210



5 
 

 Earlier identification of need; often no paperwork or support until children enter school.  
More realistic expectations of what mainstream schools can provide without 
compromising needs of other children and/or teachers well-being.  Better funding within 
EHC Plans to match actual costs.  CAMHS and CHEWS support to be more readily and 
speedily accessible – there are too many children with emotional/mental health needs 
without timely support. 

 More joined up thinking regarding the identification of training and professional 
development for those working with pupils with High Needs, specifically teaching 
assistants. Schools to work more closely to develop professional learning opportunities 
and training packages that are closely matched to their needs (as a group of schools). 

 Specialist provision outreach for children with cognition and learning needs / learning 
disabilities beyond Early Years; practical support for behaviour (inclusion workers to 
come in and support in schools) from PRS, not just advice; consistent approach to 
assessment for pupils with SEND with advice and support from Kirklees. 

 Funding that covers the full school day for those that need support at lunchtime; 
realisation that whilst some schools have a small number of pupils with SEND, some 
schools have high numbers; the 6K school budget use per child is not viable for high 
numbers of pupils with SEN; more specialist provision so that pupils can be allocated 
the right setting for them and so they have to ‘make-do’ with mainstream; EP support 
that is not just available for pupils at risk of exclusion / LAC. 

Any further comments 

 “Emergency help” for when a child joins your school and they have significant need 
which impacts on the whole school; support for EYFS with complex SEMH. 

 Recently our SENCO uploaded information to SENACT via secure system for panel to 
consider – a letter was sent to parents and ourselves saying the panel had rejected our 
application because the school had provided NO supporting evidence. We have 
reported this and been told it was because of changeover from one system to another 
so hopefully will not happen again but very disconcerted and upset that a parent has 
been led to believe we did not fulfil statutory obligations almost for a child with SEN. 

 The impact on staff and children of having a child with significant needs in their class is 
not always recognized. We have a child in Reception and a child in Year One who both 
have violent screaming ‘meltdowns’ which often leave other pupils distressed. 

 All schools try their best yet it never seems to be enough.  As an inclusive school we try 
our best for all pupils yet I feel we are deemed to be ‘failing’ some children who despite 
our best efforts, we have not been able to support. 

 Perhaps we could employ people at LA level that could be allocated to schools so that 
we could have high quality support on a temporary contract with no long term 
employment commitments for schools. 

 More timely outside agency support for children with significant SEN, currently we are 
left waiting too long for advice, equipment and training.  CAHMS support is still taking 
too long despite restructuring.  Too often sent back and forth between CHEWS and 
CAHMS, particularly if a ‘complex’ child.  Better support needed from health in terms of 
attending meetings and giving advice – this is often where unmet needs occur. 

 Mainstream schools cannot bear burden of funding RP or high level funding if funding 
removed.  The impact on all children will be educationally and as a safeguarding 
concern. 
It would help to have more specific and supportive concrete advice from ED Psych’s.  
Seriously lacking in health advice and support for care plans; staff in school do not have 
the expertise to inform these adequately.  
The outreach support from EY SEN is vital in supporting pre-school settings to make 
EHCP applications – it is so much better for the children if their needs have been 

Page 211



6 
 

thoroughly assessment and outlined in an EHCP before they start school so that schools 
can prepare, train staff, recruit staff and budget effectively to meet needs. 

 

 
Responses from SEN Co-ordinators 

 
Are the needs for children with SEND generally identified before they come to you 
school? 

 No x 9  

 No, transition from pre-school is good but often SEND isn’t identified and often parents 
may not be aware of differences with their child 

 No generally, some are. 

 No – unless transferred from Yr2 – Yr 6 setting, some from PVI but only initial i.e. IEP / 
SALT ref. 

 Not always as they transfer from different settings within the area; some have identified 
and liaised with school. 

 Not consistently. 

 Yes, when coming from our infants school. Not often when coming from other schools / 
authorities. 

 It varies from child to child. Some we have plenty of information, others less so. In 
addition, children with significant SEN needs can be allocated to us with extremely short 
lead in times which makes staff appointment difficult. 

 No – we are an I & N school therefore are often the first setting children have come to. 
These children often have no MSP or EHC in place regardless of multi-agency 
involvement. 

 Some are, 2 children recently have been identified by Portage and health visitors and 
have been on a TAF due to their needs – others in nursery we don’t know; In Reception 
PVIs usually pass on info. 

 Yes x 3 (1 special school) 

 No, generally we get very little information from feeder settings. Though one playgroup 
does work closely with us. 

 Children with more complex SEND are generally identified. 

 No, not from previous experience; Sept 17 – first identification of a child with complex 
needs. 

 Not always, much improved this year, children came into school with EHCPs in place in 
time to allow us to recruit, meaning we had appropriate support in place from Sept. EY 
SEN support for pre-school settings has been instrumental in ensuring this happened. 

 Sometimes. Referring schools provide varied information. Some Provide SEND via SPR 
form (with and without supporting evidence). My Support Plan / EHCP usually sent with 
referral. Quality varies. 

 Yes, but this is dependent on which nursery they come to us from. 

 Sometimes. Some primary feeder schools provide lots of information. Sometimes we get 
information that the student has SEND but no information further than this and 
sometimes we get nothing at all. Very inconsistent. 

 Some children. We had a difficult year last year with 4 children joining our reception – 3 
of whom needed EHCPs. Need was identified but nothing in place. 

 Yes – two incidents of pupils arriving with an EHCP (or request) in place. 

 No – we are a primary school so often SEND children are identified by ourselves, 
however if we have children join us there is no paperwork often from other authorities. 

 No, they are sometimes identified as having needs but do not come with paperwork in 
place such as MSP or EHCPs. They are often recommended but not completed. 

Page 212



7 
 

 No – parents sometimes voice concerns, I have had to go to PVIs and write MSPs with 
them, so some paperwork is in place. I regularly have to phone PVIs / playgroups in 
September and ask if they noticed…or had concerns. Only one place has ever sent 
paperwork of concerns. 

 For us very rarely, some children have been identified. 

 Not always. Sometimes identified / recognised on a surface level but often we see 
students managed in primary internally but then when transfer to us in Y7 this creates 
problems as there is a gap in provision until we can identify officially. When identified 
then yes it has huge impact on our transition arrangements which is recognised also by 
parents. 

 Mostly yes – 75% - 50%. 

 Not always – PVI often don’t identify children as having SEND. 

 Not always. SEND seems to differ in some schools. 

 On the most yes, although there are pockets of need especially SEMH that are not 
always identified and plans / reviews are not always current. 

 Mostly – I’m a secondary school SENDCO. 

 For some but not all as for the very young children, needs have not been identified. 

 Yes. We have home visits and visits to feeder nurseries. In the past we have 
experienced delays in EHCPs due to nurseries lack of understanding of review process 
(MSP reviews and timescales). 

 No. Most of our children come from home and not PVI placements and parents have not 
seen a SEND need. Some come with e.g. medical and speech needs known. 

 Usually come up with EHCPs with being a Junior School, however, no children ever 
come up with MSPs already in place. 

 Not always – this differs from setting to setting 

 Children with very significant SEND or complex needs are usually identified before they 
come into Reception. However, there are children who don’t always present especially 
with cognition and learning difficulties that don’t always present until KS1. 

 Not always 

 As a Junior School, yes around 70% have been identified at Infants. Some needs / gaps 
increase as children go through Juniors and get older. 

 If the needs are profound then yes, we are made aware and very occasionally the child 
might have an MSP. However, if needs are identified then it is only brought to us via 
conversation. Often no referrals etc. 

 This often depends on the level of need and previous setting the children come from. On 
most occasions, high level of need is identified. 

 We have a playgroup attached to school and our own Nursery so on the whole, children 
with SEND are identified early. 

 The majority are often picked up in previous settings – if not they are identified in our 
nursery setting. 

 No. It appears that SEND is not always identified effectively by Health Visitors / PVIs. 
Health Visitor 2 year check appears to be a paper questionnaire done with parents and 
often the child’s skills are not directly addressed or even seen, which leads to additional 
needs being missed. PVIs seem unwilling to write My Support Plans. 

 Good links with local PVIs enable SEND needs to be identified and strategies put in 
place prior to transition.  

 Most are, but because out children come from a variety of PVIs and pre-schools, there 
are some surprises! Also, the My Support Plans from these providers have been of a 
varying quality. 

 No, not always – some children entering Reception with MSPs so there is a delay in 
applying for EHC assessment (and funding associated). 

Page 213



8 
 

 Complex needs and diagnosed children are but SEMH generally not (in particular); 
SALT issues often not identified unless complex. 

 Historically no – the SENCO was off long term in the feeder infants and the deputy 
(acting) was trying to keep things going. We had about 3 years of children arriving at 
Juniors with unmet needs. Now we are merged and a SENCO is appointed. 

 About half of children identified before school. 

 Not very often. Although slightly improved this year. 

 No – attend nursery with no identified need. 

 Some identified but no steps taken to address. 

 Majority of students come with EHCP plans however we have 1 to 4 each year that have 
not been identified clearly. 

 Mostly children who come in from PVI sector are beginning to be identified sooner, 
however, work still needs to be done in how the EYSEN support continues and what 
school can expect. 

 In the main, yes, by our closest PVIs but some PVIs may identify at the point of 
transition during our transition meetings with them – in these cases children have no 
external agency involvement. 

 Yes and no – depends which setting pupils come from. Some settings – not equipped to 
identify early enough – is this a ‘knowledge’ issue?? 

 At early years – dependent on pre-school setting; In-school transfers – mostly. 

 When from PVIs yes, but still not informed us early enough. We find it difficult to get info 
from health when a child has been at home and we are the first setting in Reception. 

 Not always – we have children arrive in Nursery and Reception with no SEN history but 
very obvious needs such as ASD, SPLCD. Higher up school pupils transfer to us with 
little paperwork and no transition meetings with previous school. 

 Rarely – I have found that there are many unidentified needs from primary schools. 

 Students with more complex needs are identified by primary schools (usually those with 
an EHCP). Primary schools seem to be less forthcoming with information regarding 
other students. 

 Generally, but not from some external local settings. 

 School takes preschool 2+ pupils and has a nursery, so often high needs are identified 
within placement. Most families of pupils with high needs take advantage of pre-school 
provision. EY Senco works with families before entry if known to have high needs. 

 Not for early years; sometimes for children joining the school midway through. Often 
these children do have SEN or SEMH needs. 

 Only small %. 

 No – outreach services are brought in too late / needs to be much earlier and then they 
should then see them through transition to mainstream school. 

 Yes – if they have been accessing a pre-school setting. 

 To a certain extent – needs mostly identified, however action taken to address needs 
and follow processes not always in place. 

 As a nursery teacher we often get children with significant needs that have “slipped 
through the net”. Parents who have missed appointments, health professionals who 
have not re-visited families. Children coming from private providers often have no SEN 
paperwork in place although present with a high level of need. 

 Generally, but not always. Sometimes information from feeder primaries is quite scant. 
Approx 1-4 students with SEND are not identified each year. 

 We are a complex needs school (Southgate). All our pupils have an EHCP and their 
SEND needs are outlined within the plan, through liaison with previous schools and 
discussions with parents. 

Page 214



9 
 

 Yes, as a specialist provision we are aware of general need although do not always 
have a full picture. 

If yes, how has this affected your transition arrangements? 

 More meetings with settings (nurseries etc); transition visits. 

 When children have joined us from ICAN nursery or from specialist provision we have 
been able to support their needs much more effectively and quickly – parents much 
happier. 

 Where identified, key school staff have met with professionals to discuss the children’s 
needs and how best to move forward; links with transferring schools are also made. 

 We have arranged to visit settings and meet with staff, children, carry out observations, 
discuss current interventions, support in place etc; attended My Support Plan review 
meetings, liaised with outside agencies (S&L). 

 Identified children from the infants have additional visits to school; meet with SENCOs at 
infants. 

 If known, transition arrangements are extended and key members of staff and new 
children and parents have a longer time to establish themselves in school. 

 Transition arrangements arte extended to support pupils moving into mainstream school 
and support in terms of staffing and provision and budgeted for using the notional / 
school budget. 

 We can be prepared early and allocate staff, time, resources. 

 We have a very robust system for transition in place which parental feedback shows is 
effective and valued. 

 Where we know of children we have additional visits – staff and parents have visited 
school. 

 A child with complex SEND was given a place for Sept very late in the summer term and 
this has made staffing difficult. 

 Other issues relating to the family has impacted on transition but initially an effective 
transition plan was in place. 

 Much earlier communication with settings meant improved transition / information 
sharing. 

 It allows me to better judge which SEN group to place pupils. The better the information 
provided (and honest) the easier it makes transition arrangements. 

 If we know about need and child has MSP or EHCP we are able to put a transition plan 
in place however, we do find it hard when a pupil’s funding has been given to previous 
setting. 

 We are able to provide an additional transition day for those who would benefit. 

 1 PVI rang us as a school in May to arrange some visits into school. MSP was very poor 
quality and all work needed to be started again. 

 Spring term transition meeting very useful; nursery setting and school have jointly 
completed MSPs / EHC requests. 

 Transition can be difficult – for us it is when children move on to high school – some 
schools don’t make contact until children start in the September, even when we have 
tried to arrange extra transition. 

 Makes it a difficult start for both the children and parents to make the transition. 

 Much harder – accepting children who should have had an EHCP – 2 children have 
received EHCPs in our nursery in the last 2 years with no previous paperwork. 

 When yes, smoother transition – plans in place ready to implement / edit. 

 Negatively – funding, staffing, interventions not in place at start of high school; Positively 
– enhanced transition plans, extra visits, attendance at annual reviews, outside agencies 
set up. 

 Good relationships with PVI and child minders. 

Page 215



10 
 

 Transition is smooth, support in place ready for child to move; transition meetings held. 

 For those that have identified SEND, transition meetings are arranged and observations 
of the children are carried out. 

 When identified, smooth transition is established; when not, difficulties with children 
settling in. 

 Yes – we now do additional transition visits - starting as early as the end of Year 5 – we 
are also looking at early parent consultations meetings. 

 I liaise with junior school SENDCOs – additional visits. 

 We are able to bespoke our transition to meet individual needs working closely with the 
child, parents and school transferring from. 

 Transition from Early Years settings into Reception is very effective for all children. For 
those with identified needs we offer additional opportunities. 

 Better staff understanding of how to support the child and adapt provision. Extra 
interventions required to support speech and language needs. 

 Not impacted on transition. We don’t get speech and language reports and for our Early 
Years children coming straight into reception we often get children who we identify with 
SEND needs but previous setting has not. 

 Children on SEN support don’t settle in as well. 

 Often pupils are not well prepared for transition and school has to identify needs and call 
the pre-school settings to find out what was done before. 

 Provision can be set up more easily and we can address needs quickly and effectively. 

 We have very close transition and from May became a through school so we’re using a 
shared drive on computer for all documents and SENCOs meet at least twice a week. 

 When applicable, then strategies / staff can be discussed in readiness to meet need. 

 This provides with further detailed information to enable an appropriate level of 
transition. Often nurseries will contact us earlier to discuss a child with significant needs. 

 We work closely with playgroup etc. to aid transition. 

 If yes, smooth transition, effective support; if no, this slows the whole process down and 
it can take until the end of Year 2 to get an EHC plan in place (the children leave us in 
Year 2). 

 We have had to change staff around in school to support these children. 

 Paperwork not filled in; funding not in place; children vulnerable to the new environment; 
parents out of the loop. 

 Meetings held with pre-school providers prior to transition. Difficulties at present as pre-
school currently does not have strong relationship with school. 

 We have allocated support for 2 of the children to meet the notional SEN budget of 
£6000. 

 We have a robust transition procedure in place already and sometimes this is when we 
identify needs ourselves. 

 For those we are aware of we have two extra transition days on top of the common 
transition day. We also arrange school visits to primary setting. 

 It is improving. 

 We have been invited to MSP review meetings giving opportunity for knowledge of 
needs to be gained, relationships with parents to be developed and enhanced transition 
arrangements to be put in place. 

 More visiting to settings prior to pupils starting school – by class teacher / SENCO; 
enhanced transition for pupils with identified needs coming into school. 

 Additional transition meeting; info sharing with previous school / setting; support 
identified for entry; extended transition. 

 It hasn’t because we were informed too late (July for a September start in school). 

Page 216



11 
 

 When they are identified we make early contact with previous setting and parents to 
create a transition plan; additional visits, transition booklets and early meetings after 
they have started at the school. 

 Transition can be tailored to suit the needs of students; data collection sheets are often 
returned suggesting no SEND but contact with parents differs. 

 Transition plans usually in place; liaison with agencies involved with identified children 
are encouraged. 

 If known needs are identified, transition is carefully planned to ensure provision has 
capacity. EY Senco involved in seeking funding if 1:1 support is needed for safety. 

 Headteacher meets and discusses new starters with parents when they join midway 
through. EY lead and family support worker meet parents of children joining Early Years. 

 We have had one child but Mum changed her mind of school at the last minute so 
transition was very rushed.  

 Impacted on links with families, visits, meetings with professionals for that small 
percentage. Good transition planned if able to make links with pre-school setting; 
meetings can be arranged to identify current provision and reflect this in school (where 
possible); different funding an issue. 

 Increasingly visiting PVI sector to support with identifying needs and SEN processes 
earlier and earlier in the year prior to transition, impacting on role within school and work 
load. 

 If no, parents need a lot of support. Staff need to spend vast amounts of time trying to 
find out information about children to provide them with that they need. The two year old 
check sometimes does not pick up on children needs. 

 Extra transition days are put on for students with additional needs. In the past, did 
summer schools but funding stopped. 

 We offer an extended transition programme which enable school to identify any 
additional concerns. We also work closely with parents at this early stage to gain a 
picture of their vision for the child. 

 Transition generally effective. Ranging from home visits in EY, dual placements for 
Primary and transition days/weeks for Secondary/Sixth Form. 

Which needs are you able to meet? 

 Delayed academic achievement; SEMH – through in class strategies and nurture 
activities 

 Often we are able to meet needs but some children require one-to-one support – if this 
is not in place before entering the setting it puts strains on staffing and can affect the 
progress of other children. 

 SEMH; academic / AN / low attainers; low level behaviour; supporting families  

 We are expected to meet all needs as per SEN CoP. Therefore we have to make 
immediate adjustments to do so. 

 We identify S & L needs and ensure that they start interventions at the start of term 
before waiting for S & L input. 

 Cognition and learning; communication and interaction; social and emotional – most; 
sensory and physical – most. 

 We attempt to meet the needs of any child who wishes to come to our school. 

 We are able to meet general cognition and learning as well as communication and 
language needs with the training / resources the school have embedded in our 
provision. 

 We can continue MSPs and ANPs; we can allocate some staff time; can usually meet 
cognition and learning  and communication but social and emotional difficult;  

 The needs of students with EHCPs are generally well met. The needs of children with 
specific needs / disabilities. 

Page 217



12 
 

 Moderate learning difficulties 

 We work hard towards meeting need from school budget. 

 Most with enough time, information and funding; very complex ASD needs harder to 
meet. 

 SEMH; SpLD; Behaviour (within limits – dangerous behaviour is not manageable); 
cognition and learning. 

 SLCN; SpLD; Some VI; Some HI 

 Children whom have EHCPs having funding to help them meet their targets. Children 
without struggle as the SEN notional budget is unrealistic from school’s budget. 

 All four areas of need. We currently have physically disabled pupils (cerebral palsy), 
Down’s syndrome, ASD, as well as many pupils with SLCN / cognition needs.  

 Cognitive and Learning; some social and emotional; SLCN 

 We strive to meet needs of all children and currently address needs such as Autism, 
hearing impairments, ADHD, cognition and learning, speech and language, social and 
emotional, pastoral bereavement… 

 Endeavour to meet most needs. 

 Cognition and Learning; Speech and Language 

 We meet a wide range of SEN needs currently have 65 EHCPs including many complex 
needs. 

 We meet all needs to the extent of the funding available. This does not always ensure 
the progress we would like or could achieve with greater funding. 

 Generally we try to meet all needs to the best of our ability / resources etc. 

 We can meet most needs but are looking at how we can support young people and 
families with SEMH needs. 

 Autism and associated needs. 

 SALT, Cognition and Learning, Physical. 

 Most with referrals and support from external agencies. 

 Speech and language and communication needs; health and medical; SEMH (with 
occasional external support); behaviour (when we have the staff). 

 All areas but SEMH. 

 The pupils needs in the 4 main SLCN, SEMH, PI, C & L 

 Most learning needs but a huge budgetary impact as this often needs 1:1 teaching 
assistant input. Some SEMH needs – but one learning mentor for nearly 500 children. 

 We can meet all with referrals and support from agencies. 

 All – we work hard to meet needs of all children but usually find by the end of Yr 2 
children can move to specialist provision. 

 We aim to meet most needs, with the support of external agencies. We tend to find that 
we can support sensory (HI / VI) needs and behavioural / SEMH needs very well. 

 Majority of needs can be met. 

 We are able to support most areas of SEND in school. We currently have 4 children with 
an EHC and 3 further children with an MSP. 

 Slight to moderate needs that can be catered for inclusively alongside peers; children 
with physical difficulties and visual impairments.  

 All with appropriate funding (where adult support is needed). 

 Most needs as best as possible with some outside influences and support, however, this 
is proving harder each year with more and more children being identified. 

 VI, HI, SCLN, Cognitive and Learning 

 Motor skills; cognitive and learning to a degree 

 C & L, SLCN, SEMH 

Page 218



13 
 

 With budget cuts the way they are – meeting needs generally is tricky in school; lower 
level needs e.g. SALT 

 (But constrained due to funding) Cognition and Learning; communication (e.g. sign 
language / Makaton / BSL); Autism – if get support from Outreach Team. 

 SEMH needs; cognition and learning. 

 Educational needs 

 Communication and interaction; moderate learning difficulties; ASD. 

 Speech and language; SEMH 

 Most needs are able to be met for physical disabilities. 

 Cognition and learning in school however, struggling to know which external agencies to 
call upon. 

 SLCN and C&I; SEMH; C & L; VI, HI 

 Beginning to be knowledgeable about profile of Down Syndrome support. 

 SEMHD; cognition and learning; less complex hearing difficulties; attachment / nurture. 

 Cognitive; physical; social; emotional; communication; speech. 

 With the appropriate funding and specialist support – ASD, Downs Syndrome, SPLCD, 
SEMH, EAL, PI, VI, HI – unless very high level which results in the child not being 
inclusive within the classroom. 

 SEMH, C & L, C & I, Sensory and some physical (we have many stairs!). 

 Portage and SALT as links are good with these agencies and effective provision can be 
made. It helps when MSPs are started. 

 Most mobility / severely visually impaired ASD as 1:1 support and minor adaption to 
where pupil is receiving education. 

 We are a mainstream provision and strive to meet all needs however this can be 
difficult. We are also in special measures so the school is focusing on all round 
development. Inclusion has generally come out positively from OFSTED and HMI. 

 SALT, Cognition and Learning, Physical. 

 As many as poss; communication and language; ASD 

 All 

 Able to meet needs better where good transition is in place. Still difficult to access 
additional support in school – other professions to recognise complexity of need; 
different funding strand in pre-school – school can’t access. 

 Use our best endeavours to meet all. However nature of the building impacts on ability 
to meet some physical needs. Size of cohort / NOR impacts on ability to meet needs of 
children / parents who want less busy environments. Other than that, we have 
experience in meeting C&L, SLCN and Sensory needs. 

 As a school we try and meet needs with supporting agencies. Sensory service give very 
good input as do physio and occupational health. 

 Cognition and learning; physical impairment, hearing impairment. 

 We pride ourselves on having a nurturing, responsive, flexible approach which tries to 
meet the needs of each child that comes to us. 

 PMLD; MSI; general learning delay, most medical needs. 

Which needs are you not able to meet? 

 Some SEMH cases, where we have used all of our strategies but little or no impact has 
been seen. 

 Some behavioural needs; extreme non-compliance; autistic spectrum needs 

 Struggling with speech and language support; dyslexia. 

 When very high needs come in requiring immediate support (1:1) and we haven’t had 
time to organised internally / recruit externally. 

Page 219



14 
 

 S & L have promised input / resources and then not made them available for start of 
summer term; SEMH is becoming more of an issue, presenting more behaviour 
difficulties (particularly Reception boys). 

 No nurture room or provision; no sensory room. 

 Any needs which result in provision outside of the classroom as we have no additional 
space. In addition, budget restraints can cause difficulties when more staff than in the 
classrooms are needed to deal with challenging behaviour. 

 High level behavioural needs; We attempt to meet the needs of all pupils however, 
budget, space and staffing can impact significantly on our capacity. 

 We cannot suddenly find extra staff hours for children with additional needs out of our 
notional budget for children with extreme needs without an EHC 

 Students without an EHCP who have a high level of need. 

 We struggle to get agencies together to inform planning on MSPs. Managing all the 
suggestions that outside agencies recommend as we often need to purchase resources, 
reorganised support. 

 Struggling with children with high level SEMH needs as this can impact whole class 
teaching. This is very wearing for staff / experiencing a lot of staff illness at the moment. 

 Physical – space and resources are limited. 

 Very appreciative of Portex support, which is greatly needed. 

 Very complex ASD e.g. children who are pre-verbal, no social interaction, no awareness 
of danger. 

 PMLD; VI; HI; some physical; acute SEMH 

 Dependent on child’s needs but high needs global development delay or significant 
ASD. 

 Complex SEMH 

 We have 2 severely ASD children at the moment both of whom ASD outreach are 
involved with. Last year one was turned down for specialist school based on EP advice 
– we felt very unsupported by SENACT. He is now struggling in Y3 and very vulnerable. 

 One case (2016) of profound / multiple needs that speech therapy / Portage deemed 
unsuitable for mainstream (2:1 care needed). 

 SEMH – we are having an increasing number of children who have emotional and 
mental health issues, even highlighted early, it is not too late for some families which 
leads to difficult situations in school. 

 No experience of difficulty as of yet but I imagine physical needs such as visual 
impairments, wheelchair bound. 

 Some physical needs; some visual impairment; nurture group provision. 

 Severe disability – access. 

 Complex SEN needs where we don’t have access to the resources detailed in the 
EHCP. Cases where we have expressed that we are unable to meet need but student is 
with us (usually complex SEMHD needs). 

 In particular the needs of complex SEMH children with challenging behaviour is an area 
of concern as the PPRS is extremely overstretched and unable to provide timely 
support. 

 Some sensory / physical due to lack of space in school. No shared areas / break out 
space.  

 Needs that require building work / adaptations as we are already tight for space.  

 VI  

 Although we can provide support in an educational setting it is often the larger picture 
i.e. information from outside agencies and who to contact for help. 

 Physical 

Page 220



15 
 

 ASC, ASD (severe) 

 Children with major physical disabilities would have difficulty moving throughout the 
school due to steps and levels. Access would be through external doors; We have no 
room for ‘nurture’ for children with complex SEMH needs. 

 We can meet all except don’t get the funding to do so! 

 SEMH 

 The family support needs / parenting are harder to meet. 

 HI – need more support. 

 Additional SEMH needs where a mental health professional needs to counsel a child; 
SALT needs where it’s a medical need. 

 The problem often lies when children come from the PVI. Some settings require more 
support with early identification and the associated paperwork. 

 We tried to meet the needs – sometimes it’s a case are we the best place for the child. 

 The area we find most challenging to support is Cognition and learning. We find that 
many of our pupils are affected by Global Developmental Delay, often also affected (or 
caused ) by genetic disorders (GDD). Learning / Global Developmental Delay / 
Cognition / Genetic disorders we find more challenging to support. Many of our pupils go 
from us to Ravenshall Special School. 

 However, physical layout of building means physical disabilities could be hard to meet. 
Also size of school / staffing can have impact on meetings needs of SEMHD children. 

 Severe autistic children that need smaller class sizes and less engaging classrooms. 

 More support from outside agencies that is easily accessible. 

 Violent and consistent SEMH issues where the child is at risk of exclusion; children who 
are within a very difficult home life where parents don’t see the issues are at home and 
so won’t engage. 

 Physical disabilities / wheelchairs etc. – no disabled toilet / changing facilities etc. 

 VI; more complex cognitive and learning; SEMH. 

 Physical disability has proven a great challenge due to building / access. 

 The 6k which is in budget for all children with SEN – isn’t ring-fenced. Every meeting / 
outreach worker I speak with remind me unhelpfully of this budget. Lots of parents and 
outside agencies expect 1:1 for a child which even with the 6k and full top up funding 
isn’t affordable. Higher need therefore Autism – low functioning, Downs – low 
functioning incredibly difficult to provide right level of support for. 

 SEMH – difficult to meet needs as not much in–house expertise. These children often 
take up a lot of time that is disproportionate. 

 Disability needs – school building doesn’t lend itself to be physical disability accessible. 

 Physical disability which impacts significantly on mobility as we have KS2 upstairs and 
cannot have a lift fitted. 

 Complex leaning difficulties; complex SEMH. 

 Severe global delay as the children reach KS2. 

 Social, emotional and mental needs is an area we struggle with. 

 SEMH when in crisis. CAMHS / CHEWS thresholds for children are not always met but 
no alternative support offered. 

 Needs that require any building adaptations e.g. for children in a wheelchair who need 
changing facilities – we have the changing facilities but the size of the room doesn’t 
allow the wheelchair access. 

 Complex needs when not already identified in pre-school settings; SEMH / ADHD/ ADD 
– this take time to consider and monitor before effective support can be put in place. 

Page 221



16 
 

 More complex ASD – wave 3/4; more complex sensory and physical; less 
knowledgeable about ADHD; where no specific SEN is identified but children not making 
expected progress. 

 Some sensory needs are difficult to meet and some physical. 

 Hi-level complex needs across the board which require 2 adults supporting (SEMHD) or 
when the pupils development results in them becoming increasingly isolated from peers. 

 Some physical needs are difficult – due to large amount of stairs. 

 Disability – due to restraints on the school building. 

 SLCN with severe social communication needs where agencies have not been involved. 

 Not known at present. 

 Profound needs – e.g. we have pupils move to Ravenshall and Joseph Norton as we 
were not able to meet the most complex and significant needs (we are mainstream). 

 High social communication (ASC) needs are the most difficult. 

 We haven’t recently had any children with a high level physical disability / mobility issues 
but would try to meet needs if it arose. 

 Extreme violence – even though team teaching completed by al staff once these 
outbursts becomes the child’s norm it is very hard to change. 

 Difficult to meet needs when support is not available – from external agencies. Also – 
huge delay in receiving EHCP from SENACT – not able to identify needs from the 
outset. 

 Takes a long time when children arrive at nursery with no paperwork in place and no 
concerns from outside agencies although children present with need. 

 Social, emotional and mental needs are the most difficult to meet. 

 Increasingly we struggle to meet the needs of pupils with high level SEMH needs. Also 
pupils with profound difficulties, as we do not have the facilities to meet their physical, 
sensory and learning needs. 

 Some ASD (especially with higher cognitive ability). Due to nature of our cohort we 
aren’t suitable for some associated behavioural conditions. 

What makes the difference? 

 Attendance at ANP meetings to consult with other SENCOs and EP; EP guidance; 
specialist provision guidance 

 Specialist trained staff; money; time; resources. 

 If they have had prior speech and language, unsure of extent etc. Don’t want to try lots 
of new things. All a bit unsure. 

 Early identification and access to services; contact and discussion from SENACT / 
health professionals. 

 Early identification supports everybody in aiming to overcome any difficulties etc that a 
child may have and ensures the relevant professionals / agencies are involved. 

 Funding 

 Space; parental support 

 Pro-active parents; space / staff for interventions to take place.  

 Extra staffing 

 Money! 

 Staffing; using an alternative curriculum. 

 Outside agency support 

 Support from external professionals; hard work of staff within school. 

 Funding / EHCPs in place before they start school. 

 More accurate (and current info and data); good liaison with referring schools. 

 Knowing information about child from a variety of sources. 

Page 222



17 
 

 Training; support from services. I know things are stretched but we cannot begin to meet 
needs when we don’t have support and advice. 

 Great staff morale – people willing to go to the extra mile; open and honest home / 
school communication; outside agency input (we have a great Ed Psych, and 
designated Speech and Language Therapist. 

 More experienced practitioners available to help and support schools, we are teachers! 

 Early identification; paperwork already in place; more info from previous EY setting. 

 Early identification; funding at PVIs then not at school is tricky 

 Time; budget 

 Early communication on transition; support (timely) from SENACT where specialised 
provision is detailed in an EHCP but not available in school or the LA. 

 Availability of funding and specialist support. 

 Space; money; collaborative working – parents / health / outreach 

 MSP plans being in place before the children join our school; money; space; trained 
staff. 

 Communication between establishments; relationships established with all stakeholders. 

 Early interventions and meetings to gain greater understanding of needs rather than 
depending on the administration. 

 The environment and age of the building (listed status) inhibit being able to meet the 
needs of children with a significant physical need. 

 Staff experience; support available. 

 Communication and relationship with parents and external agencies. Person centred 
approached from all; ability to use TA’s to support needs. 

 Sorry but it’s mostly staffing = funding; difference also swift external agency support. 

 Having support from specialist services. 

 Children having MSP in place before they enter Reception. 

 Outside agency support; autism outreach, Early Years support, SLCN, EP. 

 Training we can take on board in school relating to that children’s needs; money – 
learning mentor is so successful but not enough of that time. 

 Support / advice and follow up from agencies. School does not have specialists in and 
therefore in order to produce a meaningful MSP / IEP then advice is necessary. 

 Support from Portex – to train PVI will end is improving the situation. 

 Funding to employ staff to support children and to access resources and services. 

 Inclusion Team (PRU) – very supportive; Sensory Team (HI & VI) give outstanding 
support ; Headlands Specialist Unit gave us excellent support; Physio / OT team 
(Dewsbury) give outstanding support; cognition and learning – there is a lack of support. 

 High Quality Staff (CPD); opportunities for enhanced / personalised learning; 
appropriate funding. 

 High quality staff – both teaching and TAs. We also think ‘outside the box’, with one 
child with behavioural issues currently accessing an outdoor learning / forest school 
curriculum. 

 Adult support; training; resources and equipment. 

 Funding; training and documentation for EY settings. 

 Time for filling in paperwork effectively; money into schools to support children’s needs. 

 Time; money; no allocated SENCO time this year. 

 Time; money. 

 Support from EP; good communication with parents / families; good support from health 
(SLT, OT); support from Outreach 

 Having the correct staff in place; having some referrals completed and on the waiting 
list. 

Page 223



18 
 

 Training for support staff; high quality interventions and resources. 

 If a child has a MSP or an EHCP then we have funding and indications of how to meet 
need. 

 Making adjustment to meet the needs of students who are struggling considering BFL. 
This is supported by the headteacher. Wellbeing centre as extra support. 

 Timely external agency intervention from knowledgeable adults; frequent panel 
meetings and good quality panel feedback; good parental support; funding that matches 
needs and provision. 

 EHCP in place when start in school; effective, honest MSP in place (reviewed in detail 
before start of school); outside service - referrals already in place; parents already 
aware of ‘additional needs’ for their child. 

 Working alongside other professionals to support in school including setting targets and 
identifying interventions and resources; listening to children and parents / carers – 
hearing and acting on their ideas. 

 Setting e.g. sensory room, soft play, ramps. 

 Effective support from specialist provisions, funding to be able to provide the 
individualised support; parental support – regular good and honest communication 
between home, school and external agencies. 

 Early identification of SEND; Outreach. 

 Multi agency working. 

 Planning; thinking outside of the box; positive thinking – ‘How can we?’; flexible staffing; 
funding – grants / applications for EY pupils; no spare staff so must have monetary 
support pre-school. 

 How early support can be in place; how effective it is; how significant the needs are of 
pupils – how many children with high needs pupils we have e.g. we have many but they 
don’t have EHCPs yet. 

 Advice and support from outreach. 

 Staffing; money; professional support; referral; assessment; review time (paperwork). 

 Zones of regulation; ‘safe’ room i.e. Rainbow Room and ‘going to green’ room. 

 Support from specialist services – not always available. Referral system very difficult – 
not recognising the complexity of need – difficulties to meet need. 

 Effective transition; processes in place prior to transition, especially MSPs up and 
running and appropriate involvement from external agencies; adequate level of funding. 

 Children who have been identified came into school / nursery smoothly and their needs 
are continued to be met. 

 As stated this morning, SEMH is a whole school approach which requires the support of 
the Headteacher and all teachers; training on this area, de-escalation techniques, 
understanding of SEMH behaviours is key. 

 Being able to train / recruit staff to be able to meet the needs of specific child 
(particularly those displaying significant SEMH difficulties). Being able to provide this is 
often dependent on funding, which is in itself a major issue. 

Are you able to see what the trends are? 

 SEMH needs – so varied and complex 

 Lots of children with attention problems finding the learning environment difficult. 

 Nursery’s PVI transition information poor 

 Missed needs and follow up in PV; SLCN very high; EYFS ASD identification currently 
high; social and emotional needs KS2 

 Increased number of children with SLCN difficulties; increasing number of SEMH cases 
within school 

 S & L – speech articulation (immature); SEMH – difficulty with self-regulation of 
behaviour (more physical in Reception) 

Page 224



19 
 

 More SEMH needs and children with complex backgrounds which contribute to their 
needs / gaps. 

 Increase difficulties in children in reception appear to have in following instruction. 

 Yes – increase in behavioural difficulties in adjusting to routines and boundaries; speech 
and language delays. 

 Children are arriving in nursery with fewer skills; poor parenting involvement; lots more 
medical needs; more severe SEMH. 

 There is not enough funding. It is that simple. Notional means NONE. It is a farce which 
disadvantages pupils. 

 Lots more need for Communication and Language. 

 A definite rise in children with SEMH issues with unpredictable behaviour. 

 No x 3 

 Speech and Language / Communication; social and emotional needs. 

 Much higher number of children with ASD or on ASD assessment waiting list; more 
children with SEMH needs – unable to comply with school expectations. 

 Generally yes. SEMH  is ever-increasing and forms majority of our referrals; ASD is 
increasing year on year. 

 Higher level of needs – children who would previously have been placed in specialist 
placements being allocated mainstream placements. 

 Rising number in complex SEMH. 

 More and more children with complex needs are in mainstream schools. Some of these 
children’s needs can be met – sometimes they need specialist provision. However, this 
is not always provided. 

 Had involvement in SEN since 2006; pupils previously “eligible” for a non-mainstream 
setting no longer seem to be; cutbacks / buy in services have a negative impact. 

 Trends are difficult to see but SEMH is increasing for both families and young children. 

 High levels of autism coming through school; more complex needs coming into school. 

 Behaviour 

 We are experiencing very high numbers of EHCPs year on year. The details of trends 
(from out of catchment too) have been discussed in meetings between SENACT and 
school leadership. This is having impact on the resources available for our students. 

 Increase in need in SEMH and Speech and Language needs, which both impact on 
Cognition and Learning. 

 Complexity of need; SEMH / communication / learning; medical. 

 Complex / multiple SEND; communication and interaction; medical (epilepsy) and 
physical (mobility). 

 More complex needs being presented in more children but not enough support / 
resources available; far too much paperwork! 

 Trends can be difficult to see – although a larger number of referrals via safeguarding 
concerns linked to SEMH has increased over the last 6 months. 

 Children coming into school within the EY; appropriate provision within the authority to 
meet very complex autism needs at post 16 (currently there is nothing available). 

 Increasing number of children entering school with MSPs already in place 

 Lots of speech and language needs coming through; lots of SEMH coming through. 

 More so: speech, language and communication; social, emotional and mental health 
(parenting / safeguarding e.g. “toxic 3”) 

 Lack of consistency in terms of paperwork – MSPs / SEN support 

 Lack of funding leading to lack of services / schools are also over-testing pupils leading 
to increased SEMH needs / communication interaction difficulties. 

Page 225



20 
 

 Parenting is often the huge issue and there’s no support and we have no proper power 
to insist on parenting skills. 

 We seem to have more children with complex C & I needs and ASD traits. 

 Communication / interaction; ASD traits. 

 Within our school community we seem to find that there is a high incidence of GDD and 
genetic disorders, also notice a trend where boys, particularly APKN / WB boys feature 
prominently on our SEN register. 

 Increasing SEMHD 

 There is a growing number of children with social and emotional needs and children that 
are behind in their language and communication; there also seems to be an increase in 
autistic children. 

 Gaps for Reception entry children. 

 ASC – more children coming through; SEMH – huge in school – consistency hard for 
teachers. 

 More SEMH / ASD pupils coming through. 

 Yes – increased SEMH. 

 SEMH needs increasing dramatically – also struggling to meet SEMH needs. The 
amount of hours and staff 3 children in 500 can take up is completely disproportionate. I 
imagine as an authority the exclusion rate is high as schools have lost staff and budgets 
are cut. 

 More children lacking communication skills; children with more SEMH needs. 

 S & L issues; children not being school ready. 

 Significant rise in children with SALT needs entering nursery and reception. 

 More children with ASD type traits. 

 Speech and Language are sometimes mistaken for EAL issue if English is a second 
language. 

 Increase in identification of students with SEMH due to child centred approach. 

 Communication & Interaction is becoming more evident in the youngest children. 

 Complex needs; SEMH increased; mobility difficulties and medical needs – medical 
conditions not heard of before. 

 Seen an increase in SLCN and SEMH (ADD / ADHD tendencies) needs in recent years. 

 Sometimes this can’t always be classed as a trend as children join the school mid-way 
e.g. SEMHD – PRS. We have seen a rise in attachment based needs as we have re-
integrated children into school. Otherwise ADHD / ASD / Dyslexia – which would reflect 
the prevalence shown in accessible info for all e,g, internet , media. 

 Increase in SPLCD in younger children and SEMHD in children especially in our school 
high number of previously LAC (15). 

 More ADHD & ASD needs coming through and SEMH needs developing in Years 8, 9, 
10, 11. 

 Significant increase in social communication / interaction with boys. 

 Number of needs we can manage at one time; mainly C & L and SEMH at school 
currently. 

 Increasing number of ASC needs. 

 Speech, language, communication, ASD, physical DCD. 

 Growing number with communication and interaction issues through huge growth in 
number of children with attachment issues / deficiency. 

 A lot of pupils coming into school with SEMH. 

 Autistic Spectrum Disorder massively increasing; SLCN significant area for our school 
also. 

Page 226



21 
 

 Within our school, SAL / behaviour / cognition seems to be at the forefront of our work 
alongside PSED. Boys continue to appear heavily no our SEN register. 

 An increase in the identification of SEMH – an increase in awareness of it. But the 
provision to support has not caught up with this. 

 More pupils are displaying complex SEMH difficulties. 

 Early identification and improved life chances for premature children has led to an 
increased cohort currently in our Primary years. 

What are the challenges? 

 Parent support; budget cuts – staffing; knowing what to do when services aren’t willing 
to support – CAMHS etc. 

 Communication & language; Who to refer to? What is out there? 

 Children transferring to us when we are named on the EHCP by parent but only 
informed at the last minute by SENACT; space for children who need a quiet / calm / 
unstimulated area; access to services for children who require immediate help especially 
MH crisis (CAMHS / CHEWS). 

 Constant changes to the services as budgets are cut and thresholds risen; lots of 
services are no longer available and this increases the pressure put on to school, yet we 
often don’t have the expertise / knowledge of the best ways to further support; limited 
capacity in terms of staffing / resources / space etc to meet children’s needs fully. 

 Timely support through SPR – we have had quite a few cases returned with ‘No further 
support offered’ etc. after a referral. 

 Not having a nurture room / safe place for those children with SEMH needs; also EHCP 
requests being turned down but children’s behaviour / learning needs means to 1:1 
support still needs to be in place; specialist provision – good but stretched and therefore 
reports / referrals take time.  

 Budget and space; increased number of children with medical needs who attract no 
funding but draw from the SEN notional budget. 

 Financing high need whilst completing the MSP support cycle in order to apply for EHC. 

 Staffing; money; paperwork; having to support children whilst MSP cycle is in place; top 
up funding does not fund an ETA full time. 

 Providing effective support in the classroom. Lack of outside services that are available, 
everything is traded or needs 2 MSPs which we cannot afford to implement. The 
paperwork is ridiculous. 

 Getting reports back from other professionals within a time scale that is supported by 
parents. Often we need to chase reports up. 

 Staffing; staff training; ideas for alternative curriculum. 

 Supporting pupils with SEND who do not yet have an EHCP; pre-school children not 
coming into school with any MSP / EHCP application paperwork – starting from scratch 
is a challenge. 

 Meeting need of complex cases; lack of support / access to external support. 

 Lack of communication / info sharing with health; Children who have no plan in place 
before they start school – the time it takes to gather evidence through the graduated 
approach before you can apply for an EHCP can be many terms for that child without 
the support they need. Often support only comes before they move on to Junior School 
= massive impact on our budget and children’s learning. 

 Co-occurring presentations are becoming more prevalent. 

 Lack of funding; support from SENACT. 

 The needs of our pupils are wide-ranging – capacity to keep the team adequately 
trained / updated has its challenges; annual reviews held Feb 2017 still not processed. 

 Other professional inform schools to do the referrals and increase work load. This is 
difficult when the child doesn’t exhibit issues at school. 

Page 227



22 
 

 Putting paperwork in place quickly so that the child can have the best possible start; 
communicating with parents who sometimes are hearing about a child’s needs for the 
first time. 

 Lots of complex needs early on; needing to get all the paperwork in place; lots of 
paperwork and duplication for annual reviews. 

 Increased need for health support for complex young people – not employees of school 
but work within it and the family home. 

 Recruitment of enough staff who are able to meet the needs of complex pupils; funding; 
lack of support from other agencies e.g. social care due to eligibility criteria for service 
being very high. Many services delegated back to school e.g. TAF. 

  The provision to support schools in dealing with SEMH has not caught up with the 
increased awareness and identification. 

 Getting what children need and having to complete vast amounts of paperwork that 
takes a long time; parental involvement continues to be a challenge; health service input 
appears difficult to get. 

 Ensuring that the LA recognises the severe and complex needs of children submitted for 
Needs Assessments and that timely funding is put in to place to support school in 
meeting these needs. Ensuring parents do not feel that they are ‘fighting’ when 
requesting specialist school places and being told that there aren’t enough places 
available. 

 Accessing support from external agencies; receiving EHCPs from SENACT (including 
updates from reviews) – changes to level and funding; funding from EHCPs does not 
cover the support needed to provide for pupils with complex need (high need only £6900 
top up). 

 Co-ordinating SALT reports – they are understaffed so write reports less often so not 
always available for EHC plan requests; co-ordinating paperwork. 

 Time – SENCO – referrals, reports, assessments; professional input – LOCALA; 
educational psych input – very limited knowledge and £ 

 Training staff on specific needs 

 Funding to match needs 

 Budget – particularly for high needs children 

 MSPs! Incredibly difficult format. Not friendly for pastoral to fill out – surely this could be 
simplified to be more child friendly? 

 Amount and complexity of paperwork, length of referral process and cost of traded work 
with EPs to get funding or correct support; support from some specialist provisions not 
effective. 

 When PVI settings don’t prioritise paper work e.g. getting an MSP or EHCP in place. 

 Effective tracking of all interventions – impact measures; lack of training for specific 
needs without high cost (budget in school does not stretch to ‘buying in’ or ‘trading’); 
whole school understanding of QFT in the classroom and additional ‘waves’; lack of 
physical resources e.g. interventions / ETA due to budget. 

 Getting support in place early; getting SEN budgets (collating evidence for referrals and 
EHCP application); informing parents about process of referrals etc in ‘parent friendly’ 
language; consulting with other professionals and eliciting effective contribution to 
provision management; co-ordinating other professionals involved to attend meetings; 
getting other professionals to write reports after visits to school. 

 SENACT availability via telephone and email; schools being named on consultation 
requests where parents haven’t visited. 

 Knowing who to contact for timely intervention without making / sending several 
irrelevant emails / phone calls. 

Page 228



23 
 

 Provision to support these needs has not caught up with the higher demand and needs 
of the students. 

 The challenges are different assessment processes and understanding. 

 Identifying need; not enough funding to provide adequate support. 

 Time; staff; money. 

 Getting EP involvement; too expensive on traded service. 

 Supporting all children with SEN with limited adult support and resources e.g. if have a 
child with EHCP who needs 1:1, then they will have TA support and teacher then has all 
the other children. 

 Budgets; qualified staff, SEMH needs. 

 Being able to spend quality time with SEN children to fully identify their needs. 

 More challenging behaviour now; no SENCO time; parents who assume 1:1 support is a 
god given right. 

  Parents not engaging; funding, or lack of; accessing outside agencies (due to their 
waiting lists); having time as a SENCO to do an effective job where are areas can be 
monitored and paperwork completed effectively, also person centred approach 
overseen. 

 Transition from EY setting / home to Reception; putting in appropriate high level support 
without funding; complex referral systems with high criteria and inflexible. 

 Training and staff to support specific needs; resources and specific equipment; 
understanding of special needs; money / funding. 

 Finance – school has to find the first £6000 of all EHCs and when these children arrive 
mid financial year the funds or personnel have not been put into the budget! As we have 
4 EHCs – that equals £24,000 per annum! 

 Funding / finance, especially in a small school. 

 Parental engagement / willingness to recognise SEN within our school community; how 
best to support cognition, learning and GDD especially now that the Portex remit has 
changed. This was a real blow to us! 

 Children with complex needs ASD – providing the support and environment. 

 Unlike the PVI settings, we are unable to access EYSEN funding – children will arrive 
and appear to their families as having reduced support? 

 Staff / support, in order to provide the work needed and identified. Quality time and 
resources – school staff are often spread too thin! 

 Money – we need so much more individualised teaching, emotional support, mentoring, 
SALT / communication work; parenting skills. 

 Time; teacher training; teacher / staff knowledge; SEND not always priority. 

 Kirklees cutting school budget! 

 Money!; academic focused curriculum; paperwork. 

 Lack of training; paperwork for new referrals quickly 

 Allocating support staff to individual and small groups; making the money stretch far 
enough. 

 Time – to communicate / discuss etc; resources. 

 Lack of expert knowledge; specific training for staff for children with complex needs. 

 Ensuring that the whole school environment is fit for purpose and enables us to meet the 
needs of children with Autism; building layout and arrangement, décor that is able to 
withstand potential damage, resources internally and externally appropriate, space to 
reduce class size. 

 Increase in work load and issues when young person doesn’t always display the 
behaviours in school. 

 Time; differing views and opinions; not enough support. 

Page 229



24 
 

 Children that are support by funding in PVI are not supported as they start school. It 
therefore takes time and school resources (people / money) before any EHCP request 
can be made. If they have a need in PVI that need doesn’t go away!! 

 Meeting needs of pupils with insufficient funding - even when early review held. 

 Getting the most out of the funding; supporting children with SEMH and challenging 
behaviour. 

 Specialists needed to deliver very specific interventions; lack of specialist teachers / 
staff; resources spread thinly as number grow; shift need in curriculum as more students 
cannot access GCSEs; lack of special school places?? 

 Training / development 

Thinking about your professional development, how do you access training and 
development to support children with SEND in your setting? 

General:  

 As a new SENCO I am still finding out where and how to access training. 
Online: 

 Mainly safeguarding, Prevent etc 

 Nat award SENCO and NASEN 

 SEN Award 
Training course 

 Offered through Dyslexia Action 

 Through SEN Team 
In-house training 

 Educational Psychologist 

 Too expensive 

 Whole school INSET for emotional wellbeing e.g. Drawing and Talking therapy recently 
Work shadowing 

 Too expensive 

 Would like to 
Other: 

 Professional partners 

 Linking with other specialist provisions 

 ANP x 2 

 SENCO learning community meetings 

 Support from EP 

 ANP support 

 ANP meetings within the pyramid of schools 

 Networking; Additional needs meeting with EP and other SENCO. 

 ANP; Ed Psych training 

 Own research; support from other SENCOs and through referral; ANPs; EP service etc. 

 Sourcing bespoke training myself e.g. Down Syndrome Society 

 ANP; Networks 

 Just google it! 

 EPs and Portex have given me specific advice which is succinct and far more useful for 
my time and children in my school. 

 EP training and signposted through SENCO Net etc 

 Specialist provision training 

 Independent research 

 Outside agency and Ed Psych 1:1 advice and support when needed 

 Outside agencies 

 ANP meetings; SENCO Net 

Page 230



25 
 

 ANP groups 

 Referrals to external agencies who give strategies; SENCO 

 Support from Outreach services when available 

 ANP, SENCO clusters 
 

Any further comments 

 Very hard to communicate with certain services & provision (speech and language). 

 SENACT’s involvement in EHCP reviews would be extremely useful for all parties. 

 I feel SEN is in crisis. I think SENCOs are under a great deal of pressure and it is only 
getting worse. 

 More training around meeting needs for cognition and learning would be useful. SALT 
and ASD outreach great for communication and interaction strategies, but who can 
support with cognition and learning?? (EY / KS1) particularly if Portex now only 0-5. 

 I have recently completed 3 EHC applications where health professionals were needed 
and invited but did not attend. This is worrying. 

 Currently acting SENCO, new to the role so may not be fully aware of all the issues. 

 Kirklees should be able to provide parents with a list of school who have setting able to 
meet complex SEMH needs – nurture room etc, just so parents have a clue where to 
start looking rather than trawling every website! 

 The training sessions delivered by Champions have been very useful; support from 
outside agencies has been vital in meeting the needs of SEND. 

 Thank you for the opportunity to give feedback on our views. 

 We feel struggle to gain EP support that influences practice and practical hands on 
advice / support to move children forward; lots of limitation; EP doesn’t have knowledge 
of services, other professionals / SENACT – could this be due to not attending reviews? 

 I find it difficult to find training for staff. 

 Very challenging role – increasing demands in recent years to manage ‘high needs’ 
means very much more (sometimes unnecessary) paperwork. Need a magic wand!! 

 Affordable ‘whole school’ CPD packages would be very useful as children move class 
each year and training one person and cascading means vital info can get ‘lost’ plus 
many strategies benefit more than one particular child and becomes more inclusive 
overall. 

 
Responses from Early Years Settings 
 

Have you had support from other agencies and/or received additional funding? 

 No x 3 

 Yes x 13 

 Speech and Language Therapist x 2 

 Speech and Language Therapist.  District nurse to support medical needs – EPI pen. 

 Yes x 2 (the 2 not specified on sheet) 

 Inclusion Officer and Access Fund. 

 SEN Support, Speech and Language and Access Funding x 2 

 SALT, EYSEN Support, Access Fund x 3 

 Yes EYSEN.  No additional funding. 

 Yes sought for one child with visual impairment. 

 N/A 

 Yes – SEN team very supportive and access funding received.  Although not enough to 
ensure child’s safety! 

 Support but no funding. 

Page 231



26 
 

 Early years SEN team, Speech and Language and Visual Impairment. 

 Access fund for one to one support. 

 Kirklees and Calderdale. 

 Support from agencies.  No funding. 

 SALT x 2 

 Access fund to offer one to one support.  Physiotherapist and occupational therapist. 

 EYSEN and SALT. 

 Access Fund and DAF. 

 Support from physiotherapist.  Received additional funding. 

 Access funding for 1:1 support – EYSEN team involved in helping doing MSP. 

 Received Access Fund.  Support from Inclusion, Speech & Language, Play worker from the 
Rainbow Centre. 

 Access Fund and EYSEN team. 

 EYSEN team. 

 Access Funding for 1:1 support/support from OT/Physio/Speech & Language/Play 
worker/Portage/SLI team/hearing and visual impairment. 

 Not this time. 

 Yes in the past have had Access Funding.  SALT. 

 Yes in the past we claimed the Access Fund. 

 Yes – both.  One to one support and support from additional agencies is a huge support to 
Nurseries, without which we would be much less able to support children with additional 
needs. 

 Yes speech therapy for some children but only a few sessions.  Yes dyspraxia assessments 
and support. 

 SALT, SEN team.  No funding this last year. 

Have you ever felt unable to accept a child with SEND?  If so, what were the barriers? 

 No x 29 

 SENCO left our setting and in the process of training new SENCO. 

 Yes – to complex regarding mobility, feeding etc. 

 No.  We accept all children but have had requests for children to stay all day with SEND, 
this has been a barrier as the extra funding doesn’t stretch. 

 Have never said no to anybody.  Yes – availability of one to one support * resources a 
barrier. 

 Not for the children will have had and have got presently but who knows in the future 
depends on suitability of setting, our trained staff etc. 

 It is becoming increasingly difficult due to funding at meetings, training etc. to meet needs 
cannot be financed. 

 No, we have always accepted and adapted for any requirement. 

 Yes – child attends two settings and other setting already claiming most of access funding.  
We have accepted child but 2 of child’s 6.5 hours have to be covered by setting providing 
support staff at cost to setting. 

 N/A x 2 

 Not at the moment, currently going through a process of getting insurance on side.  
Hopefully this will be resolved soon! 

 Yes we didn’t have staff or availability for the child. 

 That’s not something that I have influence over due to my job role, however it can be 
difficult to provide for them due to staffing. 

 No we would never not accept a child with SEND unless we felt that our service was not 
suitable for the child e.g. for access/health and safety reasons. 

 To be able to meet needs limit how many SEND children we have. 

Page 232



27 
 

 Yes – not able to meet needs and provide one to one support. 

 No not at present moment. 

 No - but wouldn’t be able to if Access Fund wasn’t available. 

 Yes – the impact on staff, relevant training and cost. 

 We have had to refuse 1 child with severe complex needs as we couldn’t accommodate the 
hoist for lifting. 

 No, however without Access Funding and professional involvement it would be difficult to 
accept a child into Nursery with SEND and ensure that their needs are met. 

 Yes.  Staff felt as we were so small did not have the time, staff etc. to support their needs 
one to one. 

 Felt yes, but not refused (parents unreasonable demands) i.e. guarantees that child won’t 
fall etc. 

Thinking about outcomes and/or readiness for school, what difference does your 
support make to the child and their family? 

 Working together sharing information to support the child’s need.  Offering support to 
parents.  Offering strategies to work on at home. 

 Inclusive. 

 Enables secure transition visits to school/special provision. 

 The support provided by the setting and outside agency makes a huge difference in getting 
a child ready for school. 

 A lot of difference. 

 A major difference those children have gone onto mainstream school with the support 
needed, parents have received help to cope at home, also some accessed special schools, 
also some now ready to apply for EHC Plans because of work/input by ourselves. 

 Transition period allows for needs fully identified.  Parents report back they feel listened to 
and supported. 

 We can support the family and child to transition ensuring the new setting understands their 
needs fully. 

 With our support parent was able to access support from outside agencies.  Parent had 
support from us which helped with emotional and physical needs of their child. 

 Advice on support available.  Help with transition on to school. 

 As an outstanding setting outcomes for all children in our setting have been highlighted as 
any SEN children showing progress. 

 1 – Support to enable child to reach full potential 
2 – Support family to find school/come to terms/access funding/follow the process of 
MSP/EHC. 
3 – Support settings to ensure child reaches full potential. 
4 – Prepare child (and family/staff) for a tactile curriculum. 

 We give them the opportunity to be ‘ready’ for school and put adopted provision in place 
and support for the family. 

 Transition to school went really well. 

 We can prepare them for school, one to one support, speech & language, toilet training, 
develop, encourage concentration, listening and attention. 

 It prepared the child and school for transition and had the support in place. 

 Gives them a start in life. 

 Help with confidence to go to school.  Help identify any more help/support they may need at 
school. 

 I think it makes a huge difference.  The family have told me how much progress their child 
has made even in a short period of time. 

 It helps staff and parents work toward small steps with expert advice. 

Page 233



28 
 

 Routine, support in all areas, stimulation to child. 

 Helped the family and child understand the importance of being able to communicate 
effectively with peers and adults in their lives. 

 Helps bring child on in development and support them in the setting. 

 Helps them to progress, even if slowly, closing the gap between them and their peers. 

 Promotes the child’s development and reassures parents. 

 To help get the child and families the correct support when child moves on to school. 

 Massive support for parent/child.  Gave support to parent with school visits, giving 
confidence to both. 

 One child – support made massive difference child was school ready.  Other child was 
different as parents didn’t take on advice. 

 It gives them support knowing their child is included within the setting that target can be met 
with work and strategies. 

 That the parent(s) know they have support and help for their child. 

 Early development support. 

 We have been able to obtain EHCPs to help children receive further support.  Used SALT 
targets to aid children’s communication. 

 Helps children achieve small steps and targets, able to support parents and carers.  I am 
able to give the child chance to access everyday provision and to have a purposeful time 
when at the setting. 

 The support child has at school.  Transition is smoother. 

 It has a very big impact and helps support the family and child and help them with concerns, 
issues etc.  Also this is helpful for the child too to prepare them for school. 

 The support we give a family allows children to be able to move to the next stage e.g. 
School.  We support parents with this change and take children to school sooner so 
transition is smoother.  My Support Plans also restrict this process. 

 Huge difference.  Family become more comfortable with discussing concerns. 

 Determine whether the child needs mainstream/special – parent knowledge. 

 We are first point in many circumstances and begin MSP and SEN assessment to help 
apply for the right school for their child. 

 Child moved from 22-36 (prime areas) to 40-60 emerging and parents ability to support 
child greatly improved. 

 Support will hopefully be in place and EHC started before school. 

 It makes a huge difference.  It allows parents to continue to work whilst knowing that their 
child is being cared for.  It also allows us to support the child to be as ready as possible for 
school or to highlight what support is necessary in school, if this is applicable. 

 Supporting the child and family and have the confidence and knowledge to move forward.  
Giving the child a better start for school. 

 It has helped the child/children involved a great deal in coping with future school life and 
making good progress. 

 Support given means that parents have reassurance and a person to talk to.  Children get 
the much needed social emotional interaction, plus learning and developmental progress (if 
only small steps). 

 Helping the family receive the right support and signposting to the right services.  Emotional 
support for the family who can struggle with diagnosis, changes and the sometimes 
negative views of development. 

 We help support the transition, and give guidance, help families where able. 

 Comfort, reassurance, knowledge of what next pathway will be.  Ensured child has been 
ready and supported. 

Page 234



29 
 

 Provides opportunities for social interactions and develop social skills and wellbeing.  Also 
provides support and respite for parents.  We also work with schools and other settings to 
support children to reach personal, social and emotional, communication and physical 
outcomes through offering and providing opportunities individual to the children. 

Any further comments  

 Just taken on Deputy and SEN role along with new SEN Support Sarah Hluchan. 

 All made possible by Access fund/one to one with child. 

 We are lucky to have contact with school and are updated on these children’s progress. 

 Hope to access support from other agencies/funding in the near future for a child that’s just 
started pre-school. 

 The child was able to transition to a school which met his needs. 

 Any times we have applied for access funding it has never covered the full hours the child 
attends.  The setting has always had to subsidise additional staff to support child. 

 Some parents think the child will just grow out of it and be ‘normal’ one day. 

 We have been very grateful for all the help and support from SEN team. 

 My Support Plans are very time consuming, this document should be adjusted so that time 
could be given to the child to help with their development. 

 The support and funding we receive from the SEN team allows us to support our children 
with SEN better as advice and guidance is given. 

 Early intervention is essential and need to be supported for these children. 

 We are becoming more stretched as more children especially on 2 year funding are 
requesting places – we are trying to adapt ‘normal’ provision into specialist settings – our 
staff are expected to be physio’s, speech and language experts, nurses (included diabetes, 
catheter, feeding tube and oxygen training).  They are expected to deliver complex 
therapies and also play programmes.  We have tried to recognise this by awarding these 
practitioners with additional pay as they are now called Advanced Pre-school Practitioners.  
Plus extra paperwork, MSP meetings etc. 

 Children in private nurseries need support, just as those in state schools.  Early support is 
vital! 

 Funding is short so as a setting more hours have to be provided by the setting for one to 
one care, self-funded, limiting how many children we can support. 

 
Responses from Governors 

 
As leaders of your schools, what are the challenges of meeting the needs of all of your 
pupils? 

 Lack of joined up services.  No specialist expertise to draw on in a timely way – waiting 
lists!!  Lack of resources within mainstream school.  Trained staff needed quickly to meet 
changing and immediate needs of children, especially with behaviour and mental health 
issues. 

 Lack of funding and resources.  The ‘notional’ funding is unfeasible and unmanageable.  
Time takes to achieve the banding for what little funding is available. 

 Financing the extra support that has to be provided to a child with SEN £6k is a huge 
amount of our budget and means that to provide support takes away from other pupils a lot 
of whom have SEN.  Funding for that child’s need should be there as soon as the need is 
discovered.  This should be separate and for that child (in an ideal world!). 

 Resourcing and specialist assistance.  In a small school, we already have significant 
problems with finance and a lack of flexibility in addressing issues.  A single SEN child can 
cause significant disruption when financial support is not forthcoming for some considerable 
time and the amount of additional work is substantial. 

Page 235



30 
 

 Complexity of need.  Lack of provision.  Unplanned costs of children who join school with no 
upfront funding.  Lack of support from LA to advise the steps open to school. 

 Challenge to getting an EHCP in place.  Lack of funding.  Lack of understanding perhaps of 
what might appear to be low level needs but which impact on attainment. 

 We have higher than average numbers of children with SEN and feel school budgets are 
less and less able to cope.  Children are entering school with more and more complex 
needs and we are, from time to time, seeing parents/children referred to us by other 
schools!!  More support is required in pre-school settings to help. 

 High cost on staffing and other resources to support indiv high needs pupils.  The Pupil 
Referral Service - Single Point of Referral is a vital resource to / for support these children, 
parents/carers etc. especially in present financial climate. 

 Funding for the future to maintain at present it is not there. 

 High % of SEN children presents challenges.  Getting EHCP assessments done in timely 
way particularly in early years (i.e. when children move from other EY settings).  Resources 
to provide support in class TA (given reduced staff) completely insufficient. 

 Getting children assessed for various needs.  Funding rules seems to have been tightened 
to reduce support.  Specialist TA’s to deal with children’s needs. 

 *Funding – SEN teachers/assistants and resources in a small primary.  Timeframe on 
getting statements in place, while having to fund out of a tight budget. 

 The biggest challenge is lack of funding in school.  The budget cuts are making what we 
need to do in school unachievable. 

 Funding.  Access to immediate support – timely.  Hubs – making them work.  Parental 
issues/understanding.  Training and support for staff. 

 Funding the support needed for some of the increasingly complex needs.  The increasing 
complex needs that we have in our setting.  The length of time it takes to gain EHCP. 

 Broad and balanced curriculum.  Suitable qualifications and progression routes for pupils.  
Accessibility of the building.  Funding to support Quality First Teaching through training 
teachers.  Budget cuts have led to staffing reviews, loss of a high number of support staff. 

 Having enough funds to support those children not with statements or EHCP.  Lack of 
support e.g. ED Psychologist etc.  Also lack of diagnosis quickly enough, children have 
waited years for a diagnosis and therefore funding. 

 Inadequate assessment by LA staff. 

 Unsuitable premises.  Lack of flexibility of premises, resources – human and physical.  
Additional pupils entering system through the year.  Specialist staff training. Small class 
sizes, high staff ratio. 

 Lack of funding from the LA.  Lack of imagination in linking across Health/Social 
Services/Care and Education.  Speed of change to be able to deal with our YP. 

 Wide range of need/complexity – making career pathways a challenging process.  Keep up 
to speed with current changes in mainstream (and) to ensure students can access life 
opportunities and go on to lead purposeful lives – jobs/job satisfaction. 

What would you like to see changed to improve outcomes for children with SEND? 

 Reduced waiting lists – no wait for EP’s for speech therapists etc.  No ‘fobbing off’ i.e. being 
refused consideration of our evidence for SEND tribunal because we had not met with EP 
prior to sending in paperwork.  This was because the EP could not meet us for a month and 
the child needed immediate EHCP plan.  IT’S SO FRUSTRATING!!!   

 A more cost based approach to funding.  Review the notional funding approach.  Honest 
open approach to determine what is the best setting for each child. 

 The speed and efficiency of getting help.  We have a current child with obvious severe 
need, we are going through the steps to get the help but in the meantime the child can’t get 
the support needed and where we can provide support it is at the cost of the rest of the 

Page 236



31 
 

school.  This should not be the case!  They should get the finance for or provision of 
support as soon as the need presents itself. 

 There needs to be considerably more help available, both financial and non-financial for 
small schools who are not in a position to dedicate the support required.  

 **Options, costed offered to schools.  Funding needs to follow child.  Greater support from 
the LA so schools can make informed choices/decisions and thus ensure VFM in support of 
each child. 

 Better focus on the needs of the child.  Rapid response to EHCP submissions.  Better 
provision for all children with SEN needs. 

 Identify problems and issues before those children arrive into reception, otherwise time is 
wasted and budgets squeezed putting in support well before any top up funding might be 
received.  We have raised issues we’ve experienced with children being directed, that 
process could be much better managed.  More and more referrals to other agencies are 
needing to be made and this all adds to the time needed to provide adequate support. 

 Increased funding and support provision across Kirklees. 

 Assessment timescales are not realistic and need to be reviewed.  It causes….. 

 Better information with what qualifies for assessment.  Fewer blockages in the system. 

 *A review of the two points above. 

 The length of processes.  More provision/support.  Increased funding.  More support for 
mental health and recognition for emotional development gaps.  Not all children can 
achieve at chronological age. 

 Less paperwork.  Trust judgements.  Ensure criteria is well known to access support.  More 
places for children who need support at schools such as Ravenshall. 

 Increased specialist/special school places for those young children with high needs.  
Improved communication between multi-agencies (i.e. invites to attend meeting).  Improved 
signposting for parents. 

 Different emphasis on the word outcome, a grade 9 -1 is not a suitable measure for SEND 
pupils.  Recognition and reward.  More training for mainstream teachers/typical secondary 
school staff to enable them to support/teach SEND pupils.  

 Quicker diagnosis/funding in place.  Need more professionals available with the backing of 
what is needed is provided quickly. 

 Assess much earlier in the age range and put appropriate help at infant schools. 

 Specific training – it is happening.  Appropriate facilities.  Longer days to support families.  
Wrap around provision.  Holiday openings more frequent. 

 ** The above!  Specialist services on hand in relevant quantities to support the whole 
person not just their immediate educational needs.  Holistic family support.  

 Broad and balanced curriculum to recognise qualifications other than 1 – 9 
grades/academic GCSE etc. linked to work life skills, recognised by employers. 

Any further comments 

 More funding at every level of the system required – our NFF budget means we are having 
to cut TA’s therefore our capacity to support 1:1’s is reduced.  This means that especially 
children with behaviour problems are increasingly difficult to cope with within the 
mainstream classroom. 

 Open up the feedback to the widest audience possible. 

 Moving to EHCPs has been helpful on the one hand, on the other it is very time consuming. 

 If PRS/Pupil Referral Units are to become part of a MAT how will the LA and 
users/schools/other academies have a say in the way needs and provision are provided?  
Will there be no fundamental differences?  Potentially there could be perhaps? 

 Consultation and dialogue. 

 I am not the SEN Governor so do not feel able to comment further.  Can schools respond 
directly? 

Page 237



32 
 

 Could we not have a paperless system to aid schools and parents raise issues and monitor 
the process. 

 I am resources not SEN.  This would be helpful to be emailed to all governors with specific 
responsibilities to provide answers. 

 Early intervention should be targeted together with specialist support for particular groups. 

 SEND parents are often very vulnerable and isolated.  Accessible information for them is 
paramount. 

 Parental engagement and support needs to be improved.  Family support.  Adult and 
community learning.  Innovative approaches to the SEND offer/school policy. 

 SEND children are often left for years to wait for specialist help/support.  This is not fair on 
them, other pupils or staff and has a huge impact on them all. 

 Need more special school places. 

 There is a lot more to add…….. 

 Engagement needs to be effective, honest and timely.  Dates need to be out now for 
consultation with all interested parties.  We need to start by thinking again before major 
consultation. 

 Excellent piece of work thank you Claire! 

 
Responses from parents 

 

Needs profile of your child – please tick: (Think about your child's needs and how they 
impact on their education and daily life e.g. Medical needs like epilepsy, sensory processing, 
mobility issues. Please add any needs that you think are not covered in these boxes.) 

 Multiple response question (so percentages won’t add up to 100). 
   58 (75.3%) Communication and Interaction (including autism)  - 29 
   21 (27.3%) Sensory (hearing/sight)  - 16 
   14 (18.2%) Physical disability - 10 
   55 (71.4%) Social, mental and emotional health - 27 
   2 (2.6%) Don’t know - 0 
   15 (19.5%) Other – please specify below - 17 

 

   27 responses (listed below).  29 

 Attachment - Early Life Trauma 

 Dyslexia 

 Dyspraxia, hypermobile, coeliac 

 Noonan syndrome, hyper mobility 

 Epilepsy  

 SLCN 

 Sensory processing disorder 

 ADHD and a rare medical condition 

 I am a school governor so there are a variety of needs in school 

 Dyslexia. 

 Profound and multiple learning delay Genetic disorder 

 Learning difficulties – PTSD 

 Dyslexia 

 Sensory Processing Disorder 

 Learning difficulties and medical 

 my son is autistic 

 dyspraxia 

 ADHD but not formally diagnosed yet as only 3. 

 Unable to identify any pain/ unaware of hazards  No diagnosis  Requires 24 hr care 

 Severe learning difficulties genetic 

Page 238



33 
 

 Cognitive -- our daughter was assessed privately at Socrates this past summer, and we were 
told her cognitive functioning level is about that of a 5 year old (our daughter will be 10 in 
January). 

 Behavioural. 

 Poor fine motor and some gross motor issues. 

 Awaiting assessment from CAMHS (waited two years after initial meeting then found out that he 
wasn't on the waiting list - now on waiting list, have been for a couple of months - still waiting for 
someone to call me back to find how long it might be). 

 Awaiting assessment for Autism from CAMHS - been waiting a year 

 Dyscalculia, dyspraxia, auditory processing disorder and hearing impairment 

 Multi-sensory impairment and sensory integration difficulties 

 Downs Syndrome, mobility issues, heart murmur 

 ASC, PDA (Pathological Demand Avoidance), a nursery selective mute 
 ADHD and Epilepsy 

 Doesn’t make growth hormone – 6’4” – 6/7 year academic functioning, learning difficulties, 
unique chromosomal disorder, partial depletion of chromosome 3 – not specific title, 
gastrostomy – special diet – feed as doesn’t absorb, respiratory issues 

 4 year old – Epilepsy, ASD? Hypermobility, 2 Tuberous scleroses.  6 year old - ASD? 

 Difficulties in school - easily led, lacking common sense, not picking up others talking to him, 
lack of understanding of needs early on, lack of acknowledgement of difficulties managing 
change, started at Calderdale moved into Kirklees Y4 Lindley Junior – picked up on issue (ref to 
RELATE). 

 Dyspraxic and Dyscalculia (screening) 
 Issue with urinary incontinence 

 2 boys  - 1 x development delay at Castle Hill and 1 x VI and albinism at Dalton JIN School – 
affects emotions, frustration/anger improving. 

 Mild sensory, anxiety, ASD but not diagnosed.  Difficulty with CAMHS because school not 
seeing problems and not sent FSW report in so have to pay for private report 

 Lack of confidence, working on communication skills, muscle wasting condition – deteriorated – 
now not mobile and delayed speech and language 

 Learning difficulties, autism, verbal but repeats and social skills – waiting in queues. 

 Learning difficulties 

 Referral to paediatrician to see if ADHD/Autism or something else.  School suggested it. 
Referred through GP 

 OCD maybe Asperger’s 

 School have raised behaviour issues 

 Schools need to focus on learning levels and pick up on it quickly 

 Wears glasses, can explode 

 Life limited health condition 

 Sensory processing, loose stools and anxiety 

 ASD – feel like child doesn’t fit anywhere at headlands, 6 terms up to May 2018.  Lost faith in 
mainstream school (Batley Parish).  Felt under pressure to accept SP place as HT had 
threatened PEX.  Had lots of FTE 

 Anxiety and depression, sensory – crowds, noise etc. severe ADHD, Dysgraphia. 

 Sensory processing, high DCD (developmental coordination disorder/Dyspraxia).  Dysgraphia 

 Complex health and medical needs.  E.g. gastric dysfunction, dystonia, high postural care needs 

 Downs Syndrome – learning difficulty.  Health needs – asthma, gastro-oesophageal reflux.  
Sensory processing disorder, OCD, low Muscle Tone 

 Angelman Syndrome 

 Down’s Syndrome – global developmental delay, low muscle tone, obsessive behaviour.  No 
sense of danger or what is safe.  Continence issues – still in nappies 

 Traits of ASD – He has Down’s Syndrome 
 Down’s Syndrome, low muscle tone 

 Down’s Syndrome, learning at a different pace to everyone else, language needs 

Page 239



34 
 

Does your child have: (Some schools may have their own plan to monitor your child’s 
progress. You can add this in the ‘other’ box.) 
 Multiple response question (so percentages won’t add up to 100). 
   10 (13.5%) Individual Education Plan (IEP)  - 6 
   14 (18.9%) My Support Plan (MSP) - 8 
   44 (59.5%) Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP)  - 18 
   11 (14.9%) Statement of Special Education Needs - 2 
   5 (6.8%) In process of being assessed - 4 
   3 (4.1%) Don’t know - 3 
   8 (10.8%) Other – please specify below - 4 

 

   18 responses (listed below). - 15 

 nothing 

 Still waiting for transfer of statement to EHCP after 62 weeks. 

 IEP since 2014, School are now putting together a MSP. 

 Professional working with SEMH children 

 counselling 

 All of these documents in school. See above comment. 

 Additional Needs Plan - There are set targets for my child each term, and at the end of term they 
are reviewed. 

 None of the above 

 At 2nd Draft EHCP phase 

 None 

 He is on year 3 at crossly field school in midfield 

 Think in process of moving to something more formal might be MSP or EHCP 

 We are currently in the process of an emergency review and transition to an EHCP for our 
daughter. 

 Desperately trying to get assessment, but have been advised the best setting for this would be 
residential, but Kirklees won't support this due to resource issues. 

 He's had other plans, support plans, IEP's and now being assessed for an EHCP 

 Spoke with school, they said they are going to put some things in place so am meeting with the 
SENCO on Wednesday. So not sure what will be put in place yet. 

 NOTHING!! Despite numerous requests and recommendations from National Deaf Children's 
Society and other bodies 

 one page profile 

 3 years in place 

 Risk Assessment, behaviour report and strategy 

 Statement being converted to EHCP  
 Hasn’t read it 

 4 year old – MSP - In reception, trying to set EHCP parental request turned down – going to 
mediation.  6 year old - No plan in school, difficult at home – lots of difficult behaviours but 
seems to be angel at school, doesn’t sleep and wakes 4 year old up, had SALT previously – 
made slight progress and parents thinking of a referral, making reasonable progress, no support 
at home, PX involved just stated high functions so appears ok, excluded a number of times 
since September, no provision on site – 1:18 copes better and managed better. 

 Requests for help from an early age from mum resulted in being told parenting and 2 counselling 
sessions – Brian Jackson at 9 years – RELATE – told he’d be okay.  Referred by school 

 2 boys –  1 x PEX communication system.  1 x Carers Trust 1x 2 weekly at Dalton after school.  
Wants YPAT in holidays.  Schools very good.  Need out of school activities. 

 Working below average but school don’t feel need to have any plan.  Compliant at school – 
difficulties on leaving.  Parents feel school think its home based. 

 Transferring Statement x 2 

 MSP initially completed by grandparents.  Possibly on SEN/IEP.  Not known as grandparents 
and not parents 

Page 240



35 
 

 Mainstream lack of understanding of SEMH needs 
 Has only just started at school.  It is likely to go to my support and possibly ECHP following 

assessment 

 waiting for panel decision regarding assessment 

 Applied for assessment – in process of getting assessment 

 Statement has not been transferred as yet, very disappointing for my child and identifying needs.  
This will be past statutory timescales – I’ve asked and asked but still not transferred over to 
EHCP 

What type of setting does your child attend? (Where your child receives their 
education.) 

   4 (5.1%) Early years e.g. nursery, playgroup, childminder etc. - 1 
   43 (54.4%) Mainstream school  - 20 
   7 (8.9%) Mainstream school with specialist provision  - 2 
   14 (17.7%) Special school  - 7 
   6 (7.6%) College/further education  - 4 
   5 (6.3%) Other (e.g. apprenticeship) - please specify below - 3 

 

   8 responses (listed below).  - 21 

 PRU 

 Tutoring 

 Unable to work 

 Special Woodly 

 He is year 3 

 Primary Crossleyfields school 

 Our daughter is currently home educated.  We de-registered her from Highburton First School in 
December 2016 after continually having to push for our daughter's needs to be met as written in 
her Statement.  We raised our concerns to the Chair of Governors who told us, "It has nothing to 
do with me.  Governors don't get involved in the day to day running of the school." 

 None at the moment. Trying to get Blake into a residential setting Monday to Friday (ideally this 
would be a school) where he can be assessed, but we keep being told that we have to try a day 
school setting, even though this has already been tried and Blake refused to attend, had fights, 
assaulted . teacher and this causes even more episodes of violence at home. 

 Primary.  Oak Primary School (Crosland Moor) 
 Crowlees I & J School 

 Secondary (Castle Hall Academy) Year 10.  Lack of special school with average or above 
average ability.  In terms of attainment things are not broken down sufficiently 

 Ravenshall – post 16 

 Attended Salendine Nook High School – no support apart from lesson break.  Had a good vocab 
– people misread this.  Post 16 – Greenhead College – didn’t do as well GCSE as could have as 
struggled with revision.  Mum explained to Greenhead about his difficulties and need for extra 
support.  Struggled with emotional issues – melt downs.  College saying had help available but 
he needs to access it himself.  Left education post 19.  Working part time. 

 Specialist Provision (ETHOS) 

 High School (Honley) 

 High School (Newsome) 

 Wants him to interact with other children, swimming on Mondays, after school/ holiday at 
Greenfields 

 I & N 

 Primary Crossley Fields (Ofsted outstanding but individual cases not picked up).  Residential trip 
– Robin Wood – 2 nights, 3 days 

 Headfield Junior School 

 Secondary 

 Primary Old Bank School (Mirfield).  I had to get the MP involved and insisted he have an 
assessment he has just recently had a diagnosis this week 

Page 241



36 
 

 Assist dad at work but not in a full capacity.  Hates education, badly let down and doesn’t trust 
no one 

 Primary Beech School.  Excellent school!  Structure to the support, great staff.  Liaising with 
other agencies – issues with wiping himself 

 Felt like things have been a fight e.g. setting, ASD assessment, getting her level of funding when 
got statement – Blue Badge.  Some support from SP at home when in mainstream really useful.  
At mainstream was always given negative side, never felt like focus on what was positive 

 Batley Grammar (Age 13) 

 Mainstream with autism outreach 

 Recent setting – out of area residential specialist college.  Current setting – out of area non-
residential specialist college 

 Special Fairfield School Batley 

What has helped your child progress? (Include anything that school provides: changing 
the timetable or lesson, involving your child in activities, changes to the classroom 
environment, checking targets / outcomes, therapies delivered to your child in school.  
Consider how well the school communicates with you.  Is your child in the right school to meet 
their needs?  Do staff have an inclusive attitude?) 
  77 responses (listed below)  - 30 

 The support from the school SEN team plus head & assistant head of year. Being given space 
to reduce her anxiety & panic attacks when needed. Being given the opportunity to talk to staff 
members when required. Having the opportunity to use a pen which reads text for her. 

 He attended the Resourced Provision at Honley High School from Year 9 and this was when he 
began to make really good progress in an environment where he was fully supported by 
specialist staff with a genuine understanding of his needs. 

 One to One lesson support, Morning Greet & After School Handover, Visual Timetable,  Ability 
based work,  Small groupwork, Consistent approach & Inclusive attitude (every child is special & 
unique). Part Time timetable gradually built up. 

 Changes to the college environment, understanding my child's need for time out on their terms.   
My child is in the right setting, and they are meeting my child's needs. 

 Using yellow paper to write on and using a blue overlay to read with so far 

 The teachers give him additional help 

 Staff she can talk to but no other support offered or provided. 

 Offers a separate area for break/lunchtimes, which isn't as noisy.  My son can access help and 
support here from qualified staff.  Has a care room, for him to access disabled toilet facilities. 
Considers suitable seating arrangements - so he can sit near the front, process the information 
on the whiteboard more easily.  Prints some homework/classwork in bold/larger print, so he can 
process information more easily. Leaves class slightly earlier at the end of the school day, to 
avoid busy corridors and the noisy.  Worked out which groups he would be in, to ensure he 
didn't have to go further than necessary from one lesson to another. Re therapies; hardly any, 
even though EHCP mentions this.  Certain key workers communicate well, but there are times 
when I feel to be constantly emailing/phoning etc to try and sort matters out, which I feel should 
have been sorted already.  My child wished to remain in mainstream and follow his peers.  
There may be have another school which educationally he may have fared better at, but 
emotionally, it would have caused problems to move him out of the pyramid.  Key staff definitely 
have an inclusive attitude.  The school as a whole, I do not believe they do.  The school seems 
focussed only on being a platform for those children moving onto higher ed / university.  I don't 
feel it caters as well for those children who cannot always access standard subjects and doesn't 
seem to offer sufficient help towards their future in this respect.  Nor would my son be suitable 
for a specialist school, so there is a gap in provision for those children with moderate learning 
difficulties, but also who are suited to main stream, if the help and support was there. 

 Intensive support from the Thorn Centre has meant my son has come on lots.  Def the right 
school.  Wonderful attitude from all the staff. 

 Support majority of the time whilst in school. Lots of visual aids i.e. now and next boards. Has 
his own personal space within class. Social therapies recommended my educational 
psychologist. Things were incredibly difficult when my child started in Reception. He was 

Page 242



37 
 

excluded twice yet investigations showed he was working at age 3 for most of his development 
areas. I do not believe that school have an inclusive attitude. He would spend very long periods 
in isolation and was restrained on a regular basis. We were told to punish him at home when he 
did something wrong in school. We had to fight to get him to the point he’s at now. 

 Her 1:1 support time helps her progress. Interventions to help her socially as well as tailored 
phonics when it was being delivered. 

 Visual timetables, slanted writing board, pencil grips, Lego therapy, art therapy 

 all staff aware of sons anxiety/autism and know the ‘signs’ to look out for and how to respond.  - 
provision made for extra exam time/separate space - SEN staff available at all times of day  - 
staff just generally ‘look out for him’ 

 1-2-1 support has improved all areas of my child’s development, they include him in class but 
have to make some changes. For example in PE they ask all the children to copy him for 5 
minutes then at the end they do the same, as my child likes this he is more likely to stay for the 
whole lesson and take part. He has a visual timetable and has Autism outreach in regularly to 
see if they can change anything or make any improvements. I feel I have a good relationship 
with the school and I’m kept up to date. 

 His school have been brilliant in incorporating Lucas in every activity and have adapted some 
sports so that he can take part the same as his peer group.  They have secured a sports 
wheelchair, so that he can use this in PE as and when needed. They have also included all of 
his physio that he needs to do and have also provided additional support for him outside of his 
statement hours, so that he is safe at dinner time and also at break times.  He has been 
included in after School clubs as well, which has really helped with his social skills. 

 One to one teaching at PRU littler class sizes 

 Nothing 

 Not in the right school to meet his needs. Staff treat him as naughty rather than understanding 
his needs. Challenging behaviours mean he is put either in isolation or excluded. Not allowed to 
go on trips. Staff have previously told me autism doesn't exist! 

 Absolutely amazing school, fab communication 

 Specialist autism staff, access to place for input and calm tome, mentoring and 1-2-1 support. 

 His teacher. She has made a great effort to gain a better understanding of his very complex 
needs. His school is well structured and I believe he is in the best place available within the LA. 
He makes very little progress despite having the ability to learn and despite staff working hard to 
figure but new strategies for him. On a positive note his school provides a good and varied level 
of outbound activities which I believe our son benefits from tremendously. 

 School has started to have activities where my son mixes with other children i.e., cards group so 
that he's on a level playing field and it’s not just running around which he can't do - that’s good. 
Also good is that they have found him a computer to work on instead of writing all the time as he 
finds fine motor skills really hard - that’s good too. I find some staff a challenge - talking about 
his difficulties in front of him to other adults - this makes me sad and my son sad. I don't want 
him to hear that they don't think that he'll ever achieve at activity xxx he has challenges but he's 
very clever and picks up on everything. I know that this worries him as he has said so 

 Our child is in the wrong school to help him with his needs. We are as parents trying to get him 
into Woodley school and college 

 Music therapy , sensory room, pecs, teachers who understand their needs; visual  time table 

 A mother who has been proactive in orchestrating and fighting for support for her child from the 
very start. The fight started in 2014, when child was 3 and the SLT at time said there was no 
issues with his speech and language and that he was just 'delayed by 6 months'. I would not 
take no for an answer and insisted he was given slt. 4 years down the line he is still under the slt 
caseload with a diagnosis of DLD. I have paid to be Makaton trained, I have paid to be pecs 
trained, I have paid for private assessments and therapies, I have attended meetings after 
meeting trying to get the right professionals around the table to discuss ways in supporting my 
child. Kirklees have this 'too little too late' support system for children with moderate levels of 
SEN. The severe needs are given an EHCP, the mild needs are given QFT and SEN support 
the moderate SEN needs are given support in a form of an IEP/MSP which does not reflect the 
level of their complex needs. I have built a portfolio of evidence on how my child has been 

Page 243



38 
 

supported since 2014, and we have been refused a needs assessment. I am taking the LA to 
disability discrimination tribunal. 

 Our children progress due to the alternative, specialist package that is on offer to them. They are 
able to access a practical curriculum with individualised support and plenty of outdoor space. 
The staff are specialised in therapy interventions and tailoring support to fit each child's needs. 

 Home counselling 

 Formal interventions have not helped as much as a positive attitude towards SEN, commitment 
to supporting my child, and an ethos of acceptance and understanding. These attitudes 
permeate the daily routines of the school and mean that my child gets the support he needs 
naturally. Since transferring from an 'outstanding' primary school to an 'inadequate' high school, 
he has been allowed to work towards outcomes that are relevant to him, rather than being 
pushed into getting better academic results to support the school's performance in league 
tables. Accordingly, he is happier in school and ironically his academic progress has also 
improved.  I strongly feel that schools' performance should be measured on their commitment to 
inclusion rather than academic results. Far too many of the Kirklees schools judged by Ofsted to 
be 'outstanding' have appalling SEN provision, and a complete lack of understanding the needs 
of children with SEN. This is a well-known fact amongst Kirklees parents who have been in the 
SEN system for a while, and amongst professionals who work in the education/SEN system in 
Kirklees, and it is about time this matter was addressed forcibly. As long as school are judged on 
results alone, only those schools who are willing to prioritise emotional wellbeing over academic 
results are going to truly meet the holistic needs of children with SEND. Unfortunately, these 
schools are penalised by the system (e.g. Ofsted) whilst the schools who tend not to 
accept/include SEND achieve better results and are regarding 'outstanding'. 

 My son really struggled terribly when he started high school. This improved a little when we went 
to tribunal because he then had 1:1 support full time and a dyscalculia tutor and has dyslexia 
tuition.  However school are not very inclusive at all, e.g., they refuse to provide him with a room 
in which to eat by himself (with supervision) and they also refuse to let him do the PE sessions 
he enjoys and finds the most accessible for him. So he hasn’t done PE at all since the very start 
of high school. Before the tribunal the Senco told me that her school don’t do 1:1 for any pupil.  If 
he find a class too noisy he will have a seizure so he doesn’t want to go into some lessons, he 
then goes to another room with his 1:1 support.  School do not understand autism or anxiety, yet 
they told me and the LA they could meet his needs. They have recently said they can’t meet his 
needs so we are now looking for a new school. They should have done this much sooner as he 
has missed out on so many lessons. The communication between myself and school is terrible. 
They don’t reply to my emails. We had to complain to the governors. School were saying that I 
email them too much. Yet I had told them many times that I have my own communication 
difficulties so therefore email is my preferred form of communication. They insisted that I should 
speak to his 1:1 when I drop my son at school or pick him up even though I found this difficult 
and also told them that the reception area isn’t private. 

 Changes to timetable, provision of small group work, emotional support, behavioural support, 
speech therapy, physical therapy, inclusion in mainstream classes, changes to the school 
environment, provision of specialist equipment (e.g.laptops, coloured over lays), small 
manageable targets, staff training. 

 Personal experience of key staff members. Advice from other agencies (autism outreach, PPRS) 
and enthusiasm of the educational psychologist.  Modified classroom environment & activities, 
visual timetable, lots of one to one (not funded) and inclusive attitude amongst staff and children. 
Social communication group with TA, extra staff training provided by the ed psych. At the 
moment the school meets his needs reasonably well although this may change without extra 
funding (EHCP) The school does have a higher than average percentage of SEND children. 

 Continuity and environment as in same classroom familiar staff and peers regular reviews. 

 Nursery adopting a gentle parenting approach. 

 The ANP that my child has helps him to improve one step at a time and not be overwhelmed. 
Also he was to move into the yr6 class in September but has been kept in the yr5 class, has he 
was behind in Maths and English. He receives one to one help in the classroom. The teacher 
has assured if she thinks there are any issues that must be raised, we would be informed. 

 Don’t know 

Page 244



39 
 

 One to one full time trained intervenor. Daily physiotherapy. 

 Triangle pencil; my child is defo not at the right school to meet his needs they’re struggling with 
him yet no support for him. 

 Northorpe Hall interventions including counselling and group therapy.  Although initially referred 
by school this is the only support our child has had and it's been out of school. 

 The school has been flexible in allowing my child to attend gradually and get used to a very 
different school setting to the mainstream setting he has attended in the past. 

 Specialist staff who have had training in SEMH. They understand the needs of my child which 
has been paramount in helping him progress in his personal, social and emotional development, 
but also in his academic achievement too. School/class environment very different to 
mainstream schools. Class sizes are small and high adult to pupil ratio to ensure needs are met 
for my child and the other children in his class. School has encouraged my child in what he 
excels in-PE. This has included giving him opportunities to help coach younger pupils in school, 
playing sport outside school e.g. part of a football team. Also encouraging him to participate in a 
PE coaching course outside of the school environment and supporting him in communicating 
with pupils from different schools who were on the same course.  Outside agencies being 
involved with the family and with school thus working together to benefit my son. Good daily 
communication with school. 

 My child has only recently started at special school but seems to like it there. The environment is 
more nurturing but he is finding it difficult making friends because of the varying needs of the 
other children. He is Autistic and is in with children from violent and abusive backgrounds and is 
picking up there colourful language. 

 Unfortunately nothing has helped my child progress. He has not coped with mainstream high 
school and has had less than 50% attendance in the last two years (now in yr 9 and on a part 
time timetable). It has not been the right setting for him but it has taken almost 2 years to go 
through the process of My Support Plan to EHCP and also to reach the top of the ASD 
assessment waiting list.   His EHCP will be complete shortly and he has been awarded Level A 
funding, I have asked for him to be moved to an ASD specific unit.  The staff in the Learning 
Support Unit have really given their all to try and make it work for him but often the rest of the 
school, in terms of policy and practises, works against what he needs and what the LSU have 
tried to achieve with him. This has resulted in a very disengaged and alienated child and I, as his 
main carer, also feel like I am working outside of the normal school system and getting nowhere. 

 Yes it is the right school as they are meeting her needs now. However this wasn't the case 
initially, my daughter had a support plan in place due to her being adopted and having significant 
delays both mentally and emotionally. The school tried their best but did not have the resources 
to fully meet her needs.  It took a considerable amount of time for her EHCP to be accepted as 
she was turned a couple of times.  Since I could see my daughter struggling I could not let this 
slip through as she needed more support within the school environment.  Now she has a 1.1, the 
school did not have the funds to provide this for her previously.   She has band A funding, my 
daughter would not have received this if I had given up.  This was a fight as I wouldn't have 
given up on her behalf.  My daughter has PTSD, she is HI and has a learning difficulty.   She 
needs a lot of support within the school, the school did their best to support her with the funds 
they had available but it was a constant struggle for the school. It was surprising she was turned 
down twice and then have the full award given, if she had been awarded earlier it could have 
helped her social and emotional wellbeing.  It was getting to a crisis point especially at home as 
her anxieties were not been addressed within the school environment.  (Through lack of 
resources) no fault towards the school. The school have been very supportive and still are, they 
provided the best they could with the resources they had. 

 Small group support; personalised curriculum; playtime provision; commissioned speech 
therapist; daily one to one support. 

 The school provide an individualised timetable using visual supports also. His one to one will 
change things round if needed depending on what type of day he is having. They communicate 
fairly well using a home school book and email. Despite the many adaptations the school have 
made he is struggling in a mainstream school environment and the deterioration in behaviour 
reflects this. I feel his one to one and school Senco are brilliant. It's a big problem when his one 

Page 245



40 
 

to one is not there as the attitude some staff members have is not helpful and many struggle to 
deal with him often having to get the Senco to deal with him. 

 One to one with a teacher. Meetings with me (mummy), flexible with times. 

 My child was progressing with a lovely staff who was patient with my child and took the best out 
of him  until this year September the headteacher  got 2 staff who already were working in 
school to work with my child one in morning and one in afternoon they both had no patience 
whatsoever they kept pointing out on my sons negative behaviour and constantly told him what 
not to do, this resulted in him getting frustrated and showing challenging behaviour, he has been 
excluded and it was due to having untrained staff to understand his needs and difficulties. He is 
at home and is so sad upset bored he doesn’t even remember the staff he worked with this year 
he still remembers the one he worked with before she was caring and lovely. The headteacher 
should’ve discussed this with us before appointing new staff to work with my son. But she didn’t 
she just did what she felt like and destroyed my sons capabilities. 

 One to one support; quiet time away from the class; special PE lessons to help with physical 
development; lessons in small groups away from the class. 

 Hearing Impairment specialist once a week; one to one support in Maths and English. 

 Learning a language has been removed from my son's curriculum. His transition from junior to 
high school was handled well. 

 The nurture provision is excellent in the infant school, but has greater need than it can meet. 
The staff are lovely in nurture and in general, however the eta are again not able to meet all the 
needs of the children. My sons EHCP only enables him to have one to one support for half the 
school day, in the junior school there is no afternoon play, so he has no chance to burn off his 
energy and struggles to access the curriculum in the same way as his peers. 

 I am a current teacher at Joseph Norton Academy and I believe that the children in our setting 
make good progress with both their SEMH and academic needs for a number of different 
reasons.  These include; The support of the staff at Joseph Norton which include their ability to 
provide personalised and targeted support for all pupils due to a recent increase in staffing 
numbers. The positive and wide ranging curriculum that the pupils access. The development of 
links across the Wellspring Academy Trust that provides opportunities for staff CPD and leads to 
enhanced knowledge and expertise.  This is an area that the Wellspring Academy Trust has a 
wide range of expertise, knowledge and ability to share good practice and offer training and 
development across a range of local authorities.  As a teacher at the school my attendance at a 
number of CPD days within the trust has increased my understanding and practice around 
effectively meeting the needs of SEMH children and ensuring that they continue to make 
positive progress.  The Wellspring Trust, I believe can offer a number of support services to 
different High Needs groups across the LA. The strong and positive leadership and direction of 
the school which uses the latest training and development around neuroscience and 
neurophysiology to impact on the pupils SEMH ability. 

 I've already submitted the survey but have an additional point to add. I have noticed that Kirklees 
Council staff don't use 'out of office assistant’.  This means that you may not receive a reply for 
many weeks, for example to an email sent to the Senact team, but then it transpires that person 
has been on two weeks holiday.  The simple step of using 'out of office' would mean that you 
were aware why you were not receiving a reply (although it has to be said the Senact team often 
do not reply for many weeks or not at all, even when no one is away on holiday. For example we 
are still awaiting a reply to an email sent to Dawn Kimmings on 21 November (today is 7 
December). 

 Teacher support flats nursery is a success The staff member has experience of SEND your 
concern is if this provision will follow; allowed for flexibility because of the diagnosis; allows to 
have different access to arrive at school. Follow up meetings. 

 Full time support 4 weeks early days to say how well they will deliver his needs Transition done 
over two days. 

 Not much support, delay in learning but minimal support given. Working memory poor and 
needs reminding but no support given. Meeting at school and school feel they are doing above 
and beyond funding but parent and child feel the child is not supported. Advice from school is 
always positive and not honest and they update what's happening the week before the meeting 
working below his peer level group 

Page 246



41 
 

 The school communicate very well with us , but I feel that my child not receiving the right therapy 
at school as he did not achieve his target last year 

 Movement/core stability group; small group work; one 2 one support; differentiated curriculum; 
wobble cushion;  pencil grip. 

 The clear consistent structure in school.  Following the same thing at home but not always 
successful.  Health visitor helping with toileting issues 

 Ravenshall supports him well at the moment but will not offer a place after post 16 
recommendations have been given for Fairfield or another school in Huddersfield. Not happy 
with limited options of post 16 schooling. 

 One to one support full time helps with safety but I feel he can improve further in learning. He 
needs to be challenged with his work and not be underestimated. School need to work harder 
with his goals especially communicating and social skills.  Inclusive in trips, assemblies. 
Receives speech therapy but we see very slow progress. He needs to be shown how to 
progress and develop existing knowledge and we don't feel the school does that well. My 
concern is that our child acquires many talents e.g. Languages / maths but are the school 
supporting him to apply his knowledge successfully? Do they have enough experience and 
knowledge to help our son celebrate and achieve success 

 My nephew attended but achieve nothing, other than a certificate of attendance! 

 Specialist school 

 Sadly, the school our daughter attended did nothing to help.  We were told our daughter's 1-1 
support would receive training (they didn't).  We were told our daughter was in a "high achieving 
class" as an explanation for why she wasn't making the same progress as her age peers.  We 
were accused of "looking for a label" for our daughter when we questioned whether she may 
have specific learning disabilities.  We were then told that even if she had specific learning 
disabilities, they wouldn't change their approach to teaching her because, "the curriculum is 
already differentiated for every child." We were repeatedly told our daughter wasn't far behind 
her age peers academically, and that she just needed to focus and try harder (though we now 
know it would not have been possible for our daughter to be working anywhere near the same 
academic level of the average age peer group). Our daughter was isolated from her friends at 
lunch time, forced to sit with the reception class because she is a slow eater, and when our 
daughter finally got up the courage to ask if she could invite friends to eat with her (at an earlier 
time than her class year would typically eat), the class teacher asked for volunteers, rather than 
ask our daughter who she'd like to invite.  Our daughter was unable to attend swimming lessons 
with the rest of her class, as the location where the lessons took place was not wheelchair 
accessible.  No effort was made to change location so our daughter could be included with her 
classmates, the alternative option offered meant our daughter would've missed critical lessons, 
the alternative option was not suitable for our daughter's physical needs (competition pool water 
would've been too cold, the instructor didn't have experience/training teaching a disabled child to 
swim/be safe in the water), and we agreed with school and Susan Cornish the best way forward 
would be for our daughter to continue with her private lessons and be observed there.  When we 
asked who would fund this, we were told there was no funding available because an alternative 
option was made available (despite it not being suitable for our daughter).  Our daughter's 1-1 
support was pulled to work with other children in small groups.  When we questioned this, school 
advised us they contacted SENACT and were advised placing our daughter in small groups 
without 1-1 support was acceptable.  We immediately contacted SENACT, and when we asked 
them why they told school that, their response was, "most Statements state small groups are 
acceptable alternatives to 1-1 support."  They had not read our daughter's statement, which 
clearly stated 1-1 support all day in no less than 2 places.  Their excuse for not reading our 
daughter's statement before responding to school, "We are not education specialists, schools 
are."  Our daughter was not allowed to "drive" her powered wheelchair to the village church for 
the annual harvest festival, citing "health and safety" as a reason.  We were told parts of the 
route had no dropped kerbs (untrue), that parts of the route had no path (true, but apparently 
walking along the street wasn't a health and safety issue for able bodied students), and told our 
daughter did not have enough experience using her powered wheelchair (in their opinion).  In 
fact, our daughter had experience taking her powered wheelchair into the village and was never 
given the opportunity to use her powered wheelchair once at school.  School advised us we 

Page 247



42 
 

could either escort our daughter to the church service (by walking alongside her in her powered 
wheelchair or via car) or they would pay for a taxi (but did not offer the option for our daughter to 
invite friends to join her in the taxi).  In the end, school offered to escort our daughter in her 
manual wheelchair, but we questioned this because in previous years "health and safety" was 
used as a reason why she couldn't be pushed in her manual wheelchair to church alongside her 
peers.  Our daughter was having daily meltdowns at home after school and when we expressed 
our concerns to school, we were told she had no behaviour issues at school, and it must be a 
parenting issue.  In the days leading up to de-registering our daughter, the head teacher 
threatened us on 3 separate occasions with reporting us to child safeguarding.    Please feel free 
to contact us directly to expand upon any of the above situations at 01484605865. 

 Nothing has yet been made available to Blake 

 Visual timetable, intensive interaction, workstation, SaLT, turning off the school bell, weighted 
blanket. social stories, adapted timetable, sensory breaks, Makaton. 

 Things that contribute towards progress: 1. Inclusive attitude of staff (e.g. Maths teachers 
thoughts on "how can I get her to engage" rather than it all being her fault.  Asking for help from 
RP unit for tips and techniques, the starting point that all students go on the residential (which 
was a great success).  College have made a lot of adaptations too. 2. Adapting curriculum and 
differentiating within the classroom.  2 national curriculum subjects dropped in Y9 and a "blank" 
left in Y10 and 11 in order to allow time to decompress and work on other more "social skills".  
Dance teacher at college adjusts the routine for her in a very practical, not picking her out kind of 
way. 3. Being sensible with the behaviour policy - a meltdown isn't a conscious decision to 
misbehave always.  Additionally if a child learns that "kicking off" gets them out of a classroom 
and being in a classroom is an issue as social situations are hard for them then that's what they 
do.  Being excluded is not a punishment when you find it really hard to be in school - the 
punishment is being in school in their eyes.  They soon learn how to get excluded.  The best 
staff understood this and also understood that sometimes the child needed to be out of the 
classroom (not always because of behaviour but because working towards a meltdown) - but if 
they were they took the work and it was expected that it was done. 4. Feeling valued by at least 
some members of staff.  This could be particular teachers or TA but it really helps if there is 
someone in school/college the child feels is on their side.  Especially when they have behaviour 
issues.  They feel no incentive to try if they think (not always rightly!) that everyone hates them. 
5. The ability to go and work quietly somewhere else i.e. in a separate classroom with or without 
TA.  Not all schools have this break out quiet space.  We're not talking about internal exclusion 
rooms.  College try to do this as well. 6. Having a good communication method with 
school/college - usually email works best - hard to get hold of staff on the phone.  It is valuable 
to have good things communicated as well as "bad".  It isn't helpful for parents to feel the only 
time school/college ring is if there is a problem. 7. Having creative approaches to problems - 
eventually was allowed to drive on site at school because she would not get out of the car.  
Everyone else had a taxi and was dropped by the RP unit and she wasn't.  Once this changed 
she was more willing to get out of the car and the staff could see if she wasn't - all it took was 
appearing by the car and she'd get out.  Before it had taken up to an hour to persuade her. 8. 
Having a TA - her anxieties and behaviour vary throughout the day and depending on what she 
is doing.  It really helps to have someone who knows her well and can head off and de-escalate 
behaviours.  Without it she would not be able to attend college.   9.Having amazing staff, one in 
particular who talked to college to help them with managing her - she actually went in to college 
to do this (daughter was part of an education project she was writing up but still). 

 The school meets all the above and have tailored timetable to child’s needs. The school also 
had a Makaton club for friends in school. All staff did Makaton training that was involved with 
her.  They have also provided a communication book and will phone if any issues arise. We 
have regular meetings and reviews. All meetings are documented and paperwork detailing the 
meeting discussions sent out in the post. For junior school, they are not sure if they can meet 
her needs so plans are being put together to have a possible link with Castle Hill school to meet 
her communication needs. Not quite sure how that's going to work yet. Have been very happy 
with them and don't want to leave!! 

 SENCO has been fantastic, head has been fantastic, they've adapted the toilets, worked with 
him to understand his needs. Has physio delivered in school, standing frame in school, still goes 

Page 248



43 
 

special needs swimming on Monday mornings.  Communication with school is good. We work 
closely together. 

 When he started at school, I told the Head (SENCO) that I thought he had additional needs. At 
that time he had not been referred anywhere for assessment.  They said they "would keep an 
eye on him" but actually he was just punished all the time for "behaviour".  That went on for 
three years - until a new Head teacher started when he had speech and language assessment 
and they got Autism Outreach out. I got him referred through CAMHS via GP.  We waited three 
years for autism assessment and he now has a diagnosis of high functioning autism.  He got 
support after new Head started - IEP's and MSP's and I was kept informed of what was 
happening. He continued to have real difficulties in school - struggled to concentrate on work 
etc. My son didn't like some of the support in place because it made him look different to 
everyone else and he is aware that he is different and it's really upsetting in.  Autism Outreach 
have been fantastic at helping with this. They come to school once a week. Some of the TA's 
have been better than the staff - currently his teacher is not very understanding. They 
communicate well with me and are very supportive (the HEAD teacher particularly).  Not very 
happy with teacher - I've had to report her. 

 School have put him in a smaller group since the last parents' evening as it has become clear 
that his understanding is not where it should be although on the surface his maths is good and 
his reading is OK. That was only since October half term so not possible to assess if it is 
working. 

 He only started college in September so I want to say something about school as well.  The big 
difference between school and college is that college listen to parent and student - the student 
voice is heard and encouraged - quite the opposite of school. The Support worker is well 
informed, it’s consistent (one person), she comes to all his meetings, is knowledgeable about his 
condition and how it affects him and will contact me if needed.  Generally everything is in place 
that was required by his EHC Plan.  The only issue we have is that they are not very good at 
breaking things down into manageable chunks as this is new to them and my son does appear 
very academic and is very articulate so it's deceptive.  They are trying to sort this out.  The big 
difference is that they make an effort.  Communication is very good. New College have an 
inclusive attitude. 

 Not much progress in Ravenshall School  Not very happy with the school - please see 
comments below. 

 The Maths tutor contacted me directly to offer extra support, however see below as this was not 
as positive as it sounds. Nothing the school has done has helped my child progress.  In fact her 
grades are gradually slipping. The school tell me that they've got children with significantly 
higher needs to support and that she doesn't need extra support. She has just done her mocks 
and the results are very poor. Sorry, nothing positive to say and would not recommend this 
school to any parent for their SEN provision (Honley High School). 

 She goes to moorend academy where they do everything they can to help her. Things they have 
done include - giving her a pass to leave class five minutes early to avoid the crowds for her 
next class. giving her a corridor pass so she can leave any lesson at any time if it becomes too 
much for her (especially useful if the class gets noisy or disruptive.) she can either wait in the 
corridor for 2 mins (often she does this if she has got upset to calm down) or go to the head of 
years office or go to the TLC room which is usually staffed by a member of the sen team. If it is 
not then she can access the VI unit. She has a pass to jump to the front of the queue for lunch 
on the rare occurrence she is without a packed lunch as she struggles with the jostling in the 
queue. She also has permission to go to the toilet at any point as she doesn't realize she needs 
it till she is desperate. (usually they have to go at break or lunch). Some teachers will let her go 
back to the classroom during lunch/break (which fall halfway through a lesson) as she struggles 
with the crowds at these times. School are very good at putting strategies in place straight away 
as problems occur instead of letting them escalate. Nipping them in the bud means that only 
small changes are often needed rather than having to do "damage control" because the 
problems have been allowed to escalate into a large issue. The school is very inclusive to the 
extent last  year when she won an achievement award  I contacted the person in charge to 
explain that she didn't feel confident and was too scared to go on stage to collect her award they 
arranged for a member of staff to meet her in the foyer of the town hall and stay with her the 
whole time and even escorted her on stage as she was too scared to go alone. They also did 

Page 249



44 
 

this for a visually impaired student as well. when they went to Alton Towers as a reward (they 
take every student that achieves their inspire me award) they made sure she knew where a 
teacher was who was prepared for her to stay with them if she felt that she needed it. She is 
struggling with friendships at the moment as she has made friends for the first time and is 
getting worried about what to expect and how to deal with friends etc so they have said they will 
do some one 2 one work around this with her. When she was scared by the book they were 
reading in English (to the point of getting nightmares) the senco sat down with her and went 
through it with her so the fear was dealt with and she understood it. She has a writing slope to 
improve her writing. She also has a tangle to fiddle with when she is anxious and a fluffy pen / 
pencil case to help sooth her. She is allowed to doodle and draw when listening as it helps focus 
her as she struggles to concentrate when people are just speaking. She also has the option to 
leave class when there is a supply / unfamiliar teacher as this change distresses her although 
when her anxiety is low she can sometimes cope. They also encourage her to go back to class if 
they feel she will cope rather than just letting her sit out. they also will send a runner for her work 
or encourage her to bring it with her so that she doesn't fall behind if going back to class isn't an 
option. She will often find the teachers after school to find out what she has missed or if she 
doesn't understand what they have covered in class. They all seem happy for her to do that and 
to go over the work/ homework which reduces her anxiety. 

 My son attends an out of authority special school for children with complex communication 
issues.  The school is expert in this field and his needs could not be met in a local school.  The 
school has expertise across many forms of alternative communication and have the resources to 
provide this properly for children and young people.  What has helped was a proper introduction 
to Picture Exchange Communication (PECs) so my son understood it is about two way 
communication and was really motivated to make it work.  They have built gradually on this 
system over the years so he has quite an extensive vocabulary and can form sentences and is 
an effective communicator.  They have an understanding of the impact of multi-sensory 
impairment and offer a "sensory diet" throughout his school day and can tweak this depending 
on his needs.  They understand the massive fatigue caused by multi-sensory impairment and 
now that impacts on his ability to learn and make sure they are flexible with his timetable to 
make the most of his best periods of attention and concentration during the school day.  Again 
the expertise is there.  All the TA's are highly trained intervenors, fully understand alternative 
communication techniques and have extensive behaviour management training. Staff use BSL 
with him as well as picture symbols as he was in a signing school prior to this school for 9 years 
and understands some BSL despite his vision impairment. He has 1 to 1 support and access to 
all sorts of activities, e.g. cycling, swimming, music (experienced via a resonance board), 
cookery, IT, speech & Language therapy, an amazing art studio and bespoke support to help 
become a unique and talented photographer. There are outings in the community e.g. visits to 
the supermarket to help him purchase his own items and to help with the use of money, and 
visits to places like the local library.  The communication is amazing via home school books and 
emails, meetings are well scheduled with lots of time allocated, and all staff understand the 
impact on families of caring for someone with complex needs and are very supportive.  
Individual targets are carefully selected and are challenging without being impossible to achieve 
and there is an aspirational approach with the belief that all students have capacity to achieve 
well. My son has flourished since he has been there and is capable of far more things than I 
ever thought he would be, and I have always believed in his abilities. They have always carried 
out person centred reviews (before the Children & Families Act) and everyone's views are 
included. They have an assistive technologist on staff who makes sure she is up to date with all 
the latest communication apps and technology so my son has access to these and is able to try 
things out.  They use video to help him overcome his difficulties with transition to certain places 
or activities which reduces his anxiety and breaks down his unwillingness to change activities or 
location. They are always willing to explore creative new ways to motivate students and also 
always listen to what families have to say.  They will create resources if needed and help us to 
help our son to learn new ways of working or new picture symbols.  They have also provided 
training for his direct payments care staff. In post 16 he has accessed lots of different work type 
activities like delivering mail, shredding and copying, cleaning in the gym, washing cars and 
bikes,  making dog biscuits for sale and delivering them and so on. 

Page 250



45 
 

 Coming on leaps and bounds before 1:1 taken away.  1:1 learning Makaton, swimming, 
Shebang. 

 Early referral to Autism Outreach – signposted by school – CAMHS don’t accept PDA – 
CHEWS.  School is amazing – head is brilliant – listen to parents – has daily contact with Head 
(very responsive), teacher and SENCO.  Model of good practice.  Can tell teachers all get on 
together, treat each other with respect.  Well liked peer group – school supports other children’s 
understanding i.e. aggression/violence/swearing.  Very good SENCO.  Everson. 

 Has her own safe place as was school refusing.  One ‘keyworker’ who deals with her – 
consistency.  Staff very caring in general.  Location local to us – wouldn’t cope with a long 
journey.  Timeout card/toilet pass.  Contacting the school – don’t fob you off.  When low level 
bullying occurred it has been dealt with. 

 Ravenshall – didn’t work for secondary – lack of visuals at home 7 months.  PDA.  Slow 
integration to Woodley.  Mum hasn’t been listened to by school, CAMHS, EP.  Good teacher and 
support.  Orchard View on Friday nights.  CAMHS nurses working on behaviour. 

 Headmistress – Mrs Tate fantastic.  Very nurturing environment – outdoor, group work, practical 
work, applying maths/English to a practical setting.  Built confidence in small groups – staged 
support into settings like supermarket.  Understanding the concept of time.  Built around 
structured routine which fit to needs.  Staff listen to parents.  Adapting curriculum/environment to 
needs. 

 Lots of meetings with mum and schools.  Coming up with ideas and tactics.  Sharing ideas. 
Providing a place for my child to go and calm down if necessary.  Very supportive of mum’s 
concerns.  Lots of advice from an excellent SENCO in junior School who ensured that he had a 
good transition to High School.  Being able to attend out of school clubs to help him to socialise 
at his own pace and in his own way without having to conform to too many.  Having particular 
adult to go to. 

 Friendly support staff.  Good peer group.  Travels to college by taxi. 

 No EY SEN referral in pre-school as coping.  Using THRIVE – seems to be helping if in THRIVE 
room.  Forest School.  Thinking spot in class but doesn’t always take him there.  Feel school 
keen to exclude rather than deal with problem.  Some improvements in school but feel needs 1:1 
support to catch him early when going off to distract him. 

 Moved out from home to live with Dad.  Careers – 2 appointments helped with CV – applied for 
an Apprenticeship.  Could have done with follow up support.  Working part time 0 hours contract 
– sorted job out for him-self. 

 Honley High until age 13 – positive communication possibly due to other service involvement.  
Adjustments for toilet pass.  Able to leave class early.  Adjustments with dinner pass to go in first 
and take friend with her.  Nurture group – year 7 (additional needs, small group, individualised 
learning, adapted curriculum) – overall worked well.  ETHOS – full ed. Assessments – adapted 
curriculum, inclusivity and small group setting, sensory needs supported, named person to talk 
to. 

 School has hearing provision – more awareness of needs.  Regular contact with HI team.  Staff 
have regular meetings.  Successful MSP.  Teachers are aware of needs.  Adapted facilities to 
suit needs.  Access to appropriate support worker.  Adaptable to moving around school. 

 Forest School/outdoor learning – allowed to get muddy.  Singing/drama activities on offer by the 
school e.g. going on bear hunt.  In school nursery for half days with a class of 18 there were 
more good day than bad (in a more unstructured environment). 

 House modifications – Children with Disability.  Sensory pack – Caldwell Children.  Family fund 
service – Giving for Garden. 

 FSW came into home to help manage behaviour at home from Action for Children.  Helped 
tackle meltdowns but not need for rituals – support stopped – funding went.  This helped with 
ongoing management.  School – made progress reading and writing.  Feel school doesn’t 
communicate when feels don’t have time to answer questions.  Parents evening not long 
enough – teacher talked.  Mum made separate appointment but didn’t feel it went well.  Parents 
don’t know what school may be doing that’s different.  Thinks gets additional support – bottom 
group – don’t know what work year. 

 Gained a lot from being in mainstream – part of same group and learning with peer group.  
Challenged to achieving and social skills more than being in special school.  Inclusion for other 

Page 251



46 
 

pupils.  School adapted PE curriculum well linking with coaches at Newsome High School.  Pro-
active support – amazing ETA e.g. reading book too hard – gives video at home.  1:1 support 
unproved - stressful. 

 Happy with school.  School supports parents e.g. personal hygiene, brushing hair/teeth.  Good 
routine in school – behaviour better.  Confused reality e.g. children hitting her.  Swimming.  Does 
physio in school (not at home). 

 Accommodating in terms of parking – flexibility – made a difference to my life.  Communicator 
with SENCO is good.  Very inclusive.  Promoting independence.  Regular EIP meetings every 
term.  My child is happy at school.  Responds to concerns well.  Involving in lots of activities. 

 Not quite clear (we are grandparents). 

 This is definitely helping, the parents are working with her on the same plan.  We are happy with 
the effort of school and the communication. 

 New teacher this year seems to have helped.  Speech and Language therapy. 

 What’s good about now!  CURRENT:-  School provide reassurance that they will manage child 
and not expect parents to come and pick them up.  Staff understanding needs.  Smaller groups.  
Routines.  Transition prep KS3-4 flexible. 

 Really listening to Joe’s needs, working at his pace and slowly building up his time in college 
and trust in the staff working with him.  Having a plan written down of college timetable and if an 
issue arises, Aspire-Igen have been flexible and responsive to change the plan whenever the 
need arises e.g. splitting a full day to 2 x half days.  I have to say that Aspire-Igen at Dewsbury 
have been brilliant with Joe (especially Jude, who is Joe’s support worker). 

 The right 1:1 support worker (male) responds better.  Attitude of Head Teacher. 

 He has 1:1 speech therapist fortnightly for 25 minutes.  Lego club at school (not sure why).  
They haven’t done anything for him, just the opposite the school has failed my child.  I’ve had to 
have private assessment to identify needs, school have not implemented any of them.  Very 
disappointed in the SENCO in particular who I feel has hindered my child getting a diagnosis of 
Autism – he was taken off the ASD list when the SENCO told professionals he gave eye contact 
etc. so wasn’t autistic. 

 Colne Valley School!  NOT BEING THERE!  No communication, knocked his self-worth, made 
him feel like a naughty child, no recognition of his additional needs.  Told him he was lazy etc.  
‘Told to leave his disabilities at home so his parents could deal with it’.  Put him in isolation 
rather than deal with his needs – teachers were part of the problem – no empathy or 
understanding. 

 In the last school Calderdale it was poor communication and lack of ability to coordinate, no 
belief in my child’s needs, no ability to recognise my child’s needs.  School is getting to know my 
child, communication is good, they believe me and see his needs.  Good responses to emails.  
He has got an IEP with regular reviews.  Safe space in class, now and next board, visual 
timetable – changing the support and depending on his needs.  He has 1:2 support for lunch 
away from others.  Ear defenders, lots of flexibility, recognise needs.  Anticipating needs – 
skilled teachers know his needs. 

 One to one support during lessons.  Has a short attention and gets bored easily if struggling with 
work. 

 Staff trained in ASD.  Small unit – environment right, staff accept his behaviours.  Son has 
changed from being blank behind the eyes to seeing the little boy.  Being able to go into 
Mainstream classes helped with social skills.  Provision staff are guided by the child – learnt to 
read at basic level, speech come on, can swim with arm bands, accesses Street Bikes, focus on 
independence and life skills. 

 Has laptop provided but doesn’t use it. 

 Differentiate timescales – removed from foreign language – 2 additional English – 1 Social 
Skills/Life Skills.  Listening to parents and responding to requests.  Individualised approach – 
they ‘get my child’.  Flexible approach.  Inclusive attitude.  Peers are supportive – lovely kids. 

 Recognition by LA that certain specialisms were not available locally.  A round the clock learning 
programme in residential setting  helps overcome the time disadvantage for my student, when 
everything takes much longer to achieve because of access difficulties and when so much time 
is lost due to health or care needs.  On site therapies – speech, physio, OT, hydrotherapy 
helped maintain or stabilise physical difficulties to enable engagement in learning.  On site 

Page 252



47 
 

health and medical care with experience of complex physical and health needs, helped minimise 
the effect of health issues on learning.  Highly specialised teaching and therapy staff with 
experience of very complex needs, e.g., Specialised AAC speech therapist (alternative 
communication), physiotherapists and occupational therapists with postural care training, 
assistive technologists with experience of alternative environmental and mobility controls.  An 
inclusive attitude from staff but one that also recognises the need to be different.  E.g., including 
a baking and cooking class on the timetable of someone who cannot eat orally, cannot use their 
hands and has no interest in food, is attempting “social inclusion” but is not inclusive education.  
A highly individualised learning programme focussing on what will most benefit the individual 
student and which will equip them with the skills they need to do whatever they plan for their 
future.  Providing the tools to engage in learning and participate in society.  EG using alternative 
communication and assistive technology to become more independent.  Recognition that 
independence or life skills can be different for different people and these cannot be achieved on 
a one size fits all course.  Our personal example;  working on core skills of literacy, numeracy 
and computer technology to direct their own care, make their own decisions and be less 
vulnerable to others.     Studying e-commerce and social media skills, to work towards goals of 
self-employment, social enterprise or volunteering in the community.  These are far more 
meaningful than what was locally available – animal care, “social skills”, life skills aimed at 
students with physical skills and learning/behaviour difficulties, rather than physical disabilities 
without learning disabilities. 

 They fully involve everyone in things like the Christmas play and everyone uses Makaton signing 
in those type of events.  It’s a small school so everyone knows each other. 

 It’s a special school so my child’s needs are net by class teacher.  She is a good communicator 
(only this year). 

 The schools includes her in things, makes changes to include her.  She gets physio, speech & 
Language support, educational psychologist.  SENCO’s are well involved and Head Teacher is 
really good.  She’s in reception but the whole school knows her and she’s included.  All the kids 
in the school with SEN are involved. 

 My son’s in the right school (Ravenshall); small class size, he has severe speech delay, staff 
have placed him in a class with children who have good speech to support hims – lots of 
encouragement – this helps his language.  He goes to gym and Street Bikes weekly as part of 
his curriculum. His teacher is very good.  Great communication with current teacher.  Last year 
he wasn’t in the right class as his peers over-supported him which didn’t encourage him to 
speak.  He was then moved to a different class/children which has helped – he’s settled with 
new children/staff.  They do a lot of work with my child with speech and language which helps 
him to access the curriculum. 

 She gets speech therapy which she never got at school, an hour a week with a trained therapist.  
They strictly follow the EHCP, eg. They have put travel training and cookery to match her EHCP. 
This is an additional full day on top of the three days that she gets. She has had to go to 
Wakefield college to access a course that is appropriate for her needs – at Kirklees College, you 
have to do life skills or have to have high levels to do level 1 courses.  She is in the middle so 
there was no local provision. She does functional skills, ICT, vocational tasters.  She’s doing an 
Employability level 3 which will enable her to access a level course.  Vocational tasters include 6 
weeks on tourism, health and social care – nothing like that available at all in Kirklees.  The 
communication is fantastic – SENCO on tap any time if you want to talk to her.  Can ring any 
time, they keep an eye on her and is they have issues, they ring me.  It’s really good. I can’t fault 
Wakefield for anything – they take everything really seriously.  She’s in a class with mixed ability 
kids, very few with special needs.  There are small classes – 10 or 12 in each, but they are 
doing educational stuff, not fun things or just passing the time.  They listen to parents and young 
people.  They talk to her regularly, for instance she was struggling with Maths and they have put 
on more support for her.  Regular parents’ evenings. 

 The school have the funding to differentiate, they have specific goals in his IEP, specific help, 
e.g. Scribe. 

 They do all the ABOVE and more.  The staff are amazing in how they manage and at the same 
time teach other children, and manage other children who have their differences.  They make 

Page 253



48 
 

sure my child is safe as she doesn’t really understand dangers and the school and I are always 
in contact with each other. 

What difficulties does your child have in their setting (apart from those they 
already get help with?) (Consider your child's needs and whether you think they are being 
met.  Can you identify gaps and if so, what do you think they are? e.g. equipment, additional 
reading support? State what you think is not working, even if you don't know how school might 
deal with it. Is school following the IEP, MSP or EHCP?) 
  74 responses (listed below) - 31 

 Lack of understanding from other students is very frustrating for her. Stand in teachers being 
unaware of students with SEN or lack of understanding of said SEN. 

 getting to college, anxiety at unstructured times, getting from room to room, support in class, 
breaking down tasks, re-assurance, emotional regulation, anger management, organisation and 
planning, breaking down and de-coding instructions, emotional wellbeing, dealing with change, 
communication, social interactions, self-esteem, wellbeing, learning support etc. etc. ( at school 
and now at college too 

 Gaps in support throughout the day mean that our child sometimes 'gets it wrong'. Childs 
feelings are not always validated. Early Life Trauma in Adopted Children is not widely 
understood. 

 The college is supporting and meeting my child's need well.  School felt like a babysitting 
service, without a true focus on my child's needs.  It was more about squashing the existing 
curriculum to fit their needs rather than their needs dictating the schooling. 

 because she is working and achieving good grades in school it appears that she doesn't need 
additional support but this is impacting on her mental health.  She suffers from anxiety and panic 
attacks and these are increasing due to the pressure put on her, although a lot of the pressure 
she puts on herself there is no one there for her to talk to when she feels anxious.  In lessons 
she appears to be doing well and fully understanding of what is requested but this then develops 
into an anxiety attack where she has a melt down and doesn't know how or what she should be 
doing.  She would benefit from additional support to confirm and clarify her understanding and 
what is expected of her. 

 Equipment provided by the NHS for school, has not been used (unbeknown to me until very 
recently), when it should have been timetabled into certain lessons.  Therapies which I believed 
were taking place (as per EHCP) have not been in place, again I wasn't aware of this.  Advice 
recommending certain equipment/support tools recommended by therapists, does not seem to 
have been taken on board.  My view of a more tailored timetable was not met with enthusiasm 
and instead, my child struggles in certain lessons, doesn't understand homework and is unlikely 
to be put forward for these particular exams in 2018.  I would have preferred more help with 
maths/English and basic skills which would help him in his future, rather than sitting in a physics 
lessons completely confused by the lesson and homework which he receives.  School are not 
always following the EHCP.  It also worries me that although the EHCP covers the child/young 
person up to 25 years, it seems unlikely the support mentioned in the EHCP (for example, 
physio), will be provided post 16 as he will move onto "adults".  So this seems to make a 
mockery of the EHCP and it doesn't appear to have been thought through properly.  It's also 
confusing as to what services are under 16 / over 16 / over 18 / over 21 etc. There's no 
consistency and also, my child may be nearly 16, but he will struggle in a "adult" environment.  
Help and support seems to disappear the older the child becomes.  I do hope this will make a 
different to my child and other children and to their future.  It not only causes anxiety to my child 
but also to me 

 More social opportunities for them to practice the skills they are learning, 

 Does not have a diagnosis. I believe this would help my child, us as his parents and also school. 
This would lead to a better knowledge and understanding of my child and his needs. 

 Currently she struggles with poor teaching and understanding of her needs impacting on the 
delivered provision which I.S far less effective this year than last. She has lost some of her 1:1 
support time and groups such as friendship group, emotional and talk programs are no longer 
run although she still needs them. Lack of time in the SENACT team means the review has not 
occurred and school I.S allowed to get away with poor ineffective send management despite 
complaints. 

Page 254



49 
 

 Emotional support, social interaction, friendships, noise, other children, social environment, 
boundaries, coping strategies 

 I’m incredibly happy with the provisions that the school have made for my child.  He has grown 
in confidence, ability and happiness and because his Form tutor/Head of Year/SEN dept are all 
very responsive to any emails I may send, this has helped enormously. 

 I do worry that they don’t have enough funding to allow him access to everything he needs but 
this seems to come out of the school budget, they don’t let him miss out, if he needs it so far 
they have got it. I also worry that they won’t be able to support him as he gets older as it’s a 
mainstream school and don’t seem to have many children with ASD. 

 Sometimes not going in his standing frame for a full hour.  I have major concerns with going to 
High School at Newsome High Schol and his needs not being met, like they currently are at 
Junior School.  I have been told that he will be in his wheelchair more, due to the sheer size of 
the high school and this means his physical walking needs won’t be met and especially when 
he’s had Botox and is vitally important for him to be walking to keep his Botox going around his 
legs and working properly. Plus I have also been advised that Lucas will have to wear a nappy 
for the first couple of weeks at High School, which I am not prepared to do, - he hasn’t been in a 
nappy since Reception and this is discriminating against his needs and just going backwards 
instead of forwards. 

 As he is at the PRU he is currently getting the help he needs but he is undiagnosed as his 
mainstream school ignored him for the last 3 years and just ignore his MSP without updating it 
with myself. Then he was excluded when they could no longer cope. 

 Needs not being met in high school and EHCP not being used, read or implement. 

 More funding for equipment and support. School following EHCP rather than ignoring it. Been 
treated as naughty rather than discovering what the trigger is to behaviours 

 Needs are been met. 

 Bullying by mainstream pupils. Difficulties with children attending provision who aren’t coping. 

 Our child is being let down by the LA. His school, teacher and classmates are being let down by 
the LA. My sons EHC plan is out of date and does not meet his needs. He does not get the 
support he needs in class and due to his high levels of demand avoidance he is disruptive and 
this impacts on the whole class. His anxiety levels are off the scale and he is stressed. 
Consequently this has impacted on our home life. His school is a special school with about 160 
pupils but despite this there is no educational psychologist, occupational therapist or speech and 
language professional based on site. Teachers seem to have to take on these roles as best they 
can. I no longer believe that Kirklees are able to meet my sons needs and furthermore they are 
acting unlawfully in withholding the decision on his EHC Plan. How can school effectively 
educate our son when his needs are not properly outlined? 

 It completely frustrates me that school and the professionals involved in noah's care don't 
communicate. When I speak to someone I believe them and trust that they will communicate 
together and the appropriate thing will be delivered in school but it is not being delivered. I like 
CIN meetings so that I can find out who is actioning what, but generally it’s not followed through. 
I don't know who to turn to for help on this. I feel quite along and unhappy 

 No ‘safe place’ for him to hide 

 Other children, not having control of environment, been outdoors no sense of danger, change of 
routine 

 My 7 year old son has SLI (speaking and understanding of a 4 yo). He has been on IEP since 
2014, and now that he has started a Junior School will be having a MSP. After 4 years of being 
under the slt team, his verbal ability is still on the 2 to 5 centile. A slt comes in ONCE A TERM to 
assess and give work to his TA who has no previous experience in supporting a child with slt. 
That is NOT adequate support for my child!! Like i said this is too little too late. My child is very 
able and the ed psych report does not suggest a global issue just a specific issues. 
Unfortunately for my child because s and l is fundamental in schooling this disadvantage 
impacts my child in all areas of learning even though he is a very able child (high average to 
superior in construction). The Kirklees sen support system is crippling children with moderate 
needs (children are not being supported in the right way at the right time) instead of empowering 
and equipping them with skills and tools they need to be independent learners and adults! Not 
happy!!! 

Page 255



50 
 

 Buildings not fit to hold SEMH pupils. Other agencies within the local authority not understanding 
the need of SEMH children and just seeing their behaviour. No dedicated social worker to 
support families, or link to disabilities team like other special schools are entitled to. Poor 
communication and mixed messages from SENACT - no key worker for children once EHCP 
and school have been provided. 

 At Junior school, my children (both of whom have SEND) struggled with the high academic 
drive. They do not have any learning difficulties, and yet they were in a system which made 
them feel they were failing. Staff seemed reluctant to agree that one of my children in particular 
had any additional needs, and this was a constant source of frustration. I am myself a Kirklees 
employee who has the luxury of a fairly high status job within the Kirklees SEN system, and 
despite school knowing this, it was a battle to get school to provide any support or intervention. 
This does make me wonder how impossible it might feel for those parents who are not fortunate 
to have a background such as mine.  There is a huge gap in the training of school staff. The 
problems are not necessarily lack of intervention or support, but the lack of trained and 
experienced members of staff who actually know what they should be doing. This includes staff 
at all levels, from SENCOs and SLT, to TAs and lunchtime staff. 

 No school are not following the EHCP, they admitted to this recently. They say that my son has 
not been receiving 1:1 support during break & lunchtime due to lack of funds. I feel that I had a 
right to know this much sooner. This provision should have been in place 12 months ago yet 
they never did it. It’s not surprising to me then that my son isn’t eating properly at school. He 
now comes home for lunch. It should have never got this far. There is no help for anxiety for my 
son. School say he can’t see the well-being advisors because he is under the care of a 
psychologist yet there was a long time when he wasn’t and was suffering with up to 16 non 
epileptic seizures in one day, yet they still didn’t offer any help.  CAHMS did not offer any help 
either. I have been waiting for help from them for many months now, due to having no help for 
him we were forced to fund a private clinical psychologist ourselves. School are trying to change 
the EHCP to suit them/timetable eg he is supposed to do touch-typing 15 mins a day yet school 
changed this to 1 hour a week in 10-15 intervals. My son tells me that he does 30 mins once a 
week.  Mainstream schools need more training in autism and anxiety if they are agreeing to take 
children with these conditions. 

 As a school we do our best but I feel that sometimes the external support that schools need is 
not available. This relates specifically to emotional and behavioural problems. 

 Communication between different staff members, especially those who aren't normally working 
with my child, could be better. There isn't always one to one availability which may be remedied 
with an EHCP. 

 communicate more and handover all information to relevant staff closer worker relationships 
keeping all parties informed of any changes or updates monitor closely child’s needs be more 
informed and active with protecting data protection . 

 Dealing with conflict and as a summer born being less able than others  (impact on self-esteem) 

 When my child had his dyslexia screening on the assessment paper it stated that there would be 
a follow up by an educational psychologist. This has not yet happened even though we have 
talked to the schools head of SEN and his teacher. I am frustrated that this is been over looked 
by the school. It could be a very important measure in my son's time at primary school. 

 He gets detention almost every day for minor reasons without any consideration to his learning 
difficulties and behavioural issues. 

 He goes to an extremely good special school. Any problems were ironed out years ago 

 Soiling in pants they can’t take child and make them sit on the toilet can only ask don’t like to 
change child. Child struggling with writing been told not to force child with writing or child won’t 
do it; he failing behind peers no support in place been told child  borderline autism  but yet no 
support and not significant for assessment been to GP and paediatrician and been told it’s a wait 
and see approach. 

 Needs are based on social and emotional so really doesn't affect her education wise. I do 
believe if she was supported more she would achieve higher grades. 

 My child struggles to relate to the majority of pupils who attend his school due to their severe 
needs. He has autism but is high functioning and feels he has very few people he can talk to and 
desperately wants to be in what he calls a more "normal" school but with 1:1 support. He is 

Page 256



51 
 

constantly shocked by the level of violence he witnesses on a daily basis which he is not used to 
seeing. I think more time needs to be spent by some staff on trying to connect with my child to 
work out how to get the best out of him. One strategy does not fit all with autism. 

 Difficulties-change. My son finds change difficult and over recent months staffing has changed a 
lot. As soon as my son starts to develop a relationship with someone, it is broken when they 
leave. It seems to be at a moment’s notice, so one day a staff member is there and the next day 
they've gone with NO warning. This is disruptive and has a very negative effect on him. 

 The only issue I would say so far is that it is a long way from home and the getting there has so 
far been a challenge. He has to get a taxi to school which has been late picking him up and late 
getting to school and a couple of the drivers have been abusive to the boys. As yet he has not 
been at the school long enough to identify what additional needs the school have to assist him 
with his education. 

 I feel there is a gap in recognising that children with established SEN (my son was diagnosed 
with ADHD age 3 and ASD this year aged 13) who coped well at primary level might struggle 
immensely at secondary level.   I was strongly discouraged from seeking an EHCP at primary 
level and told he wouldn't get one because he was managing well. High school is a whole 
different kind of setting and if I knew then what I know now I would have tried to get him one so 
he could access a SEN setting when it became obvious full secondary mainstream wasn't going 
to work.  As it stands the process has taken approx 2 years (and this is with a supportive school) 
and educationally he has made no progress since year 7. He is capable of taking GCSEs, he is 
particularly talented at maths, but has not been able to access the curriculum in a meaningful 
way. I'm hoping moving to a unit might improve his prospects but currently he looks set to not 
even sit GCSEs.  I feel that children who have a diagnosis of SEN at primary level (and are 
coping at that point in time) should be at least on some sort of pre ECHP pathway so if/when 
difficulties occur at high school it doesn't take so long to put in place and move settings if 
needed. I realise IEP's and My Support Plans already exist but neither of these link into the LEA 
which is the gatekeeper to accessing specialist provision. Children should not have to reach the 
point of total mainstream breakdown before they can be placed in the most suitable setting.  
Although it's probably past the point of anything helping my son in his current setting, it is clear 
his school in general do not have enough SEN support staff to adequately meet the demand. I 
would also say there is not enough flexibility in the system for differentiated and/or part time 
timetables to work effectively as a solution for children that struggle. Under the right 
circumstances it's something that has potential to work well, in reality it just becomes a form of 
exclusion and further alienates. I would like to see the concept of nurture streams more widely 
implemented for children that struggle as a more inclusive option than just dropping in and out of 
the standard curriculum.  Safeguarding is another issue his school have struggled with, he 
arrived in Yr 7 with a known history of running away under stress but in three years they have 
not managed to get a handle on ensuring he stays in school and safe as a very vulnerable child. 
I don't think they know how to do this and I'm not sure it is even fully possible in a large 
comprehensive but there has been numerous occasions where he has gone missing and 
nobody has realised for anywhere up to a couple of hours.  I do have sympathy with the situation 
the school face with safeguarding as the length of time an EHCP has taken has left them in a 
difficult position. I recently discovered that the LEA offer home tuition but only if a child has been 
absent for a continuous period of time, my son doesn't meet this criteria because I tend to 
manage to get him into school on average 2/3 days per week between 10 am and 2pm. With 
hindsight, given his lack of engagement whilst in school, I feel a period of home tuition would 
have been more effective whilst waiting for the EHCP resolution and SEN unit placement and it 
certainly would have reduced the amount of stress I have been under for the last few years. 

 Not enough information on attachment disorders and with children with PTSD. I believe the 
schools need training, I was lucky my daughters teacher and SENCO attended one of my 
daughters counselling sessions to help with her needs and to try and support  her and me in 
school and her home environment. My daughter has challenging behaviour which she doesn't 
present in school but she will contain her anxieties and then lash out when she is at home.  The 
school were and are super supportive but without  them attending one of the sessions they 
couldn't fully understand why my daughter behaved in such a manner in school and so 
differently at home. More awareness needs to be given to schools to fully support children who 
have different needs and they don't fit the "norm" of disabilities. 

Page 257



52 
 

 Not enough access to Educational Psychologist 

 The environment is just too busy and noisy for him to settle due to sensory issues. The lack of 
access to outside space is problem as he loves been outside and this does calm him. 

 I'm happy so far but he's the only child with special needs and no language in nursery and I think 
it would also be good for him to be with kids similar like him. 

 The school staff that worked with him from this year just try to follow what autism outreach keep 
telling them . My son has never used pictures of a start and finish task at home I’ve done various 
activities with him I don’t need to show him pictures. Also the staff never came on time to School 
if they were so worried about his routine they would’ve welcomed him daily like the previous staff 
who did this continuously for 2 years. Just from September till now they have damaged my sons 
enthusiasm and he has been crying and very sad. I have never seen my child so hurt. The 
School should’ve kept the lady that had been working with him for past 2 years. They got these 
2 who have no clue what they are doing or how to work with Sen kids all children are different 
they keep comparing him with a child who had autism last year. His needs are different to my 
sons. My son has been out of education for 4 weeks now I am due to have a baby in the next 3 
weeks. I am struggling and there is no one helping. We have decided to put him in Ravenshall 
School and are still waiting for him to get a place . The Senact team said they are going to 
decide on 12th December. My son has a right for his education by 12th December he will have 
not been in school for 6 weeks. Also the School just assume too much negativity about him. As 
parents we have seen our child he is bright little boy just needs some help guiding him and 
giving him positive attitude. Schools need support workers who are fully trained and qualified 
and with Sen kids and have worked with different sen children or in a special school for at least 
3 years. Then they will have some knowledge instead of damaging a child’s feelings and taking 
the worse out of him by negative speech and remarks. 

 Independence, getting around school without one to one support, joining in with the work and 
activities the rest of her classmates do. 

 Lack of support from SALT, refuse to reassess despite pleads from myself and school about the 
need for advice and support. 

 See previous question. 

 My son has speech and language difficulties, including Verbal Dyspraxia. He was refused a 
place in the resourced provision at Royds Hall High School but I was assured he would get his 
needs met. When he started In September 2016 the speech and language therapist discharged 
him. He was re-referred. However the Head told me that the speech and language therapist 
didn't know anything about verbal dyspraxia and therefore couldn't deliver this part of his EHCP. 
I didn't believe this could be true. I suggested they use his Pupil Premium Plus (he is adopted) to 
train staff. Nothing was delivered from September to December 2016. In addition his literacy had 
declined. Finally from January 2017 it was agreed to train an ETA to deliver some speech and 
language therapy. However this has consisted of the sounds 'sh' and 'ch'. I received a progress 
report from the speech and language therapist in the Summer holidays. It was glowing in terms 
of progress, but it did not reflect my son who had made no progress. He was still working on the 
same sounds from September to November 2017 and was becoming increasingly bored and 
frustrated. Finally he refused to go to any more sessions. His verbal dyspraxia is still not being 
addressed. I asked for a different ETA to work with him. The existing one was far too familiar to 
my son. He has known her since he was six when she ran his Beaver group. She is not able to 
maintain firm boundaries which my son needs. I was refused a different member of staff. Over 
the years my son has been consistently denied appropriate support and help for his difficulties 
with speech and language. I have complained to the Children's Therapy Services. I also went to 
the Health Ombudsman. All to no avail. My son was disadvantaged from the moment of 
conception. I naively believed that he would be considered a high priority for help and support 
because of this. However I have had to fight for every little crumb of support, and have never 
been able to resolve the issues concerning his need for help with speech and language. It is well 
researched and accepted that speech and language difficulties will impact on a child's ability to 
learn to read. I am concerned that he will never progress with literacy unless he gets the help he 
needs with speech and language. If he doesn't get the help he needs now he is less likely to be 
able to live independently. In which case more  money and other resources will be required to 
support him. 

Page 258



53 
 

 The budget he has been awarded is not enough to meet his needs throughout the whole school 
day. I have requested that his support is in the morning to develop his maths and English skills. 
This means in the afternoon he had no dedicated support and no play time, so he finds it difficult 
to maintain his concentration and he is impulsive so he can find himself in trouble due to his 
ADHD and lack of support to keep him focused. 

 I think that Joseph Norton provides a strong, stable and effective environment to meet the needs 
of a range of complex and challenging pupils within SEMH.  However a barrier to the further 
development and progress of the pupils at Joseph Norton is the building, which limits the 
opportunities, resources and practice that can be implemented for the pupils at Joseph Norton 
Academy. 

 Due to language difficulty will only send to special provision. Will send to Huddersfield because 
nothing suitable close by (have viewed other schools in local area)   Transport - Kirklees will only 
support with this if they feel that it is the right admission for her child- parent knows best. 

 Teach children and parents to communicate with the non-verbal child education and information 
need to be provided to avoid frustration  We need to understand them to support them to gain 
better results  Create more strategies to help parents overcome their difficulties  Play schemes 
to help include our children during holidays. Maybe some extra learning support- our children 
are behind and they need catch up time in education. They also need routine and continuity and 
consistency. When our children go back they are under more strain to settle have additional 
challenges and they are always playing catch up. 

 More resources are needed to support child. After school support, no inclusive education or after 
school clubs What is out there for my child if college is not an option? 

 My child's school has not done anything to help my child’s situation, either put into a behaviour 
unit or nothing therefore my child has missed out on almost all their secondary school education. 

 I think his teacher needs to help him more understanding his lessons ,he understand sometimes 
his lessons and what teacher say but he couldn't translate it in his real life  

 child is well supported at this school 

 Extremely low attention span, can't sit still for more than 2 minutes.  Very stubborn.  Still toileting 
issues. 

 Limited options for further education locally 

 The challenge of finding a mainstream school that will provide inclusive education for children 
with autism and other conditions in both primary and secondary schools but this support needs 
to be local.  Staff need to be trained and fully equipped to understand and nest support autism in 
the school. Experienced staff is the best way forward. 

 My nephew was neglected and spat out of the system! 

 My child needs additional support. Not enough support staff in school.  Also very difficult to find 
full time further education post 16. Kirklees college not suitable for a child with severe learning 
difficulties. Need proper resources in place for these young adults post 16 in preparation for 
adulthood 

 Since de-registering our daughter from Highburton First School, we have had her privately 
assessed for dyslexia, dyscalculia, and autism.  We have confirmed she has dyslexia and 
dyscalculia.  Our daughter also passed the threshold for an autism diagnosis.  Despite this, our 
daughter has not been diagnosed with autism as Socrates felt her behaviour issues were 
attributed to her cognitive functioning level (half her age) combined with her frustrations 
regarding her physical disability.  Our daughter requires support from people who are trained 
and experienced in teaching children with dyslexia and dyscalculia and who are knowledgeable 
of and empathetic to the difficulties children face coping with a physical disability.  We feel the 
school and the LEA had a duty of care for our daughter and failed miserably. 

 Refuses to attend day school, difficulty concentrating, violent behaviour towards those around 
him, very behind in school as has only attended around 40 days in the last 3 years, migraines, 
difficulty engaging in social activities, lack of empathy towards others, needs clear and 
structured routine but we don't know what is round the corner with regards to education etc.   We 
have been consistently told that Blake needs to be in a stable environment where he can have 
assessments carried out with the view to a diagnosis, which we couldn't agree with more. 
Unfortunately Blake's behaviour means that within weeks/months of living somewhere people 
are no longer to support him due to violent behaviour and outbursts.   We have been told that 

Page 259



54 
 

these assessments need to consist of assessing both his day to day engagement with 
engagement as well as his social activities, engagement and interactions. Blake refuses to 
engage with people and refuses to attend school, even with specialist support where the school 
comes to get him, if he doesn't get in the taxi. His last school which was a specialist provision in 
Salford were only able to get him to attend less than 20 days (some of these were only half 
days) out of 6 months. Due to this they were not able to carry out a formal assessment, but have 
recommended that a residential school, Monday to Friday, is the only option that will allow him to 
be assessed whilst support our family to keep him one place, thus providing a stable 
environment and a better understanding of how we can support Blake.   Kirklees SEN are 
refusing to take this recommendation into consideration, instead insisting that we attempt to get 
Blake into day school yet again, knowing the history of him not attending, the fighting, the 
increase in violent episodes this has meant at home in the past (Blake has a five year old sister 
at home) and knowing that if that happens his living situation at home could become 
unsustainable very very quickly.   Blake is even bought into residential school and whilst he 
won't necessarily engage with people has said he will complete answers on a piece of paper or 
online.   In short, the lack of support we are getting from SEN and Social Services Kirklees at 
present is devastating. The longer this situation continues without the help and support that 
Blake and our family need, the more likely it is that he will no longer be able to remain at home. 
Due to his behaviour both at school and at home any placements he has had with family 
members have been short lived and have broken down violently and without notice. We have 
exhausted all other family options. We desperately want to be able to continue to support Blake 
at home, whilst seeing him get an education and the assessments, understanding and support 
that he needs, but as we carry on like this that becomes harder and harder.  We have been told 
by professionals that a foster placement or care home could be the worst thing for Blake 
possible and so we need to find a way to be able to support him at home and access education 
during the school week.   We keep being told that resources and funding issues are the reasons 
we are not getting this help, but this is not an excuse not to give him the support that he needs. 
Blake is 12 and very capable and intelligent, he just needs the right opportunities. 

 The mornings work well as there is support for him.  He used to have support throughout the 
whole school day now it has been reduced to mornings only so the he finds it difficult to cope in 
the afternoons. 

 Still get some staff who just don’t want to make adjustments or have her in their class - a feeling 
that rapidly becomes mutual - do they not realise that the student works out that they are not 
wanted? 2. Sometimes there aren't adaptations that can be made - why does she have to do 
Maths re-sit for the second time?  The English functional skills involves a lot of group work and 
speaking and listening which is really hard for autistic people and college are having a hard time 
trying to persuade the exam board that she should do something involving less group work - she 
has the skills but not in that way. 3. Behaviour is still a massive issue and requires a lot of 
understanding on college's part - last year it was very much the case that they wanted her to 
leave.  With support from SENACT we avoided this and the year went on much better but it is 
hard.  I received good support from C and K careers at this point too. 4. No space to work quietly 
away from others - colleges are crowded places without this facility. 5. Very dependent on 
quality of TA and the training they have had.  More complex children are entering further 
education and the staff are not always trained as they ideally would be. 6. Little ability to call for 
specialist EP help at post 16.  College would ideally have liked to but are told they cannot use 
their own EP as she is an out of area student and struggling to work out what EP support 
Kirklees could provide.  It doesn't help that the EP report was written when she was 10 and has 
never been updated in the form of a report - although school were given plans to follow etc. This 
leads to the issue of 7.TRANSITION.  This is not handled well at all.  We did not have an 
interview until April at Kirklees College and then a place was not offered, a meeting took place in 
May when it was clear they were not going to offer a place at all leaving us in the middle of 
GCSE hoping to find an alternative post 16 place.  Most of this search took place on the phone 
and with help from C & K.  We had an interview set up just after GCSE and luckily a place was 
offered but college closed 3 days later leaving no time for visits etc. and there was very little 
contact with school.  Things did not get off to a good start as the Transition mentioned in the 
EHCP did not happen at all for the reasons above.  She nearly ended up being removed from 
college as a result. 8. Choosing a post 16 place.  This is not good either.  If your child is unlikely 

Page 260



55 
 

to get 5 C grades then there are only L1 or Foundation courses on offer.  These are limited and 
the foundation courses are generally aimed at lower intellectual ability than students who do 
actually get D and E grades.  Even though many L2 courses will take students who haven't got 
C grades in all they should, parents are reluctant to risk this because it can't be confirmed until 
August leaving no time for the vital transition that should be taking place.  Also the attitude of 
Kirklees College was that students should be on Foundation as they'd didn't think they'd cope 
with higher level courses.  With the right support students should be able to but the approach 
isn't that ambitious.  SEN (often autism) might have quite spiky profiles with real areas of 
excellence but the education system does not seem set up at Post 16 to focus on what they can 
do but constantly on what they cannot.  There isn't a lot of choice for parents as Kirklees run the 
only college for students who aren't going to get into New College or Greenhead.  New College 
only offer 1 L1 course.  The issue with some of Kirklees courses at the lower end is the putting 
together of SEN/EHCP with students who have switched off education and can be very 
disruptive.  This is a toxic mix.  The SEN children might well start copying the behaviour or 
alternatively feeling quite threatened by it and I know of one of my daughter’s former classmates 
who found the whole year very upsetting and got nothing out of it mainly due to the behaviour of 
the other students on the course (nearly all boys).  My daughter has had problems with 
behaviour like this on her English functional skills course - she has in turn been disruptive and 
had poor behaviour herself.  Which isn't happening on her L1 course.  Students on courses they 
have chosen often want to be there and put a lot into it.  Students on courses put there because 
there is nothing else are quite de-motivated. Careers were quite helpful but didn't know a lot 
about out of area places - although quite familiar with some colleges.  Most post 16 offers are 
very similar though but it is a problem if Kirklees reject you as there is nowhere else within area 
to go to.  Even if you went to an independent school they either cater for low ability with no 
aspiration or progression for someone capable of a L1 or L2 course (e.g. pennine - which was 
where college suggested!) or you need the 5 C grades , or it might be for high needs on the 
mental health side which again isn't appropriate.  When we were not offered a place by Kirklees 
and when we were nearly removed from college there seemed nowhere to go at all. 

 All needs are met support is excellent 

 In EHCP meeting talked about toileting needs, suggested using nappy all day but this isn't 
appropriate because he only uses these at night, it will cause anxiety and will be embarrassing 
for him as other kids might know he wears one.  At the beginning of Y7 this is not the start he 
needs. He will get more anxious. Worried he won't be walking as much, he needs to do this to 
keep his mobility but school have suggested he needs to be in his chair more. 

 He doesn't get enough support in class and all previous plans have not really worked.    He has 
concentration difficulties and works alot better when someone is sat with him.  School decided 
that he would need assessing for EHCP. He needs watching at playtime and gets really angry if 
someone does something to him, like bumping into him.  He doesn't understand that this is not 
on purpose and will get into fights. He needs extra supervision and will rip his school work up if 
he doesn't understand or gets frustrated. Some of the staff need training as they do not 
understand how literally kids with autism take things eg. "go and sit in the reading corner" - he 
will say it's not a corner.  Then the teacher thinks he's being rude and argumentative and he's 
not. It's taken me a long time as a parent to understand this and I would expect that teachers are 
trained to understand this and why kids behave in the way they do. So they need training if they 
are going to take children with autism and other special educational needs. 

 The school haven't recognised that he has additional needs because they are hidden at school 
for a lot of the time. When he acts up they think he is just rude and they are not seeing the 
hidden issues. The communication with me is poor - I am always the one calling them.  We get 
more behaviour outside of school, home, church, supermarket so people have thought it was 
just a home based thing.  We got a referral to family support services through the GP and the 
first worker was convinced that it was about me as I have health problems and was not looking 
at him and his issues. She left. The second worker said that there was nothing wrong with him 
and that his behaviour was just a "boy thing" and he would grow out of it.    Her boss came out 
and observed her and afterwards told me that he does have issues and needed referral to 
CAMHS. School have not tried to unpick problems that he does show in class. I feel that schools 
and staff working with children should have training in this area. The support that we are 
meeting about shortly really needs to happen to support him, make him more independent and 

Page 261



56 
 

confident, l earn how to go to the right person if he's frustrated, and support his with his learning.  
He's in year 5 and we need this support to be in place before he goes to High School. 

 School has been years of misery.  My son was unhappy for 12 years, really miserable in fact. I 
think that this has had a significant negative impact on his mental health and wellbeing.  The 
difficulties were: getting the adaptions for multi-sensory impairment, getting accessible materials 
for him to use, the right seating place in the class (at the front in the middle - not rocket science). 
Getting a board and pens the right colour so that someone with VI can see. Making sure that a 
teacher can speak clearly and can check that what they have said has been heard - and be 
hearing aid aware (i.e. that it doesn't just pick up voice, but other environmental sounds making 
if difficult to concentrate). Having his own version of what is being taught, e.g. a hard copy of a 
PowerPoint so he can follow it in class. I know that his EHP plan was not followed consistently 
by staff members and that resources allocated to support my son via that EHCP (and previous 
Statement of SEN) were not used in the way that they should have been. Communication was 
sporadic at best, inconsistent support staff, not understanding his condition, and not having 
adequate training and understanding of the role required to meet his needs.  For example my 
son is not allowed to carry or pour hot/boiling water as he is VI and has balance problems and 
no spatial awareness.  A food tech teacher ridiculed him about this and couldn't understand why 
he wouldn't do it.  She thought he was rude and un co-operative. He is very aware that he can't 
do things like that and just stated that he couldn't do it, nothing else.  I had to contact school, put 
in a complaint and get an apology from that member of staff. It they read his care plan, and 
followed his EHCP this wouldn't have happened. The French teacher made no adjustments for 
his sensory loss in class. Fortunately she left and he had a really good teacher afterwards and 
he got a grade C in his GCSE. There needs to be as part of the teachers' performance review - 
are they able to follow what a student with additional needs has to have in place, and that they 
can evidence that they have done this. The other thing is that Academies seem to think that they 
don't have to follow recommendations about local support services, e.g. Autism Outreach if they 
think that they can do the job themselves.  There is a learning need generally - teachers don't 
seem to get additional needs.  SENCO's are not consistent either. Mainstream schools do not 
support children with special needs adequately. They never listened to my son at any time he 
was present at school. 

 My son started off in mainstream school but then moved to Longley School.  He was there for 
two years and left three years ago.  It awful, he bullied, the school didn't listen to us and 
although they promised to take steps, they didn't do anything.  As a result he has really low self-
esteem.  He has been at Ravenshall for three and a half years now.  They don't listen.  We have 
been asking them to do work around his self- esteem - they say they will do something but 
nothing has changed. He's in year 11, and they are not doing simple things like value of money - 
he is very vulnerable and would give money away if asked.  I am always asking about this and 
they say they are doing something but I don't see any results.  They don't seem to think that this 
is important. I am not happy about the school and don't think they do a good job.  He can learn 
with good support. For example he knew all his times tables in junior school - he has forgotten 
them all now but he should be using them in maths and independent living skills e.g. about 
money.  We had a recent review which took an hour - not long enough to go through his plans 
for the future.  They were rushing us through it.   They started late because they were running 
late, but they rushed us and said other people were waiting!  I think his EHC Plan is not up to 
date.  Last year in June, we wrote a new EHC Plan from scratch.  As far as I know that has not 
been issued yet. I am not sure about the outcomes that are in his EHC Plan.  The school never 
sent me any dates of the open evenings for Kirklees College - I am so upset about that. They 
didn't discuss his post 16 plans in the review because there want' time!!!  The people who deal 
with behaviour management in school judge parents and say you should have done this or that.  
I have three other children who are all doing really well so I know what I am doing! 

 Re above, my daughter has been moved in year 11 into lower sets as they have finally 
recognised that her grades are slipping to "give her extra support".  However the peer group in 
these sets are either young people with behavioural problems or children with SEN.  There has 
been no differentiation and in particular her hearing needs have not been met (ever in this 
school) and this is worse for her in these sets as the pupils are so disruptive and noisy so she 
can't hear or concentrate.  She has experienced significant bullying from pupils in these sets and 
the staff are not managing the classroom at all, or even recognising that this bullying is taking 

Page 262



57 
 

place.  For example, the kids steal things out of her bag, throw her things across the room, are 
verbally abusive (e.g. she's fat and ugly), they also bully her on the bus.  She has asked me not 
to do anything but in the end I have had to contact school and no-one ever rings me back.  I 
rang last year about support issues and no-one ever rings back.  Numerous supply teachers 
(particularly in history) with conflicting advice to all the children and who were not aware of her 
needs.  At the last parents' evening, I saw about 8 members of staff and none of them were 
aware that my daughter has a hearing impairment or dyspraxia!!  The cookery teacher said she 
could try harder - when I asked for clarification she said she could stir things and do things 
quicker and was not aware that she was actually trying really hard.  The teachers all said that 
they were aware that she had additional needs.  So I asked them what they were and no-one 
was able to answer.... I am totally dissatisfied with the school - it's been really poor but they talk 
a good game. They only do a 10 minute test to see if someone needs extra support in exams.  
However, this is not long enough as it doesn't compare to having to write to 2 hours which she 
would really struggle with.  So she did not receive any extra support for her mocks, the results 
for this were really disappointing.  How do I complain to a school who never acknowledges 
anything or rings you back? If I hadn't been distracted by my other two children who have 
additional needs and my own serious health condition, I would perhaps have been more 
proactive and pushy to get more support - but I shouldn't have to do that really should I? I don't 
feel that this school's attitude is very inclusive, for example I told them that I would be attending 
parents' evening in a wheelchair.  They said no problem, access not an issue.  They didn't tell 
me where the access was, no-one was there to meet me.  It turned out that it was round the 
other side of the school! I feel that their limited budget (to use their words) is stretched and 
doesn't support the population of additional needs in the school - they have used the budget to 
support children with more visible needs and my daughter isn't one of those.  My daughter 
started out as a grade B type student, now she's barely a D - a 3 in the new system.  My worry is 
that she won't get into the college she wants as her grades won't be good enough and this 
school are not taking any responsibility for this.  I chose that school because the SEN was 
provision and support seemed to be excellent on the open evenings and we were attracted by 
the pastoral care. We have to pay for transport for her to get to that school and she has to take 
two buses.  It seemed to be worth it to attend a school that could meet her additional needs.  
Massive disappointment. She should have had at least a My Support Plan, but no kind of plan 
has ever been put in place and we have had no feedback on any progress apart from the 
general correspondence that comes out.  I have been the person to get in touch with them about 
her grades slipping and I have been made to feel like a nagging parent. 

 Overall they do well and she really enjoys school. I would prefer to be kept more in the loop as 
to what interventions are in place rather than relying on my daughter to tell me but I would rather 
things be in place and me not know rather than they wait for permission or don't put them in 
place at all.  Supply teachers should be made more aware that there is an issue with a child, 
maybe have a list at the start of the class with issues as we have had occurrence’s where they 
haven't let her go which probably accounts for why she will sometimes refuse to enter the class 
if it’s a supply teacher. 

 As far as I am concerned, there are no gaps in his provision. 

 Inclusivity very variable dependent on staff members.  4:1 removed.  Working alongside another 
child with special needs – when worker with other child  - now unattended.  Incident – child 
wandered off and got foot stuck – in toilet area for 30 seconds.  Concerned about risk – if 1:1 in 
place risks of this happening diminished.  1:1 cut due to staffing issues according to school.  
Due to 1:1 cut – not as much access to Makaton learning.  EHCP process slow – too many 
meetings to consider a change to specialist provision.  Transition is not working and transition 
between 1:1 to 2:1 worker.  Only knew losing 1:1 worker one week before break up to summer 
holidays – don’t feel school listens to our concerns.  Considering a move to Southgate – funding 
level B – query what this funding is paying for? 

 Could do more but not enough funding.  Early on, only presenting at home, but could have used 
more 1:1 in class, but now has improved.  Younger brother needs more support with behaviour 
at home e.g. 15-30 minutes support in school to help him cope (especially for parents who aren’t 
coping well).  Younger sibling is copying behaviour.  Impact on other children in class.  Ex 
SENCO used to run group in coffee bar with SEN children.  EHCP – including 1:1 support 
currently being done by mum e.g. escorting, school environment. 

Page 263



58 
 

 ‘If she was on her own just with the teacher she would love it’.  ‘Part of me is against segregation 
but I don’t see how you can do it any other way’.  Too slow to adapt to changing needs.  In Year 
9, anxiety and stress issues – seemed to be making excuses – took months of involvement of 
autism outreach who agreed with parents – then school adapted.  Communication between staff 
(supply etc.) could be improved – needs not very well communicated.  Need to ensure issues 
are communicated promptly (same day) to family members.  EHCP process – funding from LEA 
not sufficient.  5 SENCO’s in 4 years (including temporary staff) inconsistency around identifying 
changing needs.  School is too loud/busy for her.  Discipline in some lessons is poor.  Needs 
more life skills, social skills time built in.  School is cramped.  ‘if behaviour due to school issues 
at school’.  School impacts a lot on home life.  CAMHS poor – lack of therapies for children with 
Autism.  Lack of autism specialism – autism specific counselling. 

 Copies a lot of behaviours not hers.  Social isolation.  Activ didn’t work.  Social care at Newsome 
not appropriate – escort texting etc.  Different person came to escort than prepared for, or didn’t 
turn up.  Limited transition support into Year 7.  Negative behaviour support.  Woodley could 
have a therapeutic approach e.g. massage, yoga. 

 Limited places – other settings too classroom based.  Post 16 kids need practical.  An area of 
improvement may be communication as staff so devoted to the children or need to get children 
to advocate for themselves – needs ongoing communication – transition needs to happen from 
Christmas.  Transition – such a long drawn out process which increases the child at the centre’s 
anxiety.  Action.  What is written in the statement – ‘transition early’ must be actioned.  Process 
is so difficult.  Could Post 16 courses be longer than 2 years??  More consistent.  Why can’t 
settings work in tandem with other agencies like ‘Waves’.  Look at function and how education 
can be delivered in other settings – share facilities.  Work better in partnership with places like 
Waves ‘use their spaces’.  Low functioning kids could apply learning ‘practically’.  Pennine 
Camphill Community College – same cost as Kirklees College – 5 day provision, facing a battle 
over funding they don’t look at long term – could be a possibility. 

 Lack of understanding.  Clashing with teachers who see his problems as ‘behaviour’.  Change of 
routine with no notice causes meltdowns. Often teachers see his meltdown but not what caused 
it.  Other children sometimes goad him or lead him into trouble and he will not stand up for 
himself even when he knows it is wrong. 

 Getting used to a new timetable and the area.  Counselling to help self-confidence and sort 
problems.  Requested but waiting.  Struggles with English – writing – most work is practical. 

 Issues from parent’s perspective regarding CHEWS/CAMHS – say can’t do anything until 7 
years old.  Creating massive difficulties with family dynamics at home regarding behaviour – 6 
year old nowhere to get support.  2 children’s needs not being looked at within wider context of 
family and impact on each other. 

 Looking back - nurturing provision.  Better understanding of high function ASD – just because 
looks ok on the outside.  School accepting what parents are saying even if they don’t see it.  
Support for emotional needs.  Different impact of teachers who understand children’s needs. 

 School not acknowledging full picture (at home).  Honley High supporting anxiety with pastoral 
care.  ETHOS  - anxiety/self-esteem issues – unsure if fully recognised – unsure if fully 
understand her needs – is detailed in EHCP.  Not listening to parents.  Supposed to be having 
weekly reports – not happening.  Lack of communication.  High level needs of children with 
restraint = distressing.  ETHOS not the most appropriate setting to meet needs – influencing 
behaviours to the negative.  Lack of SEMH places.  Honley were reluctant to identify mainstream 
placement, could not meet needs and to be evidenced in writing. 

 Lack of communication.  Emails and telephone calls not returned.  Lack of support for children 
who are deemed ‘lower level’ needs by the setting.  Moved to lower sets – progress for children 
with SEN in environment with additional kids with challenging behaviour.  Lack of pastoral 
support with dyspraxia e.g. appropriate equipment despite recommendations from professionals.  
Had to pay for private tutor/therapist privately.  Therapist help from Northorpe Hall made contact 
with school who advised no issues. 

 Can’t hear in noisy environments or where there are distractions.  Difficulty with maths – 
screening for dyscalculia.  Gaps – BSL or Makaton – would like provision for BSL (as part of 
curriculum as additional language). 

Page 264



59 
 

 Child in reception.  Staff are not catering for needs – not spotting the early signs of changing 
mood/behaviour.  4 to 5 days exclusion this year.  Needs 1:1 to spot these signs and intervene.  
Soft helmet worn – request to wear outside but refused by school until letter of confirmation from 
an authority.  2 week deadline set by school to get a physio re-assessment not achievable!  
Mixed messages from school ‘he has special needs’ ‘he does not have …….’.  Medical advice 
that he is on the autistic spectrum but told by school nurse / Northorpe Hall/Doctor that 
assessments are not made in Kirklees until 7 year old.  Very different in Manchester where they 
make assessments 3 years old.  ‘Every time we think we are getting somewhere we hit a brick 
wall’ – we get passed from pillar to post.  CHOOSE/GP/Northorpe Hall (CHOOSE – deal with 
disabled children support.  For mental health connected to Northorpe Hall).  Feel we just cannot 
get the support our child needs.  Trying now to get Woodley but they will not take him until 5 
years old ‘nothing out there for below this age’. 

 Behaviours at home not recognised by school.  Parents can see social issues out of school.  
Toilet issues – avoidance at home.  Inclusive attitude, school have to deliver more with less 
money; so little time for parents.  Would like to feel ok about asking questions and answers – 
listened to.  Need to let parents know what options are if not EHCP more time beyond parents 
evenings.  What would have wanted from MTS?  Information on progress and behaviour for 
assessment.  She said won’t get EHCP. 

 Asset management adapted building (after a fight) – put toilet and sink in but no hoist so can’t 
use toilet (uses a pot or uses toilet with usable hoist across the site).  Took over a year – wrote 
to MP – Muscular Dystrophy gap.  10 years 2 terms left.  Discussing transition – Newsome (1 
hour travel) – SJF (cold, wouldn’t give tour of building, facilities) or Ravenshall.  Very limited 
choice (Dewsbury).  School very positive which is good but needs to be honest to address 
issues e.g. mobility. 

 Difficult to get short break respite – access groups like Crazy Kids but can’t leave her there.  
Safe at school, happy and smiling at school.  Always someone to talk to. 

 IEP meetings only with SENCO would be preferred with TA, class teacher they know child 
better.  Not having access to 1:1 funded support – potential gaps during the day, how can I be 
reassured this is not happening regularly.  Other high level needs without statements taking time 
away from funded pupils.  What are school doing with statemented funding?  Honesty – give me 
a full picture of attainment.  Home/school behaviour difference.  Not tailoring the work for my 
child, needs adapting to her needs.  Are they honest about positive friendships in school?  
Communication between staff (dinner staff and teachers) etc.  Not sure how much she is moving 
forward.  Eye for detail ‘are they really planning for my child’.  My child sits between mainstream 
setting and special school.  Won’t give guidance on next move to high school. 

 Not quite sure what the issues are that the school are concerned about.  His play is quite 
different and won’t share, doesn’t like social contact.  He speaks but is a low monologue that 
doesn’t make much sense. 

 We don’t think so (Grandparents). 

 Child copying parental behaviour.  Social worker – told grandparents to back off.  Suggested by 
school that 1:1 was needed.  Nothing happening.  Concern that good practice not being carried 
out at home.  School not appearing to be able to deal with a child’s situation when the parents 
themselves have high needs. 

 SENACT – ‘not listening’ – said would be ok on mainstream.  General communication.  
Comments re. PPRU – said didn’t think right place – increased anxiety levels so suggested 
home tuition, could only manage 1 hour a day.  All parents feeling these difficulties need 
catching early and not regarded as ‘naughty’.  Disrupted school routine so took a long time to 
settle into school.  Building and unit issues regarding lack of spaces to calm down.  Building 
feels out of date, need calming and safe space when in crisis mode – more than one.  
Classrooms need to be bigger so reduce chance of getting in crisis.  Child hurt in space he went 
into – hit hand.  Northorpe /Early Help other agency engagement e.g. TYS/Social care.  Rigid 
processes.  Don’t understand need to develop relationship with CYP.  Notion of ‘lack of 
engagement’ and struck off service list.  These services not making use of pre-existing 
information – need to work closely together.  School transport – Pilot Bus made a positive 
difference.  Transport issues:- lack of continuity of taxi.  Need to know children getting to school 
safely – no ESCORTS.  Taxi drivers not understanding needs – one child put out of car by driver 

Page 265



60 
 

and left.  Punctuality of drivers (one drops his own children off at school first).  Transport 
agreement not adhered to.  Huge concerns regarding stress and anxiety levels for parents trying 
to feel listened to regarding placement.  Worries about post 16 provision – year 10 case – 
a/think ‘fit’ form/S college and how decision gets made – information about options and process 
(specialist options). 

 Child really enjoys going to Aspire and he, and us, as parents, feel they take child seriously – 
they have been very accommodating to child, very adaptive and child is in a settled environment 
where his needs are being met and he is enjoying learning and preparing for future work. 

 Professionals involved early enough to do something positive – identifying needs earlier.  Spent 
1 year at the PRU – made him worse (behaviour). 

 They have not supported his needs as identified in professional reports, dysgraphia, sensory 
issues etc.  For years they didn’t recognise his needs and he was left unsupported.  I was left 
feeling confused, undermined and a liar.  My relationship and communication with the school 
then suffered.  There is little communication from the school, who says he’s fine at school.  This 
differs from what it says in the EHCP – other staff have said his behaviour can be inappropriate 
i.e. personal space, hugging etc.  They don’t deal with him when he has a meltdown, they get 
his younger sister out of her classroom to help.  They don’t seem to have any experience with 
autism or how to deal with his needs.  The SENCO is called Mrs ???. 

 Emotional management.  Expressing themselves in right way.  Understanding process.  Trust.  
Health issues not met or understood. 

 School meeting needs, school finding his needs which can change daily.  School is very flexible.  
We are waiting for outside agencies to do their job, CAMHS, CHEWS etc.  Autism team and 
speech and language and OT. 

 Needs a little extra help and constant support. 

 Would help if people in schools to have a basic understanding of children with ASD – 
understand the behaviour. 

 Through school started age 3.  Age 5 – Mum identified ADHD – SENCO disagreed.  Very poor 
listening/communication with parents who were pushing for investigations into 
ADHD/Dysgraphia.  Don’t appear to have relevant training to early id issues.  Year 7 – left to drift 
– low level disruptive felt ignored.  Year 8 – repeated suicide attempts – now goes part-time to 
school.  TA with him 1:1 last week and a half only due to TAF meeting.  Different TA for every 
lesson, lack of consistency.  TA’s need training around his needs – touching him – makes him 
frustrated.  Communication very poor – communication book written twice in 6 months – need to 
know what’s going on at school so at home can know how to approach.  ‘Lost’ him for 26 
minutes – high risk.  Head secretary/executive head – lack of confidence – incident where head 
inappropriately communicated with son – complaint made – not properly investigated.  Feel 
executive head needs SEN training.  Not in appropriate place, high functioning, the right school 
doesn’t exist.  GAP – high functioning autistic/anxiety.  Putting him in a setting with low 
functioning, low verbal autistic kids would not be appropriate.  Needs nurturing, flexibility with 
other high functioning children.  Trial days at Meadowcroft – son didn’t feel happy because of 
the range of kids.  If can get maths, English, science needs hands on apprenticeships.  
Comments below all relevant for EHCP evidence!  Reports – 98.3 attendance – he signs in for 
attendance and then leaves – inaccurate reflection.  Modern foreign language graded but he 
doesn’t attend – grades – using very old grades – not accurate 

 Could communicate better – MSP not been reviewed for nearly a year.  Should be 4 monthly/6 
monthly.  English lessons – he needs a TA for 1:1 support to break it down.  Restricted diet – 
doesn’t have lunch – provided 1st lunch pass but then decided he wasn’t able to eat in school.  
Needs support. To try to encourage him – unsure if this would work but would appreciate trying.  
Mum has discussed but they seem reticent to assist. 

 In the case of complex physical, medical and communication needs, local specialised provision 
has been difficult to find in Kirklees throughout my child’s life.  Having complex physical and 
health needs coupled with intact, age appropriate cognition, means they don’t easily fit in one 
box or another.  Special schools have not been able to offer education at the appropriate level 
nor an appropriate peer group.  Mainstream schools have lacked specialised services, 
equipment, access and most importantly, been unable to offer a bespoke learning programme.  
The most significant gap in my child’s entire educational experience has been in the teaching of 

Page 266



61 
 

communication and literacy to non-verbal children with age appropriate intellect.  These skills 
underpin a child’s, and adult’s, ability to learn and participate in society and my now adult child is 
still hugely disadvantaged for not having these skills, but  is still making progress in acquiring 
them.  A lack of AAC speech therapists, lack of specialised teachers and assistive technologists 
still exists in Kirklees and provision of equipment alone will not teach a child to all of a sudden 
acquire language skills.  There is now technology and knowledge in the field of AAC to 
overcome these barriers to learning and these need to be brought into the local area.  It is hard 
to reconcile that a child in the Western world with age appropriate intelligence but no verbal 
speech can leave school without a basic standard of reading and writing.   

 Poor communication from school. Don’t get day to day communication from them. (Ravenshall) 
and my son can’t tell me.  I don’t think they follow the EHC Plan properly, for example he doesn’t 
get individualised speech and language therapy.  School say that speech therapy is delivered 
every day but it is not specific to his needs.  It’s delivered as whole class (10-12 pupils) or in 
groups. He is very unclear and hard to understand and this is not improving. When he was a 
hearing aid user, he got no support from Teacher of the Deaf.  Not enough help with personal 
care – he is not fully independent with this – it’s in his EHC Plan to support him but they don’t.  
Losing property is a big issue, clothing always going missing and they never find it – I label 
everything.  I really chased them about his missing jumpers and their response was to send me 
one home that belonged to someone else!  Not happy with the annual reviews.  You only get 50 
minutes to an hour.  They always run late and they are always rushed – they say “we haven’t got 
much time, we’ll just get through the main bits.”  My son never attends for even part of the 
review.  Although I know they have interviewed him in school about what he wants to do this 
never gets a mention in his review. 

 Because of the needs of the children being very complex, parents don’t have the energy to fight 
for them and deal with school issues as they have to cope with so much day to day.  I need to 
believe in the school again and be a team.  Am fed up of child suffering and being let down.  
**Behaviour is a formal communication – STAFF DO NOT GET THIS – they don’t look at why 
she’s behaving this way.  They do not listen to me, they asked my advice about moving her 
class, but then didn’t listen so she displayed challenging behaviour and I heard staff saying she 
was naughty.  Lots of small issues where they blame other people for issues, e.g. Not changing 
pads/incontinence etc.  If my child comes home hurt, no-one knows what’s happened – not 
enough staff supporting – I feel this could be a safeguarding issue. E.g. In the morning, when 
children are being taken off the bus into school, children can be waiting half an hour.  The school 
needs someone to come in and stabilise it as there’s been no real leadership for a long time.  
Other parents feel that this school is letting children down.  We are exhausted with our children 
and don’t have the energy to get school communicating. 

 I think that some of the targets are set too high for the amount of time she’s expected to achieve 
them.  They didn’t have an LSA experienced enough to support my daughter when she first 
came – they couldn’t get anyone.  They have more training now so it’s better but I feel they are 
learning from my daughter.  I think that there is a funding issues in the school about supporting 
children’s needs.  I do a lot of fundraising for them.  

 My child finds it difficult to go to the toilet at home and school.  School are trying to help him with 
this but not successful at the moment despite years of trying – I would wish for more support 
from school or outside agencies to help more with this. As he doesn’t have accidents at school, 
rather “holds it” they haven’t really taken it seriously, little support.  Staff at school are not 
cleaning him or helping after use of the toilet.  He goes on his own.  His EHCP says he needs 
help but school not doing this.  Over the years, the school’s communication has improved – still 
has room for improvement to help parents’ relationship. E.g. If parents have a concern over child 
this needs to be taken seriously.  My child communicates by Makaton, only a few staff know how 
to use this, this is not inclusive.  He’s the one who’s teaching the signs.  More staff need to 
learn! There needs to be courses through school to teach parents to use Makaton and staff at 
the same time.  My child is 15 I am worried about school transport if we don’t get it post 16.  He 
cannot travel independently. 

 Felt the need to keep pushing school to support my daughter with goals and education.  No 
support available for manual wheelchair and self-care needs especially when the child has 
limited awareness.  No physio given but am now being supported by physio to speak to school.  
I do not feel that the right support has been given for my daughter’s developmental levels – now 

Page 267



62 
 

being asked to move into college but she does not have the right academic levels to move on.  
No provision to keep her in school for longer to develop further. We are not happy to send her to 
college at this moment in time as we feel the setting and education will not meet her needs or be 
able to support her.  Post 16 choices – feel unheard. 

 I don’t think there is anything that could be improved. 

 The IEP’s weren’t reviewed rigorously enough or often enough. EG. His target is to learn the 6 x 
table.  He might learn it in the required period.  But if he doesn’t keep using it, he will lose it in a 
year. There is no account taken of that.  No-one keeps teaching you things like telling the time 
when you are teenager if you didn’t get it in junior school because your maths wasn’t good 
enough.  It’s things like that that need an individual approach.  Also in a mainstream high school 
situation, the huge volume of staff involved is an issue.  By the time they get to know your child 
and what they need, your child is moving on to another teacher, or your teacher moves on.  
There is no FE provision for my son in Kirklees as he can’t get a high enough GCSE grade in 
English or maths to do what he wants. It’s a huge barrier.  For instance he could do a BTEC in 
sports but he would need a level 4 GCSE Maths to do it, and he can’t get that.   He is too clever 
to do the Foundation Course on offer.  There is no middle ground and lots of young people fall 
down the middle.  Some children with never get up to speed with maths and English if they have 
a spiky learning profile like children with Down’s but that does not mean that they would be 
unable to work in a sports environment or be a car mechanic.  All the research around Down’s 
Syndrome says that the more children and young people are integrated the better they learn.  
But what happens at Kirklees College, he would be put in with all the other children on the 
Foundation Course who are much less able so he won’t make any progress.  There is a huge 
focus on life skills in education in Kirklees when they should be teaching him the academics or 
the vocational.  It is my job as a parent to teach him life skills.  Part time provision is an issue:  If 
my child had severe learning disabilities, he would be in special education (full time) till he’s 19.  
But at 16, a child with more moderate learning needs, would only get three days of education.  If 
he was highly academic he could go full time to somewhere like Greenhead, but because he is 
in the middle he only gets three days. So what happens on the other two days?  Parents have to 
give up work to look after them, or you have to fight for funding to send your child to a day centre 
like Waves but that’s not educational. This has been a gap in Kirklees for years.  My son also 
wants to do dance which is not available in Kirklees.  I am paying for training in Leeds. 

 The school follows all the support plans put in place and plan ahead if there are any changes 
which effect on my child and always keep me informed of any changes for example a supply 
teacher and gives my child advanced warning of any changes so she knows what to expect. 

 

Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



1 
 

                                                                                                                APPENDIX G 
5.2 Summary analysis of questionnaires 
 
Responses from parents/carers: 
Q1. Does your child have: 

EHCP / SEN statement 57% 

My Support Plan (MSP) 20% 

Individual Education Plan 14% 

In process of being assessed 10% 

 
Q2. What needs does your child have? 

Social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) 33% 

Communication and Interaction including Autism Spectrum 
Disorders (ASD) 

28% 

Other – medical 14% 

Sensory 10% 

Other – learning difficulties / dyspraxia / ADHD  10% 

Physical Disability 5% 

 
Q3. What has helped your child progress? 

Nurturing environment / adapted curriculum 28% 

1:1 support / trained staff 27% 

Responsive / caring staff; good contact with parents 21% 

Out of school activities 8% 

Input from specialist provision outreach 8% 

Promoting the understanding of peers 7% 

Good transition 3% 

 
Q4. What difficulties does your child have in their setting? 

School doesn’t listen to concerns 16% 

Inadequate / sharing 1-1 support 14% 

Slow to understand or adapt to changing need 13% 

Inclusivity is variable / social isolation 13% 

Poor multi agency working 10% 

Delay to access specialist support 9% 

Loud / busy / non adapted school environment 8% 

Not enough funding in school / to support EHCP 7% 

More support for siblings / impact on peers 6% 

Ineffective transition to other settings 4% 

 
Summary of responses from parents /carers 
All parents/carers responding to the consultation had children with needs already 
identified either at SEN Support or with an EHCP. Needs were predominantly around 
social, emotional and mental health and communication and interaction along with a 
smaller number of cognition and learning, physical, sensory and medical needs. The 
majority of parent/carers were of children attending mainstream settings.  
 
Positive factors indicated by parents include a nurturing school environment and 
adapted curriculum, access to staff who are trained, caring and offer 1-1 support, 
and where there is good home-school contact, the importance of out of school 
activities, input from specialist outreach support teams, promoting peer 
understanding and a good transition as important factors in contributing to progress. 

Page 311



2 
 

 

Parent/carers identified barriers such as school not listening to concerns, lack of 1-1 
support, social isolation, variabilities in inclusion, poor multiagency working, delay to 
access specialist support, barriers within the school environment (adaptations, noise, 
etc), and lack of funding as difficulties their child encountered within the setting. 
 
 

Responses from Early Years: 
Q1. Have you supported a child with SEND in the last year? 

YES 88% 

NO 13% 
 

Q2 a) Was the need identified before the child came to your setting? 

YES 63% 

NO 38% 
 

b)  Who identified the concerns? 

Staff 36% 

Parent/carer 28% 

Health agency 25% 

Other - Portage, EYSEN etc 11% 
 

Q3. Have you had support from other agencies and / or received additional funding? 

Access Fund 42% 

EYSEN 27% 

SALT / Physio/ OT 25% 

Sensory 4% 

District Nurse 1% 
 

Q4 a) Have you ever felt unable to accept a child with SEND? 

YES 78% 

NO 22% 
 

b)  If so, what are the barriers? 

Insufficient funding 31% 

Needs too complex 25% 

No trained staff 19% 

No capacity (places) 13% 

Parental expectation 6% 

Dual placement 6% 
 

Q5. Thinking about outcomes and / or readiness for school, what difference does 
your support make to the child and their family? 

Supporting parents / strategies at home 34% 

Enabling transition 31% 

Inclusive / making progress 16% 

Working together / sharing information 11% 

Preparing for EHCP 9% 

 
Summary of responses from Early Years settings 
Early years providers indicated that around two thirds of their children with SEND 
had their needs identified prior to starting in the setting, largely by health or the 
parent with some identified as a result of Portage involvement. The majority of 
settings commented that they received support from specialist services to help them 

Page 312



3 
 

meet need, with specific reference to the Early Years SEN team support and speech 
and language therapy support. Many cited receiving additional funding from the 
Access Fund. 
 

In terms of the difference made through the support provided for young children with 
SEND, three key themes emerged; support for parents/carers (strategies to use in 
the home, signposting to other services, emotional support and reassurance), 
enabling children to make good progress in all aspects of their development and the 
impact on effective transition into school. 
 

The majority of early years providers said that they always accepted children with 
SEND regardless of level of need. Additional funding from the Access Fund has 
enabled them to do this. Around a fifth commented that there had been times when 
they had felt unable to offer a place. Reasons for this related to lack of funding, lack 
of staff availability to provide support or needs being too complex. Where the latter 
was mentioned, this specifically related to young children with very complex 
health/physical needs. 
 
 

Responses from Head teachers of mainstream schools: 
Q1. As leaders of your schools, what are the challenges of meeting the needs of all 
of your pupils? 

Access to specialist provision in schools 23% 

Impact of children with significant needs on other children 20% 

Balancing different needs within the same curriculum e.g. C & L and SEMH 18% 

Meeting needs from a low notional budget 14% 

Extensive / lengthy paperwork 9% 

Budget planning – for unknown SEN children arriving through the year 9% 

Specific training for staff 5% 

Not knowing needs of children when they arrive 2% 
 

Q2. What would you like to see changed to improve outcomes for children with 
SEND?  

Increased funding / to match actual costs within EHCPs 29% 

Realistic expectations re impact on other children and staff wellbeing / 
safeguarding issues 

16% 

Consistent approach to assessment / longer timeframes 13% 

CAMHS and CHEWS support to be more accessible / readily available 9% 

Practical support for SEMH in school not just advice from PRS 9% 

Early identification of need 9% 

Training for PVI sector / school staff 7% 

Clearer guidelines re exclusions, reduced timetables etc 4% 

Specialist provision outreach for Cognition & Learning 2% 

More specialist places - schools 'holding' until places are available 2% 

 
Q3. Any further comments? 

Time consuming system for processing paperwork for EHCP requests 32% 

More specialist support, EYSEN outreach and other support 27% 

Lack of health / social care advice and support for EHCPs 16% 

Checking school capacity before signposting parents 16% 

National indicators for SEND pupils 5% 

Better and more support during transition to secondary 5% 

 

Page 313



4 
 

 
Summary of responses from Head teachers for mainstream schools: 
Funding was cited by head teachers as the biggest key challenge in meeting SEND. 
This related to what was regarded as inadequate top up funding as well as the 
reduction in school budgets from where they are required to designate a notional 
SEND budget of up to £6,000 for children and young people with SEND. Head 
teachers commented that the increase in SEND was further adding to the challenges 
around meeting need within the financial constraints and the impact that directing 
money and staff resource from an already reduced and overstretched budget to 
prioritise SEND had on other children and young people in schools.  
 
Almost half the head teachers responding referred to a lack of specialist support 
available at a time when numbers were increasing and the impact of long waiting 
times and more thinly spread services had on supporting them with meeting the 
needs of their SEND cohorts. 
A lack of early identification on transition to primary and to a lesser degree, transition 
to secondary schools was also noted as a significant challenge.  
 
A small number of head teachers made reference to the challenges created by 
inappropriate curriculum demands (national expectations) on children and young 
people with SEND, the time taken to get an EHCP and delays in children accessing 
special school places. 
 
Key changes head teachers would like to see include a funding system which better 
addresses level of need, better and earlier identification of need and an increase in 
specialist support available to schools 
 
Responses from SENCOs: 
Q1. Are the needs for children with SEND generally identified before they come to 
your school? 

Yes / Mostly 41% 

No  35% 

Inconsistent 24% 
 

Q2. If yes, how has this affected your transition arrangements? 

Child centred / smoother transition 60% 

Better planning of provision 13% 

Improved links with families 13% 

Better multi-agency working / information sharing 13% 
 

Q3. Which needs are you able to meet? 

Cognition and Learning 26% 

Communication and Interaction inc. ASD 25% 

SEMH  13% 

All 13% 

Health / Physical Impairment 12% 

Sensory 11% 
 

Q4. Which needs are you not able to meet? 

SEMH  31% 

Health / Physical Impairment 24% 

Communication and Interaction inc. ASD 16% 

Sensory 12% 

Page 314



5 
 

Complex 9% 

Cognition and Learning 8% 
 

Q5. What makes the difference? 

Specialist learning support 19% 

Adequate funding 18% 

Effective transition / early identification / EHCP 16% 

Multiagency working 12% 

Training for staff 12% 

Time and resources / staffing 8% 

Proactive parents 8% 

Designated spaces in school / premises unsuitable 6% 

Commitment of staff 2% 

 
Q6. Are you able to see what the trends are? 

More complex / increase in SEMH 37% 

Increased Communication and Interaction needs 23% 

Increase in ASD at post 16 14% 

Increase in complex needs 8% 

Poor transition from PVI 6% 

Increased cognition and learning needs 5% 

Increase in physical disability needs 4% 

EHCPs / MSPs increase 2% 

More SEN cyp places in mainstream 2% 

 
Q7. What are the challenges? 

Completing paperwork 19% 

Funding for high need cyp 18% 

Resources and equipment / building 16% 

Not enough specialist support 15% 

Specialist training for staff / costs 12% 

Parents and school working in partnership 8% 

Identifying need especially multiple and more complex 6% 

Lack of health service input 6% 

Lack of special school places 1% 

 
Q8. Thinking about your professional development, how do you access training and 
development to support children with SEND in your setting? Please tick all that 
apply: 

Training course 36% 

In-house training 29% 

Other 14% 

Work shadowing 12% 

On-line modules 9% 

 
Summary of responses from SENCOs 
SENCOs indicated that around all or most children had their needs identified prior to 
transition.  Around half of SENCOs said that early identification was inconsistent and 
largely dependent upon the feeder provider across all phases. The Early Years SEN 
team was referred to as being instrumental where children had been identified early.  
SENCOs told us that early identification had a direct effect on the quality of 
transition, being aware in good time of children who are coming into school with 

Page 315



6 
 

SEND enabled them to better plan and prepare, enabling additional visits to the pre 
school provider and the home and having the appropriate support in place for when 
children start. Good relationships with feeder providers was cited as a precursor to 
effective transition. 
 
The types of needs SENCOs felt best able to meet varied across schools however 
cognition and learning was generally cited as an area where they felt more able, with 
SEMH and complex communication and interaction needs (including autism), where 
they had seen an increase in numbers, being more of a challenge, along with 
physical difficulties where there were access issues. 
 
SENCOs reported access to specialist SEND services (educational psychology, 
specialist provision team, pupil referral service) was the most significant factor in 
supporting school in making a difference to being able to effectively meeting need 
along with support from health (Speech and Language Therapy (SALT), 
Occupational Therapy (OT), Physiotherapy) where needed. Funding and early 
identification were also cited by SENCOs as significant factors in helping schools to 
better meet need. Some SENCOs made reference to having access to appropriate 
spaces for interventions, staff training and expertise, working collaboratively with 
parents/carers and other agencies as being important in being able to make a 
difference.  
 
Attending Additional Needs Partnerships with an educational psychologist and other 
SENCOs was seen as a key part of a number of SENCO’s training and development 
along with general advice, support and training from Kirklees Learning SEND 
services along with external provider training. 
 
Responses from head teachers of special schools: 
In the return received, the head teacher noted that the vast majority of children and 
young people in the school had needs which reflected the current provision. Where 
this wasn’t the case this was related to exceptionally complex needs. Attainment and 
progress was cited as good to outstanding with a comment around the impact  high 
levels of anxiety experienced by a small minority of  children and young people can 
have upon academic. Success was linked to the school’s nurturing approach and 
emphasis on life skills.  A wide range of activities were cited by schools as being 
relevant to preparing young people for adulthood with transition to post 16 provision 
locally, cross border as well as independent providers. 
 
Responses from Governors: 
Q1. As leaders of your schools, what are the challenges of meeting the needs of all 
of your pupils? 

Insufficient funding 39% 

Staffing 21% 

EHCP process 16% 

SEN support issues: lack of advice / signposting, challenging SEN processes 
and procedures 

16% 

Access to specialist provision 5% 

Premises 4% 

 
Q2. What would you like to see changed to improve outcomes for children with 
SEND? 

SEN support: early identification, improved SEN processes, signposting / 
holistic support 

30% 

Page 316



7 
 

EHCP process 23% 

Resources / staffing 18% 

Increase in funding 17% 

Access to specialist provision 11% 

Premises 2% 

 
Summary of responses from Governors 
Governors  cited insufficient funding as a key challenge in meeting SEND in the 
context of the current whole school and top up funding against a backdrop of 
increasing numbers and complexity of SEND, along with limited access to specialist 
support and timely assessment of need. Governors reported that more timely 
support, a different approach to funding which is more reflective of costs, earlier 
identification, more training for school staff and more clarity around thresholds for 
assessment and access to services as things they would like to see changed in 
order to improve outcomes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 317



8 
 

 
 

Page 318



 
 

Appendix H 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
SUPPORTIVE 
RELATIONSHIPS WITH 
ADULTS: 
 

This refers to people who 
children and young people 
consider as being there to 
help/ support them during 
the school day.  These 
include people such as 
teachers, support staff, 
lunchtime assistants and 
youth workers. 
 
Children and young people 
described some of the 
support adults offer them 
throughout the school day: 

 
 

“Without the 
Support person, I 
doubt that I’d be 
able to keep up 

with the rest of the 
class.” 

BEING INVOLVED IN MY 
OWN LEARNING: 
 

Young people with an 
Education Health Care 
Plan (EHCP) felt that it was 
beneficial to them to be 
involved in this process, 
particularly in relation to 
being able to discuss and 
identify their own learning 
goals.  
 
It was also felt that the 
opportunity to engage with 
teachers in a focused way 
as part of EHCP meetings 
enabled staff to get a better 
understanding and grasp of 
the young person’s 
individual learning needs 
and provide the right 
support and set realistic 
targets.  
 

“If I don’t 
understand 

something in 
lessons, I ask my 

friends to help 
first.” 

Several key themes emerged from the children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and / 
or Disabilities responses to a range of questions 
around their experiences of school.  These are 
summarised below: 
 What is / has worked 

well within the 
educational setting?: MEETING ADDITIONAL 

SUPPORT NEEDS: 
 

Children and young people 
referred to a range of 
formal and informal support 
they received throughout 
the school day.  This 
included support to meet 
both learning and physical 
needs. 
 
Activities such as ‘booster’ 
and social skills sessions 
were seen to be beneficial.  
They felt that their school 
had an inclusive approach 
to making learning and 
activities accessible, with 
staff often adapting and 
customising activities to 
make sure that they could 
get involved. 
 
In addition to adult 
professionals, some 
children and young people 
also referred to their peers 
as being a valuable form of 
informal support throughout 
the school day, particularly 
around explaining 
classroom activities and 
tasks. 
 
 “I was asked questions 

about my preferred 
learning style and they 

listened to what support I 
felt I needed.” 

HIGH NEEDS STRATEGIC 
REVIEW 2017-18: 
RESPONSES OF CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

Page 319



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

SUPPORT NOT PUT IN 
PLACE: 
 
Some young people felt 
that the support they 
received prior to the EHCP 
was better than their 
current support.  Some 
described losing much 
needed classroom support, 
receiving only support for 
assignments and agreed 
support not being put in 
place in the learning 
environment. 
 
 
 

ENCOURAGEMENT TO 
GET INVOLVED IN 
SPORTS: 
 
Many young people 
expressed an interest in 
taking part in sporting 
activities in their free time 
but stated that transport 
and not knowing what 
provision was available to 
them was acting as a 
barrier.  Some also felt that 
not being good at sport 
prevented them from taking 
part in activities as they felt 
embarrassed and the level 
of support available to 
make activities inclusive 
was minimal.  

LUNCHTIME 
ACTIVITIES: 
 

Many described the 
opportunity to take part in 
various lunchtime activities 
as a positive aspect of their 
school day. This was seen 
as a great opportunity to try 
new things, socialise and 
make new friends.  
 
 

AFTER SCHOOL 
ACTIVITIES: 
 
After school travel 
arrangements (i.e. 
travelling on the school bus 
or with parents) meant that 
it was difficult for some to 
take part in twilight (after 
school) activities.  Those 
that walked said that it was 
easier for them to access 
this provision if they chose 
to. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WORK PLACEMENTS: 
 

Some older young people 
stated that access to work 
placements as part of their 
courses offered much 
needed experiences and 
were well supported. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“I get to try  
lots of new sporting 

activities which helps  
with my coordination. 

“I can’t stay after 
school because I have 

to go home on the 
school bus.” 

What doesn’t/ hasn’t 
worked well within the 
educational setting?: 

SUPPORT TO 
SOCIALISE AFTER 
SCHOOL: 
 
A large number of young 
people found socialising 
after school with friends 
difficult and for this reason 
they took part in very little 
direct socialising with their 
peers.  The reasons for this 
included a lack of suitable 
youth provision, nowhere to 
go, transport issues and 
not feeling confident in 
social situations.  For 
many,  their evenings were 
spent playing on games 
consoles  and watching TV 
with communicating 
indirectly via social media 
being seen as an essential 
way of staying in touch with 
people their own age.   
 
 
 

Page 320



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MAKING & 
MAINTAINING 
RELATIONSHIPS: 
 
Many young people with 
hidden disabilities 
described making and 
maintaining relationships 
with their peers at school 
as a difficult task.  Often 
their peers would be 
unaware of their disabilities 
and how it impacted on 
their everyday lives 
causing young people to 
feel disconnected and 
isolated from their peers. 
 
 
 

SUPPORTING OUR 
PARENTS TO SUPPORT 
US: 
 
Young people also 
identified language barriers 
as impacting on their 
learning.  They stated that 
parents/ carers found it 
difficult to support them 
with their homework and 
engage with staff around 
their additional needs due 
to English not being their 
parents’ first language, 
often with this task being 
delegated to older siblings. 
 
 

 
USING TECHNOLOGY 
TO HELP US LEARN: 
 
Many young people were 
avid users of technology 
and suggested using 
modern technology 
including gaming 
principles to encourage 
young people to learn 
more effectively within the 
classroom environment. 
 
They also suggested 
using phones to listen to 
music which some said 
helped them to calm 
down when experiencing 
meltdowns and difficult 
situations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Children & young peoples suggestions 
for improvement  
in provision: 

SHORTER LESSONS: 
 
 
A number of young people 
within mainstream schools 
mentioned having 
difficulties with 
concentrating for the whole 
duration of lessons as an 
issue.  They suggested 
shorter sharper lessons as 
a solution to keeping their 
attention and focus 
allowing them to enjoy a 
more positive learning 
experience. 

 
PEER AWARENESS: 
 
 
Some felt that it would be 
beneficial for pupils in 
mainstream schools to 
have a greater awareness 
and understanding of 
SEND particularly around 
hidden disabilities.  They 
felt that a more empathetic 
attitude from their peers 
would help them to feel 
less isolated within the 
school environment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This information was gathered and collated 
as part of the High Needs Strategic Review 
(2017-18) by Susan Adams,  
IYCE Team, Kirklees Council Page 321



 

Page 322



PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

APPENDIX J 

 

 

PCAN response to High Needs Review 

 

This information has been gathered from parents via our Facebook Group, feedback at 

social and consultation events and telephone conversations. 

We have noted that some schools made little effort to advise parents about the High Needs 

Review. 

Requires improvement: 

EHC Plans: 

1. Families wanting assessments but school not going ahead as they don’t see any SEN. 

2. School (and parent) waiting for specialist services eg SALT or EP to assess a child to work 

out what the issues are.  These resources are in high demand so often a wait or some 

kind of “triage” approach by school who only send their most complex children for 

assessment by SALT or EP even though a child who hasn’t been referred might be just as 

complex as a child in a school where they don’t have many SEN and that school is happy 

to do this referral. 

3.  Complicated by additional CAMHS waiting list issues so if an autism referral is thought 

necessary then parents and school are often waiting in limbo while this goes on.  There 

should be some adjustment to school work, environment etc while this is ongoing but 

we are not always seeing this leaving parents waiting and assuming the diagnosis will be 

the answer to the problems when things could be happening in school anyway. 

4. Parents have fought to get EHCP’s, often paid outside agencies to help put them 

together, and schools are not following them as they should.  This has come up several 

times from very different families right across Kirklees.  Also, not monitoring the child’s 

activities to monitor progress, and in some cases they are ignoring the advice in the EHC 

Plan completely.  EG. Speech & Language recommended 5 sessions a week, school are 

only offering three.   

Page 323

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

5. Lack of aspirational approach – this tends to be comments made by parents of children 

in special schools. Schools have struggled to identify what they like and admire about 

the child and what they might be able to do in later life (bar often set very low). 

6. There is feeling that SENACT aren’t objective about reports that need to be included 

during the assessment of EHC Plan.  Parents have fed back that reports they wanted to 

be included haven’t been.  This could make a difference. 

Behaviour 

1. Behaviour in classes, not managed effectively – staff are spending most of the time 

managing behaviour in classes (often from children who do not have additional needs) 

and then children who need support aren’t getting it. The children who are quiet and 

fade into the background are completely overlooked (this is not just children with 

additional needs). 

2.  Behaviour with children who have SEN regarding inflexible behaviour policies.  Parents 

talk to us of issues with school over approaches which do nothing to get their child to 

“behave” and just get them into further trouble, isolation and exclusions.  Many parents 

have been expected to collect their children at lunchtimes or extremely frequently due 

to behaviour. 

3. Lots of parents feel that their children with emotional behavioural issues, autistic 

spectrum conditions etc are not supported sufficiently during build ups to holidays, 

especially Christmas when there is so much “off timetable” activity, different 

atmosphere, lots of change to deal with. There is minimal recognition that exacerbated 

behaviour during these periods is in fact a communication or expression of the child’s 

anxiety and they are not “naughty”.   

4. Lack of understanding, skills, awareness, training of staff regarding autism spectrum 

conditions, behaviour management, triggers for behaviour, how to speak to children 

who take things literally. 

5. Lack of understanding that challenging behaviour is often a method of communication. 

6. Lack of knowledge of staff regarding who to recognise the issues a child may have, 

particularly for those who are good at hiding it at school, or they hold it in till they get 

home. Too frequently parents who deal with severe behaviour issues at home are told it 

is environmental and that “there is nothing wrong with their child” – it’s all about 

parenting.  We know a lot of those families within the PCAN Group and a significant 

number of the children involved now have a diagnosis of Autism. 

Support and Inclusion 

1. Regular staff and particularly supply teachers – are often unaware that children in class 

have additional needs, and they don‘t receive appropriate support or are singled out 

inappropriately eg. A child who developed continence issues was not allowed extra time 

out of class by a supply teacher who hadn’t read the information about her and 

Page 324

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

humiliated her in front of the class about it. Lots of the supply teachers do not have the 

awareness of how a child’s condition affects them and don’t take steps to address this. 

2.  Insufficient differentiation of work so that it can be done by the child but still contains 

sufficient challenge. 

3. Lack of understanding that homework can be an issue especially for autistic children 

who may have real problems eg  with homework being something that can only be 

done in school.  Also those with medical issues may not have the time to complete 

homework due to appointments or severe fatigue.  This can lead to issues with getting 

detentions etc for it not being completed (see previous point about inflexible policies). 

4.  Lack of inclusive attitude.  Instead of “how can we make this work for this child” (which 

has been seen and appreciated  by parents in some schools) it is that everything is too 

much for school to consider changing no matter how small and the attitude is very 

begrudging and negative. 

5. Very rigid curriculum at secondary level with only GCSE on offer at most secondary 

schools and their children are not that academic and would want something else to 

do.  Schools very rigid if requests made to drop some subjects to make the timetable 

less pressured.  Parents very worried choosing secondary schools as hard to see how 

their needs can be met. 

6.  Issues with physical size and layout of secondary schools.  Most are very large and have 

large numbers of students.  The environment can be particularly daunting for SEN 

kids.  Often the larger schools have no quiet rooms available. 

7. We are receiving negative feedback about Honley High School – most people said it 

used to be good, but not anymore.  Children are being put into bottom sets sold to 

them as additional support and then end up in really disruptive classes where they can’t 

learn.  Feedback indicates that the attitude of the Head Teacher is not inclusive and 

doesn’t really buy into having children with additional in his mainstream school. 

8. Lots of people are talking about resource issues in schools as a reason for not meeting 

needs. For example where one to one support is identified, what seems to be 

happening is that schools are allocating a support worker who is shared in the class 

across a few children. We’ve had a few incidences of where children have been 

excluded for behavioural issues and parents have asked “where was their support 

worker” and that support worker was supporting other children and nowhere near 

when the incident happened.  We are hearing that so called one to one support workers 

who are being funded for an individual child are actually being shared across other 

pupils who don’t have that funding as the school doesn’t have sufficient resource. 

9. Some parents are saying that their children’s progress is not improving when they have 

a My Support Plan.  Not all schools are signposting to support like Autism Outreach or 

PCAN or other local support groups.  School are not referring to Educational 

Psychologists despite numerous issues with certain children – parents feel that this is a 

resource issue.  This blocks access to other services or referrals to CAMHS. 

Page 325

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

10. There are a small number of children that we know of who have been repeatedly 

excluded and the school clearly can’t meet their needs.  Some children end up at Ethos 

rather than getting them an appropriate place because it would appear (to the parents) 

that every effort is being made not to send children out of authority, which may meet 

the needs better, because of cost.   

11. Parents feel that there is a lack of recognition of the achievements of children with SEN 

as they rarely get the class prize, or the awards for good behaviour.  A child that has to 

have time off for appointments will never achieve an attendance award.  These types of 

aware are all publicly awarded and celebrated and these children miss out on this.  

There is limited celebration of their strengths, it just goes to reinforce their differences 

and perceived lack of achievement.  They don’t get chosen for teams, the choir, etc etc 

and often miss out on school trips as they are only offered to the high achievers.  They 

are sometimes excluded from trips because of their challenging behaviour which 

indicates a lack of support from the school or lack of risk assessment. (This is mainly 

high schools). 

12. Lots of families have reported that there is minimal support for siblings of children with 

additional needs whether those children attend the same school or not. 

Medical and Health Needs 

1.  No following of medical needs policies (or only assuming they are to do with asthma 

inhalers!)  Many parents are happy in mainstream school but there can be a distinct lack 

of flexibility/awareness as regards their child’s needs.  This has been mentioned in 

relation to toileting issues in older primary children, being sent home due to sickness 

(and made to stay off for at least 24 hours) when child has a medical issue not a 

sickness bug. 

2.  Lack of understanding that mental health is a health need.  Time off treated like 

truanting rather than anxiety related. 

3. Repeated absence for medical issues and appointments – despite the fact that these are 

advised by parents to the school these families always get a letter about attendance 

and usually have to deal with very difficult conversations with attendance officers. 

There should be some recognition of this. 

4. Minimal support for students who have been frequently absent due to illness of 

frequent appointments resulting in them falling behind with their studies. 

5. Lack of understanding by school nursing team about a child’s condition (particularly 

continence issues). 

6. Minimal recognition of the fatigue that some children have to deal with which may 

affect their learning in school or ability to do homework.  Eg. Wearing hearing aids all 

day and lipreading, dealing with sensory processing issues, managing their health 

condition, or having a health condition which is very tiring such as a physical disability 

or heart condition. 

Page 326

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

7. When specialists do visit school eg EP, OT, SALT or physio there is little feedback to 

parents about how the child is doing etc.  The model used seems to be to discharge 

children as much as possible even though these children are never going to “get better” 

and could always do with being on someone’s books especially as they grow.  Parents 

feel very dependent on school eg making sure that a posture supportive chair is still the 

right size etc. 

Communication and parent support 

1. Parents are not getting support in review meetings or team around the family 

meetings.  We are always getting asked if we can provide support (obviously we 

can’t).  Parents feel outnumbered, unempowered, some parents have actually said 

they feel like they are being intimidated.  We routinely refer parents to KIAS, Core 

Assets and Carers Count (for advocacy).  Parent say they are not listened to.  This just 

puts parents off from coming to any school meetings, parents’ evenings etc. 

2. Parents for whom English is not their first language report having difficulties 

communicating with school or dealing with information from school.  For review 

there is often an interpreter present, but the letters/reports always come out in 

English so they are not able to check them. 

3. Parents state that they get limited notice about their child’s annual review or any 

other review meetings.  Evidence suggests that more emphasis is put on the 

availability of professionals for meetings, and the parents are last to know.  This has 

been particularly prevalent in the special schools (Ravenshall, Fairfields). Often 

schools have not collaborated with parents about who should attend, and don not 

advise parents who has been invited or who has confirmed their attendance.  They 

tend to rigidly go ahead with the meeting anyway, despite the absence of key 

people. (Ravenshall School) 

4. Communication - little or none or only when things are not going well.  Not enough 

notice of important meetings and time to complete eg part A. 

5. School staff not responding to parents’ phone calls or messages (Ravenshall School 

came up a few times here). 

6. Limited support around EHC Plans – if the parents’ views don’t fit with those of the 

school, some schools can be unco-operative and incommunicative (Ravenshall 

specified several times). 

 

Post 16 

1. All year (well, for the past five years really), we have been hearing from families 

whose children who were educated in mainstream but don’t have appropriate 

results to do anything other than a Foundation Course.  For many of these children 

this is way below their level and there is no alternative.  And it’s only three days 

Page 327

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

education.  What do they do for the rest of the week and if they are not sufficiently 

independent, parents have give up work or reduce hours to be around for the other 

two days.  We have had feedback from several people regarding the number of non-

english speakers on the Foundation Studies Course and so much emphasis and time 

is spent on them rather the children with SEN.  Work experience places are an issue 

– some young people are not sent on appropriate work placements – it’s anywhere 

rather than nowhere. 

2.  If child bright enough for New College or other school sixth form then the path is 

clear.  However it is not clear what is on offer if you don’t get 5 GCSE to do a level 2 

course. 

3. Most colleges are still some way behind schools in understanding their requirements 

under the CFA.  They are only just getting used to having to take all students now the 

school participation age is 18. 

Post 19 

Parents feel that there are little or no options for their child after finishing at a special 

school at age 19.  Big gap in Kirklees. 

Positive comments: 

“They can’t do enough for my child” – heard this several times from parents of children in 

mainstream early years or infant and junior school. 

A large number of schools make sure that all children are invited to trips, full risk 

assessments are carried out and sometimes parents are invited to come along to offer 

additional support. (this tends to be in infant and junior schools).  

Evidence suggests that the schools which are performing well at supporting children with 

additional needs tend to have a very different ethos, it comes from the top down, and there 

are key staff within the organisation who embrace inclusion of children with additional 

needs. 

Excellent pieces of work in some schools around children’s aspirations and outcomes and 

real efforts to ensure that their views are captured about what they want for the future with 

involvement of parents (eg. Newsome High School). 

 

PCAN Kirklees 

December 2017 

 

 

Page 328

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


PCAN, Suite 230, 6 Queen Street, Huddersfield HD1 2SQ          info@pcankirklees.org 
www.pcankirklees.org          07754102336 

 

 

Page 329

mailto:info@pcankirklees.org
http://www.pcankirklees.org/


This page is intentionally left blank



GDE-GOV-REPORTTEMPLATE-v3-02/17 NEW 

 

 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date:  December 11th 2018 
Title of report: Facilitating the development fixed line broadband services  
 
Purpose of report 
 
 
To seek authority for the Council to enter into agreements with individual telecommunication 
network providers of fixed line broadband services and which provide for: 
 

(i) the  Council to grant rights to the individual telecommunication network provider to 
install and maintain apparatus for fixed line broadband services in under and over 
Council owned land and buildings in the Council’s Area; and  

 
(ii) which set out the procedures for the determination of where such apparatus 

should be installed and the manner and method in which the apparatus should be 
installed and maintained    

 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

Yes, November 5th 2018 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance (S151 Officer)? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning? 

Karl Battersby - 29.11.2018 
 
 
Eamonn Croston - 3.12.2018 
 
 
Julie Muscroft - 30.11.2018 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Peter McBride - Economy 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All 
 
Ward councillors consulted: None N/A 
 
Public or private:   Public 
  

Page 331

Agenda Item 12:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


GDE-GOV-REPORTTEMPLATE-v3-02/17 NEW 

 

 
1. Summary  
 

A number of providers of fixed line broadband services are proposing to improve 
and/or extend their networks within the Council’s area.  Their proposed improvements 
include the installation of new electronic apparatus on Council Land and in Council 
buildings.  

 
In order to facilitate the speedy carrying out of these improvements within the 
Council’s area it is proposed that the Council enters into agreements to provide firstly 
for: 

 
(i) the Council to grant rights to fixed line broadband service providers for the 

installation and maintenance of the electronic apparatus that forms part of their 
broadband network; and secondly 

 
(ii) Which set out a process for the determination of where the apparatus should 

be installed and how it should be installed and maintained in a manner which 
will protect the interest of the Council as the owner of the land and buildings.   

 
The existence of such agreements should save both the telecommunication network 
providers and the Council time and money when any improvements to their networks 
are carried out and it should make it more attractive to broadband providers to 
improve their fixed line broadband networks within the borough of Kirklees.    

 
The agreements will not extend to mobile networks and in particular will not apply to 
telecommunications masts. 

 
2. Information required to take a decision 
 

Under the terms of the Electronic Communications Code 2017 (“the Code”) providers 
of fixed line broadband services have a right to apply to court for an order that gives 
them the right to install and maintain network apparatus on land owned by third 
parties. 

 
The policy underlying the Code is that it is to facilitate the development of fixed line 
broadband networks and therefore any applications to install network apparatus are 
considered within this context.  In practice it is rare that a landowner can prevent 
network apparatus from being installed if it is operationally appropriate although the 
court can take into account whether the precise location of apparatus and the method 
by which it is installed.  

 
In view of the statutory framework set out in the Code it makes commercial sense for 
the Council to enter into arrangements with telecommunication network providers 
which will set out arrangements that best protect the council assets whilst at the same 
promoting the improvement in fixed line broadband networks within the Council’s 
area.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 332



GDE-GOV-REPORTTEMPLATE-v3-02/17 NEW 

 

3. Implications for the Council 
 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

 
The improvement of fixed line broadband services will benefit the residents of 
Kirklees in that it will increase the quality and range of broadband services 
available. This will, in time have benefits - particularly educational benefits - for 
children and families in the Council’s area.    

 
3.2 Economic Resilience (ER) 

 
The improvement of fixed line broadband services will benefit businesses in the 
Council’s area.  Research has established that improved broadband speeds 
leads to enhanced economic growth.  

 
3.3       Improving Outcomes for Children  

 
With the average UK home now reported as having an average of 7.4 devices 
connected to the internet, the ever increasing demand for bandwidth is clear. 
Couple this with schools issuing more and more internet and app based 
homework as the norm, internet speed and coverage will be playing an 
increasing role in our children’s education. 
 

3.4 Reducing demand of services 
 

Improved broadband speeds will promote the use of the Council’s website both 
in terms of obtaining information and also for the carrying out of business with 
the Council. Enquiries and transactions conducted through the Council’s 
website cost the Council substantially less than when they are carried out by 
telephone or in person.   
 

3.5 Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 
Legal 

 
Legal Services has confirmed that the Council has the legal power to enter into 
such agreements with fixed line broadband providers. 

 
Human Resources 

 
Any agreements that are entered into with fixed line broadband providers will 
set out streamlined procedures which should mean a reduction in staff time that 
will be needed in the consideration and assessment of the applications from 
fixed line broadband providers for electronic apparatus to be installed in on or 
under Council land.      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 333



GDE-GOV-REPORTTEMPLATE-v3-02/17 NEW 

 

 
Equality Impact Assessment 

 
From undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment, we determine the overall 
results to be very positive in relation to residents and employees and positive in 
relation to protected characteristic groups. Both scores relating to Impact and 
Risk are both positive at 28/32 and 36/40 respectively - see link below:- 
 

  http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/eias/economy-infrastructure/economy-
regeneration-culture/Template-Wayleave-Agreement.xlsm 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 
 

Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing consider it important to facilitate the installation of 
fixed line broadband services because this will promote improved broadband services 
to the Council’s housing estates.  
 
The Estates Team recognises the ongoing benefits of having such agreements in 
place with providers, as there will be no need for individual negotiations on wayleave 
terms or wayleave values as these will be pre-agreed and set out in the agreements. 

 
5. Next steps 
 

If the recommendations in this report are approved, officers will invite individual 
telecommunications network providers of fixed line services to enter into negotiations 
with the Council for an agreement which provides for the terms set out in paragraph 
6.1 below.      
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 
It is recommended that: 

 
6.1 Approval be given for the Council to enter into agreements with individual 

telecommunication network providers of fixed line broadband services and 
which provide for: 

 
(i) the  Council to grant rights to the particular telecommunication network 

provider to install and maintain apparatus for fixed line broadband services 
in under and over Council owned land and buildings throughout the 
Council’s Area; and  

 
(ii) Which set out the procedures for the determination of where such apparatus 

should be installed and the manner and method in which the apparatus 
should be installed and maintained   

 
6.2 Authority be delegated to the Strategic Director, Economy & Infrastructure to 

negotiate and agree with individual telecommunication network providers of 
fixed line broadband services the terms of any agreement(s) referred to in 
paragraph 6.1 

 
6.3      Authority be delegated to the Service Director, Legal Governance & 

Commissioning to enter into and execute any agreements referred to in 
paragraph 6.1 together with any documents and agreements that are ancillary 
to such agreements.  

 

Page 334

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/eias/economy-infrastructure/economy-regeneration-culture/Template-Wayleave-Agreement.xlsm
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/eias/economy-infrastructure/economy-regeneration-culture/Template-Wayleave-Agreement.xlsm


GDE-GOV-REPORTTEMPLATE-v3-02/17 NEW 

 

6.4      Members are asked to note that the ability of the Council to enter into 
agreements of the nature described in paragraph 6.1 will promote the 
improvement of fixed line broadband services within the Kirklees Area and it is 
for this reason that officers make their recommendations.   

 
7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 

Councillor Peter McBride: I would welcome such a proposal on the basis that it 
facilitates the expansion of digital infrastructure to our residents and businesses by all 
providers. 
 

8. Contact officer  
Steve Moore - Business Group Leader 
(01484) 221000 
steve.moore@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 
N/A 
 

10. Strategic Director responsible   
 
Karl Battersby, Strategic Director, Economy and Infrastructure 
(01484) 221000 
karl.battersby@kirklees.gov.uk 

Page 335

mailto:steve.moore@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:karl.battersby@kirklees.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet 
Date: 11th December 2018  
Title of report: Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan (2018-19)  
 
Purpose of report 

 
1. To present to Cabinet the Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan (2018-

19); and 
2. To ask that Cabinet approve the Strategy operating from the date of Cabinet approval 

to the end of the 2019 calendar year. 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  

Yes 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

Yes 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Yes 

Date signed off by Service Director & name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

Saleem Tariq – 02/11/18 
 
Eamonn Croston – 02/11/18 
 
 
Julie Muscroft (Margaret Miller) – 29/11/18 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Viv Kendrick (Children) 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All  
 
Ward councillors consulted:  N/A 
 
Public or private:   Public 
  

Page 337

Agenda Item 13:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


2 
 

 
 
1. Summary  

As part of our Improvement Plan, we committed to producing a Sufficiency Strategy 
and Action Plan setting out how we will increase the availability of local placements to 
ensure that children and young people do not need to be placed at a distance from 
their communities. This Interim Strategy and Action Plan sets out our proposed 
approach until the end of calendar year 2019. Its key outcomes are children feeling 
confident our decisions more clearly reflect their needs and views, more children and 
young people able to stay at home and leave care early, and more placements of the 
right kind for children and young people in need (especially family-setting 
placements). 
 
By enabling families to stay together when safe, increasing local foster placements, 
and listening more to our looked after children, we believe we should see less of our 
children and young people placed outside of the District (when appropriate). In the 
course of this Strategy, we will also improve our understanding of children and young 
people’s needs, foster carers’ needs (to improve recruitment and retention of carers), 
and local sites that could be developed (including through adaptations) into more 
residential care. This includes sites for specialist accommodation for those with the 
most complex health, educational, and emotional and behavioural needs. We will also 
have a detailed understanding of the impact of keeping children in the District on local 
education placements and health care services and the investment and approach 
needed to manage this. This work will inform the next, longer-term Sufficiency 
Strategy (2020-25). The Strategy will therefore be reviewed and renewed in 2020. 

 
2. Background 

Following the September-October 2016 Ofsted inspection, Ofsted recommended 
Kirklees ‘increase the availability of local placements to ensure that children and 
young people do not need to be placed at a distance from their communities’ 
(recommendation 20 - link). This is a challenge for local authorities nationally. As of 31 
March 2017, 40% of looked after children in England were placed out of their home 
area (link). This continues to be a challenge as the number of children in care 
nationally continues to rise (link). In the Improvement Plan, we committed to deliver 
this outcome through a Sufficiency Strategy and Action Plan. The Strategy was 
submitted to Improvement Board on the 10th May, to inform them of progress. 
  
The Council has a statutory duty to take steps to provide sufficient accommodation 
within the District to meet the needs of our local children and young people, as far as 
reasonably practicable (Children Act 1989, Section 22G - link). This Strategy and 
Action Plan shows how the Council is meeting this statutory responsibility. It has been 
produced with the Government’s statutory guidance in mind, ‘Securing Sufficient 
Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010) (link). 
 
The Strategy and Action Plan have been produced in line with the Shared Outcomes 
set out in the Corporate Plan (link). The Strategy and Action Plan aim to help give 
children the best start in life by improving early support and intervention and support 
to leave care early, improving placement stability, and increasing small residential 
homes and foster placements. 
 
The core indicator of its success will be that a smaller proportion of looked after 
children and young people are placed more than 20 miles outside of the District. 
 

Page 338

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/local_authority_reports/kirklees/052_Single%20inspection%20of%20LA%20children%27s%20services%20and%20review%20of%20the%20LSCB%20as%20pdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_Additional_Tables_Text.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/22G
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/securing-sufficient-accommodation-for-looked-after-children
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/corporate-plan-201820.pdf


3 
 

The Strategy has had significant contributions from teams across the Council, 
including the Children’s Rights Team, Corporate Parenting Board, Commissioning, 
and the Corporate Strategy and Policy Team. 
 
Recognising the centrality of partnership work in our new ways of working (as set out 
in the 2018-20 Corporate Plan - link), we have also shared drafts with health and 
education stakeholders, including the Head of Joint Commissioning from the local 
CCGs and the Head of the Virtual School. True to our commitment to strengthening 
the voice of the child in our decisions, we have also discussed the approach with 
some of our children at the Children in Care Council and the Care Leavers Forum.  
 
Those we have engaged with have voiced support for the Strategy’s approach, whilst 
emphasising that specific placement targets require corresponding education and 
healthcare provision. We are looking into specific numbers and total financial 
implications through the Specialist Accommodation Board. Recognising the 
importance of political oversight and accountability in this issue, we took a draft of this 
strategy and action plan to Children’s Scrutiny Panel on the 11th July. Their feedback 
is summarised in Section 4. 

 
Progress on delivering the outcomes in this Strategy will be monitored six-monthly at 
Corporate Parenting Board. This will be against the indicators and performance 
measures and activities and standards in the finalised Action Plan. A key output is the 
next, 5-year Sufficiency Strategy, which will run from 2020-25. 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

Improved sufficiency will require improving our early intervention and 
prevention, including ongoing support for children and young people at risk of 
being taken into care. This will help children and young people safely stay at 
home rather than being taken into care, which can be better for the child and 
leave residential and family-setting placements (such as foster) for those that 
need them most (because they can’t safely stay at home). 

 
3.2 Economic Resilience (ER) 

We are looking at the possibility of more in-house residential provision for those 
who can’t safely stay at home. If found to be viable, this could protect the 
Council from price-rises when demand rises. 
 

3.3 Improving Outcomes for Children  
Getting used to a new placement takes time and energy and so changing 
placements can be disruptive. It can also mean losing vital friends and support 
networks. Ongoing placement instability makes it more likely that a child or 
young person will have to move out-of-area if that child or young person has 
specific educational, health, or emotional and behavioural needs. Placement 
stability is supported by involving children and young people in decisions about 
their placements and care. A key part of the Sufficiency Strategy and Action 
Plan is strengthening the voice of our children and young people. 
 
It is better for our children and young people to live locally where they can 
retain friends, support networks, and their educational setting and where we 
can provide higher quality support. With more children and young people 
supported to stay at home, there will be more local placements for those that 
need them most. 
 

Page 339

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/pdf/corporate-plan-201820.pdf


4 
 

Family-setting placements such as foster care tend to produce better outcomes 
for children and young people than residential care. They aim to replicate, as 
close as possible, a loving and attentive family life. The Strategy aims to have a 
higher proportion of children and young people in family-setting placements 
such as foster placements. This should be better for our children and young 
people, as well as keeping local residential placements allocated to those of 
our children and young people for whom foster placements are not appropriate 
or have not been producing good outcomes. 

 
3.4 Reducing demand on services 

Through its emphasis on better early support and improved consideration of 
educational, health, and emotional and behavioural needs in placement 
decisions, this strategy depends on early support services and demand might 
increase. It will also mean more demand for local school places, including for 
specialist placements for those of our children and young people with complex 
needs, and local health services. Children’s services will need to work closely 
with health and education partners to ensure any improvement in local 
sufficiency is sustainable. However: 
1. It will reduce financial demand on services through reduced expenditure on 

costly out-of-area residential placements; and 
2. Supporting children and young people placed out of Kirklees, especially 

those placed more than 20 miles out of the District, requires additional 
resources to supporting those within Kirklees, so reducing those placed 
more than 20 miles from the District will free up resource to increase the 
support available to all our children. 

 
3.5 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

See Section 2, paragraph 2 of this document for the key legal context and 
implications for this Strategy. 
 
This Strategy conforms with and helps deliver on our responsibilities as a local 
authority, including those on continuously improving our services (Local 
Government Act 1999), on meeting the needs of our looked after children via 
their placements, and the right to a family life that we may only interfere with in 
limited circumstances. 
 
Under Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999, the Council has a duty to 
make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 
Council functions are exercised, and consider economy, efficiency, and 
effectiveness in doing so (link). In improving local placements, this Strategy 
contributes to our delivery on this duty. 
 
We have considered our duties under the Equality Act 2010 Section 149. An 
Equality Impact Assessment for this Strategy is included in the papers, and can 
be found on the Council’s Equality Impact Assessment Index: 
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/equality-impact-
assessments.aspx 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 

There is no statutory or common law requirement to consult on delivering our 
sufficiency duty, and no formal consultation has taken place. However, we have 
contacted key internal and external stakeholders for comment. Feedback received on 
previous drafts is summarised below. 
 

Page 340

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/27/section/3
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/equality-impact-assessments.aspx
http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/delivering-services/equality-impact-assessments.aspx


5 
 

This feedback has shaped the strategy and action plan. For example, we considered 
education, health, and specialist accommodation needs in developing the Strategy, as 
the Head of Joint Commissioning for the two Kirklees CCGs has suggested. Scrutiny’s 
comments have led to a reformatting of the Action Plan, an addition of a Voice of the 
Child Action Plan, and more detail on the feedback that the Children in Care Council 
and Care Leavers Forum gave us. The Virtual School Headteacher’s feedback has 
led to a clear statement of our statutory duties with regard to education placements 
being included in the Strategy, as set out in the new statutory guidance. Discussions 
with the Head of Service for Education Safeguarding and Inclusion have led to more 
emphasis being put on the importance of the High Needs Review. In response to the 
feedback from the Commissioning Manager, it was noted that smaller homes is one 
way to prevent institutionalisation, and our children and young people report feeling 
safer and more secure in smaller homes. 
 
Children’s Scrutiny Panel: Panel members voiced approval for the broad principals of 
the Strategy and that it was taken to them in draft form so they had chance to provide 
input. Panel members noted the need to prioritise the baselines and targets in the 
Action Plan and questioned some of the targets in the previous draft they saw. They 
asked for clearer presentation of key figures to make it easier to hold delivery of its 
ambitions to account. They asked for clearer evidence that our engagement with the 
Voice of the Child has informed the Strategy. They also recommended sharing the 
Strategy with third-sector support services for comment and feedback. 
 
Children in Care Council: Children told us they find smaller placements better and that 
they would like to be more involved in training foster carers and choosing placements. 
They emphasised the importance of treating every child on their own terms. 
 
Care Leavers Forum: Young people told us the location of their placement is key to 
their success. They also said it would be good to be involved in foster carer training. 

 
Head of Joint Commissioning – Children, NHS Greater Huddersfield and NHS North 
Kirklees CCGs: Supports the outcomes and principles of the Strategy. The detailed 
commissioning plans that will sit under these must approach sufficiency in terms of 
education, health, and specialist accommodation needs. A number of Kirklees’ 
children need highly specialist placements and education settings. They are currently 
only found out of area and cost a lot relative to the quality of the placement received 
and are harder to monitor. Local specialist provision would keep these children in 
Kirklees, improve the quality of their care, and keep the costs lower. 
 
Virtual School Headteacher: The draft Strategy the VS Headteacher saw needed 
more links to the High Needs Review and a clearer statement of our legal 
responsibilities around educational placements for looked after children, as stated in 
the new statutory guidance. 

 
Head of Service, Education Safeguarding and Inclusion: Agreed with the feedback 
from the Virtual School Headteacher and suggests work through the High Needs 
Review and this Strategy should be aligned. 
 
Independent Chair, Safeguarding Board: Approved of the Strategy, but would 
recommend further emphasis on community resources and the new local provider 
network (which will improve quality, skill exchange, and local relationships). 
 
Commissioning Manager: Fully agrees that we need to develop local provision but we 
need to look at all options for local provision on a case-by-case basis (not focus 
exclusively on in-house provision), with clear costings. Reducing the number of beds 

Page 341



6 
 

in residences might not be effective, according to the 2016 Narey report, and avoiding 
institutionalisation is more important. Training and staff culture in residential homes 
should be addressed. 

 
5. Next steps 

1. If the Strategy is signed off, work to the Strategy and help to embed awareness, 
including: 

- Identify opportunities to run engagement workshops with staff from across 
Children’s Services, to find the best ways to deliver the Strategy’s ambitions; 

- Identify opportunities to integrate sufficiency-related actions into the action 
plans of teams across Council services. 

- In collaboration with the Specialist Accommodation Board and education and 
health colleagues, develop a more detailed understanding of the numbers that 
could stay in or return to Kirklees and the specialist accommodation, education 
placements, and health service requirements for this;  

- Identify opportunities to improve links with partners, including KNH; and 
- Present financial implications to Executive Team. 

 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

1. That Cabinet note the content of the Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & 
Action Plan (2018-19); and 
2. That Cabinet approve the Strategy operating from the date of Cabinet approval to 
the end of the 2019 calendar year. 
 

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
At Children’s Portfolio Holder’s Briefing (15/10/18), the Portfolio Holder recommended 
that the Strategy continue to Leadership Management Team and Cabinet for sign-off. 
 

8. Contact officers 
 Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting) 
 steve.comb@kirklees.gov.uk 
 01484 221000 
 

Stephen Bonnell (Policy & Partnerships Officer) 
 stephen.bonnell@kirklees.gov.uk 
 01484 221000 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 22nd October 2018: Leadership Management Team sign-off 
 15th October 2018: Portfolio Holder sign-off 

 
10. Service Director responsible   

Elaine McShane (Family Support and Child Protection) 

Page 342

mailto:steve.comb@kirklees.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bonnell@kirklees.gov.uk


A guide to equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)

What are Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)?
           EIAs are a tool to help you analyse and make more considered decisions about changes to service 
delivery, policy and practice. An EIA will help you to identify how specific communities of interest may be 
affected by decisions and to consider any potential discriminatory impact on people with protected 
           EIAs can also help to improve or promote equality by encouraging you to identify ways to remove 
barriers and improve participation for people with a protected characteristic.

Why do we need to do Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)?
           Although not a mandatory requirement, EIAs provide important evidence of how we have considered the 
implications of service and policy changes and demonstrate how we have met our legal Public Sector Equality 
           The three main elements of the Public Sector Equality Duty are:
   Eliminating discrimination
   Promoting equality of opportunity 
   Fostering good relations
           In fulfilling our Public Sector Equality Duty we must ensure that we demonstrate that we have followed a 
number of key principles  (based on previous case law):
   Knowledge
   Timeliness
   Real consideration
   Sufficient information
   No delegation
   Review
   Proper record keeping
           We need to provide evidence that we have given due regard to any potential discriminatory impact 
on people with protected characteristics in shaping policy, in delivering and making changes to services, and 
           We must always consider whether a service change, decision or policy could have a discriminatory 
impact on people with protected characteristics, not just any impact that is the same as it would be for everyone 
           The EIA tool allows us to capture, demonstrate and publish our rationale of how we have considered 
our communities and legal responsibilities under the Public Sector Equality Duty and is our main way of 

          But above all, EIAs are about understanding and meeting the needs of local people and 
supporting us to deliver our vision for Kirklees.

When do we need to do Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs)?
           Whenever you plan to change, introduce or remove a service, activity or policy. 
           At the VERY BEGINNING of any process of:
 Budget setting
 Service review (including changes to employment practice)
 Planning new projects and work programmes
 Policy development and review
 Procurement or commissioning activity

Who should do it?
           Overall responsibility for EIAs lies at a service level. A lead officer should be appointed from the service 
area that is making a proposal and all decisions should be approved by the senior management team in that 
           Those directly affected (partners, stakeholders, voluntary groups, communities, equality groups etc) 
should be engaged with as part of the process.

How should we do it?
      Our EIA process has two stages: 

Stage 1 - initial screening assessment
Stage 2 - further assessment and evidence 

Page 343



Page 344



EIA STAGE 1 – SCREENING TOOL (initial assessment)

Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting)

Steve Comb (Head of Corporate Parenting)

12/11/18

The purpose of this screening tool is to help you consider the potential impact of your proposal at 
an early stage.

Please give details of your service/lead officer then complete sections 1-3:
1) What is your proposal?
2) What level of impact do you think your proposal will have?
3) How are you using advice and evidence/intelligence to help you?

You will then receive your stage 1 assessment score and advice on what to do what next.

Children's Interim Sufficiency 
Strategy

Corporate Parenting

Children

Directorate:

Service:

Specific Service Area/Policy: Date of EIA (Stage 1):

Lead Officer responsible for EIA:

Senior Officer responsible for policy/service:

Move to next 
sectionGo back

Page 345



Please select 
YES or NO

YES

YES

YES

YES

YES

NO
To start charging for (or increase the charge for) a service or activity (i.e. 
ask people to pay for or to pay more for something)

Please briefly outline your proposal and the overall aims/purpose of making this change:
The Strategy sets out how the Council and partners will work together to increase the availability 
of local placements for our looked after children to meet the statutory requirements of Section 
22G of the Children Act 1989. It has been produced with statutory guidance in mind, including 
‘Securing Sufficient Accommodation for Looked after Children’ (2010)  The key measures, 
alongside effective early support, include increasing the number of local foster placements 
through improved support and targeted campaigning, reducing the proportion of children moving 
placements, and better understanding our children and young people’s accommodation, health, 
and education needs. 

1)  WHAT IS YOUR PROPOSAL?

To introduce a service, activity or policy (i.e. start doing something)

To remove a service, activity or policy (i.e. stop doing something)

To reduce a service or activity (i.e. do less of something)

To increase a service or activity (i.e. do more of something)

To change a service, activity or policy (i.e. redesign it)

Move to next 
section

Go back

Page 346



Level of Impact

Please select from drop down

Neutral

Not Known

Positive

Very Positive

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Positive

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees employees/internal working practices? Neutral

What impact is there on Kirklees residents/external service delivery? Neutral

…religion &  

belief

…sex

…sexual 

orientation

…age

…disability

…gender 

reassignment

…marriage/ civil 

partnership

…pregnancy & 

maternity

…race

(Think about how your proposal might affect, either positively or negatively, any individuals/communities. Please 
consider the impact for both employees and residents - within these protected characteristic groups).

Please select from drop down

2) WHAT LEVEL OF IMPACT DO YOU THINK YOUR PROPOSAL WILL 
HAVE ON…

Each of the following protected characteristic groups?

Kirklees employees within this service/directorate? (overall)

Residents across Kirklees? (i.e. most/all local people)

Please tell us which area/ward will be affected:

Kirklees residents living in a specific ward/local area?

Existing service users?

Go back
Move to next 

section

Page 347



Please select YES or 

NO

YES

…employees? YES

…Kirklees residents? YES

…service users? YES

…any protected characteristic groups? YES

Please select from 

drop down

TO SOME EXTENT

FULLY

Do you have any evidence/intelligence to support your 
assessment (in section 2) of the impact of your proposal 

on…

Have you taken any specialist advice linked to your proposal? (Legal, HR etc)?

3) HOW ARE YOU USING ADVICE AND EVIDENCE/INTELLIGENCE TO HELP YOU?

Children looked after in England (including adoption), year ending 31 March 2017' 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664995/SFR50_2017-
Children_looked_after_in_England.pdf

'Children looked after in England (including adoption), year ending 31 March 2017: additional tables'
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/664998/SFR50_2017_A
dditional_Tables_Text.pdf

Consultation with partners, as detailed in the public Cabinet report

Internal indicators and monitoring

Meetings with the Children in Care Council and Care Leavers Forum (as detailed in the strategy document)

Narey and Owers, 'Foster Care in England'
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/foster-care-in-england

UK Goverment, 'Fostering better outcomes'
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fostering-better-outcomes

UK Government, 'Promoting the education of looked-after and previously-looked after children', statutory guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children

To what extent do you feel you are able to mitigate any potential negative impact of your proposal on 
the different groups of people outlined in section 2?

To what extent do you feel you have considered your Public Sector Equality Duty?

Move to next 
section

Go back

Page 348



STAGE 1 ASSESSMENT

IMPACT RISK
Based on scoring of Based on scoring of 

1) and 2) 2) and 3)

2 16
SCORE (calculated) SCORE (calculated)

Max = - / + 32 Max risk = - / + 40
You need to move on to complete a Stage 2 assessment if:

The final Impact score is negative and or the Risk score is negative.

Go back

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting: Cabinet  
 
Date: 11 December 2018  
 
Title of report: Written Questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members  
                         (Reference from Council) 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To receive written questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members that were not dealt with at the 
previous meeting of Council, held on 7 November 2018, in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 12(8). 
 
 
Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?  
 

N/A 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s Forward 
Plan (key decisions and private reports?)  

N/A 
 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

No  

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Finance IT and Transactional Services? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service Director 
for Legal Governance and Commissioning 
Support? 

N/A 
 
 
N/A 
 
 
Julie Muscroft, 19.11.2018 
 

Cabinet member portfolio N/A 
 

 
Electoral wards affected: N/A  
 
Ward councillors consulted: N/A  
 
Public or private: Public     
  

Page 351

Agenda Item 14:

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=139&RD=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 
1. Summary  
 
Cabinet will receive any written questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members that were not 
dealt with at the previous meeting of Council, held on 7 November 2018, in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule 12 (8). Any such questions will only be responded to if the Member 
who submitted the question to the meeting of Council is in attendance to ask the question.  
 
Council Procedure Rule 12(8) also permits members to request a written response to their 
question within 7 days of the Council meeting taking place.  
 

 
2. Information required to take a decision 
 
The schedule of questions submitted to Council is appended to this report. 
 

 
3. Implications for the Council 

 
3.1 Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 

 
N/A 

3.2 Economic Resilience (ER) 
 

N/A 
3.3 Improving Outcomes for Children  

 
N/A 

3.4 Reducing demand of services 
 

N/A 
3.5 Other (eg Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  

 
N/A 
 

4. Consultees and their opinions 
 

N/A 
 

5. Next steps 
 

N/A 
 

6. Officer recommendations and reasons 
 

N/A (no decision is required) 
 

7. Cabinet portfolio holder’s recommendations 
 

N/A (no decision is required) 
 
8. Contact officers 
           Andrea Woodside, Principal Governance Officer  
          Julie Muscroft, Service Director (Legal, Governance and Commissioning)  
 
 

Page 352



 
 

Questions submitted to Council - Wednesday 7 November 2018 
 

WRITTEN QUESTIONS SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL 
PROCEDURE RULE 12 

 
 

(1) Question by Councillor Holmes to the Leader of the Council 
(Councillor Pandor) 
 
“Is Kirklees Council the country’s biggest user of meat from animals that have their 
throats slit while fully conscious – despite 80% of all UK halal meat being 
humanely stunned first, which is accepted by the Halal Food Authority?” 
 

The Leader of the Council to respond 

 
 

 
(2) Question by Councillor McGuin to the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

(Councillor Turner) 
 
"On Saturday the volunteers at Almondbury Library were told a consultation on a 
move, for the library, to the Surestart building would start on Monday 5th. Is this 
adequate notice for them and for the councillors? 
 
74% of people in the last consultation said that they wanted to stay in the present 
building. Is there an expectation of a different result in this consultation?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  

 
 

(3) Question by Councillor McGuin to the Cabinet Member for Health and Social 
Care (Councillor Khan) 
 
"How quickly will the council move to close the Homestead Day Care/Dementia 
centre and move it to the Surestart Centre?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  
 
 

(4) Question by Councillor McGuin to the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
(Councillor Turner) 
 
"Is the Cabinet aware that decisions made by Kirklees whether it be by them or 
officers of the council, particularly as regards public buildings, has had a 
profound effect on the people of Almondbury, Lepton, and Moldgreen?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 353



(5) Question by Question by Councillor McGuin to the Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services (Councillor Turner) 

 
"Have the Clergy House garages in Almondbury been removed from the disposal 
of asset list agreed on August 21st by the Cabinet?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  

 
 

(6) Question by Councillor Light to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Pandor) 
 
"Given that there are now a number of air quality improvement areas across the 
borough and that recent research is now clearly linking poor air quality with poor 
health, will the Leader make a policy commitment to make improving air quality a 
key priority for the Council and in doing so commit the Council to introduce a 
Moss Tree in every air quality improvement area?” 
 
The Leader of the Council to respond  

 
 
(7) Question by Councillor Bellamy to the Cabinet Member for Communities and 

Environment (Councillor Mather) 
 
"What help and assistance do we give to charities and businesses to help them 
dispose of waste that has been fly tipped onto their land, that the land owners 
and volunteers have removed?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  
 

 
(8) Question by Councillor Iredale to the Cabinet Member for Economy 

(Councillor McBride) 
 
“In the last fortnight, several stalls have closed at Queensgate Market, and there 
are a lot of empty stalls now. The market is uninviting. What is the Council doing 
to rectify this?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  
 

 
(9) Question by Councillor Lawson to the Cabinet Member for Economy 

(Councillor McBride) 
 
“The Council has an ambitious target of delivering 10,000 new homes by 2023. 
What is the Council doing to make sure that its planning office has enough 
capacity to meet this challenge?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 354



(10) Question by Councillor Munro to the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
(Councillor Turner) 
 
“We have a great library in Almondbury which is in an historic purpose-built 
Carnegie library building, for which there is overwhelming local support for the 
service to remain there. So why are the Council intent on moving it to the Sure 
Start Centre which will only dilute the service?” 
 
The Cabinet Member to respond  

 
 
(11) Question by Councillor Munro to the Cabinet Member for Economy 

(Councillor McBride) 
 
“My question concerns the Local Plan. The time for responding to the additional 
modifications proposed by the Inspector closed on October 1st.  I note that on all 
Council owned land across Kirklees, the wording: ”This site is owned by Kirklees 
and as such could deliver enhanced affordable housing and green infrastructure 
and offer design and quality that is of a high standard” has been deleted.  I have 
not seen any recorded comments from Cabinet to suggest that they do not agree 
with the Inspectors proposed modification.  My question therefore is: 
How can the Cabinet justify this when there is a backlog of over 6,000 affordable 
homes required to be built over the next few years to clear the backlog according 
to the Strategic Housing Market assessment 2016.” 

             
             The Cabinet Member to respond  

 

Page 355



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Name of meeting  Cabinet 
Date      
 
Title of report  Transport Services - 3 year Capital Investment 

Vehicle Replacement Programme 2018 - 2021 
 
Purpose of report 
 
The purpose of the report is to ask Cabinet to approve a three year Capital 
Investment Vehicle Replacement Programme, (VRP). This is to continue the 
previous replacement programme which was agreed by Cabinet March 7th 
2017. 

 
Members will be requested to delegate authority to manage the 
implementation of the Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement Programme 
within the agreed budget (in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules 3.9 to 3.14 dated June 2018). 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, 
or to have a significant effect on 
two or more electoral wards? 

Yes  
The overall cost for the programme 
is £4m spread over 3 years 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s 
Forward Plan (key decisions and 
private reports)? 

Yes 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for “call 
in” by Scrutiny? 

Yes 
 

Date signed off by Strategic 
Director & name 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service  
Director - Finance (S151 Officer)? 
 
Is it also signed off by the           
Service Director - Legal 
Governance and Commissioning? 

Karl Battersby - 21.11.2018 
 
 
Eamonn Croston - 23.11.2018 
 
 
 
Julie Muscroft - 21.11.2018 

Cabinet member portfolio Councillor N Mather - Communities 
& Environment 

 
Electoral wards affected:  All 
Ward councillors consulted: None 
 
Public or private:   Public with private Appendix 2 
 
The Appendix is recommended to be taken in Private because the information 
contained in it is considered to be exempt information under Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, as it contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). It is considered that it would 
not be in the public interest to disclose the information contained in the report 
as disclosure could potentially adversely affect overall value for money and 
could compromise the commercial confidentiality of the bidding organisations Page 357

Agenda Item 15:



and may disclose the contractual terms, which is considered to outweigh the 
public interest in disclosing information including, greater accountability, 
transparency in spending public money and openness in council decision-
making. 
 
 
1.   Summary 
 
1.1 The Transport Services - Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement   

Programme is an investment in the Council’s fleet of the future - a fleet 
that is efficient, effective and provides Value for Money (VFM) for the 
people of Kirklees. 
 

1.2 The Council vehicle replacement policy is a joint age and “whole life 
costing” based policy in which evidence based data comprising of 
vehicle utilisation, maintenance, fuel, service user’s needs and overall 
running costs is used as a bespoke financial and operational process 
for replacing council vehicles. 
  

1.3 The Council Transport Services is a total fleet management operation 
providing procurement, maintenance, utilisation, intelligence and 
vehicle disposal facility for all services within the council.  

 
1.4 Depreciation, fuel and maintenance are commonly the largest 

expenses incurred in running fleet vehicles. Depreciation is the single 
largest measureable expense and can be easily tracked over the 
lifecycle of a vehicle. Vehicle maintenance costs start out low in the 
earlier years and increase over time as the vehicle ages. Timely fleet 
replacement is an essential part of risk management for the council. An 
aged fleet will increase maintenance costs and vehicle downtime. 

 
1.5 Older vehicles are also more at risk of breakdowns resulting in 

increased downtime and an adverse effect on service delivery plus 
substantial hire charges being incurred. 
 

1.6 There are significant environmental benefits of newer, cleaner vehicles 
- the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy recognises the role Local 
Authorities fleet composition has in helping to improve local air quality. 
Our older vehicles are often the most polluting.  Leasing/purchasing 
newer, cleaner more up to date vehicles utilising latest technologies 
such as electric/hybrid and the latest Euro Category engines will 
reduce emissions and improve our local air quality.  

 
1.7 The Combined Authority is introducing a fleet recognition scheme 

called Eco Stars. This scheme is designed to improve emissions from 
fleets across all sectors by rating how good a particular fleet operator is 
in terms of its impact on Local Air Quality, operating newer, more 
updated, cleaner vehicles will ensure that Kirklees Council scores 
highly in this recognition scheme. 

 
1.8 A petrol or diesel engine is a complex machine, requiring many 

additional components to operate correctly such as exhaust systems, 
starter motors, fuel injection systems, oil, radiators and gears. Pure 
electric vans on the other hand, have just three main components – the 
on-board charger, inverter and motor which is fewer moving parts than 
vans with an internal combustion engine - (ICE).  This means there are 

Page 358



less things requiring maintenance and servicing is simpler. All of which 
could save money. 

 
Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs) can also be cheaper to 
maintain than ‘traditional’ petrol or diesel-powered alternatives. Whilst 
these have a petrol engine that needs regular servicing, the electrical 
motor requires little maintenance due to far fewer moving parts, which 
leads to less wear and tear of the petrol engine component. 

 
1.9 Pure electric vans have no tailpipe emissions; in fact, they don’t even 

have an exhaust. Plug-in hybrids have significantly lower average 
emissions than traditional petrol or diesel vehicles too. This can help 
improve air quality, particularly in urban areas and at the roadside 
where air quality can be worst. Even when taking into account the 
impact of generating the electricity used (the ‘well-to-wheel’ emissions), 
pure electric vans can still produce substantially lower greenhouse 
gases than petrol or diesel ones. These emissions will be reduced 
further as the UK switches to more renewable and nuclear electricity 
generation. 

 
Over their whole lifecycle, electric vans have lower greenhouse gas 
emissions than ICE vehicles. Battery manufacture can be than offset by 
increased efficiency and emissions savings over the life of the van. 

 
  
2.      Information required to take a decision 
 
2.1 There are currently 365 vehicles that are over their replacement age 

profile which equates to 45.84% of the vehicle fleet. Following approval 
of the vehicle replacement plan in March 2017 Transport Services have 
procured and replaced 47 vehicles, (Appendix 1) - 
Income of £187k has been generated from the sale of vehicles. 
 
The table below details the number of vehicles due for replacement in 
the next 3 years. 

 

   
 

2.2 The 2018 - 21 baseline capital of £4m will fund the replacement of 
approximately 62 vehicles. It should be noted that 24 (over a third) of 
these vehicles will be Electric Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) vans.  
As technology advances we will look to procure full electric power refuse 
vehicles.  

 
2.3 The reason for the relatively small number of replacements is due to the 

replacement of several high value assets such as refuse vehicles. 
(Appendix 2).    

 
2.4 All vehicles will be procured and phased into operational service by the 

end of FY 2021. 
 

2.5 The Useful Economic Life (UEL) of a vehicle is the point at which 
depreciation and maintenance cost per mile meet one another and 
provides an indication of the theoretically most economical point at 
which to dispose of a vehicle. 

FY 18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

365 38 46

44.84% 4.67% 5.65%

Page 359



 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial Delegations  

 
2.6 In order to aid the implementation of the Vehicle Replacement 

Programme Members are requested to delegate authority, in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules, 3.9 to 3.14 
dated June 2018 to the Service Director for Commercial, Regulatory & 
Operational to manage the procurement and implementation of the 
programme within the respective agreed total programme budgets.  

 
2.7 Delegated powers would include the authority to:  
          

 add new vehicles to the programmes without prior Cabinet approval 
providing that the total cost of the programmes remain with the 
approved capital allocations set by Council   

 slip or delete the procurement of vehicles during the course of the 
period to enable the effective management of the programme, 
there were minor changes to the 17/18 replacement plan, this is 
identified at Appendix 1  

 
All virements, additions and deletions would be reported retrospectively 
to Cabinet in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 3.14 dated 
June 2018. 

 
3.   Implications for the Council  
 

The Council is operating with an ageing fleet of vehicles due to 
reductions in funding of the Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement 
Programme.  There are peak times in terms of disposals and 
replacements required and the Council has tried to ensure that all 
vehicles do not reach the end of their operational use within the same 
year. 

 
In order to minimise the risks of operating with an ageing fleet Kirklees 
has adopted a more flexible approach.  The Council has been rolling 
out a phased approach to vehicle replacement over a number of years.  
This was introduced to ensure that there is an even distribution across 
the range of vehicle models of the number of vehicles being replaced 
each year.  This safeguards against risk and reduces the level of 
financial and corporate risk as outlined in the Council’s current risk 
register.  This approach ensures a balanced fleet across a number of 
years to maintain operational delivery and demonstrates value for 
money performance measures. 

 
The West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy recognises the role Local 
Authorities fleet composition has in helping to improve local air quality.   
Our older vehicles are often the most polluting.  Purchasing newer, 
cleaner more up to date vehicles with the latest Euro Category engines 
will reduce emissions and improve our local air quality.  

 
 
 

Page 360



 
 
 
3.1  Legal Implications:  
 

Although the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency recognises that 
operators of heavy goods or passenger carrying vehicles will not get 
everything right all the time, an ageing fleet makes it increasingly 
difficult to comply with the required standards and regulations; this will 
potentially increase the level of corporate risk of non-compliance and 
associated cost. 

 
Failure to meet with all the necessary requirements of legislation 
governing fleet operations could lead to the suspension of the Council’s 
Operators Licence (O Licence), resulting in the Council being unable to 
deliver services. 
 
Procurement of new vehicles will comply with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

 
3.2  Financial Implications:  

 
Older vehicles (aged 6–10 years) can cost up to three times as much to 
maintain than newer vehicles (aged 1–5 years).  They are also more at 
risk of breakdowns, resulting in increased downtime and an adverse 
effect on service delivery.  

 
A reduction in maintenance costs, vehicle hire costs and a reduction in 
downtime will be achieved with the introduction of new vehicles, giving 
a more reliable fleet and providing improved levels of service to users. 

 
The capital investment of £4m is to be funded from prudential 
borrowing. The average revenue cost of financing this level of 
borrowing over 9 years is 11.9% per annum, which equates to £476k 
per annum over the life of the programme. 

 
3.3  Human Resources Implications:  
 

None. 
 
3.4  IT Implications/Telematics:  
 

The Telematics System is a key asset management tool used to 
support us to achieve improved performance.  The Telematics System 
will be used to assess vehicle deployment, manage vehicle and asset 
security, reduce fuel consumption, assess driving behaviour and for 
recording any accidents so that we can defend drivers and the Council 
against claims. To support improved performance it is crucial that the 
correct driver behaviours are promoted and that as a Council we 
actively manage the deployment use and maintenance of our fleet.  By 
adopting good driving practices, this will support reduced fuel 
consumption, maintenance costs, reduced downtime and replacement 
costs, lower the number of accidents and to increase efficiencies 
through improved vehicle utilisation.  

 
 
 Page 361



 
 
 
3.5  Strategy and Partnership Implications: 
  

Transport Services will continue to work with Service Managers to 
understand their current and future needs, by using more controlled 
methods of fleet replacement and adopting a strategic approach to 
vehicle replacement for critical service delivery.  

 
The role of Transport Services is to provide a mixture of support and 
challenge. The market and operational use will be continually reviewed 
to understand the options available to us and as a result we will be able 
to identify vehicles and services which offer far better value for money. 

 
Examples of these vehicles and services available are listed below: 

 

 Electric;  

 Hybrid (part electric, part conventional); 

 Car share schemes; 

 Alpha City (Pay as you go car hire scheme); 

 Dual purpose vehicles. 
 
 
3.6       Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) 
   

There will be no impact  
 
3.7       Economic Resilience (ER) 

 
There will be no impact 

 
3.8  Improving Outcomes for Children  

 
There will be no impact  

 
3.9      Reducing demand of services 

 
There will be no impact 

 
4.   Consultees and their opinions 
 

Capital delivery board  
 
5.   Next steps  
 

Transport Services will continue to manage the Vehicle Replacement 
Programme and deliver the vehicles necessary to meet service need. 

 
6.   Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
It is recommended that:- 

 
6.1  Members are requested to approve the continued investment of £4m in 

the vehicle replacement programme, for financial years 2018 - 2021.  
 Page 362



6.2  Members are requested to approve the officer delegations outlined in 
para 2.6 above to manage the implementation of the vehicle 
replacement programme within the agreed budget and in accordance 
with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules 3.9 to 3.14 dated June 
2018 to the Service Director of Commercial, Regulatory & Operational 
services. 

 
Delegated powers would include the authority to ensure that 
unforeseen issues can be dealt with by exception to respond to timely 
and urgent fleet replacements.  

 
 
7.   Cabinet portfolio holder recommendation  
 

The portfolio holder, Cllr N Mather, agrees with the officer proposals 
and recommendations and would ask Cabinet to do the same.   

 
8.   Contact officer  
 

Mick Farmer - Integrated Transport Manager 
Email: mick.farmer@kirklees.gov.uk   
Tel: 01484 221000 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 
 

Transport Services - 1 Year Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement 
Programme 2017/18 - 1 Year (Item 18) 
Cabinet – 9th February 2016 
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g224/Decisions%2009th-
Feb-2016%2016.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=2 

 
10. Service Director responsible  
 

Joanne Bartholomew - Service Director - Commercial, Operational & 
Regulatory Service. 
Email: joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk    
Tel: 01484 221000 

 

Page 363

mailto:mick.farmer@kirklees.gov.uk
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g224/Decisions%2009th-Feb-2016%2016.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=2
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/documents/g224/Decisions%2009th-Feb-2016%2016.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=2
mailto:joanne.bartholomew@kirklees.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Transport Services - Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement Programme 
2017- 2018  
 
Appendix 1  
 
The table below details the number of vehicles by type and capital cost that were 
planned to be replaced during FY 2017-2018 - 
 
 

Vehicle Type FY 17-18 Capital Cost 

Hayter 7 Set 5 £121,000 

4x4 Vehicle 6 £130,000 

Beaver Tail 3 £105,000 

Trailer 2 £8,000 

Lighting Tower 1 £78,000 

Gully Vehicle 4 £520,000 

Compact Sweeper  1 £68,000 

32T refuse vehicle 1 £180,000 

26T 6X2  refuse vehicle 2 £280,000 

Vans 32 £510,000 

Totals 57 £2,000,000 

 
 
The table below details the actual number of vehicles by type and capital cost that 
were replaced during FY 2017-2018. 
 
The variance to plan is due to operational reasons this enabled Transport to replace 
a higher number of vehicles.  
 

 

Vehicle Type FY 17/18 Capital Cost

18T Refuse Vehicle 1 £141,885.00

26T Refuse Vehicle 1 £160,763.00

6.5 Tonne Caged Tipper 3 £128,661.00

Citroen Dispatch Van 11 £164,916.00

Izuzu Dmax 2 £48,047.00

Nissan Electric Van 2 £30,350.00

Ford Tourneo Minibus 1 £16,800.00

Gully Wagon 3 £410,000.00

Rotary Mower 4 £99,450.00

Iveco Beavertail 4 £184,740.00

CCTV Vehicle 1 £20,000.00

Mercedes Trekka Bus 2 £104,500.00

Minibus 8 Seat Wheelchair Accesible 3 £103,900.00

New lift George St 1 £25,995.00

Relay Single Cab Tipper 6 £145,100.00

Scarab Sweeper 1 £78,979.00

Street Lighting Tower Wagon 1 £76,592.00

Totals 47 £1,940,678.00

Page 365



 
 
 

Page 366



Document is Restricted

Page 367

Agenda Item 17:
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2: Minutes of previous meeting
	09. Minutes 16.10.2018
	10. Minutes 13.11.2018

	3: Interests
	8: 2018/19 to 2020/21 Council Capital Plan - Proposed allocation of capital funding from the Directorate for Children's Learning & Early Support baseline sections of the Capital Plan
	9: Setting and approving Term Dates for Community, Voluntary Controlled and Community Special Schools
	10: Half Yearly Monitoring report on Treasury Management activities 2018-19.
	2018-19 Draft Treasury Mgt Half Yearly Report v1
	CCLA Property Fund Factsheet App 8
	LA Property Fund App 8 

	11: A Response to the Ombudsman Report - 13 September 2018
	Item 11a 2018-10-30 ET Item 6B Ombudsman Report - Appendix 1 Ombuds report
	Item 11b 2018-10-30 ET Item 6C Ombudsman Report - Appendix 2 SEND Cab report
	Item 11c 2018-10-30 ET Item 6D Ombudsman Report - Appendix 3 HNR Cab report
	High Needs Strategic Review Cabinet report Final - 2
	Appendix A Disproportionate SEN
	Appendix B Core and Core Plus funding arrangements
	Appendix B Funding Template example - Copy
	Appendix B Proposed template
	Appendix Bi Special schools core functions
	Appendix Bi Transfer from Mainstream to Special
	Appendix C SEND High Needs Assessment data
	Appendix Ci SEN Support profile
	Appendix D Briefing Paper for parents
	Appendix D Briefing Paper for providers and partners
	Appendix E Briefings calendar 2017
	Appendix E Consultations promoted through local press and media
	Appendix E Flyer for consultation events
	Appendix F Verbatim report of consultation responses - Copy
	Appendix G POST 16 scanned responses
	Appendix G PRU scanned response
	Appendix G Special Schools scanned responses
	Appendix G Specialist Provision (VI, HI, PI) scanned responses
	Appendix G Summary analysis of questionnaires
	Appendix H IYCE response to the High Needs Review - Copy
	Appendix J PCAN response to High Needs Review (redacted)


	12: Facilitating the development fixed line broadband services
	13: Children’s Interim Sufficiency Strategy & Action Plan (2018-19)
	Item 13a Copy of 2018 12 11 Stage 1 EIA Sufficiency Strategy

	14: Written Questions to the Leader and Cabinet Members (Reference from Council)
	15: Transport Services - 3 year Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement Programme 2018 - 2021
	Item 15a Public Appendix 1. 18-21 Cabinet Report v2docx

	17: Transport Services - 3 year Capital Investment Vehicle Replacement Programme 2018 - 2021



